# **From a China strategy to no strategy at all** Exploring the diversity of European approaches

Edited by: Bernhard Bartsch, Claudia Wessling Peer reviews by: Una Aleksandra Bērziņa-Čerenkova, Lucas Erlbacher, Miguel Otero-Iglesias, John Seaman









A Report by the European Think-tank Network on China (ETNC) July 2023

# From a China strategy to no strategy at all

Exploring the diversity of European approaches

Edited by: Bernhard Bartsch Claudia Wessling

Peer reviews by: Una Aleksandra Bērziņa-Čerenkova Lucas Erlbacher Miguel Otero-Iglesias John Seaman

A report by the European Think-tank Network on China (ETNC) July 2023

### Contents

Contributing institutions to ETNC	6
List of authors	. <b>7</b>
Executive Summary	. <b>8</b>
EU: De-risking as the new mantra for defining relations to China	19
Austria: Between amicable bilateral relations and support for a European	
China policy	27
Belgium: From friends to frenemies with China	33
Bulgaria: No clear strategic vision and insufficient safeguards	39
Czechia: The Strategic Partnership with China is without strategy	13
Denmark: Not quite a China strategy, nor quite of its own making	19
Finland: The new normal in relations with China	54
France: An ambiguous China policy with no clear roadmap	30
Germany: Ambitious language, ambiguous course	66
Greece: In need of a China strategy	72
Hungary: China's last friend in the EU?	77
Ireland: From dragging its feet to breaking into a sprint	32
Italy: Tilting towards "security first"	<b>31</b>
Latvia: Settling in for a moderate "steer clear" approach	<b>9</b> 7
Lithuania: How strategic is the review of the relationship?10	)2
Netherlands: The securitization of China and protecting Dutch technology10	)7
Norway: Between engagement and caution11	13
Poland: Fading hopes for cooperation with China 11	18
Portugal: A piecemeal, pragmatic, reactive but fruitful approach to China 12	24
Romania: No official China strategy, but still a strategy	29
Slovakia: A China policy with little capacities and no strategy	36
Spain: An informal, coherent and Europeanist approach14	13
Sweden: From optimistic opportunities to growing challenges14	18
Switzerland: A "special" relationship conditioned to turn more realist 15	55
United Kingdom: Shifting towards a critical stance towards China	51
Annex	38
Endnotes	76

### **Contributing institutions to ETNC**

#### **Coordinating institutions**

Elcano Royal Institute, Spain French Institute of International Relations (Ifri), France Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS), Germany

#### **Participating institutions**

Austrian Institute for European and Security Policy (AIES), Austria Egmont Royal Institute for International Relations, Belgium Economic Policy Institute (EPI), Bulgaria Institute of International Relations (IIR), Czech Republic Danish Institute for International Studies (DIIS), Denmark Finnish Institute for International Affairs (FIIA), Finland Institute of International Economic Relations (IIER), Greece Corvinus University of Budapest, Hungary Istituto Affari Internazionali (IAI), Italy Latvian Institute of International Affairs (LIIA), Latvia Institute of International Relations and Political Science (IIRPS), Vilnius University, Lithuania The Netherlands Institute of International Relations, 'Clingendael', The Netherlands Norwegian Institute of International Affairs (NUPI), Norway Polish Institute of International Affairs (PISM), Poland University of Aveiro, Portugal The Romanian Institute for the Study of the Asia-Pacific (RISAP), Romania Central European Institute of Asian Studies (CEIAS), Slovakia Swedish National China Centre, Swedish Institute of International Affairs (UI), Sweden Swiss Forum on Foreign Policy (Foraus), Switzerland



#### **List of authors**

Konstantinas Andrijauskas, Institute of International Relations and Political Science (IIRPS), Vilnius University Bernhard Bartsch, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) Una Aleksandra Berzina-Čerenkova, Latvian Institute of International Affairs (LIIA) Andreea Brinza, The Romanian Institute for the Study of the Asia-Pacific (RISAP) François Chimits, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) Alexander Davey, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) Lucas Erlbacher, Austrian Institute for European and Security Policy (AIES) Mario Esteban, Elcano Royal Institute Andreas B. Forsby, Danish Institute for International Studies (DIIS) Rodolf Fürst, Institute of International Relations (IIR) Beatrice Gallelli, Instituto Affari Internazionali (IAI) Hans Jørgen Gåsemyr, Norwegian Institute for International Affairs (NUPI) Francesca Ghiretti, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) Markus Herrmann, Swiss Forum on Foreign Policy (Foraus) Marc Julienne, Head of China Research, Center for Asian Studies (IFRI) Adam Kalivoda, Central European Institute of Asian Studies (CEIAS) Jyrki Kallio, Finnish Institute of International Affairs (FIIA) Vera Kranenburg, Clingendael Institute Frida Lindberg, Swedish National China Centre Tamas Matura, Corvinus University of Budapest Miguel Otero-Iglesias, Elcano Royal Institute Astrid Pepermans, Egmont Royal Institute for International Relations Patrick Renz, Swiss Forum on Foreign Policy (Foraus) Carlos Rodrigues, University of Aveiro John Seaman, French Institute of International Relations (IFRI) Michael Settelen, Swiss Forum on Foreign Policy (Foraus) Matej Šimalčík, Central European Institute of Asian Studies (CEIAS) Grzegorz Stec, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) Tim Summers, The Chinese University of Hong Kong Justyna Szczudlik, Polish Institute of International Affairs (PISM) Plamen Tonchev, Institute of International Economic Relations (IIER) Mariana Trifonova, Economic Policy Institute (EPI) Richard Turcsanyi, Central European Institute of Asian Studies (CEIAS) Claudia Wessling, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS)

#### **Executive Summary: From a China strategy to no strategy at all -Exploring the diversity of European approaches**

Executive Summary compiled by **Bernhard Bartsch** and **Claudia Wessling** Survey: **Johannes Kast** Editing: **Alexander Davey** and **John Seaman** 

In this report, we take stock of national approaches to China across EU members states and important countries such as the United Kingdom, Norway and Switzerland. Experts from 24 countries have contributed their analysis, and the MERICS office in Brussels provided a chapter outlining current EU policies vis-à-vis China. Authors focused on the following guiding questions:

- National China strategies: Where do member states and other European countries stand?
- Mechanisms: How do European countries coordinate and share information on China?
- EU tools: Which national instruments exist for implementation?
- Risk analysis: Which approaches do countries take?
- Working with China: In which Chinese institutional frameworks do countries participate?
- Spotlight on Taiwan: What activities exist in this contested space?

#### European approaches to China vary considerably

The year 2023 has brought new momentum to the relationship between Europe and China. After more than three years of pandemic-related stagnation, mutual visits have picked up again. European heads of state and government and EU Commission President Ursula von der Leyen traveled to Beijing; China's new premier Li Qiang visited Germany and France in his first overseas trip since taking office. Despite the revival of contacts, numerous factors continue to burden relations between China and the EU, and other European countries. Under Xi Jinping, China has changed and become more centralized, authoritarian and assertive abroad, and its goals are often in contradiction with European interests and values. Back in 2019, the EU Commission acknowledged this shift by introducing the tripartite definition of China as a partner for cooperation and negotiation, an economic competitor, and a systemic rival.

Since then, Xi and the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) have continued their path: China has become more confrontational in the Taiwan Strait, more repressive in Xinjiang, tightened control over Hong Kong and promoted visions of an alternative international order. Increasing geopolitical and economic tensions between China and the United States have put pressure on the European Union to position itself in a complex triangle. The apparent "no limits" friendship with Russia, irrespective of Moscow's war against Ukraine, has changed many European countries' formerly favorable views of China, particularly in central and eastern Europe.

On the EU level, a range of mechanisms have been created to counter the increasingly geopolitical nature of Chinese influence and competitive distortions of markets, industries and technologies. These include investment screening, an anti-coercion instrument, an international procurement instrument (IPI), the Global Gateway Initiative and a planned law

The year 2023 has brought new momentum to the relationship between Europe and China



Exhibit 1

package aimed at monitoring and combatting foreign interference (including from China), as well as industrial policy initiatives such as the EU Chips Act.

Commission President Ursula von der Leyen introduced a "de-risking" proposal in March 2023 for navigating dependency risks in relations with China. The concept was also mentioned in the European Council conclusions on China after the June summit. Clearly, there has yet to be full agreement in the EU on how to operationalize "de-risking", a sign that a unified European approach to China is still a long way off, even if there is more agreement today that some sort of strategic thinking on the issue is needed.

European approaches to China – whether by the EU, its member states and other countries in the region – have changed since the publication of the first ETNC report on "Mapping Europe-China Relations – A Bottom-up Approach" in 2015. The European Think-tank Network on China (ETNC) has for many years now analyzed the variations among European countries' relations with China on a range of issues, including economic interdependencies, soft power, the Covid-19 pandemic, political values or the impact of China's growing rivalry with the United States (all publications available on the network's website: https://etnc.info). The EU institutions can only act with support of member states; at the same time, initiatives launched by Brussels often set the tone and pace for actions taken in European capitals. Ten years after Xi Jinping took the helm in China, European countries have become more aligned on how to deal with this aspiring world power. However, approaches towards China vary depending on the intensity of relations, the extent and nature of economic dependence as well as attitudes towards the authoritarian government in China. Some have devised national China strategies, some prefer a less public, more decentralized approach, others do not consider China an important issue for their national politics. National approaches and their evolution in recent years are laid out in the country chapters of this report.

In addition to the chapters, each author completed a survey on the aforementioned guiding questions. Some questions were non-exclusive with multiple responses possible. For example, a country could have both an official, as well as a sectoral China strategy. Furthermore, respondents could choose to skip any question. As a result of this methodological approach, the number of responses may not match the total number of participants for each section of the survey.

Moreover, some of the questions were open-ended with some room for interpretation, such as what counts as an "unofficial" China strategy. Respondents could also indicate if they did not have enough knowledge or information to answer a specific question. Hence, the lack of a response does not necessarily imply the lack of a national mechanism or approach. The following is a summary of the key findings.

#### Almost all European countries have developed strategic approaches to China

Discussions on China in all European countries have matured Compared to the situation a decade ago, it can be clearly stated that the discussions on China in all European countries have matured. Many governments and other stakeholders have developed more sophisticated policies, coordination mechanisms and regulatory tools with which to approach China. Out of the 24 countries in this report, 20 countries and the European Union pursue more strategic approaches to China in the sense that they discuss, analyze and communicate their stances in structured and formalized settings.

#### Only a minority of European countries has published an official China strategy

Even though exchanges with China have intensified tremendously since the turn of the century, only six European countries reviewed in this report have cast their approach into a more formalized China strategy. Norway came in first in 2007, the Netherlands followed in 2013 and 2019. Sweden also joined the group in 2019, the same year the EU presented its tripartite "partner, competitor, rival" approach in its Strategic Outlook. Sweden, at the time, did not speak of a strategy, but a "communication", stressing that it was following the EU's example. Both governments published the strategies on request of their respective parliaments.

In 2021, Finland's "Action Plan on China" painted a rather dire picture of the future of mutual relations. In July 2023, Germany published its first ever China strategy after fierce discussions within the ruling coalition over its general direction and tone. Outside the EU, Switzerland's Federal Council, the country's highest executive, published the "China Strategy 2021 – 2024", calling out challenges more explicitly, while insisting on continued engagement.

Experiences with formulating national China strategies have been mixed. On the flipside were diplomatic pushback from the Chinese side and constant pressure to update strategies in a geopolitical environment that is continuously, and sometimes dramatically changing. There are good reasons for deciding against a full-fledged strategy, but it appears that many governments now see the benefits and the necessity of formalizing their approach to China on some level. On the positive side, authors in this report note gains on transparency, knowledge development and greater alignment from discussing the issue among wide groups of stakeholders.

### A larger proportion of European countries has China-specific approaches embedded in their policy frameworks

Among the countries analyzed in this study, nine have relevant frameworks in place or formulated approaches in differing contexts that are recognized by the respective governments. But these are not published as official China strategies. The United Kingdom and Ireland, for instance, outlined their China policies in speeches given by their respective Foreign Ministers in spring 2023. The Belgian Foreign Ministry has developed a China strategy this year but has not yet publicly communicated on it. The Austrian government has announced the development of a China strategy, but with no time frame given and it remains unclear if it will ever come to fruition.

Others make China policies part of more overarching strategies. In France, China features as a topic in the Indo-Pacific Strategy. In Lithuania, it is part of the National Security Strategy and the Indo-Pacific Strategy published in 2021 and 2023 respectively. Latvia includes China policies in the yearly report of the Foreign Minister to parliament. In Spain it is mentioned in its more recent foreign policy and national security strategies. Denmark's most recent foreign policy and security strategy (from 2023) contains some overall strategic guidance for relations with China, and it specifically refers to the EU as a key coordinator in handling the challenges from Beijing. Political parties are only beginning to include China as a topic in their programs

Eight countries in our analysis included approaches to China in their sectoral strategies. In Norway, the topic features in various policy fields. In the Czech Republic, the export strategy serves as a backdrop for describing approaches to China, while Greece uses the Greece-China Tourism Action Plan for this purpose. According to a survey the editors of this study conducted among the contributing authors, to date, only Bulgaria, Hungary and Poland are still lacking more coordinated strategic approaches to China.

Developing strategies below the threshold of an all-of-government process is, for some countries, a reasonable way to formulate goals in their China policies without having to deal with the sometimes painful and diplomatically controversial process of devising a standalone document.

On the domestic level, political parties in the analyzed countries are only beginning to include China as a topic in their programs. Several parties in the Czech Republic, Germany, the Netherlands and Switzerland have published position papers on policies towards China; in Lithuania, the topic is mentioned in electoral programs. On the EU level, the center-right European People's Party and the pro-European Renew group also have formulated their own China strategies.

#### Better mechanisms for coordination and information sharing on China

Within governments, the level of attention for China-related issues, coordination, steering, knowledge and mechanisms of information sharing differs considerably between the countries analyzed in this study. The European Union itself and 11 countries have inter-ministerial coordination mechanisms in place. Among them are the Dutch "Interdepartementaal

China Beraad" (ICB) and the "Interdepartementaal Directeurenoverleg China", the Swedish "China Network of the Government Offices", the Finnish "Valtionhallinnon Kiina-verkosto", Poland's "Inter-Ministerial Team for the Coordination of Activities for the Development of the Strategic Partnership with China", or Germany's regular ministerial state secretary rounds. Eight countries have established official consultation mechanisms between government and business. For instance, in Germany, the Asia-Pacific Committee on German Business (APA) regularly convenes meetings on China, bringing together the Economics Ministry and representatives from five major business associations. In the United Kingdom, there are various bodies which engage business and government, such as the Confederation of British Industry (CBI) or the China Britain Business Council. The Czech Republic, Finland, Spain and Sweden also have business-government formats on China in place.

Coordination becomes more challenging if one wants to connect China knowledge on the national and subnational level

Coordination on China becomes more challenging if one wants to connect China knowledge on the national and subnational level, as our analysis shows. Only the Netherlands, Norway and Finland have coordination mechanisms for municipalities. Three countries – Belgium, the Netherlands, and Sweden – have established national China competence centers. Their organizational structures are different, but they all have similar purposes: improving understanding of China, bringing together existing knowledge and responding to demands from governments on different levels.

#### EU member states apply defensive tools conceived by Brussels differently

The EU has, in recent years, launched and established several instruments and regulations that are (not only, but also) aimed at improving capabilities to deal with China's increasing economic and geopolitical clout. Among these:

- International Procurement Instrument
- Anti-foreign Subsidy legislation
- Foreign Direct Investment Screening
- Anti-coercion Instrument (pending approval)
- Anti-forced Labor Instrument (under negotiation)
- Chips Act (pending approval)
- Critical Raw Materials Act (under negotiation)
- Economic Security Strategy

Taking the screening mechanism for foreign direct investment (FDI screening) as an example, among the countries analyzed in this report, 16 EU member states have made national provisions, and four countries are preparing for implementation. Outside of the EU, the United Kingdom, Norway and Switzerland are engaged in parallel processes. For the time being, Greece and Bulgaria are not yet planning the introduction of similar tools.

In the context of China's growing strength and ambitions in science, technology and innovation, the EU put forward in 2021 a strategy on cooperation in research and innovation ("Strategic, open, and reciprocal"). It suggests measures to protect research security and integrity in member states. The EU and some member states have started developing tools to better protect their interests, but the process proves to be cumbersome. According to this analysis, only six countries covered in this report have established regulations or guidelines for research institutions – Denmark, Germany, the Netherlands, Norway, Switzerland and the United Kingdom. In 2022, the EU published a Staff Working Document on tackling foreign interference in research and innovation (R&I).

Executive Summary

#### Risk analysis: an approach in the making

Following the Russian invasion of Ukraine in 2022 and the resulting economic fallout for European countries dependent on energy supplies from Russia, the issue of dependence on China has been fiercely discussed in Europe (also covered in the 2022 ETNC report: https://etnc.info/reports). The Commission's "de-risking" agenda and the June 2023 framework on a European Economic Security Strategy are aimed at minimizing risks arising from economic exchanges in geopolitically challenging times. However, only the EU itself, Finland and the Netherlands have presented systematic and public analyses of dependencies, e.g., in critical raw materials or supplies.

Two countries – Lithuania and Latvia – have compiled internal reports on the issue, four countries – the Czech Republic, Germany, Norway, and Poland – are working on assessments. Sweden and France have also conducted an analysis. Austria, Greece, and Slovakia, on the other hand, do not appear to plan any risk assessments. In Bulgaria, the war in Ukraine and the overarching risk stemming from chronic dependence on Russian energy imports and technology are hotly debated. However, this has not resulted in any substantial reviews or policy shifts. For ten countries, no information was available to the experts compiling this report.

#### European countries are increasingly wary of participating in Chinese frameworks

In the past decade, China has systematically established its own institutional frameworks to increase geopolitical and economic influence. One of these frameworks is the 16+1 initiative established in 2012 to engage with Central and Eastern European countries – a format that was sometimes criticized in the EU as undermining its unity.

After a period of expansion (Greece entered the format in 2019), the group is now down to "14+1". Seven countries (Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Greece, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Slovakia) analyzed in this report are part of it, among them, two (Romania, Bulgaria) have downgraded their participation in the most recent summit meeting in 2021. Two others covered in this report (Latvia, Lithuania) have withdrawn from the group, while a third (Estonia) has also withdrawn. While some country representatives mentioned disappointment over China's economic engagement in the region as their main motive for dropping out, others have grown wary of China's support for Russia and coercive measures for deepening relations with Taiwan. The future of 14+1 is uncertain.

The Belt and Road Initiative, launched by Xi Jinping in 2013, is the best-known among China's initiatives to go global and create markets, investment opportunities for its companies but also increase political influence in the participating countries. Ten countries analyzed in this report have a high-level BRI agreement (Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia). Switzerland and Austria entertain socalled "sectoral" agreements in the BRI context. In the case of Romania, an agreement was signed during the visit to China of a state secretary in the Ministry of Economy and Commerce back in 2015. Since the text is not public, it remains unclear whether it is a general or a sectoral one.

In Italy, Prime Minister Giorgia Meloni announced during her election campaign an intention of leaving the agreement that Rome signed in 2019 and which will be automatically renewed next year. Now, her right-wing government seems caught between a rock and a hard place: on the one hand, there is fierce opposition to withdrawing in the local business China has established its own institutional frameworks to increase geopolitical and economic influence community, which is worried about losing preferential treatment they perceive to enjoy as BRI members. On the other hand, a competing narrative in Italy attests that other countries get the same treatment without any MoU. On the international stage, the US and European partners expect Meloni to deliver on her campaign promise.

A majority of 19 countries participates in the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB), a multilateral development bank and financial institution to support social and economic development projects globally. The EU and five other countries covered in this report are not members (Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Latvia, Lithuania, Slovakia).

#### Approaches to Taiwan: Nonissue for some, increasing contacts for others

While some of the countries analyzed follow China's expectations and steer clear of entertaining even informal contacts with Taiwan, there is a trend among others for increased exchanges at the political level. In light of rising military tensions in the Taiwan Strait and calls from the Xi government for unification, the number of high-level exchanges between European and Taiwanese politicians has increased recently, with more than a dozen visits in 2022/23 so far. Most recent high-level visit to Taiwan from countries surveyed in this report

#### 2023:

- Czech Republic: Markéta Pekarová Adamová, Speaker of the Chamber of Deputies of the Czech Parliament
- France: **Alain Richard**, Vice-President of the Senate, Head of the Senate-Taiwan study and exchange group, former Minister of Defense (plus delegation)
- Germany: Bettina Stark-Watzinger, Minister of Education and Science
- Ireland: Parliamentarians John McGuinness, Brendan Smith, Cathal Berry, and senators Seán Kyne, Martin Conway
- Lithuania: Aušrinė Armonaitė, Minister of Economy and Innovation
- Romania: Catalin Tenita, Member of Parliament (Chamber of Deputies)
- Spain: Rosa Romero Sánchez, Chair of the Health Commission Congress of Deputies
- Switzerland: **Fabian Molina**, National Councilor (Co-President Parliamentary Friendship Group Switzerland-Taiwan)

#### 2022:

- Finland: Petri Peltonen, Under Secretary of State, Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment
- Netherlands: Sjoerd Sjoerdsma, Member of Parliament
- Poland: Grzegorz Piechowiak, Deputy Minister of Economic Development and Technology,
- Slovakia: Peter Gerhart, Deputy Minister of Economy. Milan Laurenčík, Deputy Speaker of Parliament
- Sweden: Håkan Jevrell, State Secretary to Minister for International Development Cooperation and Foreign Trade Johan Forssell
- United Kingdom: Greg Hands, Trade Minister, Alicia Kearns, Chair, House of Commons Foreign Affairs Committee (plus delegation)

#### 2021:

Latvia: Parliamentary delegation of Baltic states

#### Before 2020:

- Austria: Werner Amon, Parliamentarian, 2018
- Bulgaria: Rumen Yonchev, Ventsislav Lakov, Petya Raeva, Vladimir Toshev, Members of Bulgaria's National Assembly (private trip paid by Taiwan), 2014
- Denmark: Pia Kjærsgaard, Member of parliament, 2019
- Italy: Interparliamentary Friendship Group, 2016

#### The road ahead for shaping future relations with China

In this report we observe the trend that some European governments are becoming more aligned because they perceive China as being more confrontational than ever. The fact that China policies in many European countries have shifted to become more critical also reflects the changes in the US approach to the People's Republic, which has also become much more confrontational since 2017, when it first labeled Beijing as a "strategic competitor".

Another trend worth mentioning is the apparent gap in a number of countries between the business community, on the one hand, who tends towards continued and even stronger engagement with China, and economy, foreign affairs or defense ministries and intelligence communities, on the other hand, who are more worried about critical dependencies and security issues.

The approaches the countries analyzed in this study take vis-à-vis China depend on the intensity of mutual relations – and also on the political views of Beijing's stances. In spite of the many differences, we argue that there is common ground that could possibly facilitate a more coordinated European approach to China in the future:

- In shaping relations with China, there is a great deal of agreement among contributors to this report that it is important to keep channels of communication open, to re-invigorate political exchange regardless of differences. The handling of cooperation formats such as BRI, 14+1 and others should be subjected to a critical examination in this context.
- In economic relations with China, the "de-risking" approach mainstreamed by EU Commission President Ursula von der Leyen in March 2023 is lauded by some and contested by others. Countries need to strive for a balance between seeking opportunities, cutting dependencies and attracting investments that are beneficial. The defensive mechanisms launched by the EU, like the FDI screening mechanism and the anti-coercion instrument, are considered important tools for managing these relations.
- In the realm of security policies, countries need to face and tackle the challenges posed by China and find unified positions on crucial geopolitical issues like China's support for Russia despite the brutal war in Ukraine, the pressure exerted on Taiwan or Beijing's influencing strategies in foreign countries.
- On the EU level, capacity-building needs to be front and center to navigate relations successfully and jointly with China. This entails sharing analysis and information to devise strategies and finding language that member states can agree on and unite behind.
- Seeking alignment within the EU, but also with like-minded partners, is another prerequisite for successful implementation of a strategic approach to China. This also means finding consensus within the EU about how to manage relations with the United States, which is compounded by concerns voiced in some European capitals about transatlantic dependencies while others pivot closer to Washington. To defend its own interests in a global environment shaped by increasing competition between the United States and China, the EU also needs to create maneuvering space by safeguarding its sovereignty.

#### Approaches vis-à-vis China depend on the intensity of mutual relations

#### What happened since ...

... May 2023. That was when the articles for this ETNC report were finalized. On this page, we include updates of crucial events concerning China policies in some of the countries analyzed:

**Bulgaria**: On June 6th, a new government came into office, which seems set to toughen the stance on Russia. This may affect relations with China should the Sino-Russian friendship of "no limits" persevere. In July, the Bulgarian Diplomatic Institute to the Minister of Foreign Affairs initiated an expert consultation to help developing the first National Foreign Policy Strategy. This will likely include language on China, as the institute is currently building up in-house China expertise.

**Czech Republic**: A new Security Strategy was issued on June 28th. It explicitly mentions China as a security threat. Taiwan's Foreign Minister Joseph Wu visited Prague for the second time in June 2023, meeting the Speakers of both parliament chambers.

**Lithuania**: An Indo-Pacific Strategy was published in early July, just before Vilnius hosted the NATO Summit. Despite its stated adherence to One China Policy, the assessment of Beijing remains one of alarm.

**Netherlands**: In May, the government opened a Contact Point for Economic Security aimed at businesses. In June, the investment screening law (VIFO) came into force, while in July, the Dutch coalition government collapsed, leading to the cancellation of a parliamentary visit to Taiwan.

**Slovakia:** At the end of May 2023, Slovakia's Deputy Foreign Minister Ingrid Brocková traveled to Beijing on an official visit. During a meeting with her counterpart Deng Li, she raised several contentious issues, including China's position on the Russian aggression against Ukraine, human rights in China, the status of Taiwan, as well as presence of an illegal Chinese police station in Slovakia. In June 2023, the third round of the Taiwanese-Slovak Commission on Economic Cooperation took place in Taipei, attended by Slovakia's Deputy Minister of Economy Peter Švec. The gathering concluded by signing eight MoUs and one agreement to deepen partnerships in the fields of culture, economy and trade, academic exchanges, healthcare, and semiconductors.

**Sweden**: At the Stockholm China Forum in May 2023, Prime Minister Kristersson acknowledged "the need for de-risking", which indicates that Sweden supports the EU Commission's approach. He also stated that the US is "the most important security partner for Sweden and the EU", emphasizing the importance of the transatlantic link. **Executive Summary** 





#### EU: De-risking as the new mantra for defining relations to China

#### François Chimits, Francesca Ghiretti, Grzegorz Stec,

Analysts, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS)

The geopolitical challenges of the past years highlight the dimensions of competition and systemic rivalry in the EU's approach to China. The shift has been translated in the adoption of a series of policies, positions and strategies that officially do not target China, but seek to resolve many of the concerns vis a vis China. De-risking is the new go to mantra when direction is needed for the development of the relationship with China. Despite the progress made in finding an appropriate and updated response to the challenges and, sometimes, opportunities present in the bilateral relationship, the EU continues to struggle with developing a clear and strongly coordinated approach. Differences exist on three mains axes: the traditional division between Brussels and member states, the difference between member states and finally, the differences between institutional preferences within Brussels' institutions. If the EU and member states seek to have an effective approach to China that brings benefits, they must aim for more internal and external coordination and cohesion.

#### The action: Geopolitical dynamics highlight systemic rivalry

EU-China exchanges increasingly focus on damage control

The EU's three-pronged partner, economic competitor and systemic rival approach remains at the core of its China policy, but it is the rivalrous and competitive dimensions that have gained prominence in recent years. This shift follows the burst of the Covid-19 pandemic, the closure of China for more than two years, the controversies of China's violation of human rights in Xinjiang (and the subsequent exchange of sanctions), the introduction of the National Security Law in Hong Kong, the escalations in the Taiwan Strait and ultimately China's lack of condemnation of Russia's invasion of Ukraine. This led to bilateral EU-China exchanges to increasingly focus on damage control rather than seeking points for constructive engagement (see Exhibit 2). The EU is, therefore, pondering a re-calibration of its China policy without overhauling the logic of its three-pronged approach. Taking the spotlight is "de-risking" bilateral relations and defining the bloc's position more clearly amid increasing geopolitical tension.

Russia's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 came only a few weeks after Beijing and Moscow signed their "no-limit partnership". Nonetheless, as the war unfolded, Brussels' high-level personalities like EU High Representative for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy, Josep Borrel, expressed at various points their hopes for China to mediate the conflict. Those hopes were met by China's lack of condemnation of Russia and Chinese media amplifying Russia's propaganda messages such as that of the war being sparked by NATO expansion. As Beijing restarted in-person diplomatic exchanges in autumn 2022 and even more so following the abandonment of its zero-Covid policy, China's representatives, including the newly appointed ambassador, Fu Cong, attempted to convince Europeans that the country maintains a neutral stance in the conflict. A narrative on which Beijing doubled down with the release of its position paper on "the Political Settlement of the Ukraine Crisis" in February.

Fu Cong further signaled interest in rekindling engagement with the EU and suggested to revive the Comprehensive Agreement on Investments (CAI) that was shelved by the EU in 2021 following Beijing's retaliatory sanctions on European groups and parliamentarians related to the gross human rights abuses in Xinjiang. The idea of revamping CAI has been

endorsed by the German Chancellery, while Ursula Von der Leyen made clear that CAI, in its current form, does not mirror the EU's current interests and thus any conversation on the matter would have to take that as a starting point.

On the other side, the transatlantic agenda on China, while enlivened under the Biden administration, remains highly complicated. The Trade and Technology Council has undeniably facilitated coordination between the EU and the US, the prime example being the swift imposition of sanctions against Russia. However, the recognition by the US of China as a national security threat highlights an important underlying difference between the American approach and that of the EU. Indeed, while systemic rivalry may have come to occupy a much larger role than partner, the EU and its members do not recognize China as a national security challenge.

Exhibit 2

Selected outco (2015-2022)		hina summits u	nder the last tw	o tenures of Eu	ropean Commis	sion
	nts: EUCO – Presid presentative Li – I					n HRVP – EU
riigh Ke			Xi i resident X		indice intecting)	
			<b>EU-CHINA SUMMIT</b>	. 🤍 💌		
<b># 17 (Brussels)</b> June 2015	<b># 18 (Beijing)</b> July 2016	<b># 19 (Brussels)</b> June 2017	<b># 20 (Beijing)</b> July 2018	<b># 21 (Brussels)</b> April 2019	# 22 (video conference) June 2020	# 23 (video conference April 2022
			PARTICIPANTS			
EC, EUCO, Li	EC, EUCO, Li	EC, EUCO, Li	EC, EUCO, Li (+ Xi)	EC, EUCO, Li	EC, EUCO, HRVP, Li (+ Xi)	EC, EUCO, HRVP, Li (+ Xi)
			GUIDING AGENDA			
i	EU-China 2020 Strate	gic Agenda for Coo	Cooperation (2013–2020)		Failed to agree	
			JOINT STATEMENT			
$\checkmark$	×	×		$\checkmark$	×	×
			NOTABLE POINTS			
<ul> <li>Additional EU- China joint state- ment on climate change agreed</li> </ul>	➤ Before: EU joint communication call- ing for greater eco- nomic reciprocity	✓ Reaffirmed committment to the Paris Agreement days after the with- drawal of the US	✓ Additional EU- China joint state- ment on climate change and clean energy	× Before: EU-Chi- na Strategic Out- look redefined the EU's China policy	× EU demanded progress on 2019 commitments and on CAI	× Buildup: No summit in 2021 in light of political tensions and freez of CAI
✓ EU-China Connectivity Platform estab- lished	✓ EU-China Roadmap on Coop- eration (2016 – 2020) signed	X Disagreement on granting China "market economy" status	✓ Expressed com- mitment to multi- lateralism amid Trump Presidency	✓ MoU on dialogue on state-aid control and fair competition	× EU called out China's cyber oper- ations and actions in Hong Kong and Xinjiang	X No common ground on re- sponse to Russian invasion of Ukraine
	✓ Provided political guidance for com- pletion of CAI		✓ Expressed joint committment to rules-based trading system and WTO reform	✓ Agreement on EU-China competi- tion policy dialogue	✓ Follow up leaders' meeting in September: Geo- graphic Indications Agreement signed, High-Level Digital and Climate Dia- logues created	× Obstacles remain: Economic coercion, sanction human and labour rights concerns, reciprocity
	X Disagreements on steel overcapac- ity, but with creation of bilateral platform to address the issue			✓ Additional state- ment on EU-China energy cooperation		✓ Human rights dialogue to be restarted
Business meeting in the margins		Business meeting in the margins	Business meeting in the margins			

The catch-all nature of the three-pronged approach provides a wide degree of latitude to Brussels and member states on the direction of their respective China policy, but such flexibility carries a fundamental pitfall. The EU and its member states deprive themselves of the possibility to debate and set clear priorities for a more coordinated and united approach to China. Consequently, not only the EU lacks clarity over the priorities within its relationship with China, but also it lacks a real buy in from its member states.

"De-risking" could display the pitfalls of the catchall tripartite approach Against the backdrop of diplomatic reopening and China's attempts to bring the relationship with the EU back on track, it will become increasingly important for the EU to clarify its priorities. The past two years have witnessed the EU asserting itself more decisively and adopting a series of policies that better defend its interests also in face of challenges posed by China. On March 30, Commission President Ursula von der Leyen gave a speech on China in which she reiterated the core role of de-risking in the EU's approach towards China and announced the launch of an economic security strategy. De-risking, nonetheless, remains highly undefined, and risks displaying the same pitfalls of the catch-all tripartite approach if it the contours are not defined in due course.

Admittedly, the EU had been building up its domestic geoeconomic toolbox, even before de-risking or the economic security strategy were publicly proposed by President von der Leyen. While none of the following policies are formally targeting China, each have a China angle.

- The International Procurement Instrument, allowing member states to ban products and firms from a country without a reciprocal de jure access to its public procurement, was finalized and formally launched.
- The Anti-foreign Subsidy legislation, allowing the EU to apply its domestic state aid rules to foreign firms in the single market, was also finalized.
- The Anti-coercion Instrument is undergoing negotiations between the Commission, the Council and the Parliament.
- Negotiations on the Anti-forced Labor instrument have been dynamic, with the Commission having fielded its own proposition while the Parliament and the Council are still working on theirs.
- In 2022, the EU also launched the Chips Act, focused on boosting the EU semiconductor sector.
- In 2023, the Commission launched the Critical Raw Material Act, which seeks to secure EU access to critical materials.
- In 2023, the Commission is also expected to launch an Economic security strategy in June, with China being the elephant in the room of many of the topics likely to be covered, be it dependencies, the screening of investments or export control.

Also, relaxation of state aid rules established under Covid were extended by a year. This reinforces the recent uptick in industrial policy efforts geared towards mitigating the external dependencies that the Commission identified in 2021. Industrial Policy of Common European Interest (IPCEI) – the main European instrument for pro-active industrial policies – has allowed for significant advancement on semiconductors and batteries with EU funding. Industrial policy on green hydrogen was launched too. Discussions over other ones – cloud, semiconductors (again), solar and health products - have also been dynamic.

Trade agreement discussions were also revived to foster diversification and rule-based order, leading to the conclusion of negotiations with New-Zealand as well as Chile, and the (re) launch of formal discussions with India, Indonesia and Thailand.

In addition to developing its toolbox, the EU has started implementing existing tools. No less than seven new trade defense instrument (TDIs) investigations have been opened or finalized against Chinese goods or subsidies over 2022, with at least five older ones being renewed and two anti-circumventions applied. This sets China on track to remain the most impacted partner of EU TDIs (68 percent of cases at the end of 2021), and to see a continued increase of the share of its exports to Europe being subject of TDIs (at roughly 13 percent in 2021, versus around 6 from 2000 to 2010).

In terms of substance, the Commission has maintained its more stringent implementation regarding the broad definition of public bodies, below-market financing, and transnational subsidies. The EU also opened two cases at the WTO against Chinese practices regarding the international value of Chinese domestic judication on patents and the economic coercion of Beijing against Lithuania.

Beyond the rhetoric, EU-China economic integration is intensifying, but it still lags well behind the US (see graphic). Chinese exports to the EU were dynamic, growing at more than 8 percent over 2022, while imports were down by the same amount. In the meantime, European FDI in China have seen their second most dynamic year ever in 2022 according to Rhodium Group. More strict financial flows are harder to assess, but it is safe to assume that international European investors have not departed from peers and have unwound some of their positions in Chinese financial markets following the Ukraine invasion. This has not prevented European financial institutions from continuing to expand their activities in China as Beijing continues the slow opening-up of its financial sector.

Exhibit 3



#### The actors: EU on China – who is who and what is what?

The EU's China policy largely plays out through relevant frameworks. These include the annual EU-China summit bringing together the EU and PRC leadership and a series of high-level dialogues (strategic, economic and trade, environment and climate, digital and people-to-people) that connect HRVP or the relevant Commissioners with their Chinese counterparts. Rarely groundbreaking, those semi-institutionalized meetings are nevertheless fundamental to structure European positions and facilitate discussions on China.

European institutions have made a considerable effort to put China higher on the agenda The European institutions have made a considerable effort to put China higher on the EU's agenda over the last years developing a toolbox of China related policies and strategic documents that include attempts at aligning the position of member states on China. These include the dedicated EU-China Strategic Outlook (2019), Indo-Pacific Strategy (September 2021) or Strategic Compass (March 2022). The most recent efforts include the speech on China given by European Commission President Ursula Von der Leyen on March 30 and the discussion of a new position paper on China.

The EU's China policy is shaped through an institutionalized and semi-institutionalized negotiations process between a plethora of actors playing different roles within the EU system. The level of their engagement and influence differs depending on level of competences of European institutions in the given field.

For instance, where the EU has exclusive competences – such as on customs procedures, competition and common commercial policies – the agency of the Commission and the European Parliament are the strongest, making the EU's policies on China most robust. Similarly, this grants strong impact to the DG Trade and International Trade Committee (INTA) in shaping the EU's China policy.

The relatively diluted competences in the realm of common foreign policies and security mean that the member-states led European Council and Council of the EU hold the final say. The controversial unanimity requirement creates a significant hurdle to developing a united position in general, and towards China in particular. A few member states have now advanced a proposal to move away from unanimity in foreign and security policy in favor of an approach based on qualified majority.

That is just the latest of a number of changes that are quietly emerging within the EU. The speech on China by Commission President Ursula Von der Leyen is an example of how the European Commission and her Cabinet more specifically are trying to broaden their influence in foreign policy matters, even when they go beyond the strict competence of the Commission. However, the importance and complexity of dealing with China is blurring such divisions.

In all of this the European Parliament has come to occupy the role of watchdog, making sure the other institutions do not forget about China's violation of human rights and the risks the bilateral relationship carries.

### The future: The EU has some way to go to reach a consistent approach towards China

Four years after the Strategic Outlook, three years after the beginning of the Covid pandemic, and two after the first strategic dependency report, the EU is still missing a clear approach on China. This has not prevented the bloc from developing multiple actions and initiatives on the matter, as detailed above. Nevertheless, the lack of a clear approach and framework creates risks of inconsistencies between sectors and of frictions between European partners further down the road.

The lack of the "de-risking" concept's formalization increases risks as the reopening of China and Beijing's shift of rhetoric will create economic opportunities that have already led to a renewed push for a more cooperative approach. The recent more assertive stance and measures towards economic distortions and challenges coming from China occurred during a closed-up zero-Covid China.

As it is, the EU has yet to showcase how "to walk, chew gum and play chess at the same time" with China. More concretely, the Europeans need to demonstrate how they can simultaneously pursue all three of the systemic rival line, de-risking in economic relations and the maximization of their economic benefit in China. The economic situation in China is motivating Beijing's friendlier communication mode towards the EU. Despite the lack of hope for any significant changes in terms of substance and goals, European leaders and communities have already been signaling a deeper engagement with China that does not seem to consider the real risks China poses to the EU.

Against this backdrop, it will remain crucial to invest more effectively in coordinating with like-minded partners on Chinese behaviors that undermine the rule-based international order and developing an appealing offer to third countries.

In the context of cooperation with like-minded partners, the EU should develop a clearer list of actions and objectives it wants to pursue in relation to China, including red lines on what is not acceptable both in terms of objectives and implementation. Then there comes the question of engagement with developing economies. The Global Gateway initiative branded as the key EU's engagement tool for boosting relations with partners from developing countries requires more robust implementation and clearer strategic messaging. The EU still needs to develop a consistent and convincing message and offer to demonstrate why its vision of the international system, challenged by China, is also beneficial to those partners that find themselves courted by Beijing.

The lack of a clear approach creates risks of frictions between European partners

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Under its One China policy, the EU recognizes the People's Republic of China, but reserves the right to develop relations with Taiwan that do not amount to recognition of statehood. Over the past months these relations have been developing with several key topics driving the EU's Taiwan file:

- The Council and the EEAS are developing a set of coordinated response measures to a potential spike of tensions in the Taiwan Strait.
- While the Commission is not interested in negotiating a Bilateral Investment Agreement with Taipei arguing that the Taiwanese market is already quite open, it has launched annual EU-Taiwan Trade and Investment Dialogues (since 2021) and upgraded (in 2022) the EU-Taiwan Trade and Investment Economic Dialogue to the ministerial/director-general level.
- The EU seeks to expand cooperation with Taiwanese actors in the semiconductor industry.
- The EEAS and relevant committees of the EP increase knowledge exchanges on China's foreign information manipulation activities.



High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties

Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

Austria

## Austria: Between amicable bilateral relations and support for a European China policy

#### **Lucas Erlbacher**, Associate Fellow, Austrian Institute for European and Security Policy (AIES)

Austria's current approach towards the PRC seeks to strike a balance between, on the one hand, maintaining amicable bilateral relations with China, all the while not appearing too close to Beijing, and, on the other hand, supporting and relying on a common European approach towards China. This equilibrium rests on several pillars: the absence of domestic debate on China, the PRC's non-confrontational diplomatic approach, the low salience of the China's economic presence in Austria as well as the ambiguity of the EU's China strategy.

#### The action: A changing global policy environment

The Alpine Republic's bilateral relationship to the PRC – which after the establishment of diplomatic ties in 1971 expanded rather gradually – experienced a renewed political impulse throughout the 2010s. On the Austrian side this intensification of bilateral relations was largely guided by the determination to deepen economic relations. Especially in the aftermath of the global financial crisis of 2008, the Chinese market was largely perceived as a market of hope (Hoffnungsmarkt), an opportunity for growth and export diversification.<sup>1</sup>

Austria's relationship with China intensified throughout the 2010s Although bilateral relations cooled down following the Dalai Lama's meeting with the then Federal Chancellor Faymann (SPÖ, social democratic) and Foreign Minister Spindelegger (ÖVP, Christian-democratic conservative) in May 2012, diplomatic ties were again normalized a year later with Austria reaffirming its attachment to the One-China Policy and the PRC extending the loan of two pandas to Vienna's Zoo.<sup>2</sup>

By 2015, at latest, bilateral relations regained momentum with Federal President Fischer's (SPÖ) second state visit to China, which notably resulted in Austria joining the AIIB as a founding member as well as the 16+1 initiative as an observer.<sup>3,4</sup> At that time, the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) generated high expectations for both Austrian policy makers and business representatives, as a chance to not only strengthen economic ties with the PRC, but also to benefit from Chinese infrastructure investments in the CEE region by positioning Vienna as a logistic hub<sup>5</sup> and point of entry to neighboring markets.<sup>6</sup>

The signing of a friendly strategic partnership (freundschaftliche strategische Partnerschaft) during the joint state visit of President Van der Bellen and then Chancellor Kurz in April 2018 marked a culmination in the deepening of bilateral relations. In this context, an MoU on the BRI between the Austrian Ministry of Transport and the National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) was signed.<sup>7</sup> Subsequently, intensified political exchanges were maintained up until the outbreak of Covid-19, which induced a drop in the intensity of the relationship.

Yet, in parallel, the global policy environment surrounding the Sino-Austrian relationship has become considerably more uncertain. As is outlined in the country's yearly security outlook, a report published by the Federal Ministry of Defense, security risks associated with the PRC have multiplied since 2019. Markedly, the latest report, from 2022, lists the "systemic conflict between the US and China", as well as "EU-China tensions" respectively as a current and very likely scenario with a significant impact on Austria's domestic securi-

ty.<sup>8</sup> In fact, the entrenchment of the US-China rivalry did not only dampen expectations for bilateral economic relations by adversely affecting Austrian businesses based in the PRC,<sup>9</sup> but it also raised a growing challenge to Austria's constitutional neutrality. <sup>10</sup>

Similarly, tensions between the PRC and the European Union – epitomized by the reciprocated sanctions in March 2021 – as well as with individual EU member states have further put a strain on the Alpine Republic's foreign policy stance. Indeed, in stark contrast to the EU-China relationship, Austria's bilateral relationship with the PRC has remained stable. At the same time, the last years saw a rising awareness of Europe's, and thereupon also Austria's, dependence on China in strategic sectors. This perception was greatly amplified by shortages in PPE and other pharmaceutical products during the first months of the Covid-19 pandemic.

#### Balancing bilateral relations and a common European approach

Arguably, these developments have induced a broadening of Austria's foreign policy rationale towards China. On the one hand, the PRC remains an important economic partner with which Vienna seeks to intensify bilateral relations.<sup>11,12</sup> To that end, Austrian diplomatic efforts refrain from engaging bilaterally with the PRC on potentially contentious issues. For instance, during the Covid-19 pandemic Austria avoided singling out the PRC regarding deficiencies in PPE imports<sup>13</sup>. More recently, the current Austrian Chancellor Nehammer (ÖVP), clearly positioned himself against a boycott of the Beijing Olympic Games, all the while explaining the absence of Austrian political delegates through the prevalent Covid-19 travel restrictions.<sup>14</sup>

Yet, while keen on maintaining amicable relations, Vienna has also been mindful to not appear too close to Beijing. For instance, at the news of the Sino-Italian MoU on the BRI, the Alpine Republic's federal government – at that time under the leadership of Chancellor Sebastian Kurz – clearly distanced itself from this, even though it signed an inter-ministerial MoU during the previous year.

On the other hand, there is a clear understanding among Austrian policy makers and experts that a common European approach towards China is necessary. As the Foreign Minister states in response to a parliamentarian inquiry, the EU's common foreign policy forms the foundation of Austria's strategic approach to China.<sup>15</sup> In particular, the EU's multifaceted approach defining the PRC as a partner, competitor, and a systemic rival has quickly gained support. This accent on a common European approach is strengthened by the perception that the scope of action for Austria remains limited on a national level.

Especially in the context of controversial topics, Vienna is keen on following European initiatives. Covid-19 test requirements were, for instance, only implemented after the conclusion of a European recommendation for precautionary measures.<sup>16</sup> Similarly, engagement on human rights issues tends to be focused on multilateral initiatives, notably joint statements.<sup>17</sup> In that sense, Austria's policy towards the PRC aims to maintain an equilibrium between, on the one hand, sustaining amicable bilateral relations with China, all the while not appearing too close to Beijing, and, on the other hand, supporting and relying on a common European approach towards China. Vienna has been mindful to not appear too close to Beijing

## Factors: lack of domestic debate, China's low economic salience, ambiguity of EU approach

Especially compared to its northern neighbor Germany, Austria has lacked a significant political debate on China. In fact, the PRC has remained a peripheral issue in the Alpine Republic's parliamentarian discussion. In addition, the parliamentarian parties have up until now not formulated positions on bilateral relations with the PRC. This can to a large extend be explained by the lack of domestic political capital associated to China. Additionally, there appears to be a tacit understanding across party-lines regarding the necessity of maintaining amicable relations. In that sense, relations to China do not appear to be a major source of political controversy.<sup>18</sup>

The lack of political debate has resulted in a minor role for Austria's parliamentarian chamber, as well as political parties in general. Indeed, the Alpine Republic's relation with the PRC have up until now been mainly shaped by the Federal Government. The Federal Chancellery, Federal Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Ministry of Economic Affairs are especially influential. Furthermore, while interest groups (Interessensvertretungen) represent important actors of the Austria-China bilateral relationship, they rarely are in contradiction to the government's position.<sup>19</sup> Likewise, public debate on China appears to be of limited intensity and influence.

Even though there has been an increase in mediatic interest regarding the PRC since the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, the coverage rarely focuses on Austria and has attracted only limited public attention. Overall, the Alpine Republic's public stance towards the PRC can be described as being rather nonchalant: while perceptions have worsened recently, there seems to be no great public interest to intensively engage with China nor alter Austria's approach to the PRC. Together, China's peripheral position within domestic debates, the absence of political controversy, as well as the public's nonchalance mean that there is neither significant political nor public pressure on the Austrian government to alter its approach to the PRC.

The absence of debate is, arguably, further reinforced by the success of the PRC's diplomatic efforts in Austria, which throughout the past tumultuous years have remained rather non-confrontational. The former ambassador, Li Xiaosi (2016-2022), enjoyed a high reputation with Austrian policy makers, as well as influential social actors. He was markedly awarded Vienna's second highest honorary medal in 2021.<sup>20</sup> While the PRC's new ambassador, Qi Mei, appears to be continuing her predecessor's conciliatory approach, it remains to be seen whether she is able to integrate into the Austrian society.

Moreover, even though economic relations between Austria and China have greatly intensified during the last decade, they have been of rather low salience. Indeed, bilateral economic relations have remained rather inconspicuous given their relatively confided scope as well as the absence of prominent cases. Firstly, China's FDI stocks still remain significantly smaller than those of European countries, as well as traditional trading partners, such as the US or Japan.<sup>21</sup>

Moreover, Chinese investments in Austria have mostly concentrated on hidden champions – medium-sized enterprises leading in industrial subsegments, which are unknown to the wider public. These take overs have neither attracted widespread public attention nor triggered a "Kuka-Moment", i.e., a swift reversal of political perceptions.<sup>22</sup> Accordingly, discus-

Austria has lacked a significant political and public debate on China sions surrounding the design and implementation of a European FDI screening mechanism did not specifically concentrate on Chinese investments.

More broadly, Austria's economic exposure to the Chinese market is rather limited.<sup>23</sup> In addition, the core market of Austria's strongest brands tends to be situated either in the DACH and CEE region or the US.<sup>24</sup> Hence, the perception of economic dependence appears to be rather limited.

Lastly, the rather vague and ambiguous nature of the EU's current strategic approach provides Austrian policy makers with a substantial margin for maneuver. In particular, the multifaceted approach towards China – partner, competitor and systemic rival – leaves wide room for interpretation. In fact, in contrast to other EU members, in particular Germany, Austria appears to be pursuing a de-facto bucket approach: trade and climate change issues tend to be seen as fields of partnership and cooperation; in the context of strategic sectors, notably digital technologies, the PRC tends to be seen as a competitor; while regarding the upholding of the global, multilateral governance system China is increasingly perceived as a rival. Austria's economic exposure to the Chinese market is rather limited

Interestingly, Austrian policy makers tend to associate these three different facets with different engagement approaches. Regarding global governance the scope for national action is perceived to be rather limited. Vienna, hence, concentrates its engagement on European and multilateral initiatives. Similarly, the reduction of dependencies in strategic sectors appear to be primarily associated with a common European approach. In contrast, trade remains a mainstay of bilateral relation with the PRC. Overall, the ambiguity of the EU's approach to China enables Vienna to maintain a balance between, on the one side, navigating the rising tensions in the EU-China relationship and, on the other side, pursuing an amicable bilateral tone.

#### Efforts for re-structuring of bilateral relations

In line with the current ÖVP-Greens coalition's government program, the federal government undertook first steps towards the development of a national China strategy. In particular, an inter-ministerial China coordination group, gathering representatives from all federal ministries, was established in late 2020. At the same time, the Federal Chancellery commissioned an input paper for its China Strategy. In this context, consultation with domestic major interest groups, as well as with European partners were also undertaken. Importantly, this process is aimed at increasing both China specific knowledge as well as the coordination between ministries on their engagement with China.<sup>25</sup>

Although it is unlikely that the national China strategy comprises nor in itself triggers major shifts in Vienna's approach to Beijing, it represents a crucial step in structuring bilateral relations. On the other hand, whereas the publication of a China strategy might well contribute to a modest start of a political discussion, as well as public engagement on relations with China, Austria's domestic debate is likely to stay limited given the lack of political capital associated to China policy.

However, with no publicly announced timeframe, it is not yet certain when or - by that matter - whether at all Austria's China Strategy is going to come to fruition. Arguably, the formulation of a new Austrian "comprehensive" security strategy, announced by the ÖVP-Greens coalition for the fall of this year, represents an opportune moment for the Austrian

government to continue the development of its China strategy, notably by placing it within a broader thematic and geographic context.

All in all, although Austrian policy makers appear to have largely lost appetite for a significant expansion of relations with Beijing, Vienna is set to remain determined in balancing amicable bilateral relations with the PRC and support for a European China policy. By appearing neither antagonistic nor too friendly towards China, the Alpine Republic has sought to position itself in the European mainstream. However, with the EU's approach to Beijing being increasingly defined in light of the PRC's stance towards Russia's invasion of Ukraine,<sup>26</sup> Vienna's balancing act looks increasingly acrobatic.

Indeed, the absence of a *Zeitenwende* in Austria, the ambiguity of the country's 'neutrality in the European spirit',<sup>27</sup> as well as its tendency to dream of itself as a bridge-builder,<sup>28</sup> have pushed Vienna further towards the periphery of European foreign policy. Crucially, up until now the Alpine Republic's balancing of bilateral relations and European approach to the PRC was enabled by the latter's ambiguity. The ongoing clarification of the EU's approach might well place a *difficult* choice before the Alpine Republic: follow changes in Europe's China policy or find itself viewed by its European partners as a foreign policy enclave.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Austria has, since the establishment of diplomatic relations with the PRC in 1971, adhered to the 'One-China Principle'.<sup>29</sup> Currently, Austria holds a representation office and commercial office in Taipei, while Vienna hosts a Taipei Economic and Cultural Office. Yet, given Austria's reticence to engage bilaterally on contentious issues regarding the PRC, the Austria-Taiwan relationship has centered on cultural and economic cooperation, all the while remaining rather inconspicuous. In fact, contrary to its neighbors, Slovakia and Czechia, political relations with Taiwan did not experience any meaningful expansion over the last years.<sup>30</sup>

Both the successive Austrian governments, as well as the legislative chambers have largely refrained from publicly addressing the issues surrounding Taiwan and Cross-Strait relations.<sup>31,32</sup> In addition, the sub-national relations have both remained scarce and limited in scope.<sup>33</sup> On the other hand, economic relations, as well as cultural and educational exchanges have witnessed a gradual and pragmatic deepening in the last years.<sup>34</sup>

Most recently, Austria's Ministry of Economic Affairs signed an MoU with its Taiwanese counterpart to promote cross-country innovation.<sup>35</sup> With the PRC remaining the Alpine Republic's primary economic partner in the region and without significant domestic pressure by domestic political and social actors for a change in Austria's current approach, relations with Taiwan are likely to both remain inconspicuous and only expand gradually.





Focus on

derisking

#### **Belgium: From friends to frenemies with China**

**Astrid Pepermans**, Senior Research Fellow, Egmont Royal Institute for International Relations

Belgium can be depicted as an active recipient of EU China policy. Political China-debates at federal and at regional level are held on a regular basis and echo the Union's 2019 Strategic Outlook, considering China as a partner, competitor, and a systemic rival. Initiatives and developments are taking place, usually induced by European principles – such as democracy, humanity, rule of law – and strategic guidelines (i.e. from principled pragmatism to open strategic autonomy).<sup>36</sup> The Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MOFA) has an internal, though unofficial, China Strategy.<sup>37</sup> However, as examples show, Belgium's China policy has attributes similar to that of a Swiss cheese, an incomplete approach consisting of ad hoc and case-by-case efforts to cope with challenges in Belgium's relationship with China.

#### Introduction

From commercial opportunism towards a more realistic approach to China Along with the EU's China disillusionment – reflected in its 2019 Strategic Outlook – Belgium's approach towards China has gradually shifted from commercial opportunism towards a more realistic position. Statements of the Minister of Foreign Affairs, legal initiatives originating from the wide Belgian political spectrum, and even private initiatives reflect this reality-check. While the Belgian MOFA's new China Strategy remains confidential, the ministry is clearly trying to navigate between Belgium's business interests as a small and geographically central trading nation and the growing security- and diplomatic challenges it faces in its relationship with China.

The complex structure of Belgium's political landscape regularly has proven to be an obstacle in developing solid and coherent policy. Following the EU Regulation on FDI Screening, a Belgian interfederal FDI screening mechanism is currently being implemented. However, the fact remains that it took a burdensome negotiation process of seven years among the numerous Belgian governmental levels, communities and regions to find the required support. A questionable Sino-Belgian extradition treaty and a disappointing Walloon business deal with Alibaba exemplify the lack of ex ante assessment capacity and of a long-term vision on the Sino-Belgian relationship.

#### The Sino-Belgian reality check

The 2016 Sino-Belgian Eandis case deserves special mention as it drew a clear demarcation line in Belgium's, and more specifically Flanders', approach towards China. Long before there were even whispers of the 5G security debate in Europe, Belgian considerations on foreign interference in critical infrastructure were triggered when the Chinese stateowned electric utility company State Grid attempted to buy a 14 percent share in Eandis. This Flemish energy distributor, owned by different communities, provided 80 percent of Flanders' electricity and gas. The possibility of a business transfer with the Chinese state company spurred a heated and mediatized debate.

The critics warned of the growing influence of an autocratic country in Belgium's vulnerable sectors. The proponents depicted the transfer as apolitical and hence *business as usual*. According to them, the transfer could be compared to the sale of Belgian energy corporation Electrabel to the French utility company GDF Suez in 2005. Eventually, the Sino-Belgian deal fell through due to the refusal of one of the Eandis-owning communities to fuse the seven, initially independent, network operators. This corporate merger was a precondition for the business transfer with China's State Grid.<sup>38</sup>

Even though the security considerations alone did not put a stop to the Eandis deal, they did set alarm bells ringing. A thinking exercise at the Flemish regional level was triggered on how FDI could be politically monitored to avoid risky dependencies in strategic sectors.<sup>39</sup> Endless discussions on the division of governmental competences, sector lists and applicable definitions however hampered the development process.<sup>40</sup>

It took a European FDI Regulation, a geopolitical awakening – triggered by Belgium's gas dependency on Russia –, and seven years of political wrangling, for the Belgian political elite to agree upon an interfederal FDI screening mechanism.<sup>41</sup> The Federal Ministry of Finance has currently assigned three people to the FDI screening team, with the aim of scaling up this number to ten. More information on the specific budget and expertise has yet to be revealed.<sup>42</sup>

A parallel discussion on the presence of Chinese state companies in Flemish ports such as Antwerp and Zeebrugge (two ports that merged in 2022) lately dominated the Belgian debate on China. A research paper stressed the political and military background against which Chinese shipping companies such as COSCO Shipping and China Merchants operate. It criticized politicians and private actors for turning a blind eye to the security and dependence consequences of considerable business activities by such firms in Belgian ports.<sup>43</sup> The report was covered by the Flemish and the Walloon, printed, radio and television media, and resurrected security concerns in the Belgian political corridors.

Flemish Minister-President Jan Jambon nevertheless emphasized that, due to its scale and its interest in open and free trade, Flanders should seek a pragmatic balance between strategic interests and economic opportunities when it comes to its relationship with China. To cope with potential risks, he referred to the Flemish ex-post monitoring system by which decisions can be nullified if contrary to Flemish interests.

This monitoring system was implemented in 2019, but only applies for the Flemish stateowned sector. Its ex-post feature has been criticized due to the risk of consequential legal uncertainty.<sup>44</sup> Minister Jambon also emphasized the progress of the interfederal FDI screening mechanism. Thirdly, he mentioned the trade defense instruments at EU level, which are in full development and complementary to the internal Belgian levers.<sup>45</sup>

#### **Diplomatic quarrels**

Diplomatically, an interview on the same seaport paper with the Belgian Minister of Foreign Affairs (MFA), Hadja Lahbib, caused tensions. In the interview she emphasized the complexity of the Sino-Belgian relationship, entailing a dimension of partnership, rivalry, and hostility. While the interview was not withdrawn, a request from the Chinese embassy to do so, along with warnings of economic consequences for Belgium if giving publicity to what were depicted as "rumors," leaked.<sup>46</sup>

Belgian members of Parliament have been increasingly confronted with China's wolf warrior diplomacy. In May 2020, Flemish-nationalist Member of Parliament Theo Francken (N-VA) submitted a resolution at federal level, asking the government to encourage an independent international analysis of the source of Covid-19 in response to the reluctance of Belgian MEPs have been increasingly confronted with China's wolf warrior diplomacy the Chinese government towards such investigations. The Chinese embassy took offense, accusing Belgium of politicizing the pandemic along with other western countries.<sup>47</sup>

In March 2021, Green party member, Samuel Cogolati (Ecolo), was one of the ten European politicians to be sanctioned after he submitted a recently accepted resolution on recognizing the human rights situation in Xinjiang as a possible risk of "genocide."<sup>48</sup> Shortly after submitting his resolution, Cogolati became the target of a cyber-attack, which could be brought back to a Chinese state actor according to the Belgian Centre for Cybersecurity.<sup>49</sup>

The Chinese embassy's most recent letter was sent in response to a legislative initiative by Christian-Democrat Els Van Hoof (CD&V) on the hostile attitude of China towards Taiwan. The Chinese ambassador warned Van Hoof, also President of the Federal Commission on Foreign Affairs at the Parliament, not to "play with fire" by intervening in Chinese internal affairs.<sup>50</sup>

#### The actors

The MOFA is a central actor in developing Belgium's China policy. At the time of writing the Ministry's modified strategy is under review, awaiting official validation. While the strategy remains confidential, the interview with MFA Lahbib as well as the resolutions submitted by the governing parties, show a clear trend towards a more realist China approach, aligning with the European evolution from principled pragmatism to open strategic autonomy.<sup>51</sup>

Nearly every Belgian party has submitted legal initiatives on the Sino-Belgian relationship – focusing on human rights, Taiwan and Hong Kong – which are being discussed or voted on in the current parliamentary term (2019-2024).<sup>52</sup> The only outlier in this regard is the extreme-left party, usually abstaining or voting against such resolutions. Their argument is that Belgium should not go along with the current Cold War rhetoric which is spilling over from the US into Europe. They, moreover, emphasize the hypocrisy of criticizing and scapegoating China, while cooperating with other questionable regimes, and call for dialogue over confrontation.<sup>53</sup>

The Flemish extreme-right party can also be considered an outlier, but more specifically when it comes to the topic of Taiwan. Whereas the political center unanimously recognizes the one-China policy, the Belgian extreme-right submitted a resolution in which they ask the government, besides condemning the hostilities, to recognize the island as a sovereign and independent nation.<sup>54</sup>

Preparatory legal documents indicate that the interests of the private sector are considered in the development of Belgian policy vis-à-vis China.<sup>55</sup> When developing the criteria and procedures of the interfederal FDI screening mechanism for example, major Belgian industry associations such as VBO (an overarching organization representing more than 50,000 Belgian companies and 50 sectoral federations, ranging from steel to high-end production), Agoria (representing 2000 technology companies in the manufacturing, digital and telecom industry), VOKA (the Flemish counterpart of VBO representing 18,000 Flemish firms), UWE (representing 80,000 companies in Wallonia), and BECI (a partnership between the Brussels Chamber of Commerce and VBO Brussels, representing 35,000 Brussels-based firms) have urged for, and achieved, the exclusion of foreign greenfield investments in the FDI screening procedure.<sup>56</sup>

Nearly every Belgian party has submitted legal initiatives on the Sino-Belgian relationship
Security concerns on doing business with China are often appeased by representatives of the private sector – such as the president of the China-Belgium Chamber of Commerce and the top executive of Belgium's seaport platform – warning for protectionism and stressing the importance of free trade for a small country like Belgium.<sup>57</sup> A recent article shows that discursive concerns and political condemnations are not always mirrored by Belgian private business activities in practice. Over the past years, several Belgian banks have provided investment funds which included firms active in developing surveillance material and electricity for the Xinjiang detention camps.<sup>58</sup>

In response to the fear for corporate espionage and to the deteriorating Sino-US relationship, some private entities have launched their own initiatives. Imec, a long-standing partner of ASML and one of the few companies in the world where prototypes of microchips are being tested and designed, decided to phase out all cooperation with Chinese researchers and companies. Their exchange with the Chinese Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation (SMIC) was halted.<sup>59</sup>

# Capacities

Upholding a coherent and proactive China strategy has proved to be a challenge for Belgium. In 2016, the Belgian government led by Charles Michel agreed upon a Sino-Belgian extradition treaty. According to a source closely involved, such a treaty was imperative for fruitful Sino-Belgian commercial relations.<sup>60</sup> Three years later, Beijing's repression of the Hong Kong protests and its controversial national security law, triggered several European member states to halt similar treaties.

The current Belgian Minister of Justice eased the human rights concerns by referring to the inclusion of contractual grounds for refusal in case of the presumption of torture, political crimes, or inhumane treatment. A thorough case-by-case approach should avoid unwanted extraditions from happening. However, international law experts have questioned these guarantees and stressed that an extradition treaty with China was never a prerequisite for Sino-Belgian judicial cooperation. At European level, instruments are foreseen to conduct the transfer of suspects.<sup>61</sup> The lack of a proper ex ante assessment on the judicial necessity, the benefits and the risks of this Sino-Belgian extradition treaty could have avoided today's uncomfortable political ad hoc cornering of human rights concerns.

Another example indicating Belgium's insufficient ex ante assessment capacities, is the investment of Alibaba in the trade hub of the Wallonian city of Liege. Like the extradition treaty, this business deal envisioned economic opportunities in the Chinese market. A recent report has revealed that the activities of Alibaba have not resulted in the expected employment boost, nor has it increased the trade flows from Belgium to China.

Trade between Liege and Beijing is largely dominated by Chinese products, adding to the Sino-Belgian trade imbalance. The lack of personnel within the customs service in Liege hampers a smooth controlling procedure of the sharply risen incoming freight and already led to different strikes.<sup>62</sup> Security concerns and data protection issues have been raised by the Minister of Justice, which has angered the Walloon minister of airports, accusing the former of being "jealous of Wallonia's success story."<sup>63</sup>

These examples present a disappointing picture of Belgium's capacities in developing a robust and coherent China strategy. In 2019 the MOFA initiated two coordination instruments for Belgium's China policy. The first one is an internal instrument gathering all China-relatUpholding a coherent, proactive China strategy has proved challenging for Belgium ed services within the Ministry. The second goes beyond the Ministry and brings together the Belgian federal and local authorities that have China-related activities. The Ministry's updated confidential strategy is currently under review.<sup>64</sup> It remains to be seen whether the coordination instruments and the new strategy will result into proper assessment capacities and a decisive, coherent, and proactive China policy.

#### Future and conclusion

Similar to what is happening at European level, Belgium increasingly realizes that, while the economic ties with China remain important, the Sino-Belgian relationship also entails an aspect of competition and systemic rivalry. Since the Eandis case – which can be considered a watershed moment in the Sino-Belgian relationship – the approach of Belgium's politicians, and even of some private entities, has gradually shifted from buttering up Chinese officials with the aim of unlocking economic opportunities to raising concerns on security issues, the growing trade imbalance and China's disappointing human rights record and regional aggressiveness.

Policy implementation is often hampered by Belgium's fragmented political landscape

Policy initiatives, such as the interfederal FDI screening mechanism, have been launched but their implementation is often hampered by Belgium's fragmented political and constitutional landscape. The Sino-Belgian extradition treaty and questionable business deal with Alibaba reveal a lack of a coherent vision, strategic thinking, and proactive assessment capacities. These cases mostly remain a legacy of previous political decision-making, which prioritized the economic opportunities behind China's investment wallet and untapped consumer market.

It remains to be seen whether the 2019 coordination instruments within and beyond the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and its new internal China strategy can avoid similar short-term thinking and opportunistic policymaking in the future.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Consensus among the Belgian political center exists that the current one-China policy as the basis for Belgium's approach towards Taiwan should not be changed. Nor should a foreign entity provide a final solution for the Chinese-Taiwanese situation.<sup>65</sup> Critical resolutions on the increasingly hostile attitude from China towards the island have been submitted though.<sup>66</sup> Rather than acting unilaterally, Belgium's stance remains rhetorical and EU-centered.

Aware of the economic and strategic importance of peace in the area between the South and East China Seas, a larger role for the EU as a mediating actor in that neighborhood has been pleaded for. According to most Belgian politicians, the one-China policy should moreover not hamper the development of strong economic, diplomatic, and cultural ties between Belgium and Taiwan.<sup>67</sup> This is mirrored by the highly active Belgian representation office in Taiwan and its Taiwanese counterpart in Brussels, simultaneously representing Taiwan in Belgium and in the EU.



High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties Focus on derisking economic ties

Bulgaria Low political relevance

# Bulgaria: No clear strategic vision and insufficient safeguards

**Mariana Trifonova**, East Asia Program Director & Senior Analyst, Economic Policy Institute (EPI)

Bulgaria lacks a comprehensive and coherent approach to engagement with China that is stipulated in a formal or informal national policy. Relations with China rarely make it into the policymakers' agenda, overshadowed by a plethora of domestic issues or more controversial foreign policy topics. Bulgaria emphasizes primarily the potential of China as an economic partner due to a sense of lagging behind other Central and Eastern European states in attracting Chinese investments. Limited China competence and experience in public institutions, coupled with the absence of nation-wide safeguards against potential vulnerabilities, creates asymmetry in the relationship.

#### **Cornerstones of Bulgaria's engagement with China**

Bulgaria was the second country in the world to recognize the PRC after the Soviet Union – a fact with little significance to the current state of bilateral cooperation. Bulgaria is lagging significantly behind other countries in Central and Eastern Europe when it comes to attracting Chinese investments or increasing exports to the large Asian market. This implicit need to play regional catch-up rationalizes the tendency to view China mostly as a potential economic partner.

Sectoral cooperation is focused on trade and investments, agriculture, tourism, and cultural and educational exchange. The pre-pandemic years were marked by an intensification of high-level bilateral political and diplomatic exchanges. During his trip to Beijing on the occasion of the 70th anniversary of the establishment of bilateral diplomatic ties, President Rumen Radev's meeting with Xi Jinping resulted in the elevation of bilateral relations to the level of strategic partnership.<sup>68</sup>

Bulgaria was the second country in the world to recognize the PRC

The upgrade to strategic partnership also came at the tail end of more China-focused activity on behalf of the government and personally the then Prime Minister Borissov who offered to host in July 2018 in Sofia the annual Summit of the China-CEEC Cooperation Mechanism.<sup>69</sup> This change in attitude could be attributed to a broader shift of looking to the East in Borissov's foreign policy maneuvering in his third term as prime minister. After his return to power in 2017, he sought a more balanced and diversified approach, trying to appease not only EU and NATO allies but also important regional players such as Türkiye and Russia who both enjoy the support of strong lobbies in Bulgaria.

Maintaining relative neutrality and performing a balancing act between various competing foreign powers is not a new concept in Bulgaria's foreign policy doctrine. In fact, the country's default diplomatic stance includes avoiding individual confrontation with stronger actors in the international arena, even if their actions clearly contradict international law or democratic principles. This tendency has so far been appreciated by China as it fits Beijing's narrative of non-interference in other states' domestic affairs and respect for each country's own development model.

# Bulgaria's non-existent China strategy and the drivers behind it

The issue of a national China policy has not garnered much interest from key policymakers. This could be attributed to the preference to adhere to a more flexible, strategically ambiguous approach towards China. After all, there is no precedent of drafting any type of formal policy on relations with Russia, Türkiye or the United States whose influence in Bulgaria generates much more lively discussions.

Politicians have been slow to take up the issue also because Bulgaria so far has not been the center of Chinese attention in the region. The country's EU and NATO membership, the existence of grants-based EU funding as well as strong local lobbies in the infrastructure construction sector have made it a less appealing destination for China in comparison to the Western Balkan states. However, Shopov<sup>70</sup> argues for the emergence of a reinvented charm offensive on behalf of Beijing through cultural and public diplomacy at a sub-national level. Without a concrete national policy in place, Filipova<sup>71</sup> warns against the dangers of asymmetry in the bilateral dynamics, comparing a potential Chinese push for influence in Bulgaria to knocking on a door wide open.

Otherwise competing domestic lobby groups have both called out the detrimental effects of not having a coherent national approach on engagement with China. Some Bulgarian diplomats and public servants with significant experience interacting with the Chinese side have echoed similar sentiments in private. On one side, keen supporters of expanding cultural, political, and business exchanges with China have often expressed frustrations towards the central government for its failure to capitalize on the perceived economic benefits as well as the Belt and Road infrastructure projects.<sup>72</sup>

China skeptics, on the other, generally lament the inattentiveness of public institutions who have not put in place safeguards against potential exploitation of Bulgaria's rule-of-law and governance deficiencies, such as unchecked academic cooperation agreements and joint projects with possible knowhow transfer in agriculture. They point out the lack of enforcement verification of the "Clean Networks" initiative regarding the telecommunications sector and remind that Bulgaria is yet to take steps towards adopting a foreign investments' screening mechanism.

Not having a clearly stipulated, widely acknowledged, coherent and comprehensive China policy is particularly problematic in light of the prolonged political crisis in Bulgaria since the spring of 2021. Public institutions and private stakeholders have been mostly left to their own devices in deciding how to deal with China. The discourse is dominated by the lack of consensus on other priority domestic and foreign policy issues<sup>73</sup>.

# China-related competency and institutional capacity in Bulgaria

At present, there is no evidence of a formal or informal "whole-of-government" coordination mechanism in place. Thus, Bulgaria could benefit from the adoption of more stringent EU rules providing a set framework for navigating engagement with Chinese counterparts on different levels. They could act as a cushion to soften the fall from potential local missteps. Investing in building up its own China competence and institutional capacity should go hand in hand with embracing EU-wide safeguards. Increased interest in China among the younger generation and the general public, may serve as the groundwork for nurturing competent China experts not only in government agencies but also in the private sector, academic institutions<sup>74</sup> and local authorities. In this regard, Chinese public and cultural diplomacy that has resulted in surging numbers of Mandarin language students<sup>75</sup> or young Bulgarians with academic or professional experience in China could turn out beneficial.

Bulgaria has not been the center of Chinese attention in the region

# Future outlook on Bulgaria's relations with China – three possible challenges on the horizon

The obvious uptick in Sino-Russian relations in the past few years could be examined as an important factor when projecting the nature of Bulgaria's future ties with China. In fact, under certain conditions, cooperation with China could be viewed as a function of the dynamics along the Moscow-Beijing and Moscow-Sofia axes. In the flux of an ongoing political crisis with no party winning enough votes to rule independently or form a stable coalition, it is unclear whether pro-Russian or Euro-Atlantic forces will prevail. In such a scenario, inherently pro-Western politicians may choose to turn a blind eye to Chinese initiatives in the country generally supported by the pro-Russian lobby in order to secure alliances to fight the bigger battles related to corruption, rule of law, decarbonization and green policy.

Mounting skepticism towards China in Europe so far has not forced Bulgaria to extricate itself from the China-CEEC Cooperation Mechanism, although the country's level of representation at its summits and other initiatives has often been downgraded to ambassador or deputy minister. At present, it is hard to imagine Bulgaria unilaterally exiting the regional initiative unless a formidable number of EU member states jointly give up on further engagement in the format.

When pressured to act on its obligations by Western allies, Bulgaria always prefers to do so in a block or broad coalition of partners. Such was the case when in October 2022 Sofia joined 50 other UN members who called on Beijing to comply with all recommendations in a report detailing China's potential "crimes against humanity" regarding the Uyghur people and other Muslim ethnic minorities in Xinjiang.<sup>76</sup> The issue is of some significance to domestic politicians, mostly from the Movement for Rights and Liberties<sup>77</sup>, who are closely linked to Bulgaria's 10.8% Muslim population.<sup>78</sup> In March 2021, MEP Ilhan Kyuchuk from the same party was blacklisted by China in retaliation to earlier sanctions adopted by the European Parliament because of evidence of China's abuses in Xinjiang.

As a result of the confrontation, the European Parliament has refused to ratify the EU-China Comprehensive Agreement on Investments – a document whose endorsement may have otherwise benefitted Bulgaria, given the country's expressed desire to remedy its disadvantaged position in terms of Chinese investments in the CEE region.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Bulgaria "adheres to the "one China" principle, considers Taiwan as part of China and does not maintain diplomatic relations with Taipei".<sup>79</sup> Sofia has not indicated any recent desire to revisit its stance on the matter. Unless a common EU decision is made, backed by strong US support, it is unlikely for Bulgaria to risk attracting Beijing's anger in favor of developing closer ties with the technologically advanced island. In a scenario where the United States decides to prioritize strengthening of Taiwan's defense capabilities against Beijing, it may expedite the delivery of the 66 F-16 fighter jets ordered by Taipei and slated for production in the same facility as Bulgaria's own order of 8 F-16s.<sup>80</sup> This could significantly delay the modernization of Bulgarian aviation and jeopardize its air policing capabilities at a time of heightened security concerns in the Black Sea region due to the war in Ukraine.

It is hard to imagine Bulgaria unilaterally exiting China-CEEC cooperation





Focus on deepening economic ties Czechia

Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

# **Czechia: The Strategic Partnership with China is without strategy**

**Rodolf Fürst**, Senior Researcher, Institute of International Relations (IIR)

The Czech approach to China is influenced by the tradition of its past economic relations, the ambitions of domestic business circles and by the fluctuating ideological shifts that follow the changing geopolitical environment and the Czech domestic political milieu. Czech Republic, disappointed by its unfulfilled economic goals in China, for Beijing represents one of the most politically problematic partner states in post-communist Europe as a whole. Czech domestic identity-related ideologization and securitization of the Chinese issue, through which Prague emphasizes democratic values and belonging to the Western allies, makes this case remarkable in Euro-Chinese relations.

# The action: Czech Republic's approach towards China

Czech Republic's tradition of ties with China dates back to the first half of the 20th century when official relations were first established and when former Czechoslovakia supplied the Republic of China with mainly arms and industrial investments. The most intensive phase in economic cooperation developed during the communist era, however, since the 1990s the economic reform and post-communist transformation in China and former Eastern European states significantly reduced the decades-existing framework for bureaucratic economic planning and exchanges. However, having the economic tradition of engaging China in mind, the Czech business lobbies never gave up the chance for tapping the huge Chinese market as the additional export space beyond the European common market.<sup>81</sup>

Since the fall of the communist regime, the predominantly economically oriented Czech polity has adopted more ideologically-, critically- and human rights-oriented views. China policy was debated among the new democratic elites, but no comprehensive or official China-related strategy emerged and the relations with China remained a divisive theme between various political parties, the media, and the public.

Czech policy does not diverge from the EU's China policy Left-wing governments were more proactive in supporting economic engagement with the PRC, and China was included into the economic strategic documents on the government and ministerial level, as was for example, "Back to the Top: International Competitiveness Strategy of the Czech Republic for the period 2012 to 2020,"<sup>82</sup> and "The Export Strategy of the Czech Republic for the Period 2012-2020," in which China as the strategic destination in Asia was mentioned altogether with Vietnam, Kazakhstan, Turkey, and Iraq<sup>83</sup>. The China-related state documents, which have been available online, usually did not attract greater public or media attention. These strategic documents integrate existing EU policies and set progressive EU member states as examples. The Czech Ministry of Industry and Trade established a supporting network for export and investments through the CzechTrade, CzechInvest, and CzechTurist agencies, which operate in the PRC.

In terms of unity within the EU27, Czech policy does not diverge from the EU's China policy. The most specific concurrence happened in the Czech domestic cybersecurity area, in which Prague became internationally proactive. Czechia took on the role of organizer of the Prague International Conference on 5G Networks in 2019, under the auspices of the Government and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs where the document "The Prague proposals" was presented. Later, the recommendations of the European Commission, the so-called 5G security toolbox, were also accepted in the Czech Republic.<sup>84</sup> In addition, Czechia adopted the EU screening mechanism for dealing with foreign investments in strategic sectors. Prague has long supported the EU's arms embargo against China and follows official EU policy in the Indo-Pacific. Since the entry of the Czech Republic into the EU, there have been few efforts to shape the Chinese agenda, the most active policy of which would have been prior to the 2008 Olympic Games in Beijing, when Czech Foreign Minister Karel Schwarzenberg, during a bilateral visit to France – the then presiding state of the European Council, lobbied for boycotting the Olympic ceremony in 2008. After the end of the Olympics in 2008, during the Dalai Lama's visit to Prague, the prominent Tibetan guest was met by President Havel, premier Topolánek, and foreign minister Schwarzenberg.<sup>85</sup>

# The actors: Diverse and fragmented opinions are causing significant swings

Czech internal diversity and fragmentation in opinions about China is considerable. Liberal-conservative political groups, non-governmental organizations supporting human rights and most of the mainstream media oppose the Czech economic policy towards China as morally and materially unacceptable and ineffective. Such dissonance between right-wing and left-wing governments is causing significant swings in bilateral relations with China, and this rift continues to deepen as US-EU tensions with China rise.

Right-wing parties and assertive human rights advocates from the Greens and Pirates typically perceive China as a foreign and liberal Western enemy power that poses a security threat to Europe. The Czech left-wing parties, on the contrary, follow the economy first agenda and support promoting economic diplomacy, but still accept criticism of China in several specific areas, and follow the EU mainstream policy in the Indo-Pacific. This permanent ideological division shapes government institutional policies, whose political leadership changes with contending government coalitions. The business lobbies belong to the only pro-China policy actors, among those the PPF Group and Škoda-Volkswagen are the most influential.

A special case in the Czech pro-China agenda was represented by President Miloš Zeman (2013–March 2023), who assumed the role of the leading face of Czech politics to activate political dialogue and deepen economic ties. The Czech president's six visits to China attracted international attention,<sup>86</sup> however, his media communication with Chinese political leadership and domestic audiences received heavily critical reactions. Zeman's attempts to encourage closer ties arise from his professional background as an economist, and Europe's post-2008 surge of interest in China, especially in the field of investment strategy. His over-the-top presentation of Chinese memorandums on promised investments that never materialized in full and his public endorsement of the dubious investment group CEFC appeared publicly to discredit this diplomacy.

Support for Tibet and Taiwan has its tradition in the Czech Parliament, the Tibet Group (established in 2018)<sup>87</sup>, and Czech-Taiwan Friendship Group bring China critical themes on to the agenda in both chambers of the Parliament. The President of the Senate Miloš Vystrčil, the de facto second highest state representative of the Czech Republic, visited Taipei, where he was received at the highest level by President Tsai Ing-wen.<sup>88</sup> The last Czech parliamentary delegation followed on 25-30 March 2023, led by the Speaker Markéta Pekarová Adamová.

After the departure of the Greens from parliament, the Pirate Party, with a similar political profile, took over the role of activist. The Greens, who have been active in parliamentary

Czech internal diversity and fragmentation in opinions about China is considerable debates and preparing protest petitions, hoisted Tibetan flags outside the ministerial residence where Green party ministers worked, and attended and organized meetings with Tibetan and Taiwanese dignitaries. The Pirates advanced this policy with much more assertiveness ever since they entered parliament and city councils.

After Prague's Pirate party Mayor Hřib officially met the prime minister of the government-in-exile of Tibet, terminated the Prague-Beijing twin cities agreement, and received a standing ovation for his visit to Taipei and official meeting with President Tsai, the Chinese embassy in retaliation cancelled several planned cultural events, as well as the delivery of a panda to the Prague Zoo. The activity of the Czech Pirates also expands to the European Parliament, whose historically first delegation to Taiwan, was led by Pirate party MP Markéta Gregorová.<sup>89</sup>

#### The capacity to pursue a coherent approach towards China

Like other small states in post-Communist Europe, Czechia has not ranked high in China's political and investment European agenda until the beginning of the formation of the sub-regional platform "16+1". The limited consumer market capacity, and lack of large-scale investment bids matching the Chinese priorities in energy, transport, and logistics do not present prominent outlooks.

Prague's political relations with China fluctuate in line with general geopolitical circumstances and domestic ideological visions of the Czech government. Even when a comparatively China-friendly coalition was ruling in Prague, diplomatic incidents over Tibet and Taiwan disturbed attempts to maintain an unproblematic agenda. Increasing pressure from anti-China political groups and the increasing number of diplomatic crises indicate a continued escalation of tensions in the relationship with China.

The political split mainly affects the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, as there are several political groups with different approaches, but the routine agenda is procured by only one desk officer in the Asia-territory department. The most continual approach among the governmental bodies represents the Ministry of Industry and Trade, which perceives China as a potentially relevant economic partner and additional export destination beyond the EU common market.

A series of policy reports written by Czech think-tanks and sponsored by the National Endowment for Democracy (NED) issued warnings about growing Chinese influence,<sup>90</sup> but concurrently published academic literature on Chinese influence in CEE took a more reserved stand against such allegations.<sup>91</sup> Nevertheless, the policy papers and media influence on Czech public opinion, which spilled over into foreign media, prevails over peer-reviewed academic research.

Most of the Czech-PRC think tanks which appeared from 2012-2018 to serve as a platform for occasional bilateral business talks have disappeared. See for example the New Silk Road Institute Prague (NSRI), which exists de facto only virtually, while New Silk Road Advisory, New Silk Road Infrastructure, and Development & Technology Association are all no longer online available.

Overstated security-focused narratives, together with the Covid epidemic and subsequently, the Ukrainian crisis, essentially eliminated all efforts for Czech-Chinese rapprochement,

Political relations with China fluctuate in line with geopolitical circumstances and Prague's ideological visions of which Beijing's political support and Prague's only tepid support led the relations between the two countries to degrade.

# Future challenges: lack of economic success stories and positive agenda with China

The key reason for the decline in relations is the minor economic effect resulting from only a negligible portion of the promised investments being realized, and Czech public discourse concluded that China's policy pursued nothing more than an expansion of its influence in Central Europe. In the Czech public debate, media, policy reports, and academic writings indicate that the proactive political agenda without exiting dynamics of the economic processes cannot bring about the sufficient acceleration effect.

Czechia is not able to develop a consistent consensus in its relations with China. There is no positive theme in the Czech approach towards China, the general perception of the Asian power is merely negative. Pro-China politics driven by pragmatic economics has now disappeared, as the social democrats and communists failed to be elected to parliament. The anti-China politics based on the themes of safety and fear of Chinese influence has dominated the public space. Pro-Chinese president Zeman remains defeated and compromised. The election of a new Czech president, a retired NATO general, and the uncertainty regarding the Czech Republic remaining in the 13+1 format indicate continuation of the decline in Czech-Chinese relations.

The dominant driving force behind the growing Czech ideological Sinophobia is the media and Czech think tanks in their ideological interpretations, which take the lead in debates on all issues related to China. It is true that the previous government's pro-China engagement policy did not bring convincing results, but its total negation takes the Czech political approach to the PRC to the opposite extreme. There is no Czech ambition discussed, except to create new diplomatic incidents to demonstrate that Czechia is not afraid of the authoritarian Asian power. The general perception of China in Czechia is merely negative

# Spotlight on Taiwan

Czechia's unofficial political relations with Taiwan have been very active since the opening of a Taipei representative office in 1993. The Czech Republic continuously supports Taiwan's accession to the WHO.

# Political agenda:

- Taiwan's then Prime Minister Lien Chan was received in Prague in 1995, where he met with President Havel and premier Václav Klaus.
- President Václav Havel mentioned the possibility of re-admitting Taiwan to the UN at a press conference during the session of the UN General Assembly in New York in 1995.
- Former President Havel visited Taipei in 2004 after the end of his term of office.
  Similarly, the visit of former President Lee Teng-hui to Prague took place in 2000.
- Czech President-Elect Petr Pavel received a phone call from Taiwan's President Tsai Ying-wen in February 2023.<sup>92</sup>

# **Economic relations:**

- Taiwan investments: USD 1.2 billion, compared with PRC's FDI stock (EUR 1.3 billion).<sup>93</sup>
- The main Taiwanese investor is the IT giant Foxconn, one of the largest Czech exporters.
- Trade: Taiwan ranks 50th in the exports of the Czech Republic (165 mil EUR in 2022).<sup>94</sup>



High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties Denmark

Focus on derisking economic ties Low political relevance

# Denmark: Not quite a China strategy, nor quite of its own making

Andreas B. Forsby, Danish Institute for International Studies (DIIS)

In the absence of an official China strategy, Denmark's China policy has for many years rested on broad majority resolutions in the Danish parliament, pragmatically acknowledging the importance of the strategic partnership with China. Since around 2018, however, the consensus position has shifted dramatically towards viewing China as a competitor and rival, as also reflected in last year's Danish foreign policy strategy which for the first time contained a specific China section. In a deeper strategic sense, this transformation has not been guided primarily from Copenhagen, but rather from Washington and increasingly also Brussels. Despite the new Danish government's intentions to adopt a more pragmatic approach towards China, Denmark's strategic leeway seems limited in the era of great power rivalry.

# Introduction

As security and human rights concerns have come to the fore of Danish-Chinese relations in recent years, the bilateral relationship has witnessed profound changes.<sup>95</sup> While previously guided by a spirit of cooperation and shared economic interests within the framework of a Comprehensive Strategic Partnership, since around 2018 the bilateral relationship has been characterized by recurring clashes, mutual distrust and the gradual dismantling of the strategic partnership program. No officially published Danish China strategy has envisioned or enacted the observed changes.

The Danish Folketing (parliament) has provided a loose set of guidelines that anticipate these changes, notably in late 2018 in a unanimous resolution on "The growing pressure from China".<sup>96</sup> Moreover, in 2022 the previous Danish foreign policy strategy unprecedentedly contained a dedicated section on China depicting it as a "systemic rival".<sup>97</sup> In a deeper sense, however, Denmark's changing China strategy seems to originate in Washington and increasingly also in Brussels given that Denmark's ability as a small state to pursue its own China policies has become significantly constrained in the era of great power rivalry. Security-related spill-over effects of the US-China rivalry have also forced Copenhagen to distance itself from Beijing in various domains.<sup>98</sup>

Since taking office in late 2022, Denmark's new foreign minister (and former prime minister) Lars Løkke Rasmussen has repeatedly advocated for a more pragmatic foreign policy line, notably with respect to China: "A few years ago, we cultivated strategic relationship ties, but to shut down everything now would not make sense. We need to find a balance, and the EU can help us do that."<sup>99</sup>

While such a rebalancing act appears extremely difficult at the current juncture, there is no doubt that the bilateral heydays of Danish-China relations are long gone. Indeed, the brand-new Danish foreign policy strategy observes that "Denmark's China policy should be engaged, clear-sighted and realistic, based on a joint EU strategy and closely coordinated with the USA and other NATO allies."<sup>100</sup>

Denmark's changing China strategy seems to originate in Washington and increasingly Brussels

# **Piecing together Denmark's China strategy**

In the absence of an official Danish China strategy, other government documents have offered some strategic guidance. In 2008, the Danish government signed a Comprehensive Strategic Partnership (CSP) agreement with China, providing a blueprint for how to deepen and widen bilateral relations, which was subsequently accompanied by joint work programs packed with Memorandums of Understanding for specific areas of cooperation.<sup>101</sup> Over the next decade, whenever the Danish Folketing passed a resolution on the bilateral relationship, it would always stress that the "Folketing attaches great importance to the strategic partnership with China," thereby confirming the status of the CSP as an overall strategic framework.<sup>102</sup>

In late 2018, Folketing held a debate on "The growing pressure from China", reflecting widespread concerns about China's growing assertiveness and its deteriorating human rights situation.<sup>103</sup> Although the final resolution text still acknowledges the strategic partnership with China, its overriding message is that the Danish government needs to carefully consider, together with like-minded countries, how the West can manage the rise of China.

The newly established governmental practice of publishing an overall Danish foreign and security policy strategy provides another source of relevance here. The first strategy from June 2017 only contains two references to China, one of which mentions "the extremely positive experiences" from the CSP with China.<sup>104</sup> In the second such strategy from November 2018, China is devoted somewhat more attention (i.e., nine references), and the overall perception of China is shifting. The strategy still argues the case for engagement to promote Danish business interests, but it also observes that "our societal models and approaches to international cooperation and free trade are very different".<sup>105</sup>

A third foreign policy strategy was released in early 2022, including, for the first time, a dedicated China section. In line with official EU terminology, China is now referred to as "an economic competitor, cooperation partner and a systemic rival."<sup>106</sup> The strategy depicts China as "an unavoidable partner for solving a number of global challenges" notes that China "constitutes a significant market," and insists that "we will work to maintain a strong and constructive Danish-Chinese relationship." However, the strategy primarily views China as a systemic rival, emphasizing its "more assertive line that challenges the global rules" and declaring that "together with our allies and partners [we] are ready with a response when our values and interests are trampled underfoot."

The newly published fourth edition of Denmark's foreign policy strategy offers less explicit strategic guidance on China, no longer describing it as a `systemic rival', nor even mentioning the bilateral strategic partnership.<sup>107</sup> Still, the strategy again largely focuses on the challenges posed by China's rise, notably the risks of becoming strategically dependent on Beijing, while referring repeatedly to the EU as the primary locus for handling these challenges.

Within the EU itself, the Danish government sees itself, in particular during the previous foreign minister Jeppe Kofod's time in office (2019-22), as a key proponent of confronting China on its human rights violations.<sup>108</sup> Apart from this, the Danish government has been supporting several EU initiatives that indirectly targets China as an "economic competitor" or "systemic rival" such as the toolbox for 5G security, the anti-coercion instrument and the recently proposed due diligence directive.<sup>109</sup> As such, the Danish government has assumed an increasingly active role in the EU on China-related issues.<sup>110</sup>

Copenhagen sees itself as a key proponent of confronting China on human rights violations

# The domestic actors behind Denmark's China policies

Since the turn of the century, Denmark's China policies have generally rested on broad majorities in the Folketing. In fact, the past three major China debates in the Folketing – concerning China's pressure on Lithuania (2022), China's crackdown in Hong Kong (2020) and China's growing assertiveness (2018)<sup>111</sup> – all concluded with the passing of unanimous parliamentary resolutions (including some abstentions). This consensus culture is further consolidated by legal requirements stipulating that ministers must report back to the Foreign Relations Committee in the Folketing whenever they have high-level meetings with Chinese officials, thereby enhancing oversight and coordination.<sup>112</sup>

Looking beyond the political establishment, the main stakeholder of Denmark's China policies is the business community. Despite the disruptive impact of security and human rights concerns, economic interests remain strong as China constitutes Denmark's fifth-largest export market and a major FDI destination for Danish companies (but not vice-versa). Hence, close ties exist between the business community and the government, notably the extensive Danish diplomatic missions in Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou which strive hard to promote Danish business interests through various types of representational activities.<sup>113</sup>

Recent China coverage in mainstream Danish media has been extremely negative From Copenhagen, the Danish-Chinese Business Forum (DCBF) runs a secretariat that organizes a multitude of events and connects their members with central stakeholders, including the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (and other ministries).<sup>114</sup> Its secretary general has publicly warned Danish politicians against putting our own political values front and center in relations with China.<sup>115</sup> Other high-profile representatives of the Danish business community have cautioned against "demonizing China"<sup>116</sup> or against adopting China policies or measures that deviate from other European countries.<sup>117</sup>

The media have also been instrumental in shaping Danish perceptions of and policies towards China. While the mainstream Danish media have always been critical of China, their recent China coverage has been extremely negative as demonstrated, for instance, by the growing number of China-bashing editorials in the three leading newspapers (Politiken, Berlingske and Jyllandsposten) since 2019.<sup>118</sup>

Furthermore, perceptions of China have hardened as the media have uncovered covert Chinese influence operations in Denmark as well as systematic efforts by the Danish authorities to prevent public criticism of Chinese high-level visitors. In particular, media revelations of a constitutional breach in June 2012 – when peaceful pro-Tibetan demonstrators were deprived of their right to freedom of expression during Hu Jintao's state visit – prompted much political and judicial scrutiny of Denmark's relationship with China.<sup>119</sup> The Danish Defense agencies also significantly influence public perceptions of China. In its annual threat assessment reports, the Defense Intelligence Service (FE) has gradually come to depict China as a major national security concern (second only to Russia),<sup>120</sup> while the Security and Intelligence Service (PET) recently stated that "In the long term [...] Chi-

#### Denmark's capacity to pursue a coherent approach towards China

nese intelligence activities may become the most serious threat to Denmark".121

Notwithstanding the growing influence of external actors on Denmark's China strategy, the Danish government remains fully capable of pursuing a coherent approach towards China. Given a relatively lean, seamless and centralized state bureaucracy that facilitates

policy coordination across different ministerial sectors, Denmark's China policies are characterized by a whole-of-government approach. On a daily basis, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA) is in charge of preparing, coordinating and implementing Denmark's China policies, while the Ministry of the State and the internal government Coordination Committee are involved in the process to the extent that important national issues/interests are at stake.<sup>122</sup> Moreover, the whole-of-government approach also includes local municipalities which have no foreign policy autonomy of their own.<sup>123</sup>

When it comes to the level of China competency among those involved in preparing and executing Denmark's China policies, critics have long pointed to two key challenges. First, there is a shortage of MFA officials with Chinese language skills, with only 9 employees capable of conducting a conversation in Chinese according to a recent assessment.<sup>124</sup> Second, the language problem is exacerbated by the MFA's rotational career system, which means that its China section (part of the office for Asia, Latin America and Oceania) is filled with generalists rather than specialists. To address these challenges, the MFA has recently hired a couple of additional sinologists and established a new senior China specialist/ coordinator position.

Denmark's China policies are characterized by a whole-ofgovernment approach

# Looking ahead

As Denmark's strategic autonomy decreases in the era of great power rivalry, its relationship with China will increasingly be determined by external actors (in Washington, Brussels and Beijing). Human rights and notably strategic autonomy issues are likely to draw attention in Denmark against the backdrop of various decoupling and de-risking measures by the EU Commission and the US Congress. Whether the Danish government manages to sign a new, slimmer and greener, joint work program for the otherwise moribund strategic partnership between Denmark and China remains to be seen.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

"Since the establishment of diplomatic relations between Denmark and the PRC (in 1950), Danish governments have consistently adhered to the one-China policy (not the one-China principle!) by recognizing the People's Republic of China as the only legal (sovereign) representative of China in the international community. At the same time, Denmark maintains strong economic and cultural relations with Taiwan."

# Finland

High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties Focus on derisking economic ties

Finland

Low political relevance

# Finland: The new normal in relations with China

**Jyrki Kallio**, Senior Research Fellow, Finnish Institute of International Affairs (FIIA)

Finland's relations with China are guided by a de facto "China strategy", the Governmental Action Plan on China published in 2021. The document warns that the tightening political atmosphere between the great powers may limit the potential of cooperation with China and recommends Finnish actors to avoid harmful strategic dependencies. The international tensions have also affected public opinion which has turned significantly more critical about China. Different Finnish actors from policy makers to practitioners are faced with the challenge of balancing between China and the US, both equally important in terms of business interests. The Russian attack on Ukraine has underlined the importance of military security and the vital role of the US in Europe in that regard, and Finland's admission into NATO can be expected to affect the development of Finland's political relations with China.

#### Stagnating trade and partnership checked by an action plan

Traditionally, politics have served economic interests in Finland's relations with China, which used to be largely driven by pragmatism and the primacy of commercial engagement. Finland was never a practitioner of "megaphone diplomacy," and political relations with China used to be unproblematic. The golden age of seemingly unending economic opportunities came to an end at the beginning of the 2000s, and even the political relations started to cool down at the end of the 2010s. Today Finland's relations with China are facing a new normal characterized by growing suspicion related to the atmosphere of great power competition.

The "new normal" is manifested by a stagnation in the growth of bilateral trade and investments. For the last ten years, bilateral trade has remained at the same level in relative terms. China has stood for approximately 5 percent of Finnish exports, and 6–8 percent of imports. Finnish investments in China have not risen in many years, and the promises of Chinese green-field investments to Finland have largely not materialized. Furthermore, since the beginning of the US-China trade war, China's public image has steadily worsened. Critique towards China's unfair trade practices has been combined with security concerns related to dependency on China.

On paper, Finland–China relations are today guided by a Joint Declaration establishing and promoting a future-oriented new-type cooperative partnership,<sup>125</sup> signed in 2017. While initiated by China, the Finnish side took care of ensuring that the partnership is explicitly said to be complementary to the EU–China Strategic Partnership, signaling Finland's commitment to cooperation within the EU framework. The Joint Declaration makes no mention of China's "core interests," referring only to the mutual willingness of taking into account each other's key interests. As a sign of Finland's pragmatic approach in terms of avoiding unnecessarily binding and potentially contentless agreements, the partnership was launched with a joint declaration.

The partnership was supplemented by an implementation plan for the years 2019–2023, signed in 2019. The plan lists the relevant fields of cooperation and their concrete goals formulated by the cooperation partners in the two countries. Potential cooperation fields include energy, the environment and climate, education, research and innovation, urbanization and green construction, information technologies, and judicial cooperation. Arctic

Finland's relations with China are facing a new normal cooperation was especially highlighted.<sup>126</sup> There are no plans to renew the implementation plan after 2023 but beneficial cooperation is expected to continue.

The opportunities and challenges for Finland's bilateral relations with China are analyzed in the Governmental Action Plan on China, published by the Foreign Ministry of Finland in 2021.<sup>127</sup> It can be considered Finland's "China Strategy". The Action Plan states (p. 32) that "China is the second most important partner (after the US) for economic cooperation outside the EU in terms of bilateral trade, global supply chains and investment." The action plan especially highlights the potentially problematic dependencies, and states (p. 16–17) that "Finland seeks to avoid harmful strategic dependencies."

The Governmental Action Plan paints a dire picture of the future of Finland–China relations by pronouncing (p. 6) that the "tightening political climate and weakening human rights situation in China, as well as increased influence and intelligence activities, also affect Finland's cooperation with China, limiting its potential." This is in line with the changes of public opinion.

The Governmental Action Plan paints a dire picture of the future of Finland-China relations According to a recent study by the Advisory Board for Defence Information, published by the Ministry of Defence, views regarding China's impact on Finnish security have turned drastically more negative since the late 2010s. Whereas in 2018, 12 percent of the respondents considered China's impact positive and 16 percent negative, the corresponding figures for 2019 were 6 percent and 25 percent. In 2022, only 2 percent considered China's impact positive, whereas 40 percent saw China as a negative factor for Finnish security. Also the number of respondents who considered China to have no impact had dropped from 35 percent (in 2018) to 23 percent.<sup>128</sup>

Despite the concern over dependencies, Finnish imports from China have risen over the last few years. The China share of Finland's total imports jumped from 7.5 percent in 2019 to 9 percent in 2020, and that level has held in 2021 and 2022, too. At the same time, the China share of Finnish exports has remained stable, and despite a nominal rise in 2022, actually dropped slightly from 5.3 percent in 2021 to 4.9 percent.<sup>129</sup> Worse still, more than a quarter of Finnish exports to China consist of forestry products of low added value, namely pulp and waste paper.<sup>130</sup> The narrow base of Finnish exports to China was highlighted in a recent joint study by the Ministry of Economic Affairs & Employment and Business Finland which also noted that Finland's share of the Chinese market has fallen significantly.<sup>131</sup> The new normal therefore seems to manifest itself also in rising trade deficit.

#### China's worsening image

The new normal has not come out of nowhere. Different authorities, and in particular the Finnish Security and Intelligence Service have been very vocal in expressing concern especially with regard to harmful dependencies with China. The Ministry of Education and Culture published recommendations for academic institutions' cooperation with China in 2021. While the recommendations recognize the value of such cooperation, the Ministry urged the Finnish institutions to secure their own interests, especially regarding security and competitiveness.<sup>132</sup>

Also in 2021, the Finnish Security and Intelligence Service warned that many Chinese universities have ties to the Chinese military and emphasized that there is no freedom of research in China.<sup>133</sup> The Service has also singled out China as a country which has an

interest in utilizing information technology for espionage in Finland,<sup>134</sup> and has warned Finnish enterprises of the risks in cooperation with China.<sup>135</sup>

The latest Government Report on Finnish Foreign and Security Policy from 2020 highlighted China's global role as a factor feeding uncertainties. According to the Report, "China's rapid rise among the global actors has shifted the great power dynamics. At the core of it lies the competition over the global primacy between the United States and China, which affects the relations between states worldwide.

The strained relationship between the United States and China forces other states and actors, such as the EU, to examine their own position in the novel political, economic and ideological competition." Furthermore, the report also hinted at the risks of China and Russia finding a common tune.<sup>136</sup> The report was published more than a year before the Russian attack on Ukraine, and since then China has been perceived in even more negative light due to its reluctance to condemn Russian actions.

Also, the political leadership has been unaccustomedly frank in their statements. President Niinistö expressed his concern over the US-China rivalry in a speech in October 2020. He said China was trying to gain political influence through the creation of economic dependencies and accused China of demanding partiality from third countries in disputed issues in exchange for its goodwill. He specifically pointed out China's attempts to widen its sphere of influence in the South China Sea as a cause for alarm.<sup>137</sup> In a blog post in November 2020, President Niinistö envisaged that the EU will strengthen its role as an ally of the US in a "league of democracies" targeted against China.<sup>138</sup>

During her visit to Australia in December 2022, Prime Minister (2019–April 2023) Sanna Marin of the Social Democratic Party called for democratic nations to diminish their dependencies on technology and energy imported from authoritarian countries, and said that one should stop being naïve about China.<sup>139</sup> She has also declared that democracies must ensure their victory in the ongoing geopolitical battle against China.<sup>140</sup>

Also, the media, by focusing on the China–US rivalry, has amplified the message of the great power rivalry affecting Finland. It is no wonder then that China was a theme in the parliamentary elections, held in April 2023. The right-wing conservative National Coalition Party which won the election promises in their program, published in February 2023, to draft a strategy aimed at reducing dependencies from authoritarian countries, "such as China."<sup>141</sup> Other parties' published views are rather similar, even including the rightist-populist Finns' Party which in many other issues is the odd one out. There seems to be no debate of the existence of a "China threat" but the parties may engage in competition over who holds the toughest position.

Government agencies appear competent and wellcoordinated for implementing China policies

#### Managing the relationship

With regard to implementing a national policy towards China, in line with the Government Action Plan, the different government agencies appear competent and sufficiently well-coordinated. Over the past decades, a governmental China network consisting of different national-level actors has and continues to meet regularly several times a year in order to coordinate and share information. In addition, there is also a coordination mechanism between the ministries for discussing matters needing greater confidentiality. There are also sectoral, ad hoc coordination meetings taking place. At the regional level, municipalities in particular, that have a Sister City in China, often make impromptu contact with the MFA when they are in doubt about exchanges with their Chinese counterparts.<sup>142</sup> However, there are doubts among government officials about the ability of Finnish municipalities with financial difficulties to say no to "too good to be true" business proposals.<sup>143</sup>

For instance, a Chinese state agency approached a municipality in Finnish Lapland to purchase or lease an airfield in 2018, supposedly to serve China's Arctic research. The scheme had already been turned down by Finnish authorities at the initial stages.<sup>144</sup> There are also fears of "useful idiots" among national-level politicians who are willing to promote Chinese interests without any suspicions. In 2020, the media reported of close and dubious connections that two parliamentarians from the Finns Party have had with Chinese state actors.<sup>145</sup>

At the same time, there is a recognized lack of China-related expertise in Finland. The Finnish Institute of International Affairs established a Center on Global Orders and China in 2023 to increase the institute's capacity to provide policy-relevant expertise on how China's expanding international role impacts issues of global order.<sup>146</sup> However, although the Center's core team has a strong research background in China and East Asia, it has been very challenging to find other qualified and competent researchers from Finland who could potentially contribute to the Center's work. The same apparently applies to the also-newly established China Office of Finnish industries that aims to deepen their shareholders' understanding of China.<sup>147</sup>

There is a recognized lack of China-related expertise in Finland

The fundamental problem in Finland is the lack of resources related to the teaching of Mandarin Chinese. There are courses on Chinese society, economy, and politics taught in various universities and other educational institutions across the country but language training – especially beyond beginner's level – is often not offered. However justified in other ways it may have been, the closing of the Confucius Institute at the University in Helsinki in the beginning of 2023 deprived Finland's largest university of several language teachers. The Ministry of Education is aware of the need to foster domestic China expertise, but no solutions to remedy the situation have yet emerged.

# The challenges ahead

According to interviewees representing the central administration,<sup>148</sup> Finland wants to actively participate in the formulation of EU's China policy. Finland is against unnecessary protectionism and advocates dialogue and cooperation with China, as long as they are result-oriented. On the one hand, the EU has to demand concrete actions from China in fields where both parties vouch for the importance of cooperation, such as climate. On the other hand, climate cooperation is of such vital importance that it must not be unnecessarily hindered by petty political grievances often rising from the EU's side. At the same time, bilateral relations must not be neglected, as Finnish national interests are not always adequately safeguarded by the EU. Few member states, besides Finland and Sweden, have significant forest-related industries, and few European airlines are as dependent on connections to Asia as Finnair.

Seen from the Finnish perspective and based on discussions with interlocutors in the central administration, there are three challenges arising from EU-China relations. First, how should Finland position itself regarding the intensifying calls for decoupling or de-risking on the European level, especially with regard to the difficulties it would pose on the ever more acute green transition? Also, the discussion in Finland about the China threat has perhaps become unreasonably bleak in view of small size of the actual investments from China.

A second, related challenge is, how to manage bilateral trade and investments with China if a full-scale trade war or a new cold war breaks out between China and the West. For Finland, it can be surmised that the adverse effects of sanctions against Russia are relatively insignificant in comparison to the possible sanctioning of China. Thirdly, is how to keep the EU-level discussion balanced. It tends to be forgotten that while the trans-Atlantic relationship is important for security reasons, there are many problems between the EU and the US. A certain level of strategic autonomy is necessary for the EU.

With regard to the third challenge, Finland's admission into NATO will undoubtedly color all China-related discussion during the immediate future. Already in 2020, President Niinistö stressed the risks related to China, while presenting the US as an important partner. It seems likely that Finland will position itself on the side of the US in order not to jeopardize a smooth beginning to its membership in NATO, considered of utmost importance to Finnish security following the Russian attack on Ukraine. Depending on the developments in the relations between the US and China, different Finnish actors who have cooperation ties with both countries may be forced to perform balancing acts of varying difficulty.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Finland follows a One China Policy. Taiwan set up a representative office in Helsinki, Finland, in 1990. This was followed by Finland setting up an Office of Finnish Industry and Trade in Taiwan in 1991, renamed Finland Trade Center in 2018. It is part of Business Finland, a Finnish governmental organization promoting trade, tourism, and investment in Finland.

The Foreign Ministry in Finland has been vigilant in ensuring that the One China Policy does not become unnecessarily restrictive.<sup>149</sup> The Governmental Action Plan on China from 2021 states Finland's support for "Taiwan's meaningful participation in international organizations, which benefits the international community as a whole." Furthermore, Finland has been quietly raising the profile of bilateral relations with Taiwan. There have been trade talks on vice-ministerial level regularly since 2010.<sup>150</sup>

Finland's admission into NATO will undoubtedly color Chinarelated discussion



High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties

France

Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

# France: An ambiguous China policy with no clear roadmap

# Marc Julienne, Head of China Research,

Center for Asian Studies, Institut français des relations internationales (IFRI)

France's China policy is difficult to grasp because it has no clear and centralized roadmap. Diving into the tenets of France's China policy, Paris intends to preserve economic interests as long as possible, while acknowledging the profound transformation within the Chinese Communist Party. The French China policy is intertwined with the European one, and Paris is even proactive in Brussels to build up new defensive mechanisms. Beyond the bilateral relationship, France is trying to find its own way within the US-China strategic competition, alongside its American ally, but trying to avoid dangerous escalation. Still, the lack of an explicit doctrine and the blurry official communication has led to misunderstandings with partners and allies, and to coordination loopholes within the government.

# The action

Contrary to its strategy toward the Indo-Pacific, France has no formal China policy or explicit strategy that guides its relations with Beijing. Its approach to China is torn between contradictory trends at the bilateral and international levels. On the bilateral level, Paris tries to keep the balance, as long as possible, between the preservation of economic interests and a certain lucidity regarding the evolution of the Chinese Communist Party toward a totalitarian rule.

In order to maintain this balance, France intends to keep the relationship as amicable as possible, including by avoiding the most sensitive issues in the bilateral dialogue (for example the treatment of Uyghurs, the lack of transparency regarding Covid-related data, or the military coercion on Taiwan), as shown during Emmanuel Macron's state visit to China in April 2023, which focused only on the "positive agenda". At the same time, France is a proactive actor in the European Union (EU) to promote new collective mechanisms to face China-related challenges, such as the 5G toolbox, the foreign investments screening mechanism, or the Indo-Pacific strategy.

Since his first term, Emmanuel Macron has always presented France's bilateral relationship with China within the broader framework of EU-China relations. He sent a strong signal of European unity to China when, in March 2019, while hosting Xi Jinping at the Elysée, he invited Angela Merkel and Jean-Claude Junker to hold talks. In November the same year, as he flew to Shanghai, he brought with him a European Commissioner and a German Minister. And once again in April 2023, he invited Ursula von der Leyen to accompany him to Beijing and hold a trilateral meeting with Xi Jinping.

Although there are divergences between Macron and von der Leyen on what's the best approach to China, the French President supports the "de-risking" strategy that the European Commission President put forward in a speech in March. While it is necessary to define the concept and the method, "de-risking" is therefore a likely common ground to build on at the European level.

At the international level, France does not want to be drawn into Washington's confrontational approach to China. First, China does not represent the same challenge to France and the EU as to the US, which perceives it as existential. Second, beyond the risk assessment, France does not have the means to pursue such a confrontational approach to ChiFrance has no formal China policy or explicit strategy na. Third, there is a shared assessment within the French administration that Washington's China policy may fuel escalation that would be in no one's interest.

This is why France's Indo-Pacific strategy is not opposed to that of the United States, but presents itself as a constructive alternative, a policy that aims to be peaceful, inclusive and based on multilateralism rather than heavy-handed confrontation with China. As President Macron put it, speaking before the conference of ambassadors in September 2022:

"We are not willing to have a strategy of confrontation with China in the Indo-Pacific. Our strategy in the region is to preserve the freedom that comes with sovereignty, to protect our space...and to protect our citizens and our partners.... We are not in a confrontational mindset."<sup>151</sup>

To sum up, Paris and Washington share roughly the same risk assessment about China (i.e., a challenge for democracy and for the current rules based international order), but they diverge on the most productive response to adopt.

#### **Communication faux pas**

However, due to miscommunication, the French position under Emmanuel Macron has more often than not been understood as "equidistance" between the US and China. The latest illustration, which triggered international outcries, was the President's comment to the press about the tensions in the Taiwan Strait, as he flew back from China: "we, Europeans," should not "adapt to the American tempo and Chinese overreaction"<sup>152</sup>. This was an unfortunate signal sent to France's partners and allies in Europe and the Indo-Pacific, most of them acknowledging that the PRC – not the US – is increasing tensions by conducting air and naval military drills in the Strait on a daily basis.<sup>153</sup>

What is more, other unclear foreign policy concepts raise misunderstanding or even suspicion among partners and allies. For example, the concept of "strategic autonomy" promoted by Paris has been interpreted by many – sometimes deliberately – as seeking full independence from the US and NATO. The purpose is in fact to make the EU more capable and autonomous to protect its own interests and to become stronger alongside the US and within NATO, especially if the US was to decrease its military presence in Europe in order to strengthen its power in the Indo-Pacific in the coming years. Macron's statement in The Economist about the "brain death" of NATO in November 2019, indeed didn't help the French narrative, and instead created even more controversy and suspicion toward France.<sup>154</sup> In this light, it is noteworthy that Emmanuel Macron never questioned France's membership to NATO, even after AUKUS, while many candidates did, in the run up of the 2022 presidential election.

The blurry concept of France as a "balancing power" ("*puissance d'équilibres*"), raises the same suspicions about the so-called French equidistance. Although the concept remains admittedly unclear – even among the French strategic community – President Macron once again tried to clarify France's position between Washington and Beijing:

"We are independent: that is, on the one hand we have the United States, which is our ally; it is a great democracy with which we share common values and interests, but we do not want to be dependent upon it .... On the other hand, we have China, a systemic rival with which we do not share democratic values but with which we must continue to work in order to find answers to common challenges – such as the climate and biodiversity – and with

Paris and Washington share roughly the same risk assessment about China which we continue to speak in order to try and settle regional crises and various destabilizing factors."<sup>155</sup>

A second reason that can explain communication failures and misunderstandings is the lack of an official strategic document which would clarify France's China policy. Without such a document, in order to understand France's China policy, one has to dissect many general official texts and speeches from different administrations and put together the dispersed pieces like a puzzle. To complicate the game, it is not rare that official documents speak about China without mentioning it.

For instance, the Minister of the Armed Forces, Sébastien Lecornu, speaking at the Shangri-La Dialogue in June 2022, talked about disinformation, hybrid strategies, the use of civilian means to reach military aims, as well as tension in the South China Sea and the Taiwan Strait, without mentioning the PRC.<sup>156</sup> Therefore, an official centralized China doctrine could help partners and allies to better understand the French position and ease suspicion. An explicit China doctrine on the part of Paris could also help coordinate China policy among the different actors within the French government, a persistent loophole so far.

# The actors

Indeed, every ministry has a more or less defined China policy, but these policies are not sufficiently coordinated. The most important institutions are the Ministry of the Armed Forces (MoAF), the Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs (MEFA), and the Ministry of Economy and Finance (MEF). But the Elysée is actually the central and ultimate decision maker. The MEFA is especially silent on China. There are no official guidelines, and the current minister, Catherine Colonna, hasn't made a speech dedicated to China since taking charge in June 2022, only mentioning China a few times in general speeches.

The MoAF, on the contrary, is an important driver of France's China policy, and has provided the clearest position in the administration since at least 2017. The MoAF is the architect of the French Indo-Pacific strategy. It published the first document in 2019, which was followed by a more comprehensive one by the Elysée and the MEFA in 2021, and subsequently updated in 2022.

For reasons that remain unclear, France dropped the traditional inter-ministrerial white paper on national defense since 2013, instead publishing the "Strategic Review for National Defense and Security" in 2017, followed by the "Strategic Update" in 2021, both led by MoAF. In 2022, to further blur the lines, another document was published, the "National Strategic Review", which this time was an inter-ministerial document endorsed by the Elysée. In any case, the perception of China in these documents is rather clear-headed about Beijing's anti-West narrative, its rising military assertiveness in the Taiwan Strait and beyond, and the challenge it represents for the current rules-based international order.

Traditionally the economic sphere used to advocate for closer ties with China, with a very high-profile representative: former Prime Minister Jean-Pierre Raffarin.However, with the drastic degradation of the business environment in China over the past years, the business sector seems more skeptical about the growth perspectives and the opportunity to expand in China, with several exceptions which strongly depend on the Chinese market: aeronautics and luxury goods.

The Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs is especially silent on China Finally, within the French political landscape, the first observation is that China is not a major topic. Generally speaking, the political elite's interest in China is rather low and the expertise is even lower. Even if some political leaders from Les Républicains (right), La France Insoumise (far left) and the French Communist Party made positive comments about the Chinese political regime, the French public opinion broadly shares negative views on China, regardless of political affiliation – negative views of between 58 percent and 69 percent in 2020.<sup>157</sup>

If the consensus is clear among the public, it is much harder to find within political parties. The Presidential majority (Renaissance and affiliated) follows the government's line, and therefore keeps a low profile on China, with the notable exception of the Résolution acknowledging the genocidal nature of the repression of the Uyghurs, endorsed by almost every MP from the majority in January 2022.<sup>158</sup>

The alliance of left-wing parties ("Nupes") has strong divergences on China, and as such tend to avoid the topic. Les Républicains are as well split between the liberals (who see China as a major economic opportunity) and the conservatives (who see it as a threat to France's independence). Likewise, the far-right (which traditionally has a positive perception of Russia) also perceives China as a potential cultural, economic and military threat.

With increasing media coverage on China in France, civil society is relatively well-aware and responsive to China-related issues such as the repression of Uyghurs, the Hong Kong pro-democracy movement or the political and military pressure on Taiwan.

#### Three challenges: Ukraine, Taiwan and a better coordinated China strategy

The political elite's interest in China is rather low

Over the past six months, President Macron has been putting the war in Ukraine on top of the bilateral agenda for two reasons. First, it is indisputably France's number one foreign policy priority. Second, he believes that "China can play, alongside us, a greater role of mediation in the coming months"<sup>159</sup>. This issue raises a fair amount of controversy among the think tank community in France as well as within the administration. Most observers believe that this is a lost cause because China has no interest in getting further involved in the Ukraine war. Asking Beijing to involve itself is therefore, first, a blatant failure to grasp what China's position has been ever since the beginning of the war. Second, it is a waste of precious diplomatic time to address other pressing issues like trade and investments reciprocity or stability in the Taiwan Strait.

Regardless Macron's unfortunate comments, peace and stability in the Taiwan Strait are, indeed, a major concern for France. It is important that the French government elaborates a clear position, prepares to respond to any contingency, and thus avoids being taken by surprise.

More broadly speaking, it would be necessary to build up an inter-ministerial coordination mechanism on China, based on clear political guidelines and objectives, preferably publicly available or confidential, if needs be. Building up this China strategy would require identifying what France's objectives with China in every given sector are, and the means and leverage available to reach them. One of the main transversal goals would most certainly be to manage France's dependencies and improve resilience vis-à-vis China.

# Spotlight on Taiwan

France is attached to its "one China policy", it opposes the unilateral contestation of the status quo by the use of force and promotes the peaceful settlement of disputes. Paris does not hold official relations with Taipei, although France and Taiwan share trade and cultural relations. France has a representative office in Taipei, is the largest in terms of manpower among EU member states, and Taiwan has two representative offices in France – in Paris and Aix-en-Provence.

Both chambers of the French Parliament have an "exchange and study group" about Taiwan. Both groups send delegations to Taipei on a regular basis. A joint delegation (Assemblée nationale and Sénat) went to Taipei in September last year. Two delegations, one from each Chamber, paid another visit in April 2023.

As announced by President Macron in May 2023, the Taiwanese battery manufacturer Prologium is about to a make a 4 billion euros investment in Northern France to build a "gigafactory".



High political relevance

Germany

Focus on deepening economic ties Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

# Germany's new China strategy: Ambitious language, ambiguous course

**Bernhard Bartsch**, Director External Relations and **Claudia Wessling**, Director Communications and Publications, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS)

In July 2023, Germany passed its first ever China strategy. It acknowledges that China has changed significantly under Xi Jinping and is now a major challenge to German interests. But Germany still struggles to find the right balance between business and politics – and between national and European approaches.

# The action: Merging diverse interests into a differentiated strategy

Germany's China policy has always been strongly driven by business interests. China is a key market for Germany with more than 5,000 companies operating in the country, employing more than one million staff. Crucial sectors are automotive, machinery, electrical engineering and chemicals. All of these sectors are important pillars of Germany's economic success. For German carmakers like BMW, Volkswagen and Mercedes Benz, China is the most important market, with roughly every third car being sold there.

Despite disruptions caused by the Covid pandemic and geopolitical tensions, trade relations continue to intensify. In 2022, the overall trade volume reached a record 298 billion Euros, with a fast-growing German deficit (German imports from China: 191 billion Euros; exports: 107 billion Euros).

Since the beginning of the 2000s, the deepening business ties were flanked by a growing intensity of high-level political exchanges resulting in the establishment of a wide array of cooperation and dialogue formats on different levels of politics, economy and society. The government consultations, initiated by Angela Merkel in 2011, created corridors for cooperation on, for instance, high-tech topics like autonomous driving or digital manufacturing. They also facilitated agreements on deepening research cooperation involving companies, technical universities, and national research institutions.

Human rights issues and civil and political differences were always important factors in German debates about and exchanges with China. At the same time, the assumption that intensifying mutual trade relations would at some point lead to political change in China ("Wandel durch Handel") has been a trademark – some would say "fig leaf" – of Germany's China policy.

Over the course of the Xi Jinping era, German companies have come to realize that navigating economic opportunity and political risk has become more difficult, resulting most prominently in a 2019 landmark position paper by the German Federation of Industry (BDI) in which China, for the first time, was labelled not only as a "partner" but also a "systemic competitor".

The deterioration of US-China relations and pressure from Washington and other like-minded countries also resulted in an increased sense of urgency that Germany (and the EU) need to define the guardrails of their relations to China more clearly. Other factors were concerns over technological and economic dependence on China, problematic developments in the Chinese market, such as unfavorable data regulation and the lack of reciprocity, and China's growing global influence. Responding to these shifts, the coalition Germany's China policy has always been strongly driven by business interests government of Social Democrats (SPD), Liberals (FDP) and Greens, led by SPD politician Olaf Scholz, committed to devising Germany's first China Strategy after the 2021 elections.

#### The actors: From individual politicians to parties and high politics

In recent years, China policy has moved from the fringes to the center of German political debates. Previously, it was mostly individual politicians who formulated prominent positions towards China, stirred debates on the sidelines or simply drew their parties along. For instance, in 2019, the question of Huawei's involvement in building 5G infrastructure led to mid-sized uprising in the Christian Democratic Union (CDU) against Angela Merkel's China-friendly line, when her inner-party rival Norbert Roettgen challenged her course and forced the government to accept more restrictive legislation. Within the Green Party, two prominent party elders, former party chairmen Reinhard Buetikofer and Juergen Trittin, for years locked horns on the right approach to China, though it wasn't a key issue in Green party politics.

China has moved from the fringes to the center of political debates

This has changed. The parliamentary groups of three of the four major political parties now have released their own China position papers: the Social Democrats (SPD, 2020<sup>160</sup>), the Christian Democrats (CDU, 2023<sup>161</sup>) and the Liberals (FDP, 2023<sup>162</sup>). The Greens, despite being the driving force behind the national strategy, have not published a distinct strategy paper on the country, but mentioned China an extensive 16 times in their 2021 election manifesto.

All these papers share a similar analysis of China's course and the challenges that China poses, but differ slightly in how they emphasize options for the path forward – the Greens being more pessimistic when it comes to seeking opportunities for cooperation, while the SPD seems more optimistic about the partnership agenda. Chancellor Olaf Scholz seems to be leaning toward the cautious rationality of his predecessor, Angela Merkel, and has been criticized<sup>163</sup> for his ambiguous course.

# Germany's first "Strategy on China": Clear compass, unclear road ahead

In July 2023, after one and a half years of extensive consultations with stakeholders and intense negotiations between ministries, Germany approved its first "Strategy on China<sup>164</sup>". The 64-page paper is meant to fulfil two goals: 1) to present the government's views on China and the challenges it poses, and 2) to outline the means and instruments needed to enable the government to pursue a coherent approach that asserts German and European values and interests. On the first goal, the strategy delivers clear language, while on the second ambition, it remains ambiguous and preliminary.

Starting from the premise that the German approach to China needs to change because China has changed, the analysis in the strategy is frank to a degree that Beijing-friendly critics consider undiplomatic. The strategy:

- states that China is striving for "regional hegemony", aiming to "reshape the existing rules-based international order" and "calling principles of international law into question";
- points to "serious human rights violations", e.g., in Xinjiang, Tibet and Hong Kong;
- analyses that China's economic strategy aims at creating "economic and technological dependencies with a view to using these to assert political objectives and interests";

- assesses that China engages in "economic and academic espionage in an attempt to gain access to German corporations' trade and research secrets";
- asserts that Chinese authorities engage in "illegitimate interference" and "acts of transnational repression";
- upgrades security issues, e.g., by calling Beijing's close relationship with Moscow an "immediate security concern for Germany"; and
- concludes that "elements of rivalry and competition in our relations" have increased.

But despite the clear orientation that the paper provides, when it comes to transmitting these realizations into concrete policies and actions, the strategy is – understandably – more elusive. On the one hand, the government is careful not to shut any doors: "Systemic rivalry with China does not mean that we cannot cooperate", the paper postulates, adding the hope that this could happen on the basis of fair conditions. On the other hand, there are real concerns to what extent regulation can effectively mitigate risks. The government therefore only issues a vague call to companies to raise their risk awareness and not expect bailouts in the event of a geopolitical crisis.

More specific instruments that were discussed during the drafting process (and became public through a series of leaks), included mandatory transparency requirements and stress tests for large companies with high exposure to China. In the end, the government only committed to further exploring the issues and options at hand and holding "confidential discussions" with corporates. Likewise, no specifics were included on critical infrastructure (Germany so far hasn't banned Chinese companies from its telecom networks), on outbound investment screening or on regulating joint research, despite the fact that "China's Military-Civil Fusion policy is placing limits on our cooperation".

All of this builds squarely on the EU Commission's mantra of "no decoupling, but de-risking". The strategy makes a strong commitment to enhancing a coherent European policy on China (which has not always been seen as a key feature of Germany's China policy). Besides close coordination, Germany specifically promises:

- not to negotiate with China on matters for which the EU is responsible. (In the context of the Comprehensive Agreement on Investment (CAI), officials from the German chancellery are understood to have discussed the topic frequently with Chinese counterparts.)
- to "explore" where EU partners or institutions could be included in bilateral talks with China, such as government consultations. (The German government made a similar commitment in its coalition agreement, but so far hasn't acted on it.)
- to make greater use of bilateral exchanges with China to raise EU-wide economic interests.

# The capacity: The strategy provides focus, but differences in actors' interests persist

While the "Strategy on China" provides clear orientation on how to understand China and the challenges it poses to Germany, the paper cannot be expected to put an end to intense political debates about concrete decisions.

The degree to which China policy has moved to the center of politics is shown by the political struggles that accompanied the finalization of the strategy. While the Green-led foreign office, the penholder for the drafting process, wished to approve the strategy in early 2023, The strategy makes a strong commitment to a coherent EU China policy well before the government consultations with the Chinese, the chancellery dragged the process out over months until after the consultations and just before the parliamentary summer break.

Tensions between different political priorities were also visible in the case of the Hamburg harbor investment of Chinese state-owned enterprise COSCO: While the Greens-led Ministry of the Economy (along with six other ministries) warned of Chinese investment in critical infrastructures, the chancellery helped push through COSCO's bid for a (albeit smaller than envisioned) stake in the port. The deal was finalized in June 2023, one day before the 7th Sino-German government consultations in Berlin, which resulted in the launch of a new "climate and transformation partnership", one of the few areas in which both the Greens and the chancellery – and the business community – still see potential for cooperation with China.

It is improbable that any of these decisions would have been taken differently if the "Strategy on China" had already been in place before the government consultations instead of three weeks after. At the same time, the effects of the strategy must not only be explored at the national level. While guidelines for foreign policy are devised by the federal government, Germany's 16 federal states ("Länder") have their own subnational foreign policies, for example through city partnerships or regional economic contacts.

The effects of the strategy must also be explored at the sub-national level

In recent years, there has been an increasing awareness at the subnational level that an all-too-naive approach to cooperation with China does not benefit the regions. Efforts to develop China expertise locally have been stepped up, as have exchanges among regions and with state or federal authorities. According to the wordings in the national China strategy, Berlin intends to support regular, expert-level meetings. However, a precarious budget situation and the traditionally difficult coordination among and with federal entities could hamper efforts to come up with a more coordinated approach to China.

# The future: Three trends to watch

#### 1. Putting the new Strategy on China to work

While various areas for action are spelled out, real progress will depend on political leadership. Momentum will largely depend on the political sense of urgency on these issues. The Federal Government has committed to report regularly about the implementation of the strategy. Meetings at the level of State Secretaries are intended to monitor progress and "maintain appropriate strategic situational awareness".

Ministries are meant to coordinate their activities, and stakeholders (including the parliament and federal states) are promised a role in the evaluations of the strategy. But besides the government's own progress reports, the dynamic state of relations with China will create many opportunities in the coming for the media and other stakeholders could reference the Strategy on China to ask critical questions.

# 2. The future of German businesses relations with China

German China policy continues to be largely shaped by the interests and needs of German industry – and a narrative of deep economic dependence. Signals about the development of their business therefore get close and nervous attention, in particular in a phase where China's economy appears to be facing a multitude of structural problems and Sino-US ten-

sions increasingly force companies to "choose sides". The old belief that "Whatever is good for German companies in China is good for Germany" is undermined by concerns about "concentration risks" and increasing, often unfair competition.

Current political and public debates frequently center around the fate of the German automotive industry, which is struggling to keep pace in the transformation towards new energy vehicles – a sector that today is largely driven by the Chinese market and in which Chinese companies are poised to overtake their German competitors.

# 3. Working with partners

While Germany officially commits to working closely with partners, especially within the EU, the country does not have a very consistent record on walking the talk. In Brussels, the European Commission is pushing hard to create momentum for joint member state action that can only be successful if Europe's largest economic power is willing to take over a leadership role. Time may be running out for consolidating a European course vis-à-vis China and on other global issues, as elections in the US are looming.

Working with transatlantic, G7, EU partners and beyond will be key

Berlin is keenly aware that Europe's space for maneuver is largely dependent on the US, and that Washington's agenda might become considerably less forthcoming to European interests if a Republican takes the White House in 2024. Therefore, hardwiring transatlantic and G7 initiatives as much as possible and aligning better with partners in the EU and beyond will be key for securing space for a proactive European agenda. But even if the present coalition does put more emphasis on coordination with Brussels on China on paper, there is a lot of skepticism in Germany as to whether it is sensible and worthwhile to put national interests second to those of the EU. The German government will need to find constructive ways to best pursue national interests through and with the EU.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Like all European states, with the exception of the Vatican City, Germany does not maintain official diplomatic relations with Taiwan. As part of its One China policy, the Federal Republic recognizes the People's Republic as the only sovereign state in China. In the recent past, public and policy support for the island has grown due to China's de facto ending of "one country two systems" in Hong Kong and its increasingly martial tones, pushing for "reunification" with Taiwan.

The Strategy on China commits to expanding relations with Taiwan, supporting "issue-specific involvement on the part of democratic Taiwan in international organisations" and states that "military escalation would also affect German and European interests". German business is particularly concerned that an escalation around Taiwan could disrupt important supply chains in the region and severely disrupt activities in China. In March 2023, Germany's Science Minster, Bettina Stark-Watzinger, officially travelled to Taiwan, the first visit by a German cabinet member in 26 years. In July, German Justice Minister, Marco Buschmann, welcomed his Taiwanese counterpart, Tsai Ching-hsiang, in Berlin.



High political relevance

Focus on

derisking

economic ties

Focus on deepening economic ties

Greece

Low political relevance
#### Greece: In need of a China strategy

**Plamen Tonchev**, Head of Asia Unit, Institute of International Economic Relations (IIER)

While Greece is firmly committed to its western allies on issues, such as the war in Ukraine, Athens is intent on staying on good terms with China. This is more of a tacit arrangement rather than a policy based on a well thought-out and public "China strategy". Greece's China policy, while underdeveloped and informal, is conditioned by three key factors: (i) expectations of economic gains from cooperation with China; (ii) Beijing's political weight; (iii) a lack of China knowledge and Greece's susceptibility to Beijing's public diplomacy. At present, Greece is ill-equipped to deliver a coherent approach to China. However, in case of a major international crisis, Athens will align itself with transatlantic partners.

#### Greece's approach to China

There seem to be three key drivers of Greece's stance towards China, though none of the underlying assumptions seems to be well-founded. First, until recently, Sino-Greek relations were driven primarily by trade and investment. However, since 2019 European countries, the US, Australia and Gulf states have become considerably more active in the country, and China's relative weight as a source of investment capital has diminished. By and large, initial expectations that China would play a leading role in helping the Greek economy recover through FDI have not been met.<sup>165</sup> The Greek government still hopes that it could attract Chinese investment in manufacturing and agriculture, however Beijing prioritizes transport, energy and telecoms. At the same time, tourism is a key sector of the Greek economy and there is room for increased flows of Chinese tourists to the country.

Greece's trade deficit vis-à-vis China is steadily climbing up. Given that green transition is a high priority of the Greek government, solar panels and electric vehicles account for a growing share of imports from China. For instance, the most powerful actor is the Chinese company JinkoSolar, which had a 50 percent share of the Greek photovoltaic market in 2021.<sup>166</sup>

Second, Athens is eager to stay on good terms with China, which is a permanent member of the UN Security Council. Greece's top foreign policy priority are relations with next-door Turkey, whose belligerent behavior is a major concern and Athens needs to rally as much international support as possible. At the same time, there is no compelling argument why China should choose Greece over Turkey in case of an armed conflict between the two neighbors. Greek state officials admit in private conversations that Beijing is unlikely to take sides in case of a flare-up in the Aegean Sea or the Eastern Mediterranean.

Third, Beijing's cultural diplomacy is a prominent feature of Sino-Greek relations: China consistently flatters Greece which is proud of its glorious antiquity and culture, and Athens willingly accepts all of Beijing's initiatives in this area.

While it is mostly Beijing that takes pains to demonstrate its putative cordial friendship with Athens at levels as high as possible, the Greek side does not shy away from ostentatious officialdom either. All Greek governments have had intensive exchanges with China. Thus, Prime Minister Kyriakos Mitsotakis traveled to Shanghai in November 2019, a few days before Xi Jinping's state visit to Greece. Top PRC diplomat Yang Jiechi visited Athens in Greece's trade deficit vis-à-vis China is steadily climbing up September 2020, and Mitsotakis was happy to feature his conversation with the Chinese guest on the official website of the prime minister.<sup>167</sup>

The Chinese defense minister Wei Fenghe was also in Greece in 2021<sup>168</sup>, on a visit that yielded no substantive outcome, but certainly raised eyebrows in western capitals. In July 2021, the Greek prime minister had a phone call with the Chinese president and accepted an invitation to attend the Beijing Winter Olympic Games in February 2022<sup>169</sup> – though, in the end, he aligned himself with the western diplomatic boycott of the opening ceremony. China's foreign minister Wang Yi visited Greece in October 2021<sup>170</sup> and in August 2022 met his Greek counterpart Nikos Dendias again on the sidelines of a forum in Phnom Penh.<sup>171</sup> In February 2023, the PRC vice-premier Sun Chunlan visited Greece to launch a Center for Ancient Greek and Chinese Civilizations.

#### Somewhat loose alignment with EU policies

Greece endorses the EU's triple definition of China as a partner, competitor and systemic rival, set out in the 2019 Strategic Outlook and takes note of the deterioration of Sino-European relations, but the Greek government would like to see some "bridge-building" between Brussels and Beijing.<sup>172</sup> In line with the vast majority of EU member states, Athens has firmly supported Ukraine and cannot help noticing China's pro-Russia neutrality, however the Greek government is unwilling to confront Beijing on this issue.

On another note, Greece is one of the few EU member states without a foreign investment screening mechanism. This should not be attributed exclusively to a China-friendly stance – rather, Greece is keen to attract FDI as a high priority after the severe fiscal and economic crisis in the 2010s. In fact, while Regulation 2019/452<sup>173</sup> came into force in October 2020, a year later the Greek Parliament passed Law 4864/2021 on Strategic Investments that moves in the opposite direction.<sup>174</sup>

#### Greece's capacity to pursue a coherent approach to China

Despite the frequent exchanges between Athens and Beijing, Greece has not acquired an official China strategy and at present is not even close to that. An internal document drafted in 2021 for the Prime Minister's office does not seem to have been discussed in earnest and has not become a point of reference in terms of policy making, the main reason being that other issues – such as relations with Turkey and Russia – are deemed much higher foreign policy priorities.<sup>175</sup> There is no government body overseeing cooperation between Greek actors and Chinese counterparts. Similarly, there is no permanent structure tasked to streamline China-related research and the formulation of relevant policy recommendations.

At present, Greece does not have an adequate capacity to articulate a coherent China policy. To varying degrees, this is evident at all levels of the public administration, businesses, academia and civil society. Greece's national security strategy was adopted in October 2022<sup>176</sup>, though it has not yet been published - reportedly, China was only covered in it marginally. Up to 2021, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs had a directorate covering China, Taiwan and the Korean peninsula. Since then, the China desk has been included in a larger – and clearly understaffed – directorate, which covers the vast area of Asia and Oceania.

There are at least three Greek-Chinese chambers of commerce, which represent specific business interests and do not have the capacity – nor the interest – to touch upon issues

Athens would like to see some "bridgebuilding" between Brussels and Beijing broader than trade. Notably, there is not a single university chair in Chinese studies. Only three think-tanks are known to carry out some research into Chinese affairs, and China-related papers are occasionally produced at universities on an ad hoc basis. As a result, the academic community is not in a position to inform national policies vis-à-vis China. In addition, no Greek media outlet has a correspondent in China and related information is retrieved from foreign news agencies.

Not only is China knowledge in Greece extremely limited, but currently it is driven by Chinese – rather than Greek – institutions, such as three Confucius Institutes (CI). The first CI started operating in 2009 at the Athens University of Economics and Business, with 3,000 beneficiaries of Chinese language and culture programs, though it is not clear how many students have actually graduated from the language courses.<sup>177</sup> The other two CIs have been operating for a short time: the CI at the Aristotle University in Thessaloniki was founded in 2018, and the agreement for the creation of the CI at the University of Thessaly was signed in 2019. The Laskaridis Foundation, set up by a prominent ship owner, hosts a Chinese Studies Center, which is supported with human and financial resources by the Chinese Academy for Social Sciences (CASS). Furthermore, there is a China Cultural Center, inaugurated in Athens in 2016.

#### Main actors shaping Greece's relationship with China

In the absence of a well thought-out China strategy and an all-of-government coordination mechanism, Greece oscillates between pledges of commitment to its western partners and a flurry of cooperation schemes with Chinese actors. Thus, a deputy foreign minister in charge of economic diplomacy<sup>178</sup> acts as Greece's national coordinator in charge of cooperation within the 17+1 (currently 14:1) format. Enterprise Greece, overseen by the Ministry of Development and Investment, is tasked with both FDI attraction and the promotion of Greek exports, so it is frequently in touch with Chinese state services and businesses.<sup>179</sup>

In October 2021, the Ministry of Education signed an MoU on cooperation between Greek and Chinese universities.<sup>180</sup> Study in Greece, a government program, is linked to the Chinese Service Center for Scholarly Exchange (CSCSE) on the basis of an MoU signed in July 2022.<sup>181</sup> The Ministry of Tourism has signed a joint action plan for the 2022-2024 period aiming at larger Chinese tourist flows to Greece.<sup>182</sup>

It is hard to overstate the role of the Greek shipping industry in the evolution of economic ties between Athens and Beijing.<sup>183</sup> Since 2000, Greek shipping companies have benefited from Chinese loans and have reportedly placed orders worth some USD 50 billion at Chinese shipyards.<sup>184</sup> Other business actors are real estate agencies, which look forward to the return of Chinese Golden Visa applicants after the resumption of travel to Greece. Travel agencies and hotel managers are also eager to see more Chinese tourists in the country. Universities, too, flirt with the idea of attracting Chinese students as a source of revenue.

In general, left-leaning parties in Greece tend to be more sympathetic of China in comparison to other segments of the political spectrum. Some civil society groups have voiced criticism of COSCO's presence in the port of Piraeus, though this is only a local trend. Media coverage of Sino-Greek relations is fairly balanced, however there are several media outlets that have content-sharing agreements with Chinese counterparts and often recycle Beijing's official narratives.<sup>185</sup> No Greek media outlet has a correspondent in China

#### What lies ahead?

China is not a prominent topic in Greece

China is not a prominent topic in Greece, which is preoccupied with challenges relating to next-door Turkey. As a result, China is not perceived as a threat, and is viewed primarily as a trading partner and a political heavyweight. From now on, the issue of Chinese investment is not expected to be high on the agenda, as Greece is successfully attracting investment capital from other sources. What is likely to become a more visible issue over the next year or so relates to the expected flows of Chinese tourists and, most probably, a new surge in the number of Chinese Golden Visa applicants.

Yet, Greece is increasingly compelled to reconcile competing economic and strategic priorities as a result of a rapidly changing geopolitical environment, both globally and in the country's vicinity.<sup>186</sup> Notably, Athens has opted for Ericsson, instead of Huawei, for the construction of 5G networks.<sup>187</sup> While China is rarely discussed in public by Greek government officials, they would confidentially refer to the following two concerns: (i) a parallel international system promoted by China as a counterweight to what Beijing views as a moribund Pax Americana; and (ii) a major crisis around Taiwan which would force the EU – including a wary Greece – to take sides in the stand-off between China and the West (see box on Taiwan).

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Athens is aligned with the EU's One-China policy and does not recognize the self-governed island as a separate entity. In fact, Greece is extremely cautious not to vex China and avoids any references to this issue, even though there is a Taipei Representative Office in Athens. While Greek media regularly cover developments in Taiwan, as well as in Hong Kong and Xinjiang, Greece consistently abstains from all UN statements critical of Beijing on 'sensitive' China-related issues.

# Hungary

High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties

Focus on derisking economic ties

Hungary

Low political relevance

#### Hungary: China's last friend in the EU?

#### Tamas Matura, Assistant Professor, Corvinus University of Budapest

Though the Hungarian government has not formulated its China strategy in an explicit way, its goals are clear: On the domestic level strong ties to Beijing are expected to create economic opportunities and thus political support for the ruling party, while private business interest may also play its role. On the international level Beijing may serve as an important friend that boosts the bargaining position of Prime Minister Viktor Orbán in his grand chess game against the West. Recent international developments, however, have undermined this strategy and triggered increased US and EU pressure on Hungary. Meanwhile, crumbling EU-China and China-Central Europe relations render the position of Mr. Orbán more valuable to Beijing, which may make him more adamant about the pro-China policies of his administration.

#### Hungary's invisible China strategy

Since the Orbán government has never published an official China Strategy, one can only speculate about the intentions of the government. Based on the developments of the past decade it seems that Mr. Orbán's close relationship to Beijing aims to achieve two strategic goals.

First, the government hopes that strong ties to the PRC may lead to economic advantages in the form of increased trade and investment relations – set forth by another strategy that has never been formulated in a written format: the Opening to the East Strategy, which aims to reduce the country's dependence on EU markets and to increase the share of Eastern investors and trade partners since 2011 – that could support the domestic political popularity of the ruling party and could serve some private interests of businesses close to the government.

Budapest hopes that strong ties to the PRC may lead to economic advantages The economic success of this approach is questionable. The government argues that China is now a major investor in Hungary, bilateral trade has been growing dynamically and thanks to the goodwill of Beijing, Hungary was one of the first countries to roll-out Covid-19 vaccinations to its population. Meanwhile, critics point out that the level of Chinese investment is still relatively low, and that the Hungarian economy does not profit too much out of the Chinese companies in the country, despite some major projects by Wanhua Yantai, Huawei or Bank of China, or maybe soon by battery makers CATLand EVE Energy.

Trade has been growing rapidly due to the sharp increase of imports (and trade deficit) from China, while exports to the PRC have been stagnating for many years. Furthermore, vaccine procurement from China has raised many questions regarding the efficacy and price of doses.

When it comes to domestic politics the pro-China attitude of the government did bear some fruits. The Orbán cabinet has been emphasizing the importance of China and Sino-Hungarian relations since 2010, and the foreign policy strategies of the government such as the "Opening to the East", or Hungary's accession to the BRI or the AIIB and the public praising of Chinese investors all shaped a pro-China narrative in governmental communication and in pro-government media outlets. Pro-government media portrayed Chinese actions in a positive light, while mainstream independent and opposition media was either neutral or slightly negative. Furthermore, Mr. Orbán has reinforced his positive tone about the East Asian country as it helped to depict the West as an even less favorable partner. (i.e., China is successful vs. the West is on the brinks of collapse). The Covid-19 crisis offered another opportunity to the Hungarian government to paint a pleasant picture of China while it could denounce Western "incompetence". Official comments have never blamed Beijing for the outbreak of the pandemic. On the contrary, the Hungarian government has been emphasizing the massive amounts of medical equipment sent from China to Hungary. The outcome of these governmental communication efforts was a sharp increase in China's reputation among Fidesz voters, which in turn, has contributed to the popularity of the ruling party and its massive election success in early 2022.<sup>188</sup>

Second, the perceived or actual support of Beijing may improve the international diplomatic bargaining position of Hungary vis-à-vis the European Union and the United States. This latter dimension has become an important element of Hungarian foreign policy since the deepening of tensions with Western allies and EU institutions and fits into the broader picture of Hungarian diplomatic efforts. Ever since Mr. Orbán announced his intention to turn Hungary into an illiberal democracy, he has been trying to form a global alliance of similar regimes from President Bolsonaro to Mr. Erdogan, Netanyahu, and Putin to President Xi and even Trump.

Part and parcel of this endeavour was the use of Hungarian influence – mostly vetoes blocking EU statements accusing Beijing of cracking down on democracy in Hong Kong or criticizing its human rights record in Xinjiang – in the EU to support not only Chinese but also Russian, Turkish, Israeli or other interests. This foreign policy, based on hedging and a loud and aggressive communication strategy, worked surprisingly well in the peace and prosperity of the 2010s.

It seems, however, less applicable in recent years as the illiberal club turned stillborn with the political fall of many of its members, and as Russia's aggression has made European countries rally around the flags of the EU and NATO. Despite the above-described fundamental changes in the international landscape, Mr. Orbán seemingly tries to double down on his pro-China policy. Indeed, as he has become the very last friend of Beijing in the whole EU, his relative importance may have grown in the eyes of the Chinese government.

The visit of state councillor Wang Yi to Budapest in February 2023 and the subsequent announcement that Mr. Orbán may visit China in the near future both demonstrate the strength of bilateral ties while EU-China relations experience serious tensions. Whether this unique position is worth its price in the form of the reputation lost in Washington and Brussels is a question only Mr. Orbán could answer.

#### The actors: The Prime Minister is in the driving seat

Given the highly centralised nature of governance in Hungary, it is fair to say that the main driving force behind the pro-China policies of the country is the prime minister. Other members of the administration rather execute than formulate foreign policy, including the China policy of Budapest. When it comes to the specific task of attracting Chinese investors to Hungary, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade and its affiliated institutions play a pivotal role. Meanwhile those times are long gone when Hungarian businesses were enthusiastic about opportunities in China.

Beijing's support may improve the bargaining position of Hungary vis-àvis the EU High expectations of the early and mid-2010s have been cooled down by reality and sobering experiences, as entering the Chinese market is beyond the capacity of most Hungarian companies, while the presence of Chinese financial capital and investment in Hungary has remained limited. It must be admitted that the announced EUR 7.3 billion investment by Chinese battery maker CATL would be a game changer, the final outcome of the project remains to be seen as skyrocketing utility prices may trigger second thoughts on the Chinese side, even though the construction has started nevertheless.

Generally speaking, civil society is not strong enough to substantially shape the foreign policy of the government. Demonstrations against the planned campus of Fudan University in Budapest meant a rare exception, when the wider public and opposition parties combined their forces to push the government back on this issue in 2021. Though the unexpected public upheaval caught the Hungarian government off-guard, the administration adapted itself to the situation quickly, and in light of the upcoming elections it decided to abandon the Fudan project, at least for a while.

#### Future challenges

The main challenges of Hungary's China policy all stem from the same structural question: is the pro-China attitude of the government sustainable considering the rising tensions between Beijing and the alliance system Hungary belongs to? The longer Budapest sticks to its current trajectory, the harder it will be to change course if no other options remain in the coming years. Of course, the war in Ukraine dominates the European agenda now, and thus questions related to China are somewhat pushed aside, though not forgotten.

High expectations of the early and mid-2010s have cooled down One can expect that Washington and its European partners will eventually turn their attention to the long-term challenges posed by China again, and then policies of Hungary could come into the crosshairs. Next to the European level, another concern is the future of the 14+1 and of the Visegrad 4 cooperation. Many expect Czechia to leave the 14+1 in 2023, which would increase the weight of Hungary further in the China-CEE cooperation, but at the same time would put the V4 under even bigger pressure. President-elect Pavel has already expressed his reservations about the future of the Visegrad cooperation, and the demise of the V4 would mean another step toward the isolation of Budapest in the EU.

Meanwhile, it has to be noted that the main point of tension with the EU and V4 partners is not China but the pro-Russian policies of the Hungarian government. In case of last resort Mr. Orbán may decide to subtly distance Budapest from Moscow, which may offer him some space to manoeuvre to keep his ties to Beijing intact, at least for a while.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

The Orbán government has been employing a two-faced policy vis-à-vis Taiwan. Direct investments from the island are always warmly, though not very visibly welcomed by the Hungarian MFA, as Hungary is only second to the Netherlands in terms of Taiwanese FDI stock in the whole EU.

Meanwhile, when it comes to political cooperation Budapest always sticks to Beijing's expectations and keeps relations to Taipei at a very low level. In 2020, Hungary was one of those countries that did not support Taiwan's accession to the WHO, following a call between the Hungarian and the Chinese Ministry of Foreign Affairs.



High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties Ireland

Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

#### Ireland: From dragging its feet to breaking into a sprint

#### Alexander Davey, Analyst, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS)

Ireland does not have an official China strategy, yet a pattern of approaches can be tracked via that of successive governments. The Irish-Sino bilateral relationship is predominantly focused on trade opportunities, and over the past 10 years Ireland's economic relationship with China has had a positive trajectory keeping it at the center of the relationship. Certain challenges in recent years, however, have brought attention to relations and spurred on Ireland to accelerate its alignment with the EU's strategy, transitioning from a passive to active recipient of EU China policy. The government must carefully navigate this policy transition, yet ministerial departments' differing and varying degrees of interest in China could undermine a coordinated approach to balance competing policy goals.

#### The action: Ireland presents itself to China as "the gateway to Europe"

2022 marked the 10th anniversary of the China-Ireland strategic partnership for mutually beneficial cooperation.<sup>189</sup> Since signing this reciprocal partnership, the Republic has proved to be an important political partner for China on a bilateral level. The relationship is characterized by continued high-level strategic coordination and reciprocity.

Ireland is a small open nation with an outward facing economy that the Irish government presents to China as the "gateway to Europe" for trade and investment. <sup>190</sup> Its economic model, underpinned by a relatively low corporate tax rate to incentivize exporters to manufacture there, facilitated Ireland to typically enjoy a trade surplus in goods with China.

Among all indicators of economic relations, exports to China (or China's demand for Irish goods) are the determining factor for Ireland-China interdependence. In 2022, Ireland was the only EU member state to maintain a trade surplus in goods with China.<sup>191</sup> And even though the country is the EU's 14th biggest economy, it is the bloc's fifth-largest exporter to China (EUR 13.033 billion). The consistent trade surplus may be a cause for concern with regard to potential dependencies on or even vulnerabilities to the Chinese market. Under certain specific conditions these could threaten the country's economic security. The composition of trade exports reveals whether such risks exist. Based on customs data, integrated circuits are by far the dominant export to China, though most of which involves an internal transaction between Intel's Ireland-based frontend and China-based backend facilities.<sup>192</sup>

Ireland's parliamentary budget office attributes the high share of Ireland's main China export – described broadly as "Electrical machinery, appliances, transport equipment" – to its replacement of the US as the largest export destination of these goods in 2018.<sup>193</sup> In 2022, 77 percent of Ireland's exports of integrated circuits went to China. Of the country's total exports to China last year, integrated circuits make up a whopping 63 percent, while agricultural products, traditionally seen as Ireland's dominant export to China, make up a mere 4.4 percent.

However, Ireland's maintained trade surplus is understood within Irish policy circles to signify the stability of its trade relationship, yet this confidence may instill a belief that the trade relationship does not constitute a potential vulnerability. For instance, such potential vulnerabilities include a sudden halt on the export of integrated circuits for reasons linked to the US imposing restrictions on exports of critical technologies – see US chip ban<sup>194</sup>, China's Integrated circuits made up 63% of Ireland's exports to China in 2022



Exhibit 4

banning of specific semiconductor firms' chips from critical infrastructure – see Micron<sup>195</sup>, or China's economic coercion of a country for political reasons – see the case of Lithuania<sup>196</sup>.

Regarding FDI, the Republic's enterprise-friendly environment has coaxed US multinational companies to invest and set up their European headquarters on its shores. Likewise, the Irish government is welcoming Chinese investment and companies, potentially creating a site of strategic competition between the two. Currently, there are more than 40 Chinese companies in Ireland concentrated mainly in IT, finance and aviation leasing – the most notable being Huawei Technologies, Bytedance's Tiktok and Wuxi Biologics – numbering more than 3,000 employees on the island.<sup>197</sup> In 2023, fast-fashion retailer Shein is building out its team in Ireland<sup>198</sup>, its rival Temu has set up its EU base in Dublin<sup>199</sup> and its parent company PDD holdings has moved its HQ from China to Ireland, potentially to avoid geopolitical risks.<sup>200</sup> Vice-versa, by the end of 2020, Ireland had established a total of 501 foreign-invested enterprises in China, with a cumulative non-financial actual investment of USD 2.73 billion. Well-known Irish companies such as Ornua, Kerry Group, Glanbia and CRH have set up factories and R&D centers in China.<sup>201</sup>

Ireland's enterprise and political officials carry out a balancing act between maintaining good ties with the US tech industry while quietly inviting more Chinese companies to invest on the island.<sup>202</sup> Public diplomacy carried out annually on St. Patrick's Day shows how this balancing act is performed. Taoiseach<sup>203</sup> Leo Varadkar travelled to Washington DC to meet with President Biden, while Minister for Transport, Climate, Environment & Communications Eamonn Ryan travelled to Beijing<sup>204</sup> to meet with his counterpart Huang Runqiu, China's Minister for Ecology and Environment.<sup>205</sup> Both meetings would involve increasing Ireland-US and Ireland-China economic trade and investment relations.



At the same time, the Irish government has signed on to letters in collaboration with other countries, made statements about China's human rights abuses in Xinjiang<sup>206</sup> and Hong Kong<sup>207</sup>, and gone as far as to suspend its extradition treaty with the former colony.<sup>208</sup> Yet, Irish diplomats have stated that they do not publicly confront China over human rights issues but bring up their concerns privately and in a bilateral manner. The tension between Ireland's pro-business policies and values-based outlook can lead to policy contradictions. If not dealt with appropriately this could undermine the credibility of the Republic's approach to China.

The Irish government is now juggling multiple demands of drawing investment from both the US and China while attempting to minimize risks by navigating between the interests of the two and the complex internal politics of the EU. The convergence of global economic and security issues with competing US and Chinese interests means Ireland may find itself squeezed between the two.

EU membership, neutrality and Brexit have been decisive in shaping thinking and policies of successive Irish governments towards China. First, the Irish government claims to align itself in many ways with the policies of the EU and supports the EU's current three-pronged – cooperation partner, economic competitor, systemic rival – approach as a framework for navigating relations with Beijing. Second, the non-membership of military alliances is the cornerstone of Ireland's neutral status and explains why it is not a member of NATO and has remained neutral throughout its integration into the EU thanks to its "triple lock" mechanism. As a result, Ireland wields "soft power" among non-aligned countries like China for its militarily neutral status and continued provision of peacekeeping forces to the UN which allows for Ireland to exert its influence.

Exhibit 5



Exhibit 6

Third, Brexit has pushed the Irish government to diversify and look for alternative markets to the UK. This has brought Irish and Chinese trade closer. In 2018, in the wake of Brexit, then Minster for Foreign Affairs Simon Coveney stated that "Ireland is ready to step into the gap created by Brexit and wishes to replace Britain as China's new "trusted friend."<sup>209</sup>

### The actors: Ireland's largest parties and business agencies maintain close contacts with China

Ireland's two largest parties, both center-right Fine Gael (FG) and Fianna Fáil (FF), and the center-left Green Party (GP) form Ireland's current coalition government, led by Taoiseach Leo Varadkar (FG) and Tánaiste<sup>210</sup> and Minister for Foreign Affairs Micheál Martin (FF). There is not much difference between Ireland's main political parties regarding their stance towards the PRC, each seeking to maximize economic opportunities when in government, while using the EU – to both provide cover and greater impact as a united body – to criticize China on certain issues.

The Industrial Development Agency (IDA)<sup>211</sup> and Enterprise Ireland<sup>212</sup> in tandem with the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment are the main drivers for trade and investment between Ireland and China. The Department of Agriculture maintains strong engagement with its Chinese counterparts in consistently seeking market access to export Irish produce – from dairy products to pigmeat, crab, salmon, beef and sheepmeat. However, considering the minimal share food commodities constitute of the total share of Irish exports (as seen in the above graph) it could be said that there is an overinvestment of government resources and time on opportunities (10 trade missions to China since 2012) that offer only a marginal increase in return.

To make best use of opportunities and manage risks, that is, to shape a coherent China policy, Ireland needs greater China competency. Although the Republic has 13 current politicians as IPAC<sup>213</sup> members, there is an absence of indicators of China competency within government and the civil service, and of China-related coordination efforts among government ministries, suggesting a weak capacity for the Irish government to formulate a coherent China policy.

Ireland needs greater China competency

#### China strategy?

While the Irish government does not have a public dedicated China strategy, only an "Asia Pacific Strategy"<sup>214</sup> from 2020 that briefly mentions China, its balancing between fostering an economic relationship with the US<sup>215</sup> with that of quietly inviting Chinese investment<sup>216</sup><sup>217</sup> could constitute an unofficial strategy by Irish policymakers and legislators.

#### Did recent China challenges push Ireland to "de-risk" its China approach?

The almost-three-year exit ban placed on businessman Richard O'Halloran in China due to a business dispute between his employer, an aircraft leasing firm, and Chinese shareholders, caused the Irish government to consistently advocate for his release. Exit bans such as that imposed on O'Halloran are a violation of the internationally-accepted right to freedom of movement and its expanded use, on foreign businesspeople in particular, is a worrying trend for an Irish government that promotes doing business with China.

A Fuzhou Police Overseas Service Station was operating in Ireland without permission of the state. This infringement of Irish sovereignty was a cause of concern for the Irish government and led them to quickly order it to be shut in October 2022.

After ten years of operation, Ireland's Department of Justice ordered its Immigration Investor Programme to no longer accept applications from February 2023. 94 percent of applicants, or over 1,500 of the more than 1,600 applicants were Chinese nationals. It appears that EU research of such programs' negative implications, pressure from the Commission and reasons concerning potential undue influence led to the Irish government ending the program.

More recently however, following swiftly in the footsteps of EU Commission President Ursula von der Leyen's speech on China and not long after Biden's state visit to Ireland<sup>218</sup>, Foreign Minister Micheál Martin echoed the Commission President in outlining his government's policy shift on China. He called for Irish stakeholders to be aware of their level of exposure to China, citing von der Leyen's reference to "de-risking" relations with China, defining it as "developing our economic and systemic resilience to, in turn, protect our values and interests." <sup>219</sup> He added that this does not mean turning their backs on important relationships with China and that his government would continue to work with Chinese companies established here – something Wang Yi asked Martin for on the sidelines of the MSC. He went on to state that Ireland "… will also work with European Union partners to shore up our economic security,"<sup>220</sup> hinting to greater alignment with EU China policy.



#### Exhibit 7

Government actions towards China show that there is still quite a bit of confusion in how to approach China. Yet it appears that the overarching goals are to maintain and expand the trade surplus, compete for FDI, and seize upon investment opportunities in China. The actions of different government departments towards China illustrate a variety of competing interests. Comparing departments such as the Department of Business, Enterprise and Trade, and the Department of Agriculture with that of the Department of Foreign Affairs, there is a higher level of China-oriented engagement among the former two department ministers than that of the latter.

Despite its generally more neutral and business-oriented stance, Ireland's approach to China is coming under pressure to align with that of the EU. In autumn 2022, then Irish Foreign Minister Simon Coveney stated that Ireland would soon put into place the foreign direct investment (FDI) screening measures developed by Brussels to safeguard vital assets.<sup>221</sup> Similarly, with regard to national security in relation to Chinese telecommunications vendor Huawei, the Irish government is establishing the European Electronic Communications Code that allows the government to take measures to safeguard the supply of critical components by "vendors considered high risk" to protect the security of Ireland's telecommunication networks.<sup>222</sup>

The slow processes of implementing both measures suggest an element of reticence to enforce them for fear of decreasing Ireland's attractiveness as an FDI destination and potentially upsetting relations with China.

Policy tools	Status
FDI Screening Mechanism	In legislative process <sup>223</sup>
EU 5G Security Toolbox	Endorsed policy initiative <sup>224</sup>
Legislation to allow blacklisting networking equipment from high-risk vendors on national security grounds.	Enacted <sup>225</sup>
National contact point for knowledge security	Not under consideration
Toolkit to help mitigate foreign interference in research and innovation <sup>226</sup>	Not under consideration
Information/contact point for local govern- ment <sup>227</sup>	Not under consideration
Assessment of strategic dependency <sup>228</sup> on China	Not under consideration

Ireland looks to remove barriers within the EU single market. As a small economy it does not support industrial policies – posed to tackle the "China challenge" – to provide state aid for "European Champions" as it is unlikely to be able to compete with larger economies of Germany and France.<sup>229</sup> The absence of Irish companies from Important Projects of Common European Interest (IPCEI) shows just how Ireland's economic model is ill-aligned to EU industrial policy. Therefore, the Irish government's likely perspective towards "de-risk-ing" is to be one focused on a level playing field in specific sectors in order to maintain a pro-free trade slant rather than one that aims to loosen state aid rules.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Like the EU, Ireland subscribes to a "One China" policy recognizing the People's Republic of China as the sole government of China. It does not maintain official diplomatic relations with the Republic of China's government or recognize Taiwan as a state.<sup>230</sup> In January 2012<sup>231</sup>, Ireland closed its Institute for Trade and Investment office in Taipei due to "austerity measures," three months before it signed a Strategic Partnership Agreement with China. In 2021, then Deputy PM Leo Varadkar stated that IDA Ireland handles the Taiwanese market from Singapore and has no plans to open a new office in Taipei. Enterprise Ireland's office in Hong Kong and a consulting firm in Taipei provide marketplace services to Irish companies looking to do business in Taiwan.<sup>232</sup>

## The future: Dublin needs to mitigate dependencies and increase coordination and capacity on China

Growing interdependency needs to be assessed for potential risks Given its interest in increasing trade with China, Ireland has until recently opted for a less confrontational and balanced approach to the PRC. This had allowed for trade in goods and services to grow and FDI to take place in both countries. Nevertheless, this growing interdependency needs to be managed and assessed for potential risks. If any economic or strategic dependencies are deemed critical, de-risking rather than decoupling should be the goal.

- Ireland's export-dependent model of trade with China raises concerns of trade overdependence, especially with regard to electronic integrated circuits. A US government export restriction on its producers in Ireland or a PRC government import ban to China of US ICs fabricated in Ireland would have a significant impact on Irish jobs and corporate tax revenues.
- 2. Sudden political upheavals arising from China's role in Russia's invasion of Ukraine, a potential invasion of Taiwan, or an inflection point in US-China tensions could strain Ireland-China relations, further threatening economic security. Also, a negative economic shock in China on trade would affect the overall EU economy which could lead to second order negative effects on Ireland's economy. In the unlikely event of a trade war between the EU and China, small open economies such as Ireland are set to lose most (welfare losses of −2.04 percent). <sup>233</sup>
- 3. The Irish government needs to evaluate whether inter-ministerial, vertical, or horizontal cross-sectoral coordination mechanisms on China are needed to address the lack of China coordination. Similarly, bolstering China-related expertise and capacity in the civil service, reviewing the reactive methods of diplomacy towards China, and evaluating the capacity to take a more pro-active approach in shaping and receiving EU policy on China could prevent future incidents such as the cases of Richard O'Halloran's exit ban or the establishment of the Fuzhou Police Overseas Service Station.



High political relevance

Italy

Focus on

derisking economic ties

Focus on deepening economic ties

Low political relevance

**Beatrice Gallelli**, Researcher, Instituto Affari Internazionali (IAI), **Francesca Ghiretti**, Analyst, Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS)

The preference of the governing political party or coalition has significant impact on Italy's approach to China. The last two governments, that of PM Mario Draghi and of PM Giorgia Meloni have placed stronger attention to Italy's security interests and to alignment with European and Transatlantic allies, without, however, losing sight of the opportunities that a stable diplomatic and economic relationship with China brings to Italy. A Memorandum of Understanding signed in 2019 made Italy the first G7 country to subscribe to the Belt and Road Initiative. Four years later, the diplomatic grand gesture mostly empty of actual gains for Italy is back on the Italian government's table who must decide whether to renew the MoU by the end of 2023. And the government appears keener not to renew it, but not everyone agrees with this approach. Despite such an important diplomatic move, China is not a pressing matter for Italy's foreign policy.

#### Introduction

As for most other European countries, the economy is the main driver of Italy-China relations. For example, when Wang Yi visited Rome in February 2023, export of Italian products and market access for Italian enterprises were among the main themes of the meeting. The hope for a stronger and more favorable economic relationship was also one of the Italian government's main drivers of the decision at the time to sign a memorandum of understanding to join the Belt and Road Initiative. The anticipated economic boost in the relationship, however, did not materialize. Italian exports to China have grown since 2019 but the growth appears to have remained at the pre-2019 pace suggesting the MoU did not have a significant impact.<sup>234</sup>

Italy hosts one of the largest Chinese diaspora in Europe

Culture is often presented as being a fundamental link between China and Italy. As in other countries, such as Greece, China has often adopted the diplomatic tool of the commonalities between great ancient civilizations. Following the footsteps of his predecessors, the new PRC Ambassador to Rome, Jia Guide, as soon as he was appointed mentioned the strong linkages that exist between Italy and China as ancient civilizations.<sup>235</sup>

Academia is also an important tenet of the bilateral relationship. Italy hosts 11 Confucius institutes affiliated to Italy's main universities and several Confucius classrooms spread across the country. The risks associated with academic connections and scientific cooperation, especially for scientific cooperation, have been in the spotlight of intellectual debate, but have not evolved into a thorough political discussion among the ruling elite.

Furthermore, Italy hosts one of the largest Chinese diaspora in Europe. Notwithstanding their size, Chinese communities in Italy drew little attention until a few years ago. More recently, they have come to the spotlight of public and political attention mainly due to the controversial issue of alleged "Chinese police stations" on Italian territory, which emerged following the publication of a report by the Spanish non-governmental organization Safe-guard Defenders that denounced the presence of such stations in several European countries, many of them in Italy.<sup>236</sup>

The report accused these "police stations" of carrying out monitoring and repression of Chinese dissidents abroad. The report drew attention to the fact that since May 2016, thanks to an agreement signed in September of the previous year by the then Renzi government, major Italian cities had seen joint patrols between Chinese and Italian police to ensure the safety of tourists from the People's Republic.<sup>237</sup> Subsequent agreements had also established Italian police patrols in China.<sup>238</sup> According to the Safeguard Defenders report, the 2015 agreement allegedly led to the establishment of "Chinese police stations."

The credibility of the report by Safeguard Defenders has been questioned for the several reading comprehension errors of China's official documents and other mistakes.<sup>239</sup> Indeed, what Safeguard Defenders refer to are "service centers" linked to provincial governments in the PRC and tasked to carry out bureaucratic activities, but which have no authority on security matters, nor do they have any bearing on agreements for joint police patrols. Such "service centers" are not regulated by bilateral agreements, and the government has expressed the need to conduct investigations, which are currently underway.

#### Italy's approach to China has aspects of consistency

Italy does not have an official strategy towards China. However, a relatively consistent approach can be tracked throughout different governments. Regardless of whether a particular government would officially take a position favorable to China, each would try to improve the economic relationship, be it to attract more Chinese investments, raise exports of Italian products or improve market access for Italian enterprises in China.

The political narrative around China may have different approaches depending on the political orientation of the government, but the diplomatic and economic approach has changed little over time. The government of Mario Draghi had partially changed such an approach by more closely scrutinizing business deals, especially acquisitions, and Meloni seems to be following in Draghi's footsteps, and perhaps pushing it even further.<sup>240</sup>

The overall approach that Italian governments have been adopting throughout the years has not dramatically differed from that of other European countries and it easily sits within the official EU approach. Even signing up to the Belt and Road Initiative in 2019, albeit having raised a lot of fuss, is not really a detour from the European position. For one, the language selected for the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) mentions EU initiatives, regulations and positions.<sup>241</sup> And the agreements struck between Italian and Chinese entities do not differ greatly from those concluded between other European and Chinese ones.

Nonetheless, while Italy in the past managed to actively shape part of the European China-related agenda, now it is mostly a passive receiver of an agenda driven by others.<sup>242</sup> The Italian industrial confederation (Confindustria) adopted a position paper<sup>243</sup> in 2019 that encapsulates its position towards the situation that Italian enterprises face when dealing with China. The advantage China has via state-owned enterprise and unfair competition is the main theme of the position paper. It especially highlights how a strategy to guarantee more competitiveness for Italian enterprises must be embedded in a European strategy. (see exhibit on page 88). Italy does not have an official strategy towards China





#### The actors

The government has historically been the main driver of the country's approach towards China, which has often displayed a strong political component. Bureaucrats, such as officials within the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, have been able to guarantee that the underlying policy did not undergo major changes from one government to another, but politics still plays a major role in the shaping of the relationship. Currently, one important difference seems to exist between the preference of the Prime Minister's Cabinet, which is keen not to renew the MoU with China and the position of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, which views the non-renewal as an unnecessary move that would strain diplomatic relations with China.

There are other actors, such as the Italian industrial confederation (Confindustria), that attempt to have a role in shaping Italy's approach to China. Confindustria, for instance, often discusses with Italy's governmental institutions on specific topics, including the relations with China. In addition, among these actors, there is also the Italy-China Council Foundation, an association that includes Italian and Chinese companies and individuals and that were established with the precise aim of deepening economic relations between China and Italy;<sup>244</sup> and the China-Italy Chamber of Commerce (CICC) whose purpose is to promote the "Made in Italy" in the PRC.<sup>245</sup> These associations often interact with Chinese entities at non-institutional levels.

Among Italy's civil society, universities and scholars in general have attempted to play a role in Italy's approach to China, although their impact has been very limited so far. An example is the China-Italy Philanthropy Forum set up by the TOChina Hub of the University of Torino, whose aim is to provide a "channel for relevant people-to-people exchanges."<sup>246</sup>

Other attempts have aimed to become a bridge between local institutions and China. An example is the Collegio di Cina, nowadays relabeled Asia Institute, which is a platform with five founding partners: the University of Bologna, the regional government of Emilia-Romagna (the region where Bologna is located), Bologna municipal government, Emilia's industrial confederation (Confindustria Emilia) and BolognaFiere S.P.A. However, they have contributed more to providing "China literacy", less on orienting Italy's China policy.

#### The capacity

Like many European countries that do not prioritize China in their foreign policy, there are too few people focusing on China in the government and in the ministries and there is weak coordination among the different offices and bodies. Italy has few people dedicated to China, few dedicated departments, little to no inter-departmental and inter-ministerial coordination mechanisms and overall little China expertise at government and ministerial level.

The Italian Ministry of Foreign Affairs does not have a China desk, it has a North-East Asia desk led by a Director for Asia and Oceania. The North-East Asia desk is composed by three to four people who cover China, Mongolia, Japan and South Korea.

The above becomes even more striking if we consider that the economic relationship is expressly considered to be the most important aspect of Italy-China relations and as of January 2020 foreign trade has been moved from the Ministry of Economic Development to that of Foreign Affairs<sup>247</sup>, but the number of personnel at the North-East Asia desk remains very limited, and other ministries do not provide official figures on China. And often staff find themselves having to juggle competences and tasks that are geographically wide.

The Italian MFA has created a coordination platform on China between different ministries and other entities including the Bank of Italy, but the lack of dedicated people in other ministries, lacking the required competences and the overly busy agenda of the North-East Asia desk at the MFA has made this coordination effort not fruitful or efficient.

Although Italy is far from having the necessary capacity to deal with what China is today and it lacks the inter-ministerial attention needed, it should be noted that attention to bringing competent people on board on China has been growing and examples include the decision by former Minister of Foreign Affairs Luigi Di Maio to nominate Ettore Sequi, former Ambassador to China, as his Chief of Staff, who is now Secretary General for the current Minister of Foreign Affairs Antonio Tajani. And Luca Ferrari, former Ambassador to China, has been nominated as "sherpa" for the G7 and the G20.

#### The future

Since China directly or indirectly will have an increasingly large impact on Italy and Italian foreign policy, capacity building should be a priority for this government and those that follow.

Notwithstanding that China is not a foreign policy priority for Italy, Italy has long been dealing with the opposing tensions that inform its approach to China. On one hand, China is still viewed as a land of opportunity and as an important market for Italian businesses and products, on the other, the perception of China as a threat especially to Italian assets is growing.

The government of PM Mario Draghi set the trend of more generously blocking Chinese investments that not only posed a risk to national security, but also to national interests

China is not a foreign policy priority for Italy intended more widely, as it was the case of Iveco. Now, Adolfo Urso, Minister of the new far-right government led by PM Giorgia Meloni, is exploring how to further strengthen the Italian screening mechanism for foreign direct investments by possibly reviewing deals already concluded – a first in the European landscape, and potentially creating a fund to help companies that see investments being blocked or taken away.

Italy's biggest challenges on China policy remain its own capacity-building efforts Speaking of reviews, during her electoral campaign, PM Meloni promised to review the agreements included in Italy's BRI MoU with China. According to the text of the MoU signed in 2019, the review is due by the end of 2023 or the MoU will be automatically renewed in 2024. So far, the Meloni government has been able to manage well the two deep-rooted tensions of Italy's approach to China that pin opportunities against risk. However, the decision she faces will tilt that balance, perhaps only momentarily, but if the government decides not to renew the MoU it must stand ready to deal with retaliation from China, should that arise.

Furthermore, Meloni will have to decide what to do with a potential state visit to Beijing. If the meeting on the side of the G20 and the visits by other European leaders are of any indication, Meloni is likely to keep a friendly tone, find some opportunities for Italian businesses and raise some pressing issues such as Taiwan, human rights and Ukraine. The latter would be especially aimed at pleasing the ally on the other side of the Atlantic, an approach that so far has consistently accompanied this government.

Overall, Italy's biggest challenges on China policy remain its own capacity-building efforts, on a country that either directly or via its competition with the US will shape a large part of Italy's decision-making, and the fast-changing political leadership that bring forward often contradictory narratives that appear to disrupt continuity, even though such continuity exists.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

In accordance with its "One China Policy" the Italian Republic does not maintain<sup>248</sup> diplomatic relations with Taiwan, recognizing the People's Republic of China as the only Chinese state entity. On the other hand, Italy is engaged with Taiwan on commercial, economic and cultural projects facilitated by the presence of a Taiwanese Representative Office249 in Italy. Non-governmental actors continue to build bilateral relations with Taiwan and try to influence the country's approach via official means such as thematic roundtable discussions and unofficial exchanges.

An area where dialogue about economic ties occurs is the Italian-Taiwanese Forum for economic, industrial and financial cooperation that is co-chaired by the Italian Ministry of Foreign Affairs (which is in charge of foreign commerce) and the Taiwanese Ministry of Economic Affairs.

A visit from a delegation of Italian MPs to Taiwan, largely from Brothers of Italy (PM Meloni's party) has been postponed several times. The last official visit from Italian MPs was a visit in 2016 by the Italy-Taiwan Interparliamentary Friendship Group. In 2019, a delegation from the League (also part of the current government coalition) visited Taiwan.



High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties Focus on derisking economic ties

Latvia

Low political relevance

#### Latvia: Settling in for a moderate "steer clear" approach

**Una Aleksandra Bērziņa-Čerenkova**, Head of the Asia Research Programme, Latvian Institute of International Affairs (LIIA)

Latvia does not have a dedicated China strategy, a development of an "unofficial" Latvian code of conduct on China can be tracked. After a decade of economic opportunity exploration yielded underwhelming results and against the backdrop of relationship deterioration between China and the West, Latvia has decided to disassociate itself from China-led formats in 2022. The country appears to have adopted a steer-clear approach towards all China-related engagement that could hold security implications, therefore no official China strategy is expected to emerge in the nearest future. The future of Latvian China policy will need to address China's position with regard to Russia and the war in Ukraine, re-cast Latvian interests within a broader Indo-Pacific narrative and balance Latvia's infrastructure needs with concerns about China.

#### The action Latvia' informal code of conduct

Until 2012, Latvia had no significant exchanges with China, therefore, no official approach to the country or even its region existed. That year, Latvia joined the framework of China's Cooperation with Central and Eastern European Countries (best known as "16+1", due to the original number of European participants). In 2022, when Latvia along with Estonia<sup>250</sup> stated it will no longer participate in the grouping, the country's official approach to China evolved from hopes for economic engagement, to disappointment, to anxiety over security issues, which in turn has led back to no exchanges. In a sense, the Latvian national approach to China has gone full circle.

The Latvian national approach to China has gone full circle

Due to the short and underwhelming nature of the Latvia-China engagement, Latvia has not produced a public and dedicated China strategy. Geopolitically, the emphasis of the Latvian foreign policy thinking is mainly placed on the Euro-Atlantic space, and now especially so given Latvia's bid to become a non-permanent UN Security Council member for the 2026-2027 term via elections of the UN Security Council non-permanent seats in 2025.<sup>251</sup>

However, one can gauge the development of an "unofficial" Latvian code of conduct on China. Engagement with China is focused on the economic domain, given Latvia's strict geopolitical orientation towards the EU and NATO. The Latvian establishment saw China as a prospective export market, an opportunity to breathe new life into the massive and stagnating transit sector, including ports and railroads, as well as, at least during the early stages of engagement, a technologically advanced greenfield investor.

The cornerstone of the "unofficial" approach was to explore the economic potential within the broader confines of a European position, avoiding political alignment or becoming a bargaining chip in the hands of Beijing. This mindset has shaped the Latvian policies visa-vis China, as well as the limitations of the Latvian engagement – the Latvian stakeholders were against China-proposed loans, and didn't see Chinese investors or construction companies playing a part in local and regional infrastructure projects under the conditions proposed by the Chinese side.

Increasingly since 2019, in line with the general Transatlantic trend however, Latvia has deprioritized the search for economic domains that could be immune to the EU and NATO

understanding of China-related risk. Exacerbated by China's economic retaliation towards Lithuania<sup>252</sup> after the country began strengthening relations with Taiwan in 2021, the current Latvian unofficial strategy is about avoiding China altogether rather than cautiously engaging with it.

In his 2013 Speech at the Foreign Policy Debate in the Saeima (the National Parliament) – a top foreign policy reference document in the Latvian context – Latvia's Foreign Minister Edgars Rinkēvičs mentioned China merely as one among many economic partners in the Asia Pacific.<sup>253</sup> A decade later, the 2023 Annual Report of the Minister of Foreign Affairs contains a separate section on China, which attempts to introduce a balance between cooperation and avoidance, ultimately falling back on an EU position rather than a national one:

"Latvia considers it important to continue the European Union's multi-level approach to China as a cooperation partner, economic competitor and systemic rival. And we must continue to call on China to take a more determined and responsible position against Russia's war. It is especially important and purposeful to defend the economic interests of the European Union and to achieve equal access to the Chinese market, as well as to oppose China's practice of using economic pressure as a political instrument against individual member states of the European Union, thus affecting the common market of the European Union. Latvia supports the need to implement constructive relations with China, especially in overcoming global challenges such as climate change, non-proliferation of nuclear weapons, as well as promoting stability in the Indo-Pacific region, while being aware that the gap in values between the European Union and China continues to widen."<sup>254</sup>

The text also mentions Latvia's withdrawal from "16+1" but at the same time expresses willingness to build constructive and open relations with China. The position reads as a moderate one in comparison to Latvia's neighbour, Lithuania, as it does not denounce cooperation in principle. Although, the significant challenges mentioned by the foreign minister above leaves no room for any practical pursuit of such cooperation. Without loud declarations, Latvia is nevertheless setting in for a "steer clear" approach to China. This "steer clear", however, does not preclude avoiding controversy, such as over human rights or Taiwan. Even though Latvia is not a leading European voice on issues that might provoke China, it certainly is not a laggard either.

#### The actors: Ministerial disconnect

During the decade of Latvia's participation in "16+1", a cross-stakeholder consultative mechanism, a working group for the coordination of events organized within the cooperation format of Central and Eastern European countries and China, was in place (discontinued in 2022). It was coordinated by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and included various state (incl. ministerial), non-governmental, business, academic and other actors.<sup>255</sup> Apart from this, no attempt has been made to establish an inter-ministerial or "all-of-government" coordination mechanism on China.

The most visible state actors involved in China-related policies in Latvia are the Prime Minister's Office, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Ministry of Transportation. Although initially both ministries were mutually enhancive in exploring the opportunities for cooperation brought about by the "16+1" format and which resulted in the establishment of the Logistics Coordination Secretariat at the Ministry of Transportation (now discontinued).<sup>256</sup> The current Latvian unofficial strategy is about avoiding China altogether However, since 2018-2019 there has been a disconnect between the two. The communication of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs on the approach to China has been more security oriented and risk-averse, whereas the Ministry of Transportation has continued to speak of economic opportunities and business interests for port, railroad, and aviation companies in transporting large bulk, liquid, chemical, agricultural, general and container cargo, and post shipments.

On the same day as the Ministry of Foreign Affairs announced its decision to cease participation in "16+1", the Ministry of Transportation welcomed the PRC Ambassador<sup>257</sup>, reassuring him that "the Latvian transport and logistics sector can offer effective, economical and safe transport services and logistical solutions. Based on the bilateral Latvian-Chinese agreement on air and sea transport, as well as a rail transport agreement concluded between the two countries' ministries, entrepreneurs in both countries can engage in mutually advantageous cooperation".<sup>258</sup>

As for non-state actors, the business associations used to be a visible presence during the engagement phase of the Latvia-China relations, yet currently the hopes of businesses have moved on to other markets in East Asia, including South Korea, Japan, and India<sup>259</sup>.

#### The future of Latvian China policy

The hopes of businesses have moved on to other markets in East Asia After a short but intensive history of opportunity exploration (2012-2019), during which Latvia nonetheless placed emphasis on a joint EU position, and continued to side with its geopolitical security guarantor, the US, the country did not develop a comprehensive national China strategy, relying on a more decentralised approach of stakeholder consultations. Since the country has decided to disassociate itself from China-led formats in 2022, and to steer clear of all China-related engagement that could hold security implications, no China strategy is expected to be adopted in the nearest future.

Russia's war in Ukraine is likely to continue to dominate the national political foreign affairs focus throughout the next year(s). This has two implications for the Latvian China approach: First, the continuous emphasis on Transatlantic commitments as the cornerstone of national security and sovereignty will preclude the Latvian political establishment from exploring links with China given the state of US-China relations. Second, China's "pro-Russian neutrality"<sup>260</sup> may cause Latvian civil society to develop a sentiment of discontent towards China.

With the deterioration of the relations between the PRC and the West giving rise to a de-prioritisation of China in the Latvian foreign policy thinking, as well as due to the country's strong security alignment with the United States, Latvia is strategically expected to adopt an Indo-Pacific outlook rather than a China-centred one.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

According to official statements, Latvia continues to follow the "One China" policy.<sup>261</sup> With respect to Latvia's accomplishments and further work on national foreign policy and the European Union, the 2023 Annual Report of the Minister of Foreign Affairs does not mention the "One China" policy.

Since 1994, a Taipei Mission in the Republic of Latvia has been operational (downgraded from Consulate General, 1992-1994), which also covers Estonia.<sup>262</sup> Since Riga's regained independence, there have been several parliamentary visits to Taiwan and a joint Baltic visit to Taiwan for the Open Parliament Forum in November 2021 was hailed "historical".<sup>263</sup>

## Lithuania

High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties Lithuania

Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

#### Lithuania: How strategic is the review of the relationship?

**Konstantinas Andrijauskas**, Institute of International Relations and Political Science, Vilnius University

Lithuania's approach to China began to shift in 2019 but acquired strategic characteristics in late 2020 when the newly elected center-right government proclaimed its "values-based foreign policy" along with a radical review of this bilateral relationship as one of the main priorities. Subsequent decisions made in Vilnius, in particular, leaving the China–Central and Eastern European Countries (CEEC) format and opening the Taiwanese Representative Office, resulted in a real crisis of relations with Beijing. The Chinese government unilaterally downgraded bilateral diplomacy to the level of chargé d'affaires and initiated unique economic coercion measures that targeted Lithuania in global supply chains. Despite the review's close association with the current government, this policy direction does amount to Lithuania's de facto China strategy that has already produced results that would be hard to reverse.

#### The action: All in for "strategic diversification" away from autocratic countries

Lithuania's thinking and policies regarding China have been shaped by several factors that can be connected with different levels of analysis in its international outlook and foreign policy. On the global systemic level, Lithuanian decision makers have been increasingly aware of China's rise in general and its various manifestations in particular, the most significant being China's deepening strategic partnership with Russia, a country perceived as an existential security threat in Lithuania, and also China's growing strategic competition with the United States, Lithuania's main security provider.

On the regional sub-systemic level, Vilnius is concerned about China's challenge to European unity, prosperity and normative power. On the national level, Lithuania has recently emerged at the forefront of Chinese assertive foreign policy with some notable idiosyncrasies in economic and diplomatic domains. Finally, on the individual policy-making level, Lithuania's ongoing review of its relationship with China has been initiated by the current government and can be associated with several of its prominent members.

It is especially the latter observation that has a direct bearing on what can be considered Lithuania's de facto China strategy. Although there is no single, written, and public official document defining it, the ongoing review has indeed been driven by an approach that can be deemed strategic and rather clearly identified in at least three different sources, namely discourse of the key decision makers, references to China in official documents of significance, and practical domestic and foreign policies.

Accordingly, the framework for Vilnius' review of its relationship with Beijing was provided as early as mid-2020 in an op-ed co-authored by the country's future minister of foreign affairs, Gabrielius Landsbergis, and his prospective deputy, Mantas Adomėnas, who is widely considered to be the architect of Lithuania's turn to Taiwan. The authors' call for their country to decidedly choose between liberal democratic allies and a "totalitarian and predatory Chinese communist regime"<sup>264</sup> found its way into the new government's agenda, when their political party emerged victorious in general elections held in autumn that year.

Indeed, the new center-right government's official program approved in December 2020, besides "recognizing and acknowledging the growing global economic and political role

Lithuania has emerged at the forefront of Chinese assertive foreign policy of China, and while pursuing peaceful and mutually beneficial bilateral cooperation that is based on the international law," expressed explicit concern about China's "demonstration of its growing military and political aggression" as well as "growing and systematic scale of human rights violations."

To address this challenge, the program pledged to pursue "strategic diversification" from "autocratic countries," particularly in East Asia. Notably presented under the rubric of "Lithuania's defense frontline,"<sup>265</sup> this de facto strategy was further elaborated upon a year later, partly in reaction to a crisis in the bilateral relationship – caused by Vilnius' policy decision to radically review its China relationship and to deepen unofficial relations with Taiwan – and Beijing's subsequent multi-dimensional pressure campaign against the country.

Lithuania's National Security Strategy, updated in late 2021, for the first time added China to the list with Russia as the two main authoritarian actors that pose new challenges to Western democracies under the conditions of increased global unpredictability. The strategy specifically pointed out that Chinese "communist ideology" contradicts Lithuanian values and national interests, while also mentioning "economic and technological dependence" as Beijing's main tool to consolidate its position in Europe and elsewhere in the West.<sup>266</sup>

For diplomatic reasons, it is expected that Lithuania's assessment of China would be somewhat milder in the country's Indo-Pacific Strategy that is currently being prepared at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA). Apparently, the underlying ambitious goal would be to end or at least alleviate the abnormality in Lithuania's bilateral diplomatic relationship with China without, however, discarding any of the policy achievements, including in the country's unofficial ties with Taiwan.

Lithuania's bold Taiwan policy has been more controversial in Brussels On the policy implementation level, the current government has been remarkably consistent with such pledges. However, not all its key initiatives in this regard have been perfectly aligned with the EU's approach to China, despite the rhetoric of Lithuanian decision makers who are usually eager to claim otherwise. While Vilnius addressed the tacit charge of the China–CEEC format as being divisive for Europe very seriously and has effectively become a driver behind the framework's ongoing disintegration, its bold Taiwan policy has been more controversial in Brussels and among fellow national capitals. None have followed suit thus far, even though some voiced support for Lithuania, also because the Chinese pressure campaign in essence amounted to an attack against the EU's entire single market and normative credentials.

In a nutshell, this inconsistency partly derives from the EU's own ambiguity in its approach to China, as the current Lithuanian decision makers have basically focused on the "economic competitor" and "systemic rival" components of the EU's notorious 2019 trifecta.

#### The actors: Intelligence community and center-right politicians in the driver's seat

The above description of Lithuania's China strategy implied full responsibility for the ongoing review to the current government composed of a coalition between three center-right political parties. Therefore, despite the fact that Vilnius has been clearly changing its outlook on Beijing since at least 2019, the year when Lithuanian intelligence for the first time explicitly defined China as a threat to the country's national security and a nasty diplomatic incident caused by a pro-Beijing group's public confrontation with pro-Hong Kong protesters in Vilnius led to an incipient chill in bilateral relationship, it was the current government's foreign policy actors that faced domestic and even outside criticism for their policies, particularly at the height of the Chinese pressure campaign between late 2021 and early 2022.

One of the main accusations was that the MFA or rather a few politicians who recently occupied positions of authority there unilaterally decided to embark on this "values-based" course without properly consulting with any other relevant domestic actors or interest groups: the center-left political opposition that is usually more cautious in foreign policy,<sup>267</sup> representatives of the business community that would be most affected by the review,<sup>268</sup> and even the president<sup>269</sup> who as head of state is also responsible for foreign policy making, according to Lithuania's parliamentary constitution. Neither did this de facto China strategy fully mirror the then attitudes of the Lithuanian society at large.<sup>270</sup>

In essence, the review seems to have progressively evolved from the shifting outlook of the country's security and intelligence community as well as from an increasing number of (mostly center-right) politicians. As expected, many relevant domestic and notably multinational<sup>271</sup> economic stakeholders held critical views of this shift, even though they were not necessarily publicly vocal about it. While both the post-2020 Seimas (Lithuanian parliament) and the cabinet remain the main drivers of the policy in question, the center-left political opposition has been thus far unsuccessful in clearly affecting it, as their respective rhetoric has often suggested for the current government to do. No current principal foreign policy actor seems to have ever visited China

#### The capacity: First steps of policy coordination on China

As it can be grasped from the above, the topic of coherence is in many ways at the heart of understanding Lithuania's complex approach towards China. Judging from the key examples of discourse and documents on the matter, the current government does indeed perceive its Chinese counterpart through the perspective of an almost Manichaean struggle between democracy and authoritarianism. Such views appear to be informed by Lithuania's own tragic experience of Soviet communist occupation, genuine concern about China's increasingly assertive domestic and foreign policies, and more pragmatic calculations on the global balance of power, with varying degrees of each argument present among different decision makers.

Notably, none of the current principal foreign policy actors (president, foreign minister, prime minister, parliament speaker or chairs of foreign affairs and national security and defense committees at the Seimas) seem to have ever visited China, though some of them have been to Taiwan, including as recently as early 2023 in an official capacity.<sup>272</sup>

The above analysis also confirms the absence of an established China policy coordination mechanism in Lithuania. The closest initiative to such a framework on the all-of-government level was launched only in mid-January 2022 when President Gitanas Nausėda organized an ad hoc "meeting on the resilience of the Lithuanian economy"<sup>273</sup> that also included foreign minister Landsbergis and a couple of his colleagues in the cabinet, representatives of the opposition, and business leaders.

Prior to this event that aimed to tackle the crisis in the country's relationship with China, particularly its economic coercion, the head of the MFA presented his "de-escalation plan" requested by the president two weeks earlier. It was there and then that the government representatives made it clear that they would not back down in the dispute with Beijing, as their main measure for "de-escalation" actually amounted to addressing the matter of

Chinese undeclared and secondary sanctions to the World Trade Organization through the EU.<sup>274</sup>

As of early 2023, such tactics seem to have achieved certain success since China has been softening its economic statecraft measures without, however, making Lithuania reverse its decisions.<sup>275</sup> Apparently, Beijing's tacit change of course came from re-evaluation of the cost-benefit equation due to the relatively limited impact of measures placed upon Vilnius itself and also the surprisingly broad and steady, if only tactical, response by the collective West to these actions.

### The future: A return to the status quo ante in relations with China is hard to imagine

Although subtle changes in China's approach to Lithuania may have a lot to do with the need to prioritize other domestic and foreign challenges, from the perspective of Vilnius, several key issues remain. The first is the dilemma of how to normalize the official bilateral relationship with Beijing at least back to the ambassadorial level without sacrificing much awaited recent gains from deepening ties with Taipei.<sup>276</sup>

It is hard to imagine a return to the status quo ante The second challenge is to formulate an objective understanding of the Sino-Russian nexus during the latter's war against Ukraine, a topic that is bound to be prominent during the upcoming NATO Summit hosted by Vilnius in mid-2023. Lithuanian responses to both prior issues would depend a lot on the third and arguably underlying challenge, namely ensuring consistency and sustainability of the current government's approach to China, particularly considering the country's general elections expected in late 2024.

In other words, the decision makers in power today have a relatively small amount of time to show that their review of the relationship with the world's second largest economy and the most clear-cut emerging superpower was worthwhile on economic, political and security grounds. Despite continuing criticism by the political opposition, it is hard to imagine a return to the status quo ante in Lithuania's relations with China. Much in this regard would depend on the success of the country's strategic diversification in the Indo-Pacific, including the pivot to Taiwan.

## Netherlands

High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties

Netherlands

Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

## Netherlands: The securitization of China and protecting Dutch technology

#### Vera Kranenburg, Junior Research Fellow at the Clingendael China Centre

The Dutch government published a China policy paper in 2019, which was the first major China policy document since 2013. Between 2013 and 2019, 'China' has become an issue of public debate. The 2019 policy paper, the core tenet of which is "open where possible, protective where necessary," shows that certain parts of the relationship with China have become securitized. Since then, the balance between openness and protectiveness is shifting further towards "protection." More coordination across government on China exists today. New initiatives such as the China Knowledge Network, the Information and Contact Point for regional governments, the Contact Point for Knowledge Security and an investment screening law show that the Dutch approach to China continues to evolve. A major topic for future development of Dutch China policy is the role of technology.

#### The new Dutch approach: politicization and securitization of China

In 2018, the Dutch parliament requested the government to write a China strategy. As a result, the Dutch government published its new China policy paper in May 2019 entitled "Netherlands-China: a new balance." This title signals that the 'old balance' no longer fit reality.

The balance between open and protective is shifting towards the latter

The core strategic tenet of the 2019 China policy paper is: open where possible, protective where necessary. The 2013 and 2019 documents are similar on some issues, such as human rights. However, the differences are no less striking: China as a topic overall has become politicized,<sup>277</sup> and certain aspects of the relationship, like Chinese investments in Europe, have become securitized.<sup>278</sup> The 2013 policy paper explicitly stresses that the government seeks to attract a lot of Chinese investments,<sup>279</sup> whereas the 2019 paper states: "for the sake of our national security, the risks posed by Chinese activities in the Dutch economy, such as investments, will be identified, analyzed, and managed in a timely manner." The 2023 update of the paper, "a shift in the balance," reinforces this trend: the balance between open and protective is shifting towards the latter.<sup>280</sup> Parliament's reception of the 2019 policy paper was largely critical. A motion calling on the government to expand the chapter on human rights gained broad support. In response, the foreign minister sent a letter to parliament with a new section on human rights,<sup>281</sup> which underlines the politicization of 'China'.

Driving factors for the twin-trend of politicization and securitization are US-China rivalry<sup>282</sup> and concerns over economic and knowledge security.<sup>283</sup> The Netherlands is still open for business with China, but the Dutch government pays more attention to certain strategic sectors. In 2020 it stepped in twice to prevent a Chinese takeover of a Dutch company: shipbuilding company Royal IHC and high-tech company SmartPhotonics. Both possess interesting technology that the government did not want to fall into Chinese hands. An investment screening law<sup>284</sup> has come into effect in 2023, which should take away the need for the minister to directly intervene.

The Dutch approach aligns with the EU's, which is also explicitly stated in the first paragraph of the 2023 update of Dutch China policy. The Netherlands plays an active role in shaping China policy in Brussels, for example by taking initiative together with Germany and France on the creation of a European Indo-Pacific Strategy. China policy themes that the Netherlands wants to advance in the EU are:
- 1. resilience and open strategic autonomy, in particular the implementation of EU instruments and strategies,
- 2. engaging regional partners, in particular ASEAN,
- 3. coordination with the US,
- 4. EU-unity and solidarity,
- 5. economic relations between the EU and China.285

## The actors

## Parliament

China has become a topic the Dutch parliament is strongly engaged in. In 2022, "China" was named in 31 motions tabled in parliament, <sup>286</sup> of which 15 were specifically about China.<sup>287</sup> These motions were tabled by parliamentarians from 15 different political parties spanning the entire political spectrum. Striking is that this increased politicization of China does not lead to strong polarization over China: even the far-right, pro-Russia party FvD is very critical of China. Everyone is critical, but the focus differs. Often, progressives focus on human rights, conservatives focus on security.

Parliamentary motions on or related to China are predominantly focused on human rights or security issues. Key parliamentarians shaping the public debate on China are Sjoerd Sjoerdsma (D66, <sup>288</sup> social-liberal centrists) and Ruben Brekelmans (VVD, <sup>289</sup> conservative-liberals). Sjoerdsma is particularly focused on human rights in relation to China. He tabled a motion in February 2021 on qualifying Chinese policy in Xinjiang as "genocide." This motion was adopted by the Dutch parliament, the first parliament in the EU to do so. The Dutch cabinet did not recommend voting in favor of this motion because the criteria the Netherlands uses for classifying human rights abuses as genocide had not been met. Sjoerdsma was included in the Chinese sanctions list in March 2021. Another outspoken voice on China is Brekelmans, who is mainly focused on potential security challenges that China poses to the Netherlands or the EU.

A third parliamentarian who is particularly active on China within parliament is Tom van der Lee, member of the Green Party.<sup>290</sup> Before the government published its 2019 China policy paper, the Green Party published its own view on the Dutch relationship with China.<sup>291</sup> In 2022, van der Lee tabled a motion on postponing the Joint Economic Dialogue that the Dutch government was planning to hold with China until after a UN General Assembly meeting in September of that year. This motion was adopted. In a letter to parliament, the Minister for Foreign Trade and Development Cooperation wrote that the Joint Economic Dialogue would not take place until ample time had passed after the UNGA.<sup>292</sup>

## Prime Minister Mark Rutte

A prominent issue is export restrictions on Dutch company ASML, which has a monopoly on the most high-end semiconductor manufacturing equipment, EUV (Extreme Ultraviolet). As a result of US pressure, the Dutch government never granted an export license for ASML's EUV machine to China after it was requested in 2019.

In October 2022, the US decided to expand export controls on semiconductor manufacturing equipment for US companies selling to and operating in China, and has been in negotiations with the Dutch and Japanese governments to do the same. On March 8, 2023, the Dutch Minister for International Trade and Development Cooperation sent a letter to Progressives focus on human rights, conservatives focus on security parliament announcing additional export control measures on the most advanced DUV (Deep Ultraviolet) immersion lithography and deposition.<sup>293</sup>

When China-related issues enter the domain of great power politics, Dutch prime minister Mark Rutte also plays an important role. The US tried to bring the issue of semiconductor equipment export controls to the EU-US Trade and Technology Council (where the European Commission meets US government), but this did not fly because national security is a national competency. The Dutch government did not raise the issue within the European Council, and Rutte himself visited Washington where negotiations took place (as he did in 2019 when potential EUV export control was on the agenda).

## Business and Industry

Dutch business and industry are concerned with their ability to continue trade with China. Dutch businesses, ranging from major corporations to small enterprises, have investments in China and benefit from Chinese exports. Shortly before the publication of the government's China policy paper in 2019, the Dutch industry association for tech companies FME published its own China strategy emphasizing that opportunities of working with China need to be the guiding part of China policy, but that some attention for security risks is also needed.<sup>294</sup>

The Dutch government has several China policy coordination mechanisms in place Although there are industries that see China mainly as a competitor, such as the dredging industry, many others benefit from trade with China. A major company is ASML, whose CEO has publicly stated that more export restrictions for its semiconductor manufacturing equipment to China will lead to a larger chip shortage, which will hurt everyone. A group of high-tech companies (particularly quantum and photonics companies) warned in late 2022 that the new Dutch investment screening law had the potential to hurt their sector because it is more stringent than similar laws in other European states.<sup>295</sup> They voiced concern over not being able to receive Chinese investments, and the risk that these investments would go to other European companies.

#### China capacity within government

Creating the 2019 China policy paper has resulted in more coordination across national government bodies in their approach to China policymaking, more China capacity in those bodies and more outreach to subnational and civil society actors.

#### Government coordination

Regarding the first, the Dutch government has several China policy coordination mechanisms in place, which have been expanded and solidified since 2019. There is an internal China policy coordination mechanism within the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, called *Departementale China Werkgroep*. The policy coordination mechanism that includes all different ministries is called *Interdepartementaal Chinaberaad*. Both of these mechanisms are preparatory, and their work leads to policy decision making in the *Directeurenoverleg China*, where higher ranked civil servants meet. This takes place every 2-3 months and includes all ministries but also specialized agencies (for example the Dutch Enterprise Agency and the National Coordinator for Terrorism and Security) as well as the Dutch Embassy in Beijing.<sup>296</sup>

Starting in December 2022, a taskforce on strategic dependencies will convene once a month, to which all ministries are invited to join. Also in December 2022, several ministers sent the Dutch strategy for critical raw materials to parliament. Both the taskforce and

this strategy take a country-agnostic approach, but in large part deal with China. On the ministerial level, the previous cabinet established a ministerial commission (temporary) on economic security. The current cabinet has a sub-council of ministers (permanent) on Defense, International, National and Economic Security. They are coordination mechanisms for ministers to discuss economic security, including in relation to China.

#### Knowledge network

The 2019 paper also noted that the level of knowledge needed for different parts of the government to adequately deal with China was insufficient. Therefore, additional China and China-related positions were created, in particular at the Foreign Ministry, Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate and Ministry of Education, Culture and Science. Over the past few years, the intelligence services have also put more focus on China, for example in their reports<sup>297</sup> and by expanding China-related positions.

The 2019 China policy paper has also led to the establishment of the Dutch China Knowledge Network (CKN).<sup>298</sup> CKN aims to bridge the gap between experts with "China knowledge," spread out across universities and knowledge institutions, and civil servants from different ministries looking for knowledge and information. Bridging this gap is done through funding research projects, networking events, courses and in-depth conversations with experts. As a result, there are around 20 research reports available that answer questions particular ministries were asking, ranging from *China's influence on the Netherlands' future maritime logistics hub function* to *China's economic and political role in the Caribbean and Central America* to *Chinese Influence and Networks among Firms and Business Elites in the Netherlands.* 

## Government outreach

Since 2021, Dutch regional governments, such as municipalities and provinces, can go to the Information and Contact Point,<sup>299</sup> set up at the request of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs at the Dutch Enterprise Agency, for questions on China. Examples are Chinese requests for economic or business visits, potential twin-city agreements or MoUs with Chinese organizations. The Information and Contact Point also shares information on the national government's China policy and relevant developments or research with regional governments and local and regional development organizations.

In 2022, the Dutch government established the National Contact Point for Knowledge Security. This Contact Point is a collaborative effort between different ministries, where anyone with a connection to a knowledge institution (such as a university) can ask questions on the risks and opportunities of particular international cooperation the institution is, or wishes to be, engaged in. This Contact Point takes a country-agnostic approach. After one year, the Contact Point received 148 questions, of which 52 were about cooperation with partners in China.<sup>300</sup> After receiving a question, the Contact Point reaches out to the relevant people within the government in order to answer it. The Contact Point provides information and non-binding advice to the questioner.

## **Future China challenges**

#### Technology

Technology plays a considerable role in the Sino-Dutch relationship and in navigating increased US-China rivalry. The 2020 government intervention to avoid a Chinese takeover In 2022, the Dutch government established the National Contact Point for Knowledge Security of SmartPhotonics and the prominent issue of ASML and export controls described above already underline the importance of technology.

Discussion on Chinese technology in the Netherlands is ongoing In 2023, the implementation of the investment screening law will start. The Minister of Economic Affairs and Climate informed parliament in late 2022<sup>301</sup> that when the new law comes into effect, the ministry will investigate whether the acquisition of chip startup Nowi by Nexperia (a Chinese-owned Dutch chipmaker)<sup>302</sup> falls within the scope of the new law and can be screened.

The issue of technology is not only relevant when cutting-edge Dutch companies are involved, discussion on the use of Chinese technology in the Netherlands is also ongoing, and has previously included Huawei 5G tech,<sup>303</sup> Chinese cameras in Dutch trains,<sup>304</sup> Chinese scanners at (air)ports<sup>305</sup> and the usage of TikTok on government smartphones.<sup>306</sup>

#### Influence

A second issue that will continue to gain prominence in the Dutch public debate is that of unwanted Chinese influence. Confucius Institutes, a Chinese-funded human rights center at the Free University of Amsterdam and two illegal Chinese police stations are examples from the past few years that have sparked debate. According to the Dutch Foreign Ministry, the police stations are closed.<sup>307</sup> The Free University of Amsterdam has closed the human rights center.<sup>308</sup> Investment by COSCO in the Port of Hamburg inspired some public attention for COSCO investments in the Port of Rotterdam.

## Spotlight on Taiwan

The potential for conflict in the Taiwan Strait has gained increased attention in the Netherlands, particularly since the visit by US speaker of the House of Representatives Nancy Pelosi in summer 2022 and Chinese military drills conducted in response to this visit. Debate on what role the Netherlands plays when it comes to including Taiwan in multilateral forums, and what the role of Europe should be in the case of escalating tensions in the Taiwan Strait continue in the media,<sup>309</sup> in parliament<sup>310</sup> and in government.

The Netherlands has a one-China policy. It has diplomatic relations with the People's Republic of China, not with the Republic of China (Taiwan). The Netherlands does have trade and cultural relations with Taiwan that are promoted via the Netherlands Office in Taipei. In 2020, the Office changed its name from "Netherlands Trade and Investment Office" which received criticism from the Chinese Embassy in The Hague and the PRC's Foreign Ministry spokesperson.<sup>311</sup> Out of all European countries, the Netherlands is the largest investor in Taiwan.<sup>312</sup> The Dutch Foreign Ministry's recent China policy update (January 2023) states that "the cabinet disapproves of violence and intimidation as well as unilateral steps to change the status quo."





# Norway: Between engagement and caution

Hans Jørgen Gåsemyr, Senior Researcher, Norwegian Institute for International Affairs (NUPI)

Norway's overall China policy seeks to combine engagement and caution, wanting to collaborate while also protecting national security and the international status of liberal norms. Lacking an updated, comprehensive China strategy, the main features of the policy are shaped by ministries and other stakeholders working in various policy fields. Information sharing and coordination across the government, concerning China-related issues, are certainly increasing, but it is difficult to assess the effects or get a full picture of what Norway is aiming to achieve in relation to China.

## The main China policy features

Having established diplomatic relations in 1954, the Norway-China relationship has since followed largely stable paths, with interactions continuing to increase following China's opening up in the late 1970's. There are two notable exceptions to this stability track: first, in 1989, when Norway joined the international sanctions regime against China, in connection to the brutal dissolution of the demonstrations in Beijing that summer; and second, in 2010, when China launched a political boycott of Norway after the Norwegian Nobel Committee awarded Liu Xiaobo the peace prize.

The Norwegian government issued a China strategy back in 2007

China never accepted the non-governmental status of the Committee or the prize, and the boycott lasted for six years, ending in a joint statement, in which the Norwegian government reiterated respect for "China's core interests", and the normalization of bilateral relations, in late 2016. Norway has since remained a relatively stable corner in China's Europe-diplomacy puzzle and economic relations have expanded substantially over the last decade.<sup>313</sup>

Three overarching issues and goals have, for many years, continued to steer Norwegian China-policy:

- 1. promoting business opportunities alongside China's economic growth,
- strengthening cooperation around climate and sustainability issues alongside China's expanding environmental footprint,
- 3. engaging and challenging China in multilateral settings alongside its increasing influence, including on human rights issues where the countries have diverging views.

These issues featured prominently in the China strategy which the Norwegian government issued back in 2007, and they remain on top of the agenda still, although national security and liberal norms protection issues have gained considerably more attention in recent years.<sup>314</sup> The lack of an updated and comprehensive China strategy remains subject of some debate, which is indicative of the many dilemmas and complex interests that many European countries face – internally and externally – when trying to formulate functional China policies.

The current coalition government, consisting of the Labour party and the Centre party, articulated one line about China in their political platform document from 2021: "Collaborate with China, following a Nordic and European line, about joint interests, and stand up for Norwegian societal values and international human rights". Hence Norway is clearly aiming to align with other European countries and the EU on China policies. As a close associate – but not a member – of the EU, Norway does join many EU initiatives, like endorsing sanctions and human rights statements concerning China, but remains excluded, still, from key EU policy discussion and decision making.

Albeit not an obvious feature of Norway's China policy per se, it is worth mentioning that Chinese interests in the Arctic have garnered increasing attention in recent years. Welcomed, enthusiastically by Norway too, as a permanent observer to the Arctic Council in 2013, China's longer-term interests in the region have become subject to more debate, exacerbated, in part, by increased scrutiny from the US, and the strengthening of Russia-China relations.

With Norway serving as Chair of the Artic Council, for the next two years from May 2023, Norwegian diplomats will face enhanced attention concerning how they manage Council affairs, which are already complicated by boycotts and sanctions against Russia in relation to the invasion of Ukraine. Some Chinese representatives have questioned the legitimacy of a council functioning without proper Russian participation, but it remains to be seen how China will respond to new initiatives, all the while Russia remains blocked from regular, political interaction with the other Council members.<sup>315</sup>

Chinese interests in the Arctic have garnered increasing attention

## The main actors and coordination mechanisms

Overall, there is more discussion about China now, both within government, in the media and among actors in business and academia, than what was the case a few years ago. In the political domain and in the parliament (Storting), foreign policy is characterized by relative consensus, and debate and coordination within the Storting's foreign affairs and defense committee are well respected. However, some parties and politicians are known for stronger advocacy around certain issues, which is the case concerning China policy too. In particular, the Liberal party and the Green party frequently raise critical or principled questions concerning China, typically calling for stronger criticism of China in relation to developments in Xinjiang and Hong Kong and support for Taiwan. They are at times joined by members of the Progress party and individual politicians from other parties.

On the government side, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs is in charge of coordinating foreign policy. It conducts annual bilateral discussions with its Chinese counterpart, covering a broader set of issues, through a consultation mechanism that the two sides initiated in 2016. However, China-related issues cross into the responsibilities of multiple ministries. The Ministry of Justice and Public Security and its associated directorates and services are playing increasingly notable roles overseeing changes in the fields of national security and intelligence, some of which responsibilities are shared with the Ministry of Defence. The latter also maintains military relations, which include funding and staffing a defense attaché position at the embassy in Beijing.

The Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries is responsible for most business areas and is the majority owner of Innovation Norway, the government business promotion company, which is represented at the embassy and consulates in China. Moreover, the ministry is leading the uncompleted negotiations for a Norway-China free trade agreement. The negotiations have stretched over several years, but lost pace in 2021, when EU's investment deal with China was shelved, and is now being halted indefinitely (by the Norwegian side), in part, because, of the war in Ukraine and changes in the international security situation.<sup>316</sup>

Norway has for several years been promoting stronger knowledge cooperation with China, for which the Ministry of Education and Research, and associated directorates, foot relevant policies, programs, and funding schemes. The ministry funds and staffs a research attaché position at the Beijing embassy. Finally, the Ministry of Climate and Environment is responsible for climate and environmental cooperation, which is also the key focus of the official development aid that Norway still grants to China. The ministry has an attaché position at the embassy in Beijing. Other ministries are responsible for activities in their respective areas but have fewer resources for working on China specifically.

Government coordination is maintained through several interdepartmental groups – for overall China policy and for various policy issues for which China is becoming increasingly important. Coordination and information sharing across state institutions have definitely increased in recent years, with the initiation of several forums, roundtables and working groups, but it is difficult to assess the effect of this. Some actors are complaining about what they consider to be inconsistent, or even contradicting, government messaging concerning China, in academia, for instance, where actors are asked to strengthen knowledge cooperation, by one ministry, while being cautioned about the possible risks of partnering with Chinese institutions, by another.

Navigating between major power interests and rivalry will remain a challenge

Similar confusion is voiced in commercial arenas, where entrepreneurs and investors sense increasing uncertainty related to the direction of investment and trade regulation, especially when dealing with critical infrastructure and knowledge- or technology intensive products. Companies and business associations are active promoting their commercial interests, but the recognition of changing conditions for international economic interaction, amid enhanced major power competition and rivalry, seems to be widely shared too. Illustratively, the general secretary of NATO was invited as keynote speaker to the annual meeting of the Confederation of Norwegian Enterprise in January 2023.<sup>317</sup>

#### Three main questions

Alongside China's economic growth and enhanced international position, Norway faces policy dilemmas that are shared by many European, liberal democracies. The overall Norwegian China policy seeks to maintain collaborative engagement, while coming to terms with the challenges and risks that a stronger or growing China may pose to national security and the status of liberal norms internationally. Navigating between major power interests and rivalry will remain an overall challenge. Moreover, looking into the immediate future, three questions are set to beg further discussion.

Firstly, the Norwegian government will have to justify the lack of an updated and comprehensive China strategy, should they still choose not to make one. Not having issues framed around a strategy does provide some flexibility, but it also adds confusion and recurring noise when actors are faced with apparently contradicting government incentives. Articulating the complexity of interests involved in responding to China as a global economic and political actor may help some actors better understand the multifaceted issues and interests involved. Doing so may not necessitate the formulation of a formal strategy, but it calls for a clearer and more elaborate expression of government goals and measures. As it is now, the government says rather little, in any comprehensive shape or form, about China.

Secondly, Norway's status as a member of NATO and close US-ally, but a non-member of the EU, is bound to garner more discussion as both NATO and EU will develop more active China-policies. Although Norway maintains a close association to the EU, it is shut

out from meetings, discussions and decisions in policy areas that are becoming increasingly engrained in key foreign policy- and security-related debates. The better the EU gets at coordinating its China policies, the higher the costs of remaining on the outside of the EU (member-based) fellowship may become. Although Nordic collaboration may remain strong and even strengthen, any effective, joint European policies towards China will have to go through the EU.

Thirdly, Norway is still in the process of negotiating a free trade agreement with China. Although new rounds of negotiations are currently stalled, with Norway assessing the international security situation, questions concerning the potential completion of a trade deal will not go away. Landing a decision regarding whether to move forward, keep stalling or cancel the entire process, will remain a dilemma for a government that wants to both collaborate and engage, while simultaneously caution against getting too close or dependent on China.

## Spotlight on Taiwan

Norway maintains a steady one-China policy, having recognized Beijing and the People's Republic of China as the appropriate government of China in 1950, with diplomatic relations established in 1954, and not having made any substantive changes in its relations to Taiwan in recent years.

Direct points of Norway-Taiwan interaction remain relatively limited, although trade has increased for several years. The Norwegian business representation office in Taiwan was closed in 2002, due to limited activities, and Taiwan closed its Taipei representative office in Oslo in 2017, reasoned by efficiency concerns regarding its overall representation in the region.

Norwegian interests concerning Taiwan are in principle handled by the embassy in Singapore. Some Norwegian parties and politicians continue to advocate for strengthening relations and offering support to Taiwanese interests, but this has not resulted in any substantive changes to the overall Norwegian policies.





Focus on

deepening

economic ties

Poland

Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

# **Poland: Fading hopes for cooperation with China**

**Justyna Szczudlik**, Head of Asia-Pacific Programme, Polish Institute of International Affairs (PISM)

After a period of enthusiasm and hope for closer ties with the PRC, perceived as a political and economic opportunity, Poland's perception of China is gradually turning negative. China's endorsement of Russia after its invasion of Ukraine accelerated growth of Poland's distrust of China. Despite declarations by Poland's authorities that the country is interested in cooperation with the PRC, the prospects are rather murky.

## The action: A hardening approach to China

Over the last 15 years, there have been two main objectives of Poland's policy towards China. The first and most important was economic rationale. China, as a huge and lucrative market, was seen as an opportunity to increase exports and reduce the ever-growing trade deficit on the Polish side. In short, Poland tried to convince China to remove non-tariff barriers and gain better market access, mainly for Polish food and agricultural products such as meat, milk, apples, etc.

The second was a political goal - to strengthen cooperation with China as an ascending global power. The idea was that Poland could not afford to have only very loose ties with the PRC as its international role grew. Intense relations with China were seen as one of the leverages for strengthening Poland's position in the EU and globally. Since 2017, however, a modification of Poland's approach to China is noticeable.

The economic-related aim remains unchanged. Poland still hopes to reduce its trade deficit and signals its willingness to cooperate with China. However, recent economic and political developments in China, such as the process of China closing up during Covid, the announcement of the "dual circulation" concept and increasing PRC global assertiveness, have affected Poland's perception of China. Moreover, the lack of tangible results of economic cooperation (also under 16/17/14+1 format) and unfulfilled Chinese economic promises have made Poland cautious about the PRC as a potential economic and political partner. A good example of this vigilance is the new Chinese proposal, presented in mid-2021, to build a wholesale market for Polish agricultural products, which was met with a lukewarm response from the Polish side.

Polish political attitudes toward China have been changing for years and can be depicted as an incremental transformation from enthusiasm (2008-2016) to increasing vigilance (since 2017). The first signs of change were noticeable in 2017. There were two main rationales behind it. The first was the lessons learned from China's high-tech and critical infrastructure ambitions revealed in the "Made in China 2025" document and examples of Chinese high-tech acquisitions in the US and Europe.

As a result, Poland has modified its position towards Chinese investments. This change can be summarized as keeping control over Chinese investors and not to give them a free hand in doing business in the country. The second reason was related to China's deepening ties with Russia, a country that is seen in Poland as the most serious security threat. This perception of Russia by Poland predates the Russian occupation of Donbas and Crimea. For years, Poland had raised its concerns about China's deepening cooperation with Russia and conveyed these messages to their Chinese counterparts. However,

For years, Poland had raised concerns about deepening China-Russia cooperation in 2017, China and Russia conducted their first joint naval exercises in the Baltic Sea. Moreover, China attempted to add Russia to the selected lower-level gatherings within the (then) "16+1" without consulting or even informing other participants.

Since 2017, Poland's approach to China has been cautious, but this does not mean that China is seen as a serious challenge or threat. The thinking in Poland was that the country should keep open channels with China and that shallow economic ties would not expose Poland to potential coercion. In the following years, new factors determined the change in Poland's approach to China. The first was the global debate – initiated by the US – about the market restrictions for Chinese 5G companies.

Although Poland is still working on amending the country's cyber security law, it seems that Chinese 5G providers are de facto banned from entering the Polish market. The 5G standard is considered critical infrastructure and Poland enforces its rights to exclude selected companies on security grounds. The second factor was China's unprecedented coercion against Lithuania following the opening of a Taiwanese (not "Taipei") representative office in Vilnius. And the third factor was China's support for Russia prior to (a joint statement by the two countries unveiled on 4 February 2022) and after its invasion of Ukraine.

Despite announcements signaled several times by the MFA, there is no Polish strategy on China. China is barely mentioned in "Poland's Foreign Policy Strategy 2017-2021" as a partner for infrastructural projects.<sup>318</sup> A new comprehensive document on Polish diplomatic directions has not yet been published.

There is no Polish strategy on China As far as Poland's activities at the EU level regarding cooperation with China are concerned, the country is part of the mainstream, which means that it supports all initiatives related to China, such as equipping the Union with a wide range of defensive mechanisms and tools. Nevertheless, Poland is not active in proposing new EU-wide mechanisms or solutions relating to China.

#### The actors: Inter-party consensus on China

The ruling party (or coalition) is the main driver shaping Poland's China policy. There seems to be a political consensus when it comes to the country's stance on China. A good example was the change of government after the 2015 elections – from the centre-left Civic Platform to the right-wing Law and Justice Party. The previous cabinet had been revitalizing relations with China (since 2008), which resulted in the elevation of bilateral ties to "strategic partnership" in late 2011 during the visit of Polish President Bronislaw Komorowski to China. The new government continued this approach. In November 2015, the newly elected President representing Law and Justice, Andrzej Duda paid an official visit to China reaffirming the policy of his predecessor. This was followed by Xi Jinping's visit to Poland in June 2016, during which bilateral ties were upgraded to a "comprehensive strategic partnership". Then, when the ruling party began to modify its policy towards China in 2017, there was no criticism from the opposition.

The influence of the business community and lobby groups on the Polish approach to China does not seem to be very indicative. For years, it was the government and its agencies that encouraged Polish entrepreneurs to consider doing business with China. Since the Polish economy is based on small and medium enterprises that are oriented towards the European market, they have not been willing to leave their "comfort zone" and go to a distant and unknown country with a different culture. There are, however, examples of some fairly large Polish companies already present in or working with China – like the Polish Airline LOT or the copper producer KGHM (Copper sales to China account for around 10-15 per cent of the company's sales revenue) – lobbying or seeking governmental assistance for problems in doing business in China. There were examples of groups from the agriculture sector pressuring the government not to ban Huawei from the Polish market as they were concerned about the possibility of retaliation from China. While other business groups have raised concerns regarding the economic cost of banning Huawei.

There is also a group of experts on China in both public and private think tanks and universities, as well as journalists specializing in China and Asian affairs. They are – from time to time – asked to provide suggestions and recommendations, but the real impact on state policy towards China is impossible to assess and measure.

## **Enhanced coordination**

Despite the lack of national strategy on China, there is a coordination mechanism that aims to improve the coherence of the country's approach to the PRC. In December 2012, a year after upgrading bilateral ties to the strategic partnership level, then Prime Minister Donald Tusk appointed a governmental body, the Inter-Ministerial Team for the Coordination of Activities for the Development of the Strategic Partnership between the Republic of Poland and the People's Republic of China. Although the new Law and Justice government has made some changes, these are minor and mostly concern the renaming of the ministries that participate in this body.<sup>319</sup> The team was assigned the following main tasks:

- to formulate recommendations in order to improve the coordination of the activities of governmental administrative bodies
- to ensure ongoing exchanges of information between governmental administrative bodies
- to devise conclusions and recommendations on the directions of development of the comprehensive strategic partnership of the Republic of Poland with the People's Republic of China

The team is headed by a secretary or undersecretary of state in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The deputy head is a representative, at the rank of Secretary of State or Undersecretary of State, designated by the minister responsible for economic affairs. Members of the team are the Polish ambassador to China, Secretary of State or Undersecretary of State of the Prime Minister's Office and various ministries. The team meets at least twice a year. Usually, the MFA publicly announces the meeting of the team and presents the overall top-ics of discussion. Nevertheless, the conclusions of the meetings are not publicly available.

The team is an active body. For the last two to three years, its role has been rising due to growing problems in cooperating with China, especially since Russia's invasion of Ukraine. The latter event in particular has led to an increased demand among state administration institutions for better coordination of Poland's policy towards China.

A coordination mechanism aims to improve the coherence Warsaw's approach to China

## **Challenges ahead**

One of the most important challenges for Polish China policy is how to cooperate with Beijing in the face of growing China-Russia alignment. Russia's full-scale invasion of Ukraine has entirely changed the security landscape in Europe. China's support for Russia has seriously weakened Poland's perception of China. Although Poland maintains a political dialogue with China and does not officially criticize China for its cooperation with Russia, the growing distrust is noticeable.

During the third meeting of the Poland-China Intergovernmental Committee (10 June 2022) the Polish Minister of Foreign Affairs Zbigniew Rau presented Chinese Foreign Minister Wang Yi with Poland's position on Russia's aggression against Ukraine and that the war has changed the world's security in an unprecedented way. The minister appealed China to condemn in the strongest terms the Russian invasion of Ukraine<sup>320</sup>.

A very similar message was conveyed by President Duda in a telephone conversation with Xi Jinping (29 July 2022). The conversation referred largely to the consequences of Russia's aggression against Ukraine. The Polish president mentioned that the adverse impact of the war started by Russia might be felt by China too, in terms of the food crisis triggered by Russia<sup>321</sup>.

Recently, during the visit to Poland of the Chinese special envoy for Eurasian Affiars, Li Hui, Polish deputy minister fo foreing affairs Wojciech Gerwel said that Poland notes with concern Beijing's declarations concerning its persistent will to strengthen its bilateral relations with Russia, the aggressor state. He expressed the hope that China will condemn Russia's aggression, and exert pressure on Russia to return to compliance with the principles of international law. Poland support President Zelensky's peace plan as the basis for resolving the conflict<sup>322</sup>.

A second challenge for Poland could be a smooth continuation of strengthening cooperation with Taiwan. Poland has been deepening ties with Taiwan for several years. However, this process has been unspectacular in the sense that Poland avoids megaphone diplomacy with regard to Taiwan. However, Taiwan's recently growing importance in the world and, at the same time, China's anger at Taipei's growing international standing may expose Poland's low-profile Taiwan-friendly approach to Beijing's coercion. As a result, Poland may find it difficult to maintain dynamic cooperation with Taiwan.

The third challenge for Poland's policy towards China is in the economic domain. The deepening distrust of China, including its economic troubles, puts a big question mark over the realization of Poland's economic cooperation goals, such as greater market access and expanding Polish exports to China.

## Conclusions: China's stance on Russia casts a shadow on relations with Poland

Poland's perception of China is gradually turning negative Since the chapter on Poland-China relations in the first ETNC (2015) report on European countries' bilateral ties with China, a rather significant change in Poland's perception and approach towards Beijing has occurred. After a period of enthusiasm and hope for closer ties with the PRC, perceived as a political and economic opportunity, Poland's perception of China is gradually turning negative.

There is a growing distrust of China, which is increasingly seen as a challenge and even a potential threat. For Poland, a decisive moment was China's decision to maintain its support for Russia since its invasion of Ukraine. China's pro-Russian stance casts a serious shadow on Poland-China relations. Without a significant change of China's position on Russia's aggression, the prospects of Poland-China relations are rather gloomy.

## Spotlight on Taiwan

Poland has been strengthening ties with Taiwan for years, arguing that it has the right to do so, in line with its "One China Policy". In 2016, after almost 20 years of talks, Poland and Taiwan signed a double taxation avoidance agreement. In 2018, Poland changed the name of its office in Taiwan from Warsaw Trade Office to Polish Office in Taipei and opened an office of the Polish Investment and Trade Agency in Taipei.

In June 2019, Poland and Taiwan signed a bilateral agreement on legal cooperation in criminal matters, which then became law in early 2021. The agreement covers mutual legal assistance, extradition, transfer of convicted persons and exchange of information. This is the first such agreement that Taiwan has signed with a European country.

During the pandemic, Poland also assisted Taiwanese students to return home by co-organizing direct flights from Warsaw to Taipei via Polish airline LOT. In September 2021, Poland donated 400,000 doses of the AstraZeneca vaccine to Taiwan. In May 2022, Polish Deputy Minister of Economic Development and Technology Grzegorz Piechowiak visited Taiwan for a four-day visit. In September, the two sides signed an MoU on the establishment of a Taiwan-Poland working group to promote cooperation in semiconductors.

In December 2022, an eight-member delegation of Polish lawmakers arrived in Taiwan for a five-day visit to strengthen bilateral parliamentary exchanges.



High political relevance

Focus on

derisking

economic ties

Focus on deepening economic ties

Portugal

Low political relevance

# Portugal: A piecemeal, pragmatic, reactive but fruitful approach to China

## Carlos Rodrigues, Associate Professor,

Department of Social, Political and Territorial Sciences, University of Aveiro

Portugal lacks a national China strategy. It also lacks the strategic thinking capacity that could underpin any China-directed "unofficial" strategy. Actually, this absence has been a constant since the establishment of diplomatic relations between the two countries, in 1979, perhaps with the exception of the long, but smooth, negotiation process that, in 1999, would culminate in Macau's handover to China. Nevertheless, despite lacking strategic support, Portugal was able to develop close and stable relations with China, a state of affairs largely consensual and profusely diffused by public and private actors. In fact, there is plenty of evidence revealing that the piecemeal, pragmatic, and often reactive approach adopted by Portugal has proved successful in the last four decades.

#### The action: Portuguese policymakers see no use in developing a China strategy

The increased confrontational logic brought over by a changing international geopolitical environment, as expected, has disturbed the positive continuum marking the history of bilateral relations between Portugal and China. Although very far from any dramatic evolution, it would seem inevitable that Portugal's commitment to the European Union and NATO will place its relationship with China under a certain degree of strain. This argument finds ground in two intertwined facets: official visits, on the one hand, and official discourse, on the other hand.

As has been argued elsewhere<sup>323</sup> the rather enthusiastic and buzzing atmosphere (e.g., around the Belt and Road Initiative), after the early stages of the fight against the Covid-19 pandemic, was replaced by a primarily "silent mode" (e.g., although China was at the heart of the political debate in the EU, it was kept out of the strategic program of the Portuguese Presidency of the EU Council, in the first semester of 2021). Still, there is sound evidence showing that Portugal remains keen on maintaining close and friendly ties with China. This has become clear in recent public remarks by government officers, including Portuguese Prime Minister António Costa who, in the last ministerial meeting of the Forum Macau<sup>324</sup> in April 2022 called for increased cooperation between China and Portugal and other Portuguese-speaking countries<sup>325</sup>. He also highlighted the role of the Forum in promoting the "friendship between China and Portugal".

Portugal, on its own, strives to avoid any sort of confrontation with China. This stance is acknowledged by the Chinese authorities. The former head of Beijing diplomacy, Wang Yi, stated in September 2022 during a meeting with his Portuguese counterpart on the sidelines of the UN General Assembly,: The "China-Portugal relationship has stood the test of the international landscape changes and achieved sound development on the basis of mutual understanding and mutual trust" and "Portugal, as an important EU member, has been playing a positive and constructive role in China-EU exchanges"<sup>326</sup>. The Chinese ambassador to Lisbon, Zhao Bentang, corroborates, by categorizing the "friendly relations (...) and the pragmatic multidimensional cooperation between Portugal and China" as a "great example for China-Europe cooperation"<sup>327</sup>.

Nevertheless, in general terms, Portugal is aligned with the international, and China- specific, positioning of both the EU institutions and NATO. Still, Portuguese policy makers have Portugal remains keen on maintaining close and friendly ties with China expressed "conceptual" doubts related to the rationale behind China's designation as a "systemic challenge" by NATO (quoting Gomes Cravinho, the Portuguese Minister for Foreign Affairs: "We don't have a border with China, so it's a completely different context"<sup>328</sup>). There are also signals of some resistance to measures that potentially could harm Portugal's economic relations with China. For instance, when the screening mechanism for investments from non-EU countries was approved by the European Parliament in February 2019, António Costa, the Portuguese Prime-Minister, said: "It is one thing to use screening to protect strategic sectors, it is another to use it to open the door to protectionism". He added, "Our experience with Chinese investment has been very positive". The Chinese had shown "complete respect for our legal framework and the rules of the market"<sup>329</sup>.

Getting along well even with difficult partners is one of the main pillars of the philosophy that has guided Portuguese foreign policy since the 1974 revolution. Its guiding principles are anchored in the country's imperial past. Portugal firmly adheres to multilateralism and an inherently "universalistic" stance in the world order<sup>330</sup>.

The prevalence of this frame of reference in the present was confirmed, early this year, by Gomes Cravinho: "Diplomacy cannot only serve to deepen relations with those with whom we have no difficulties in terms of values and interests. In a period of tectonic movements in international life, it matters above all that diplomacy is mobilized to detect and smooth out the deep cleavages that are characteristic of these times"<sup>331</sup>.

Policymakers have expressed doubts about NATO's designation of China as a systemic challenge

In Portugal, there are no China-related comprehensive strategies that could guide individual actors, neither in the public nor in the private realm. In certain specific sectors strategic concepts of dealing with China do exist within certain limits: For instance, the Golden Visa policy designed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in 2012 (and suspended in April 2023) has targeted Chinese citizens since its inception (although the policy was not only aimed at China).

Other examples are the alliances made by Altice, the largest telecommunications service provider in Portugal, with Huawei in the field of 5G technology development or the strategies built up by some Portuguese higher education institutions to attract Chinese students and foster research partnerships with Chinese universities.

#### The actors: Business and culture rather than politics

The overall expectations, judgements, activities and debate concerning Portugal-China relations are prevalently centered on the business and cultural facets rather than politics. An intricate mix of economic interests, historical narratives, and cultural connections put any potentially hindering differences on the back burner. This mix has shaped Portugal's official positioning towards China for decades. There is a broad consensus in Portuguese society on keeping good relations with China, which, in the end, makes any lobbying and other attempts to influence political decisions quite redundant, at least at the macro level. The Portuguese business community, organized in a variety of associations (e.g., the Portugal-China Chamber of Commerce and Industry, the Portugal-China Young Entrepreneurs Association, or the Portugal-China Chamber of Commerce for SMEs) is quite active in promoting contacts with China. Meanwhile, the Greater Bay Area development project, in which Macao is meant to play a significant role, has raised heightened interest and led to the appearance of new actors in the field, such as, for instance, PORCHAM-Greater China. This business organization has recently established a partnership with China's National

Development and Reform Commission to create the China-Portugal Center for Investment and Trade International Cooperation.

A significant number of cultural events, from the celebration of festive dates to art exhibitions, gastronomy festivals and language courses, set in motion by a variety of organizations (e.g., Confucius Institutes and other associations and foundations of the Chinese community), are generally deemed as having a positive effect in preserving a good image of China and its people. In this context, the Chinese community in Portugal, 26,000 people according to estimates, plays a very important role. Organizations like the League of the Chinese in Portugal entertain strong ties with a wide array of public and private actors. An additional note to highlight is the increasing number of Mandarin courses that are offered, also in the public education system. About 15 secondary schools, spread throughout the country, have included Chinese in their curricula, enrolling ca. 500 students.

Where does the political community stand? First of all, China is hardly ever a subject of debate. When looking at activities in the Portuguese Parliament, a first and striking finding is that there is no record of any China-specific debate. Only sporadically would issues like human rights, Taiwan, or the South China Sea policy make an appearance. Right-wing parties like *Iniciativa Liberal*, have put Hong Kong and Xinjiang on the agenda. The farright "Chega" initiated a debate on the lack of an official government position on the Taiwan issue.

Expectations point to strengthening cooperation

Both parties debate these issues in a quite populist and shallow way. On the left side of the political spectrum, namely the Communist Party and the Bloco de Esquerda (Left Block), have occasionally drawn attention to US "imperialistic" slant and the expansion of NATO's influence on the South China Sea. The government supporting party, the Socialist Party, usually keep silent on any controversial issues involving China. Altogether, parliamentary turbulences over China-related issues are short-lived and rapidly disappear from the political agenda. They have no impact on shaping Portugal's official position towards China.

# The future: Maintaining the "status quo" and further strengthening business and cooperation

Although politically aligned with the EU and NATO, Portugal does not wish to jeopardise the good and stable relations with China. In fact, the hope is to develop further linkages, namely in trade and investment. The Chinese counterparts, in turn, welcome the Portuguese ambition and have put forward possible cooperation areas. For instance, Zhao Bentang, China's ambassador in Lisbon, has communicated Beijing's interest in fostering research and economic ties in the realm of digital, health and green technologies<sup>332</sup>. The Portuguese Minister of Economy, António Costa Silva, in a dinner celebrating the sixth anniversary of the Lisbon-based "New Silk Road Friends Association", added the "blue economy" to the three sectors highlighted by the Chinese diplomat<sup>333</sup>. Moving forward, Portuguese policy makers can be expected to prioritize maintaining and further developing good (economic) relations with China.

A second, and related topic of foreseeable emphasis in the near future concerns the improvement of conditions to draw additional benefits from Macau's geo-economic situation, namely in the context of the Greater Bay Area development plans. The expectations, namely after the end of China's zero Covid policy, point to the strengthening of cooperation with Portugal and an increased use of Macau as a bridging platform. Recent political declarations of top government officials, including Prime Minister António Costa, have confirmed this goal. In a speech at the Forum Macau, Costa stressed the wish for further cooperation between the Portuguese-speaking world and China and also emphasized the need for "better management of the [the EUR 1 billion Sino-Lusophone Development] fund", making it "more consequential in its rules and ways of functioning"<sup>334</sup>.

Macao is expected to play a more prominent role in China-Portugal relations Macao, in fact, is expected to play a more prominent role in bringing Portugal closer to achieving its goal of participating in developments in the Greater Bay Area. The Portuguese consul in Guangdong, Ana Menezes Cordeiro, has recently confirmed interest in taking advantage of the "enormous potential" to reinforce investment and trade between South China and Portugal, accrued by the planned developments of the region. She said: "Beyond traditional products such as food and beverage, copper, ornamental stones, paper, automobile components and textiles, we are focused on the exchange in areas such as tourism, pharmaceuticals, components for AI and smart cities as well as E-commerce and logistics operation support, and new energy technologies"<sup>335</sup>.

Summing up, there are no signs that strategy-lacking Portugal, sticking to the piecemeal, opportunistic, and "universalistic" behavior that, in overall terms, has been yielding positive outcomes, will change this way of thinking and acting. Still, it seems obvious that this endeavor is not independent of the international alliances and memberships, which, assumedly, count with the Portuguese full commitment. Hence, the issue at stake is the extent to which Portugal will be able to keep on exercising its mastery to effectively manage the positioning towards China within a dissonant and conflictual relational context such as the one marking EU and NATO relations with China.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Hitherto, Taiwan is far from the political spotlight in Portugal. In fact, there is no serious debate about the Taiwanese issue. Portugal sticks firmly to the "One China policy", as recurrently highlighted by the country's government.



High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties Focus on derisking economic ties

Romania

Low political relevance

# Romania: No official China strategy, but still a strategy

Andreea Brinza, Vice president, Romanian Institute for the Study of the Asia-Pacific (RISAP)

Romania and the People's Republic of China have a long history that is paved with many ups and downs. If in the past Romania used to be among the PRC's closest friends, today, even without an official strategy on China, Romania is distancing itself more and more from Beijing. Actions taken by the Government of Romania indicate that, over the past four years, it does seem to have a non-official strategy regarding China – that of reassuring its main Western partners, the US and the EU, of its strategic position, while reducing perceived risks emanating from previously closer ties to China. Despite this aspect, Romania plays only a passive role in shaping the EU policy toward China.

#### The action

Romania and China used to stand together as communist allies during the Cold War. While both countries' interests diverged after the fall of communism in Romania in 1989, a sense of "old friendship" still remained, rekindling relations now and then. Nowadays though, the friendship between the two sides has clearly become a thing of the past. Today, Romania no longer perceives China as its "old friend," but more through the "rival" narrative – and has begun acting accordingly.

Officially, Romania has no strategy toward China, which is barely mentioned in strategic or political documents.<sup>336</sup> Nonetheless, during the last few years, Romania's actions toward China indicate an unofficial strategy. The general philosophy of this strategy is to reduce perceived risks, vulnerabilities and dependencies regarding China, and to reassure Romania's main Western partners of Romania's firm position as their ally in the growing climate of tensions with China.

# Romania no longer perceives China as its "old friend"

While Romania is not and did not use to be very dependent on China, either politically or economically, prioritizing its relations with the US and the EU was the guiding star for its relations with China. Maintaining a pro-Western outlook and strong relations with the US and the EU and its largest members has been a priority for the main political parties in post-communist Romania, as the US, through NATO, and the EU are its pillars of security and development.

During the period of Western engagement with China, Romania mainly focused on the Transatlantic region, yet it sometimes tried to strengthen relations with China, lured by trade and investment hopes. In the early 2010s, this was more pronounced during a period of an official and broad attempt to reach out economically to China, which nonetheless didn't produce any concrete results and soon stagnated. But after US-China relations deteriorated, later followed by EU-China relations, starting in 2019, Romania has begun adopting a different position toward China.

Thus, without an official strategy on China and without publicly criticizing the Chinese government, Romania built its unofficial strategy by banning "untrustworthy vendors" from its 5G network, canceling a Chinese state-owned company's involvement in the Cernavodă Nuclear Power Plant, restricting the access of Chinese companies from public tenders, creating a strict foreign investment screening mechanism and downgrading its participation to the then-16+1 summit in 2021. In 2019, during a visit of the Romanian President Klaus Iohannis to Washington, Romania signed a memorandum of understanding with the US regarding the use of "trusted and reliable vendors"<sup>337</sup> which must not be controlled by foreign governments, must have transparent ownership and which proved to have transparent and ethical corporate behavior.<sup>338</sup> Without mentioning it, the targeted company was Huawei. Later on, the Romanian tele-communication agency, ANCOM, decided to postpone the 5G spectrum auction to give the parliament more time to transpose this MoU into law.<sup>339</sup> In 2021, Romania finally passed the law that would ban Huawei from its 5G network.<sup>340</sup>

In 2020, a newly-elected right-wing government announced that it will cease negotiations, started in 2013, with the Chinese company CGN regarding its involvement in building two new reactors at the Cernavodă Nuclear Power Plant.<sup>341</sup> The official motive was the government's opposition to providing state aid.<sup>342</sup> The cancelation of the Chinese investment in Cernavodă came one year after a previous left-wing government signed an MoU that allowed for the formation of a joint venture company between CGN and Nuclearelectrica, the company that operates the Cernavodă Nuclear Power Plant.<sup>343</sup> Romania was the first country to sign a 5G MoU targeting Huawei

In 2021, Romania continued its undeclared China offensive by banning companies from non-EU countries that don't have a public procurement agreement with Romania or the EU from taking part in public tenders.<sup>344</sup> This time, a few high-level government officials were more vocal in making it clear that the measure targeted China,<sup>345</sup> because its companies received subsidies – though only one Chinese company had previously won a marginal-ly-notable infrastructure tender.

Also in 2021, during the then-"16+1" online summit, Romania downgraded its participation by only sending its economy minister, instead of the prime minister or president. The summit was notable for being the first one to be hosted by China's President Xi Jinping, so Romania's action was seen as a snub toward China.<sup>346</sup>

In 2022, Romania created a more comprehensive and strict screening mechanism for non-EU investments. According to the new screening mechanism, any company that wants to invest more than EUR 2 million in Romania must obtain approval from the Romanian authorities.<sup>347</sup>

Most recently, in 2022, a member of the Romanian Parliament from the National Liberal Party (PNL), the party that is leading the government together with the Social Democratic Party (PSD), proposed a bill to ban state funding for public universities that host Confucius Institutes in Romania.<sup>348</sup> Because all the Confucius Institutes and Classrooms are hosted in Romania by public institutions, the bill would ultimately be an indirect ban on the Chinese institutes.

Passing through this timeline, there has been a clear shift in policy toward China starting in 2019, when Romania was the first country to sign a 5G MoU targeting Huawei, in direct contrast with the first half of the 2010s, when Romania engaged a lot with China and was among the first countries to host a 16+1 summit, back in 2013. It is also notable that the Romanian government has not publicly criticized China or some of its actions and policies, nor taken any clear stance on its human rights record. While none of the Romanian governments that implemented these measures over the past four years has adopted any official strategy toward China, the actions describe the contours of an unofficial strategy.

An important part of this unofficial strategy is following closely the recommendations of the European Union. For example, when Romania decided to ban companies from countries – like China – which have no public procurement agreements with Romania or the EU from participating in public tenders, the then-deputy prime minister asserted that the government consulted and received recommendations and support in implementing this measure from the EU.<sup>349</sup> Also, in 2022, when Romania updated its screening mechanism for foreign investments, it based its law on the EU Regulation 2019/452.<sup>350</sup>

But, while Romania is following the EU recommendations regarding China, it plays only a passive role in shaping China policy in Brussels. As an example, Romania recently had the chance to be among the first EU countries to have a law which establishes a national registry of local cross-border agreements, mandating all local authorities to publish their agreements with foreign counterparts, including from China.<sup>351</sup> But a parliamentary commission voted against this bill.

Romania plays a passive role in shaping China policy in Brussels When it comes to TikTok, the story is also edifying. Earlier this year, the Romanian Senate encouraged its senators to be more visible on the platform and even created a TikTok page for the Senate,<sup>352</sup> in a period when the US and the EU were pondering whether or not to ban TikTok from devices of those working in public institutions. Soon after the EU banned TikTok from employees' work phones, the Romanian Government declared that it will analyze whether to also implement this policy.<sup>353</sup>

The same passive atmosphere can be seen in Romanian government, or among the general public, where China is a marginal topic, as its most ardent security problems are related to Russia. The unofficial China strategy seems to have been adopted less with China in mind and more with the US and the EU in mind, generally following Western political and geopolitical trends toward China.

#### The actors

For many years, relations with China were shaped especially by the prime ministers in power or by the parties that led the government. In Romania, there are two important parties: the Social Democratic Party (PSD), which is a left-wing party and used to form most governments between 2012-2019, and the National Liberal Party (PNL) which is a right-wing party and has been in power, in various coalitions, since 2019. This dichotomy of left-right is important for relations with China because their approach toward China has been quite different.

While, after the fall of communism in Romania, China never again became a major topic, it gained more visibility during the tenure of two prime ministers: Adrian Năstase and Victor Ponta, both from PSD. During Victor Ponta's tenure (2012-2015), relations with China encountered their zenith – though without concrete economic results – and the government seemed to have a China strategy.

The prime minister's office used to circumvent the MFA, developing their own direct connections to Beijing,<sup>354</sup> as Prime Minister Ponta had long-standing ties to China and was very keen to strengthen relations. But the "strategy on China" wasn't a very well-planned one and was mostly a result of the leader in power, in this case, Victor Ponta – as with Adrian Năstase before him. Before 2012, even right-wing governments used to have and pursue closer ties with China, though never to the same level of these two prime ministerships, when China was explicitly articulated as a priority. Today, the right-wing parties have become more vocal against China, with some politicians who even joined the Inter-Parliamentary Alliance on China (IPAC) and engage in criticizing the Chinese government's human rights record, its actions abroad or its activities in Romania – subjects that had typically been rarely discussed in Romania before.

But while a few MPs have become more critical toward China and its government, the Chamber of Commerce continues to pursue closer relations with China, while some of the relatively few Chinese companies present in Romania have engaged in lobbying activities when their businesses have been at risk. Nonetheless, because Romania's economic ties to China, especially exports and investments, are very weak, except for Chinese companies present in Romania, there is no clear economic constituency that pressures or lobbies the government regarding its China policies.

## The capacity

Romania not only lacks political interest regarding China, but, unfortunately, also expertise. The Asia-Pacific Division of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs lacks enough experts on China, as does the Romanian Embassy in Beijing, whose personnel has decreased in size over the past few years. Without a clear strategy to create or bring more expertise on China into the state apparatus, Romania risks leaving its strategy on China to simply mimic the trends in the EU or the US or be influenced by politicians that hold a more polarized view for or against China.

A lack of government expertise on China stems from a general lack of expertise on China in Romania when it comes to political, geopolitical, security or economic issues. Despite a decades-long tradition of Mandarin language training in Romania<sup>355</sup>, the fact that Romanian academia lacks any course on politics, international relations or economics regarding China may be a key underlying reason for the dearth of China expertise in Romania today.

In the past, when political relations with China were very close, during the PSD governments, Romania had an inter-ministerial committee regarding China.<sup>356</sup> It was created in 2013 to follow-up and better implement the numerous MoUs for investments worth almost USD 10 billion that Romania and China signed on the occasion of that year's Bucharest 16+1 summit.

In 2018, during a different PSD government led by Prime Minister Viorica Dăncilă, it was rebranded as a committee that focused on economic projects between China and Romania – though many of the 2013 projects had already been abandoned by then. The committee was supposed to meet quarterly,<sup>357</sup> but after PNL came to power in 2019, no deputy prime minister was named to head this committee, which faded into irrelevance.

At present there are no such committees, either to improve relations or counter China and its influence in Romania, leaving Bucharest without a formal coordinating structure on China. All the actions regarding China that have been undertaken in the past four years have been decided individually, not based on an official or public strategy toward China, nor through any formal inter-ministerial bodies. They have been decided top-down, without any public debates, wide consultations or involvement of other bureaucratic levels or non-core structures.

As an example of the lack of coordination, a local city hall near Bucharest in 2016 signed an agreement with the Chinese city of Nantong for police cooperation, with Nantong later Romania risks leaving its China strategy to mimic trends in the EU or US presenting Dobroești as the host town for an overseas service center.<sup>358</sup> When this recently became public, the Romanian government declared it had no knowledge of such an agreement or such a service center.<sup>359</sup>

## The future

Romania-China relations seem to tilt toward greater detachment For Romania-China relations, the future is unclear, even though the trajectory of relations seems to tilt toward an approach that would lead to even greater detachment from China. Soon, Romania will probably have to think and decide its position regarding continued participation in the "14+1" mechanism between China and 14 countries from Central and Eastern Europe, or whether to downgrade its participation.

Romania will also have to decide if it will ban Confucius Institutes, as the recently proposed bill envisions. The ruling coalition has a supermajority in parliament and most MPs vote according to political leadership decisions, so whether this bill will be approved, rejected or simply languish in parliament will be decided by the government coalition.

Regarding the "14+1" membership, for the moment, according to some sources, Romania does not plan on leaving the mechanism, but it may continue to downgrade its participation in the summits to play only a marginal role in the mechanism. For example, since 2016, Romania has hosted the 16+1 Energy and Dialogue Center.<sup>360</sup> But, apart from a ministerial conference and energy fair in 2017,<sup>361</sup> Romania has not hosted or organized any important events related to this center.

Thus, Romania's position in the now-14+1 mechanism is rather shaky and a wave of withdrawals, like those of the Czech Republic or Poland, or EU or US recommendations could lead to Romania deciding to leave the mechanism in the future.

But any actions on these subjects will largely be taken in the absence of any official strategy or coherent and well-thought mechanism of adopting decisions regarding China. The lack of China expertise in government combined with a general lack of interest regarding China both in government and among the public mean that China will remain a marginal topic and Romania will mostly be a follower rather than a trendsetter in European China policy for the years to come.

## Spotlight on Taiwan

Romania-Taiwan relations are still a taboo subject. Not only does Romania lack ties to Taiwan and follow the "One China Policy", but it refuses to approach the subject of Taiwan at the institutional level. Thus, Romania-Taiwan relations are very poorly developed, with no political ties, very few Taiwanese investments, only an NGO that operates as Taiwan's economic branch in Romania, and very few social links.<sup>362</sup>

If a parliamentary delegation decides to undertake an unofficial trip to Taiwan, then the government may have to engage the topic of Romania-Taiwan relations. In 2013, when Romania had close relations to China, such an unofficial trip to Taiwan of four MPs sparked a scandal and intense government and media criticism.<sup>363</sup>

While the political mood has changed, the government has until now carefully and completely avoided the subject of Taiwan. A recent March 2023 visit by a Romanian MP, as part of a European delegation that visited Taiwan, did not change this nor generate any public discussions.



High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties

Slovakia

Focus on

derisking

economic ties

Low political relevance

# Slovakia: A China policy with little capacities and no strategy

Matej Šimalčík, Executive Director, Central European Institute of Asian Studies, Richard Turcsanyi, Program Director, Central European Institute of Asian Studies, Adam Kalivoda, Project Coordinator, Central European Institute of Asian Studies

Slovakia's approach towards China is ad hoc and dependent on the individual parties' – and often politicians' – views and agency. It is characterized by a mixture of perceived economic opportunities and (geo)political concerns. Relations with China have tended to attract low attention from successive Slovak governments. China is not a major investor in the country, although recently Volvo, a subsidiary of Chinese automaker Zhejiang Geely, announced a large investment which changed the picture substantially. China is also one of the major trading partners of Slovakia. Slovakia's relations with China have been relatively stable, although there have been differences depending on the ideology of the government in power. Since 2020, the center-right pro-Western governments have become more wary of security issues and more pronounced on China's human rights situation.

## **Slovak approach towards China**

Relations with China have often been overlooked by successive Slovak governments as a relatively low priority issue. Thus, Slovakia has most often conducted a low-profile approach towards China, with some notable exceptions (e.g., in relation to Taiwan, the Dalai Lama, or human rights).

Conduct of foreign policy towards China has depended on the ideology of the Slovak government in power. Populist governments led by social-democratic SMER-SD (2006-2010 and 2012-2020) were more interested in deepening economic ties with China, but they never committed much effort and resources to this. Direct engagements via the China-CEE platform and symbolic gestures such as signing the Memorandum of Understanding on the Belt and Road Initiative (in 2015) did not bring any noticeable benefits regarding new Chinese investments or Slovak exports to China.

Although China has been a major trading partner of Slovakia, this is chiefly due to China's exports to Slovakia, which have steadily grown, making it the 3rd largest source of imports to Slovakia in 2022, amounting to USD 8.66 billion.<sup>364</sup> Slovakia's exports to China remained more or less stagnant over the previous decade, with China being the 10th largest market for exports from Slovakia, with a value of around USD 2.75 billion – and have remained massively dominated by the automotive sector (i.e., by the foreign-owned corporations), which accounts for a third of these exports.<sup>365</sup>

Since 2020, the center-right, pro-Western governments of Igor Matovič and Eduard Heger have become more wary of security issues posed by China and more pronounced on China's human rights situation. Shortly after the elections, a large group of government MPs signed a declaration condemning Beijing's attempt to unilaterally impose security legislation on Hong Kong, as well as called for the release of the Panchen Lama. Furthermore, in the 2021 Security Strategy passed by the government, China is noted to be the EU's "systemic rival" and to have a "different conception of human rights and freedoms," influencing Bratislava's approach to relations with Beijing on bilateral and multilateral levels.<sup>366</sup>

At the same time, the government has remained open to Chinese investments. In fact, Slovakia has received by far its largest Chinese investment deal ever when Volvo, a subsidiary

Slovakia has most often conducted a low-profile approach towards China



Exhibit 9

of Zhejiang Geely, decided to open a EUR 1.2 billion plant near Košice<sup>367</sup> (in reality, however, the link to China was rarely acknowledged during public discussions of the investment).

The upcoming parliamentary elections in autumn 2023 may again bring changes to Slovakia's general approach towards China, especially if SMER-SD and HLAS-SD come to power, which is a possibility based on current polling.<sup>368</sup>

Slovak presidents have been relatively visible in relations with China, although they do not have executive power in the Slovak parliamentary political system. Previous President Andrej Kiska (2014-2019) met the Dalai Lama in 2016 (outside of his official residence), which led to Chinese official protests and threats of retaliations, which in retrospect were found to not be credible based on available data and information. Domestically, the government of Robert Fico (including the PM himself) also criticized the president for allegedly damaging ties to China.<sup>369</sup>

Current President Zuzana Čaputová (in office since 2019) raised issues of human rights when meeting Chinese Minister of Foreign Affairs Wang Yi in 2019. Although there were no official Chinese responses, the government-affiliated politicians (such as Andrej Danko, speaker of the parliament and chairman of the Slovak National Party, then a junior coalition partner) again criticized the president for undermining economic diplomacy efforts of the government to promote Slovak exports.

## **Driving forces of Slovak China-policies**

Overall, Slovakia's approach towards China is ad hoc and dependent on the individual parties' – and often politicians' – views and agency. As a result, it is difficult to identify any central driving forces.

Historically, it has been primarily the PM who has taken the initiative to shape the approach towards China. Since 2012, this has been mainly due to his annual summits with the Chinese leaders as part of the China-CEE platform (which has been discontinued in recent years).

There have been some differences between various governmental agencies. On the one hand, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Ministry of Defense have tended to be more cautious when dealing with China, taking into account security risks and political problems.

On the other hand, the economy-focused ministries (such as Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Economics, and Ministry of Transport) have tended to be more open to developing relations with China with a singular-focus on achieving "pragmatic" goals and overlooking potential problems.

This division was visible in 2017 when the Slovak government adopted the "Strategy for the Development of Economic Relations with China 2017-2020," a document jointly prepared by the Ministries of Economy and Ministry of Transport. Subsequently, however, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs stood up and prevented a follow up Action Plan to be adopted.<sup>370</sup> As a result, the Strategy was never actually implemented.

Besides, friendship groups have played some role in shaping the approach towards China (and Taiwan). The Friendship group with PRC in the Slovak parliament currently consists of 22 MPs.<sup>371</sup> Although the group's activities remain limited, it did organize a visit to China in 2019, and its members participated in the official visit to China by the speaker of the parliament, Boris Kollár (chairman of a junior populist coalition party SME-RODINA), in April 2023. Some friendship group members have been quite outspoken in presenting China-supportive positions, and act as proxies for spreading Chinese propaganda in Slovakia.<sup>372</sup>

An unofficial friendship group of Taiwan also exists in the Slovak parliament. The group has been active in promoting engagement with Taiwan. In June 2022, a subgroup of its members, including the Deputy Speaker of Parliament, visited Taiwan. The visit, which included meeting with President Tsai Ing-wen, was intended to promote parliamentarian interactions and city-to-city exchanges on top of economic, trade and technological cooperation. Members of the friendship group have also been active domestically, sponsoring parliamentary resolutions in support of Taiwan's international engagement, e. g. at the WHO, ICAO and other UN agencies.<sup>373</sup>

No major business players have been pushing for tighter and more comprehensive relations with China, nor were any actors seeking to sever ties for commercial reasons. Nevertheless, specific companies have had considerable interest in pursuing their commercial activities in China or with Chinese partners. The most notable case, as well as the best example of Chinese corrosive capital in Slovakia, was a 2015 investment by CEFC into the Czecho-Slovak financial conglomerate J&T Finance. After CEFC's bankruptcy in 2018, its stake in the company was taken over by the Chinese state-owned CITIC Group.<sup>374</sup> Friendship groups have played some role in shaping the approach towards China There are some minor instances of attempts to develop relations with China at the subnational level, where certain Slovak businesses already operating in China mediated deepening of paradiplomatic relations. Altogether, Slovak municipalities and self-governing regions maintain 16 paradiplomatic ties with Chinese counterparts.<sup>375</sup> However, such efforts have minimal influence on national-level relations.

#### **Capacity of dealing with China**

Slovakia currently does not have the capacities on a level necessary for a coherent approach toward China. There are some steps under way in this regard, but it is questionable how significant their impact will be.

Slovakia currently does not have its own up-to-date China strategy, nor a coherent Indo-Pacific strategy. However, Slovakia's interests are still largely embedded in the EU-level approach, and more recently also NATO-level approach, which can help cushion the most problematic aspects of interactions with China. In 2021, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs has announced the preparation of an Asia-Pacific Strategy,<sup>376</sup> which has yet to be finalized.

China has started recently appearing in the annual reports of the Slovak Intelligence Agency, showcasing that there is a certain degree of activity by Chinese operatives in Slovakia (or perhaps that Slovak intelligence is willing to call it out more explicitly nowadays than was previously the case).<sup>377</sup>

In recognition of these developments, the 2021 Security Strategy acknowledged China as a partner, competitor, and systemic rival, in line with EU policy.<sup>378</sup> This was followed up by the adoption of the Action Plan for Coordinated Response to Hybrid Threats 2022-2024 in March 2022.<sup>379</sup>

The Action Plan was approved shortly after Russia invaded Ukraine. While the primary impetus for the plan was addressing Russian subversive activities, it also tackled hybrid threats posed by China. This includes plans for implementing a risk assessment mechanism for universities' international collaborations, improving their financial transparency, as well as adopting a comprehensive investment screening mechanism. The investment screening law was already adopted at the end of 2022 and came to effect in March 2023.<sup>380</sup>

#### **Future outlook**

Looking to the future, Slovakia should start moving toward having a strategy toward China. Perhaps the most suitable model would be to embed it in a broader Indo-Pacific strategy. Afterwards, a discussion can start whether a separate China-strategy document would be needed, and what form it should have.

Such a strategy should lead to an increase of Slovak activity also within the EU bodies when it comes to forging an approach towards China. Slovakia should know what its priorities and interests are and how to push for them within the EU, especially when current or planned steps of the EU would not be in line with Slovak preferences. The same goes for maintaining policy-focused dialogue with key partners at the EU member state level, especially Germany which is a major source of Slovakia's indirect economic exposure to China.<sup>381</sup>

China has started appearing in annual reports of the Slovak Intelligence Agency



Exhibit 10

Slovakia also should decide how to deal with the remnants of the China-CEE platform. Although currently no high-profile events (such as summits of premiers) are planned, it is likely that China will attempt to revitalize the platform at various levels. Slovakia should clarify its position – i.e., whether it would leave, ignore events silently, or participate. The same logic applies to clarifying Slovakia's position on the Belt and Road Initiative, for instance, when the next summit in Beijing would be organized.

## Spotlight on Taiwan

Slovakia is currently among the most active of EU member states in pursuing relations with Taiwan. <sup>382</sup> This pursuit can be characterized as pragmatic in both political and economic domains. Consequently, Slovakia has attracted very little ire from Beijing.

In 2003, Slovakia and China signed a Joint Communique which explicitly references Beijing's One-China principle, claiming Taiwan to be an "inalienable part of China." The document also claims that "Slovakia will only enter into private sector led trade and economic relations with Taiwan."<sup>383</sup> This approach is currently not observed in practice, as evidenced by recent interactions of high-ranking officials, such as a December 2021 Slovak delegation to Taiwan, led by Deputy Minister of Economy Karol Galek. Outside of the executive branch, the unofficial friendship group of Taiwan in the Slovak parliament is the most vocal proponent of more active engagement with Taiwan, and regularly voices support for Taiwan's international engagement in various domestic and international fora.

There is an element of balancing present in Slovakia's approach to China and Taiwan, which has taken three main forms:

- limiting governmental action to pursuing a "positive" agenda with Taiwan without framing the activity in relation to China,
- transferring Taiwan-related criticisms of China to the parliamentary level (thereby maintaining a level of deniability and shielding the executive from pressure by China),
- engaging in some symbolic actions vis-à-vis China to mollify potential criticism.



High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties

Spain o

Low political relevance

Focus on derisking

economic ties

# Spain: An informal, coherent and Europeanist approach

#### Mario Esteban, Miguel Otero-Iglesias, Senior Analysts, Elcano Royal Institute

Spain's China policy is similar to that of the EU due to the evolution of the bilateral economic relations and from Chinese endogenous changes. It is also influenced by Spain's EU and NATO membership, leading to the securitization of China's engagement in strategic sectors. Although Spanish authorities have not issued an official China strategy, they fully endorse the recent EU one, and there seem to be no significant inconsistencies on how different relevant Spanish stakeholders deal with China. Spain's China policy benefits from a large consensus among the main national political parties. It extends to the business sector which also has a significant influence on Spain's China policy. Smaller political parties show divergences, like some civil society groups that are more critical of China's regime but whose role remains marginal. In 2023, the 50<sup>th</sup> anniversary of bilateral relations and Spain's Presidency of the EU offer opportunities to push forward some issues on the bilateral agenda, tackling norms and global security.

#### The action: Spain's sophisticated Europeanist approach

Similar to the EU and its main EU partners, Spain's China policy has evolved during recent years, owing to China's development and increasing global footprint, and has converged with that of the EU. This chapter offers an overview of Spain's approach, its link with the European one, and its institutional and organizational basis. It concludes presenting some of the issues likely to be pushed forward in the bilateral agenda in 2023.

Spain shares the threefold EU vision of China as partner, competitor and rival, and advocates for a greater role of EU's institutions and coordination and collective action among member states to achieve more balanced relations and overcome a clear bilateral asymmetry in favour of China. From a Spanish perspective, China is an attractive and key economic partner plus a necessary stakeholder to cope with crucial issues on the global agenda like climate change and security.<sup>385</sup>

For Spain, China is an attractive and key economic partner At the same time a blatant normative and geostrategic divide interferes in the bilateral relationship and generates competition in several fields as well as a rivalry on global standards, values and institutions. For Spain, these divergences make it relevant to decrease Spanish and European dependence on China in strategic sectors.<sup>386</sup> In a strict sense, China poses no direct military threat for Spain. Existing concerns focus on hybrid- and cyber-threats originating from within China's borders, although the risks for Asian and global maritime security linked to the South China Sea and Taiwan Strait are not overlooked.<sup>387</sup>

Spain's China policy reflects these complexities and is based on a nuanced understanding of China, which allows it to cooperate, compete and confront China depending on the situation. This pragmatic approach, which avoids systematically jeopardizing the bilateral relationship on ideological grounds, neither eludes normative divergences, nor prevents Spain from defending its normative preferences. Spanish authorities are not naïve: they are not blind to China's revisionist behaviour or its willingness to reshape the international order.

Coincidently, they are becoming cautious in general not to engage with China in ways that may foster its capacities to achieve these goals, which run contrary to Spanish values and interests. Several factors have contributed to such approach. First and foremost, the evolution of bilateral trade, making China Spain's third extra-European export market and
first imports supplier, and the simultaneous increasing role of economic diplomacy within Spain's external policy.<sup>388</sup> Then, China's internal changes, namely its socioeconomic development, systemic violations of human rights and shift from a low profile to an assertive foreign policy. These dynamics have progressively raised strategic concerns of overdependence on China among Spanish stakeholders which are also framed by its EU and NATO membership and the influence of its partners within these organizations.

Although the EU level is an overriding factor, US influence is also instrumental, as a crucial partner and component of Spain's defence policy, and through the deteriorating US-China strategic rivalry. These different elements have contributed to the progressive securitization of Spain's relationship with China, exemplified by Spain's stark change of perception and posture towards China's inward investments, from a proactive policy aimed at attracting a maximum volume of Chinese investments to the establishment of ex ante investment screening mechanisms. This hardening of position is linked with concerns related to China's dominant position and unfair competition in strategic sectors, like solar energy, or its entry in key sectors like energy or transportation, with the noticeable example of COSCO's acquisition of NOATUM port assets in 2017.<sup>389</sup>

Different elements have contributed to the securitization of Spain's relationship with China

As a result, China's investment objectives have been curbed, and Spain has moderated its attractiveness policy. This has impacted China's role as provider of high technology, as exemplified by the debate on China's involvement in Spain's 5G networks and the enacted or planned exclusion of Huawei's 5G equipment from parts of Spanish telcos networks, because of perceived strategic risks, even though this leads to lesser competitivity for many Spanish firms. As detailed in the Spanish 5G Cybersecurity Law, those risks revolve around potential foreign interference and supply chain vulnerabilities.<sup>390</sup> Under this legislation, Chinese firms may be labelled as 'high risk providers', which would exclude them from critical parts of the networks or those linked with national security or strategic sectors, although its implementation is being delayed at the governmental level.<sup>391</sup>

Historically, apart from a sectoral plan issued by Secretary of State for Trade in 2018, Spanish authorities have never issued a specific China strategy, but it has become a key focus of successive Asia and external action strategies.<sup>392</sup> Spain's current approach is no different. No specific strategy has been issued but China is a key element in the Asia-Pacific outlook of the 2021 External Action Strategy.<sup>393</sup>

In any case, Spanish officials openly endorse the EU's China Strategy as the guideline for Spain and the internal debate revolves around how to implement it at the national level, and how Spain can contribute to its development at the European one. This ambition is substantiated by Spain's active role in the EU's policy towards China. Spain is less directly dependent on China than other member states, which facilitates its well-perceived balanced posture inside the EU. At the European level, Spain focuses on issues linked with China's attack on the international rules-based order and lack of economic reciprocity, level playing field and mutual market access. Spanish actors note that China remains a very closed market through tariff and non-tariff barriers which lowers export opportunities. They also perceive the gap between China's signals of openness and practical business opportunities, as exemplified by China's services market, of great interest for Spanish economic actors, which remains closed in practice despite China's official narratives.

#### The actors: A consensual policy

Spain's China policy is mainly developed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in charge of its coherence both in Spain's foreign policy and the external action of the government, and by the Presidency of the government, which plays a leading role in external policy.

At the national level, Spain's policy towards China benefits from solid consensus between political parties with the capacity to lead a government, namely the Spanish Socialist Workers' Party (PSOE) and Popular Party (PP). This has prevented shifts under different political leadership and, at least for now, Spain's China policy remains outside of the partisan debate. Nevertheless, three divergent political postures are found among other parties. Leftist ones appear more reluctant to coordinate with the US on China policy, due to lack of trust towards the former.

The far right party Vox is openly hostile towards the CCP regime, at times reproducing US alt-right arguments, and holding accusative postures on the outbreak of Covid-19 in China or the country's violations of human rights.<sup>394</sup> Finally, regionalist parties show political proximity to democratic and autonomic movements from Hong Kong and Taiwan exemplified by the non-legislative motion on the Taiwan Strait introduced by the Basque Nationalist Party (PNV).<sup>395</sup> This panorama is reflected to varying extents in the parliamentary debate, from the issue of Taiwan, to China's involvement in 5G networks and management of the pandemic.<sup>396</sup>

At the national and regional level, business actors and associations play a significant role because the bilateral relationship remains mainly centred on the economy and they are key players to reach the Chinese market and deliver economic cooperation opportunities. This is also evidenced by the nomination of diplomats with close links to the business sector as ambassadors to China, especially under governments of the PP. The business sector's focus on economic opportunities does not impede concerns of overdependence and a willingness to reduce exposure to risks related to China.<sup>397</sup> In contrast, civil society's level of mobilization on China remains low and of little political influence, with few examples like the support for democracy and autonomy movements in Hong Kong from supporters of regional nationalism.<sup>398</sup>

#### The capacity: A coordinated approach

The lack of official strategy and limited personnel with specific knowledge on China – which is progressively reverted – has not prevented Spain's China policy to be quite coherent. At the governmental level, coherence is achieved through inter-ministerial coordination mechanisms including an inter-ministerial committee that may cover China related issues and manage different sensitivities towards this country within the State administration.

Roughly, the ministries of Foreign Affairs and Defence are more concerned by the strategic and geopolitical implications of China's rise, while the Ministry of Economy and the Ministry of Industry, Trade and Tourism have a more business-oriented vision, and usually a greater influence within the government. Overall coherence is also facilitated by the existing consensus between the two main Spanish political forces.

The involvement of actors from other administrative levels, or key non-political actors, such as industry associations, is uncommon, except in the event of serious risks for national security, which prompts monitoring by intelligence services. In any case, Spanish firms

Spain's relationship with China remains mainly centred on the economy conduct their activities in a legal framework and there are mechanisms in place to ensure they are not directed against national security.

Still, the lack of official strategy results in lost opportunities, as it lowers the overall capacity to exploit synergies between different sectors of the administration. For the moment, each of them has a sectoral approach to China and tries to implement it without entering into conflict with other institutions, preserving national interests and following the general guide-lines of the Spanish Foreign policy.

The lack of official strategy results in lost opportunities

#### The future: Dealing with international stability and normative challenges

In 2023, two diplomatic highlights – the 50th anniversary of bilateral relations and the Spanish presidency of the Council of the European Union – can foster high-level exchanges between Spanish and Chinese stakeholders, spotlight China in the public opinion and allow Spanish authorities to advance a couple of relevant issues for Spain as exemplified by Spanish Prime Minister Pedro Sanchez's official visit to China, at end of March 2023.

Spanish diplomacy expects China to play an active role to facilitate a peace agreement between Russia and Ukraine as already emphasized during the meeting between Pedro Sanchez and Xi Jinping on the margins of the Bali G20 Summit in November 2022.<sup>399</sup> These expectations were dampened following the proclamation of the Chinese "peace plan", which was coldly received by Spanish officials, but high level bilateral exchanges on the topic were reiterated during the latest G20 Foreign Ministers' Meeting in India, in March 2023.<sup>400</sup>

Later that same month, Pedro Sanchez subsequently visited China and asked President Xi to call President Zelensky, which Xi eventually did on April 26. Sanchez also emphasized the points of consensus of the Chinese plan, evidencing his perception of China as an important actor with diplomatic weight to favour a conflict resolution process and the significance the Ukrainian factor has assumed in Spain's Europeanist approach towards China.<sup>401</sup>

In addition, the promotion of bilateral and EU-China relations during this visit translates a posture fundamentally compatible with that of the EU institutions, opposing decoupling and preserving a space for positive cooperation on key global issues but calling for balanced trade relations, with a level-playing field, transparency and reciprocal market access, to guarantee open strategic autonomy from the EU.<sup>402</sup>

Finally, the Taiwanese presidential elections and foreseeable pressure from Chinese authorities might also gather national attention. Traditionally, China resorts to a show of force in an attempt to influence Taiwanese voters, although this has proven counterproductive. In Spain, this pattern may find a particular resonance following the approval of the non-legislative motion on the Taiwan Strait by the Committee of Foreign Affairs of the Congress of Deputies on October 6, 2022, which has generated opposing reactions from Taiwanese and Chinese diplomacy (see Fact box).

China's Embassy in Madrid has shown strong opposition and discontent and played down the political weight of the initiative while Taiwanese diplomats praised the "explicit support" and have taken the opportunity to reaffirm Taiwan's sovereignty, independence and democratic nature, and to finger-point at China's military activities, drawing parallels with the war in Ukraine.<sup>403</sup>

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Spain's posture regarding Taiwan is similar to that of its European partners and the EU. It endorses a One China policy and aims to preserve regional stability. As formulated in the non-legislative motion on the Taiwan Strait adopted in 2022, it opposes any revisionist unilateral and coercive action that may affect the current status quo. It also considers that such change should only be achieved through dialogue and consensus among the parties and based on the will of citizens.

At the same time, increased concerns from both the government and legislature on the threat of China's coercion to East Asia's regional stability are fostering the support for greater cooperation between the EU and Taiwan on normative issues, like the promotion of democracy, human rights and the rule of law in the Indo-Pacific.

The visit of Spanish parliamentary delegations to Taiwan from the PP – whose last visit took place in 2019 – and Vox in January 2023, reflects closer affinity from right-wing parties, but the One China Policy and the commitment to a coherent Europeanist approach remain shared principles.<sup>404</sup>





Focus on deepening economic ties

Sweden

Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

## Sweden: From optimistic opportunities to growing challenges

#### Frida Lindberg, Analyst, Swedish National China Centre

Sweden's approach to China has undergone a significant shift in the past five years. From being viewed as mostly providing opportunities, China is now seen as posing increasing challenges for Sweden. This more negative view of China is also reflected in perceptions among Swedes, who hold the second most negative view of China in the world. This chapter explains the reasons for these developments, describes how Sweden deals with China-related issues and identifies the next three big China-related challenges facing Sweden.

#### Sweden's China policy: gradually getting tougher?

After the end of the Cold War, a widespread perception prevailed in many Western countries, including in Sweden, that liberal democracy had defeated communism. Increased economic integration and international cooperation were believed capable of generating development of democracy in China. China was also seen as attractive for investments, exports and imports.

China is no longer viewed as mostly presenting opportunities Thus, throughout the 1990s and 2000s, engagement with China was in Sweden generally viewed as an opportunity that one could not afford to miss. In recent years, however, this positive attitude has changed. Dealing with China is no longer viewed as mostly presenting opportunities; it is also seen as involving growing challenges that are becoming more difficult to deal with.<sup>405</sup>

Sweden's former, social democratic-led, government's white paper on China, which is sometimes described as Sweden's China strategy, was published in 2019 in the light of "China's growing influence in the world and the new implications, opportunities and challenges this brings".<sup>406</sup> It describes Sweden's relations with China, and sets out the former government's views on and approach to matters relating to the country. The white paper, which is based in part on the European Union's 2016 Strategy on China,<sup>407</sup> also describes the EU as Sweden's "most important foreign policy arena",<sup>408</sup> and emphasizes that the pursuit of a common EU policy on China is important for Sweden.<sup>409</sup> Although this document was unanimously approved by the Riksdag (the Swedish parliament), the former opposition parties criticized it for not containing enough concrete measures.<sup>410</sup>

A centre-right government was formed following the September 2022 general election, made up of the Moderate Party (M), the Liberal Party (L) and the Christian Democrats (KD). In the Riksdag, the new government cooperates with the Sweden Democrats (SD), a nationalist and right wing populist party. Although the new government, led by Prime Minister Ulf Kristersson (M), has not yet presented its own China policy, Sweden's policy on China is likely to change due to the change of government.<sup>411</sup>

The current governing parties and the Sweden Democrats actively raised issues relating to China while in opposition, but this tougher stance has so far not translated into concrete policy measures.<sup>412</sup> In line with the former government, however, the new government has emphasized the importance of the EU's role in Sweden's approach to China. For instance, in November 2022 Prime Minister Kristersson stated that:

A single European voice is needed in relations with China. Each individual country's voice is weak, but China listens when the EU speaks as one. This is why the EU-China strategy,

tools to limit China's influence on sensitive technology and joint action when China violates human rights are necessary.<sup>413</sup>

#### A deteriorated image of China in Sweden

Some of the current drivers shaping Sweden's relationship with China are closely related to Sweden's identity and values, such as its views on human rights, which have contributed to a more negative view of China. Sweden's traditional free trade-friendly policy is also deeply rooted in both the business world and the government sector. Generally, business actors in Sweden participate only to a limited extent in the debate on China-related issues. One reason for this is probably that Swedish companies do not think that they have much to gain from speaking out publicly or arguing, for instance, for openness or engagement with China.

The most obvious exception is probably the debate following Ericsson CEO Börje Ekholm's unsuccessful intervention in 2020 to put pressure on Sweden's former trade minister, Anna Hallberg, to intervene in the run-up to the decision on blocking Huawei from the 5G rollout, in order to prevent Huawei from being excluded. According to Ekholm, Huawei's exclusion could have resulted in China taking measures to target the interests of Swedish industry in China, including those of Ericsson.<sup>414</sup>

Regarding Huawei, Jacob Wallenberg, chair of the board of one of Sweden's major investment and holding companies, also expressed dissatisfaction regarding the idea of blocking the Chinese company from Sweden's 5G rollout, stating that "it is important that Huawei is given the opportunity to operate in Sweden as well".<sup>415</sup>

Swedish media play a significant role in shaping the debate on China. China's image in the Swedish media has deteriorated in recent years. Between 2017 and 2019, the number of editorials with a negative view of China increased significantly in four leading daily Swedish newspapers, reaching the highest level since 2008 when the summer Olympic Games were being held in Beijing.<sup>416</sup>

Along similar lines, Swedish public opinion on China has become much more negative in recent years. Previous research has shown that the proportion of Swedes with a negative image of China increased from 52 percent to 85 percent between 2018 and 2020. Of the 14 rich industrialized countries included in the survey, Swedish people held the second most negative view of China, behind only the Japanese people.<sup>417</sup> Swedish people are most critical of China's disregard for democratic rights and its international behaviour.<sup>418</sup>

One possible explanation for this negative view of China is the campaign of public criticism conducted by the Chinese embassy in Stockholm and the former Chinese ambassador to Sweden, Gui Congyou, which included intense criticism of Swedish media, researchers, journalists and political parties, among others.<sup>419</sup> This campaign led to negative reactions, not least from Swedish media outlets, which repeatedly criticized this behaviour.<sup>420</sup>

## Formal and informal policy coordination mechanisms enable knowledgebuilding on China

As China's relevance in the world has increased, the Swedish government's interest in China-related issues has also grown. The 2019 white paper on China raises the need to strengthen communication and collaboration between different actors in Sweden on issues

Swedish public opinion on China has become much more negative related to China.<sup>421</sup> In Sweden, all government decisions, including foreign policy decisions, such as positions on China-related issues, require an inter-ministerial consultation process.<sup>422</sup>

China policy coordination mechanisms are mainly informal In addition, there are informal discussions on China-related issues at the governmental level. China policy coordination mechanisms are mainly informal. For example, "Team Sweden China", a government-initiated network,<sup>423</sup> promotes Sweden and Swedish interests in China, and supports Swedish companies in China, among other things.<sup>424</sup>

In addition to its activities in China, Team Sweden also coordinates relevant organizations in Stockholm.<sup>425</sup> Coordination involving exchanges with actors at different administrative levels or with critical non-political actors appears to entail mainly informal, ad hoc mechanisms. These coordination mechanisms mostly involve conversations with, for instance, the business sector, while the regional and municipal levels are not as involved. These subnational levels would, however, be likely to benefit from being engaged to a greater extent in these kinds of contexts.

Nonetheless, the autonomy of Swedish local authorities in the municipalities and regions leaves plenty of space for these administrative levels to handle and decide on local and regional issues.<sup>426</sup> For instance, with regard to subnational relations, municipalities and regions in Sweden can independently decide to leave or sign new agreements with counterparts in, for instance, China. In recent years, many municipalities and regions in Sweden have decided to end their cooperation agreements with China, due to the negative developments concerning democracy and human rights in China, the Chinese state's behaviour towards Sweden and Swedish nationals, and the lack of activity in these subnational cooperations. Some agreements, however, are still active.<sup>427</sup>

The 2019 government white paper also underlines the importance of understanding China better. It proposed the establishment of a Swedish National China Center, which was established in 2021 and aims to improve understanding of China in Sweden by carrying out research-based, policy-relevant analysis and providing guidance on issues concerning China. The main target groups for the Centre are Sweden's Government Offices and government agencies.

Other target groups include the Riksdag, municipalities and regions, academia and industry in Sweden, among others. Government funding finances most of the Centre's activities.<sup>428</sup> The Centre aims to bring various Swedish actors together to discuss China-related issues, and thus contribute to informal policy coordination.

#### The next three major China-related challenges facing Sweden

Several key China-related controversies have already shaped and are likely to continue to shape national and public debate in Sweden in the coming year:

1. The case of Gui Minhai: In October 2015, Gui Minhai, a Swedish citizen and book publisher, was kidnapped from his holiday home in Thailand and imprisoned in China. In February 2020, Gui was sentenced to ten years in prison, according to the verdict which has not been made available, for providing intelligence overseas.<sup>429</sup> Since the imprisonment of Gui, Sweden and China's bilateral relations have deteriorated markedly.<sup>430</sup> In his statement of government policy in October 2022, Prime Minister Kristersson stated that the new government would "continue the efforts to secure the release" of Gui.<sup>431</sup> In October 2022, in line with a deci-

sion made by the former government, a Swedish monitoring commission published a review of the efforts made by the government, the Ministry for Foreign Affairs and Sweden's diplomatic missions to achieve the release of Gui Minhai, identifying a number of deficiencies.<sup>432</sup>

2. Emerging security concerns: In recent years, several isolated examples of Chinese security threats have emerged, which together have sparked a debate on security risks. For instance, as the inclusion of Huawei and ZTE in the development of Sweden's 5G network was viewed as a security risk for Sweden, the Swedish Post and Telecommunications Board (PTS) decided in October 2020 to ban Huawei and ZTE from participating.<sup>433</sup> This decision sparked strong reaction from the Chinese government, which announced that the decision would negatively affect Swedish companies operating in China and cooperation between Sweden and China more generally.<sup>434</sup>

Chinese investments in Sweden have also received a lot of attention. Some of these have been made in critical infrastructure such as wind power, which has generated discussion on the potential risks and consequences of Chinese ownership of Swedish infrastructure and companies.<sup>435</sup>

3. Dependence on China: Sweden's strategic dependence in relation to China and how to reduce it has become a more frequent topic for discussion and is likely to continue to be debated. There are few signals that Sweden will change its opposition to protectionism or its pro-free trade positions.<sup>436</sup> Nonetheless, reducing unilateral dependence seems to be a key concern for the new government. In November 2022, Prime Minister Kristersson stated the following in the Statement of Government EU Policy:

It is worrying that the EU is falling behind Asia and the United States in key economic areas. The global tech industry is currently being advanced on the west coast of the US and on the east coast of China. For this reason, the single market must be deepened, the digital single market realised and new free trade agreements concluded. Openness is the basis of growth policy. But the EU's capacity must simultaneously increase in strategic areas where there are obvious vulnerabilities in the supply chain.... Openness must not mean unilateral dependence, much less naivety.<sup>437</sup> Reducing unilateral dependence seems to be a key concern for the new government

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

Sweden's position towards Taiwan has been largely consistent for the past few decades, regardless of the political leaning of the government. Sweden adheres to a One China policy, which means that Sweden does not recognize Taiwan as a state and does thereby not have any diplomatic relations with Taiwan, while still welcoming exchange with Taiwan.<sup>438</sup> In August 2022, the then foreign minister, Ann Linde, stated that contradictions between China and Taiwan must "be resolved peacefully and in a way consistent with the will of the people of Taiwan".<sup>439</sup>

Before Sweden's general election in 2022, all parliamentary parties apart from the Social Democrats (S) supported a proclamation urging the government to open a so-called House of Sweden in Taipei to show support for democracy in Taiwan.<sup>440</sup> According to the Center Party (C), which initiated the proclamation, a House of Sweden in Taipei would expand bilateral cooperation between Sweden and Taiwan to new fields, such as the advancement of democracy, culture, science, cybersecurity, gender equality and sustainable climate solutions.<sup>441</sup> Members of the Riksdag and the European Parliament (from C, M, KD, and SD), travelled to Taiwan in April 2022.<sup>442</sup>

In October 2022, Prime Minister Kristersson stated in the Statement of Government Policy that "China's latest rhetoric towards Taiwan is worrying. Threats of military force are unacceptable".<sup>443</sup> Along similar lines, in December 2022, Foreign Minister Tobias Billström stated in a speech on Sweden's foreign policy that China's tougher tone towards Taiwan "gives cause for concern", and that a stronger transatlantic dimension of the EU's China policy was needed to cope with this.<sup>444</sup>

# Switzerland

High political relevance

Focus on deepening economic ties

Switzerland

Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

# Switzerland: A "special" relationship conditioned to turn more realist

Markus Herrmann, Michael Settelen, Patrick Renz, Swiss Forum on Foreign Policy (Foraus)

As elsewhere, political and societal sentiment on China has turned more skeptical in Switzerland in recent years, calling the "special" relationship into question. The business community still acts as a balancing factor, largely advocating for continued pragmatic engagement. In response to an intensifying political debate, however, the first-ever China Strategy (2021) acknowledges the new geopolitical realities, calls out the challenges more explicitly than before, and attempts to provide more policy coherence and clarify basic positions, conditioned as a country relying on access to international markets, a rules-based international order and its "bloc-free" stance. Going forward, continued debates around new economic policy and value-based foreign policy instruments in response mostly to China as well as external pressure from the US and the EU make a full return to Switzerland's previous engagement posture more difficult and thus less likely.

#### Action and capacity

Switzerland issued its first-ever China strategy in 2021

Since China initiated its opening-up and reform policy in the late 1970s, Switzerland has focused on nurturing a "special" bilateral relationship focusing on economic interests. China has long been a marginal political topic in Switzerland, with discussions mostly around issues like Tibet, the Three-Gorges Dam or the Sino-Swiss Free Trade Agreement (FTA).

Switzerland has been an early mover in engaging with China. This has paid off economically, with China becoming the third-largest trading partner and Switzerland being among the few countries globally with a trade surplus. Key early mover events are the diplomatic recognition of the PRC in January 1950 shortly after its founding; the first Sino-foreign joint venture in 1980 with Schindler; China's first continental European FTA in 2013; being a founding member of the Beijing-based Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB) in 2016; and finally, concluding a third-market cooperation memorandum of understanding (MoU) for China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) in 2019.

Switzerland's engagement with China gained more attention after ChemChina's acquisition of Swiss agrochemical giant Syngenta in 2017 that stoked the debate about strategically driven and often state-funded technology acquisitions in Europe. The deal remains the largest-ever overseas acquisition executed by a Chinese firm. The mood shifted further when NGOs and scholars introduced their first evidence into the public debate on systematic human rights violations against the Uyghur minority in the Xinjiang region and the signing of the BRI MoU in 2019. Discussions on a state-led economy and an autocratic political system moved into the spotlight of Swiss politics.

Switzerland's approach to China and the lack of a clear "China policy" were raised across the political spectrum. Just nurturing a "special" bilateral relationship was no longer an option going forward.

In response to the changing domestic and external political context, the Federal Council, the Swiss government's highest executive branch, issued its first-ever China Strategy in

March 2021. The document is publicly available and aims to increase policy coherence and clarify basic positions to domestic and international audiences. It is part of a broader foreign policy strategy exercise devising both geographic (e.g., Southeast Asia) and functional strategies (e.g., digital foreign policy).

The China Strategy is unique in that it is the only country-specific Swiss foreign policy strategy. It is a 40-page document with the chapters "geopolitical overview," "Switzerland and China," "thematic focus areas" and "implementation and resources." The section "thematic focus areas" is structured into "peace and security," "prosperity," "sustainability" and "digitalization," the four standard lenses of these new foreign policy strategy papers. The strategy's timeframe 2021-2024 suggests regular updates.

It recognizes China as a new global power with geopolitical heft and ambitions, points out differences in values and unfulfilled hopes of China's political system converging with liberal democracies, and more explicitly than before, addresses a series of domestic issues in China.

The most important chapter to understand Switzerland's China strategy is chapter 3.2, which reiterates Switzerland's neutrality, notes that Switzerland will "remain both independent and universal in outlook," and adds that "geopolitical polarization is not in Switzerland's interests, neither is bloc-building around China and the US." With regards to the EU and European states, it highlights the importance of structured relations with the EU, points to shared values and says these partners "often represent positions similar to those of Switzerland...."

Switzerland's China Strategy is a product of a country relying on access to international markets, a rules-based international order and its "bloc-free" stance. The strategy defines key cooperation priorities in each thematic focus area, building on continuity while acknowledging new realities. It also recognizes gaps in its "China knowledge base" and introduces a new dedicated inter-ministerial coordination mechanism within the Swiss government to increase policy coherence. The novel concept of a "Whole-of-Switzerland" approach wants that the Strategy relies on continued information exchange, consultation and coordination efforts across all stakeholders, vertically within government, and especially with academia, the private sector and civil society.

The evaluation of the implementation of Switzerland's China strategy against the self-defined objectives and priorities after two years of being in place is complicated by the Covid pandemic, which has impeded relevant cooperation and dialogue activities.

Both the inter-ministerial coordination mechanisms and the "Whole-of-Switzerland" approach have arguably not produced significant outcomes to date, though especially information flow and exchanges between governmental and non-governmental actors have likely increased. Switzerland's intelligence service shifted more attention to China, ramping up briefings for concerned actors on matters deemed sensitive. However, the Strategy's call to strengthen Switzerland's China knowledge base has so far not been met with relevant public investment or visible academic initiatives.

A difficult matter for the Federal Council was whether to adopt EU sanctions against China on grounds of human rights violations in Xinjiang, which has not yet resulted in a formal decision. Non-governmental actors have recalibrated their cooperation with Chinese partners, most prominently in the science and technology field, among others with new guideThe China strategy is the only countryspecific Swiss foreign policy strategy lines for Swiss higher education institutions for "responsible international collaborations" issued by swissuniversities, their umbrella organization.

However, Sino-Swiss relations are currently seen as intact by the Chinese side, despite the human rights dialogue and FTA update talks being halted by China. In January 2023, Liu He, China's just-retired Vice-Premier, framed China's approach to Switzerland as a "Switzerland first" policy (瑞士优先) during a meeting held at the sidelines of the World Economic Forum (WEF) in Davos with Swiss Federal Councilor for Financial Affairs, Karin Keller-Sutter.

#### The actors

The parliament remains active on China

There is a multitude of political actors involved in shaping the Swiss government's China Strategy or the public discourse. In the federal parliament, most political parties have turned skeptical on China, with the clearest exception being the right-wing party Schweizerische Volkspartei (SVP) and some parts of the liberal-economic party Freisinnig-Demokratische Partei (FDP). Parties such as the left-wing Sozialdemokratische Partei (SP) and the FDP have published their own China strategies.

The parliament remains active on China. At least 35 China-related parliamentarian initiatives have been launched since 2021, focusing on the four main issues of human rights, Chinese influence in Switzerland, China's coercive foreign policy and Switzerland's strategic positioning towards China.

Among private sector actors, Swiss industry associations such as Swissmem, the leading national association for Switzerland's machinery sector, have been most vocal about the need for continued engagement while balancing such business activities with higher awareness of risks and challenges. Switzerland's national business federation, Economiesuisse, seems to put its focus on behind-the-scenes work, specifically supporting the State Secretariat for Economic Affairs (SECO) in supervising the implementation of the Sino-Swiss FTA via a joint economic commission with China's MOFCOM.

Economiesuisse also lobbied against the introduction of an FDI screening mechanism or any other form of industrial policy for Switzerland. Other industry associations in the pharma or financial services sector have stayed largely silent in public on China-specific topics.

In terms of other actors, the Bern-based NGO "Gesellschaft für bedrohte Völker" has likely been most effective in influencing parliamentarian debate and action relating to human rights issues in Xinjiang. Academia has been focusing on the "Taiwan issue" (University of Zurich) on the one hand, and China's influence in Switzerland (University of Basel) on the other hand. A larger debate around the latter topic erupted following the study of Prof. Ralph Weber "Unified message, rhizomatic delivery" that set out to map links between personnel and positions of the United Front of the Chinese Communist Party and Switzerland based Chinese actors.

#### Future

The three main China-related challenges or decisions Switzerland is facing in the coming 12 months are the design and implementation of an FDI screening mechanism, the question of whether Switzerland's new responsible business framework will be expanded to include forced labor into the scope of extraterritorially effective duties for Swiss companies

when doing business in third countries, including in China, and the question whether the Federal Council will adopt the EU's sanctions against Xinjiang politicians.

First, the Swiss parliament has mandated the Federal Council to define an FDI screening to avert risks posed to critical infrastructure and public order. The Chinese economy and its state-guided firms were the main examples cited during this debate. Switzerland has traditionally been an advocate for liberal framework conditions and placing economic openness over potential national security concerns. It came as a surprise that the FDI screening amassed sufficient political backing, obliging government to work out a draft.

This draft is available now and was in public consultation with key stakeholders between May and September 2022. Once finalized, the instrument will be subject to an optional popular referendum and then the Federal Council decides the date of entry into force.

Second, Switzerland was early – in international comparison – to enact a responsible business framework, imposing a number of due diligence requirements for companies with more than CHF 40 million in revenues per year. Beyond this first step, the Federal Council already announced to review the EU's own "corporate sustainability due diligence directive," which will be applicable for large companies to identify possible gaps, and it is thus possible that the Federal Council will proactively introduce an even more comprehensive instrument.

Third, Switzerland has adopted the EU sanctions against Russia on grounds of the latter's blatant violation of international law and the UN charter in Ukraine. Switzerland lacks its own sanction instruments, but conditions in the "embargo law" stipulate when the government is obliged to adopt sanctions, namely if the UN Security Council as well as the OSCE enact them, and in other cases entitles it to optionally adopt sanctions from "key trading partners," which in practice is only the EU. All such sanctions, however, are – in Switzerland's domestic discourse – always weighed against its interest to stay neutral, rendering political decisions more complex.

Switzerland has previously joined calls led by Western countries for more scrutiny into the Xinjiang issue at the OHCHR. However, adopting EU sanctions presents a much more difficult decision. The prospect of Switzerland facing economic retaliation alone and the possibility of resorting to more proportionate means such as a revamped responsible business tool to rule out the complicity of Swiss firms in forced labor are likely key factors weighed in a cost-benefit calculus.

It is difficult to make a forecast for the next 12 months and beyond as the political appetite in government and parliament has evolved due to the pandemic and other international as well as national economic factors. The positions of newly elected Federal Councilors and upcoming official visits to China could be telling, but China's pro-Russian neutrality on Ukraine, the sudden dismantling of the Covid policy, and external pressure from the US and the EU make a full return to Switzerland's previous engagement posture more difficult and thus less likely. Full return to Switzerland's previous engagement posture is difficult

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

In conjunction with similar discussions in recent years elsewhere in Europe, Swiss parliamentarians across the political spectrum have intensified calls for closer engagement of Switzerland with Taiwan. The Federal Council, however, in all three most recent instances remained firm in its stance laid out also in the China Strategy from March 2021 that "in the sense of a One-China policy, Switzerland does not maintain separate diplomatic relations with the authorities of Taiwan," and instead pursues a "pragmatic approach to cooperation with Taiwan" at the technical, economic and cultural levels.

So, despite the fact that Taiwan is Switzerland's 6<sup>th</sup> largest export market in Asia and that Swiss export industries – predominantly in pharmaceuticals, precision tools and watches – may be able to save up to USD 42 billion in tariffs with a Free Trade Agreement with Taipei, the Federal Council responded in late 2020 that while not in principle against it, "in light of the common framework conditions and the global political constellation," it views a deeper consideration of this question as "not opportune."

A similar response was given in June last year to an inquiry to deepen the collaboration on culture, education, research and innovation with a new agreement between the two private organizations that coordinate bilateral exchange in absence of official representations – the Trade Office of Swiss Industries in Taipei and the Taipei Cultural and Economic Delegation in Switzerland. From the official side, therefore, a substantial change in policy or approach towards Taiwan seems unlikely.

With regards to parliamentarian politics, five Members of Parliament of the Swiss National Council paid Taiwan a five-day visit in February 2023. This was "a sign of support for Taiwan" in the words of one MP from the left-wing SP, also the co-president of the Switzerland-Taiwan parliamentary friendship group. He was joined by four colleagues from the Green party, the right-wing SVP and the SP.

Aside from meetings with Taiwanese parliamentarians and ministers, the MPs also met with President Tsai. The Chinese embassy in Bern issued a measured statement, raising their "deep concern" about the visit and accusing the parliamentarians of trying to draw political capital out of the visit.

On February 27, the FDP published the first dedicated Taiwan position paper among Swiss national-level political parties advocating for a measured policy. It ascribes Taiwan "high importance in the competition between democracies and autocracies" and calls on the Swiss government to more actively use the margin of maneuver of its One-China policy to improve relations with Taiwan.

# **United Kingdom**

3

High political relevance

United Kingdom

Focus on deepening economic ties Focus on derisking economic ties

Low political relevance

## United Kingdom: Shifting towards a critical stance towards China

**Tim Summers**, Assistant Professor, The Chinese University of Hong Kong (formerly Chatham House)

The UK's approach to China has shifted away from engagement towards a critical stance. As interest in China policy has grown, the political mood is pushing the government to veer more sharply against China. In terms of capacity, the UK is not particularly well placed to understand or work out how to deal with China or pursue an independent coherent approach. While there is moderate hedging in some particular areas, a more "hawkish" British approach to China looks set to continue. Politics and security are in command.

#### The action

The UK's approach to China has undergone dramatic swings over the last two decades. Following the handover of Hong Kong in 1997, bilateral relations improved during the Labour government (1997–2010) and the emphasis on commercial diplomacy at the beginning of the coalition government (2010–2015). A "freeze" in high-level official contacts following then Prime Minister Cameron's meeting with the Dalai Lama in 2012 gave way to intensified engagement and a "comprehensive global strategic partnership for the 21st century," marked by Chinese president Xi Jinping's October 2015 state visit to the UK and support for better economic relations with China, led by the finance ministry.

The UK's approach to China has shifted towards a more critical stance

However, since the 2016 Brexit referendum and changes in prime minister, the UK's approach to China has shifted from engagement towards a more critical stance, while "the Conservative Right influenced strongly from the United States began to mount a sustained attempt to change the overall narrative on China."<sup>445</sup>

The broader context is an uncertain British approach to international affairs, amid domestic challenges.<sup>446</sup> An official "Integrated Review" of international policy in March 2021 suggested among other things that the US would remain the most important partner for the UK, and implied an effort to balance different interests in China policy.<sup>447</sup> After changing prime ministers twice in 2022, the Conservative government under Rishi Sunak pulled back from formally designating China a "threat" as his short-lived predecessor, Liz Truss, indicated she might.<sup>448</sup> Sunak, however, identified China as a "systemic challenge" to the UK and its "values and interests," and said that his government would stick close to Washington on China policy.<sup>449</sup> At the same time, Sunak has hedged, referring in a major foreign policy speech to the need to avoid "rely[ing] on simplistic Cold War rhetoric" and touted "robust pragmatism" in dealing with the UK's "competitors."<sup>450</sup>

This hedging reflects the diversity of British interests across government, business and society. Economically, the UK has benefited from engagement with China, which is a significant trading partner and an important market for globally-focused British businesses.<sup>451</sup> However, economic relations have increasingly become securitized,<sup>452</sup> for example through the idea that the UK is unhealthily economically "dependent" on China.<sup>453</sup> Sectors such as universities are feeling more vulnerable even though they have so far benefited substantially from China in terms of student numbers and fees and access to China's growing research and innovative capabilities.

Several issues have dominated the turn to a more critical narrative, amid a widespread sense in the West that China has taken a more authoritarian turn. The vast majority of

British political and media opinion has reacted strongly to the Chinese government's responses to the prolonged unrest in Hong Kong of 2019, placing London and Beijing in stark opposition to each other when it comes to Hong Kong for the first time since the 1990s.<sup>454</sup> Reports about Xinjiang have added to the critical sentiment and featured prominently in parliament. Many politicians view China as supporting Russia's war in Ukraine.

These tensions are on display in the "refreshed" Integrated Review, published in March 2023.<sup>455</sup> This version includes a two-page overview of the UK's planned approach to China, short of the full "strategy" that some politicians had called for, but bringing together the approach to China in more detail than the 2021 Integrated Review.

Like the overall "refreshed" strategy document, this material on China is heavily tilted towards security concerns. It hyperbolically frames China as "an epoch-defining and systemic challenge with implications for almost every area of government policy and the everyday lives of British people," before outlining measures to "protect" the UK and emphasizing "alignment with our core allies and a broader group of partners." The section concludes with the intent to "engage directly with China" where possible, but the overall weight of the policy set out is a defensive response to perceived threats from China.

In a high-profile speech in late April 2023, the foreign minister, James Cleverly, elaborated on the three-point framework of the refreshed Integrated Review;<sup>456</sup> it offered more nuance than hoped for by those seeking an unambiguous critical stance, but still showed the extent to which British policy has shifted over the years, with prominent criticisms of China's approach to Xinjiang and Taiwan in particular.

#### The actors

China's prominence on the political agenda has attracted a growing number of actors. For many years, parliamentary interest did not reflect the importance of China across government, but this has changed, with references to China in parliament growing substantially (1,593 references in 2021, Exhibit 11).

Exhibit 11



This parliamentary focus on China has been driven by new lobby groups, including the Conservative Party's China Research Group of MPs (CRG), the London-based Inter-Parliamentary Alliance on China (IPAC), Hong Kong Watch (HKW), and the neoconservative Henry Jackson Society. All have adopted "hawkish" stances on China and pushed for reduced engagement, from Huawei's involvement in the UK's telecoms infrastructure to Xinjiang and Hong Kong. A high profile on China issues has given a number of MPs useful media exposure. Media coverage of China has been similar in tone to parliamentary debates, predominantly negative in reporting developments in China and their implications for the UK.<sup>458</sup>

Other groups, such as the UK National Committee on China – which aims to "strengthen decision making on China through education and dialogue"<sup>459</sup> – have been less influential. The traditional international affairs think tanks – Chatham House, IISS, RUSI – have delivered commentary and some research on China, though less than might be expected given the rising significance of China to the UK.<sup>460</sup> Businesses have kept a relatively low profile in the public arena, though the China Britain Business Council has published research on the benefits of bilateral economic ties.<sup>461</sup>

Growth in interest in China has not been matched by an increase in knowledge

In 2022, the heads of the UK's three intelligence agencies entered the China policy space with high-profile speeches, one jointly with an American counterpart.<sup>462</sup> The uncritical echoing of their messages in the media and parliament have contributed to the broader securitization of ties with China, from society and culture to the economy, as well as more traditional "security" fields of defense and foreign policy. These voices are not unrelated to the influence of the US government and US policy elites on the UK's China policy. In contrast, the approach to China from the UK's European neighbors does not feature prominently, as post-Brexit relations remain awkward.<sup>463</sup>

In sum, the political mood of a growing number of actors has been pushing the UK government to veer more sharply against China, as seen in the discussions around the "refreshed" Integrated Review.

#### The capacity

However, growth in interest in China has not been matched by an increase in knowledge or independent research. As the authors of recent Chatham House parliamentary evidence stated, "Expertise in China is already very limited in the UK."<sup>464</sup> This includes within the government, and much has been made by those who follow China policy of the relatively limited number of officials who speak Chinese.<sup>465</sup> There are very few parliamentarians with experience of China, including those who are active in the lobby groups mentioned above, though according to influential commentator on UK-China relations, Sam Hogg, "There is now a group of talented [parliamentary] staffers that speak Mandarin and float between [parliamentary] committees, helping them form their reports."<sup>466</sup>

Neither are there many UK-based commentators with China knowledge outside government and parliament, meaning a small group of voices dominates the airwaves on China issues. This includes in relation to Hong Kong, which attracts plenty of political discussion but very limited in-depth research or careful consideration of policy options and the range of British interests (somewhat surprisingly, given Hong Kong's history as a British colony). The academic community working on China is relatively compact, and has not grown much over the last couple of decades, in spite of the growth in China's global influence. The space in public debate is instead filled by lobby groups and analysis from elsewhere, particularly the United States.

The government has begun to respond to this, with a commitment in the "refreshed" Integrated Review to "doubling funding to develop China capabilities across government" (though it is not clear whether this will mainly be in the security parts of government). Nonetheless, in the short term at least, the UK does not have strong capacities in place to understand or work out how to deal with China, or pursue a coherent approach. Politics, not analysis, is therefore in the driving seat in shaping the UK's approach.

#### The future

The trends discussed above point to a growing range of China-related issues featuring in the UK's forthcoming policy debates, and part of the lobbying toolkit is gradually to expand the agenda from issue to issue, once government concessions or policy changes have been achieved.<sup>467</sup> Amid all of this, three broad issues may be particularly pertinent.

First, the question of Chinese presence in the UK. This is increasingly seen through political and security lenses and has resulted in the removal of Chinese companies from key sectors such as 5G, nuclear energy projects,<sup>468</sup> and investment in technology.<sup>469</sup> The UK government is unlikely to depart too far from Washington on these issues, though there is little debate about the state of the US or whether the UK's interests are aligned with Washington's.

In spite of the political prominence given to the question of Chinese presence and "influence" in the UK, Chinese stocks of investment are still very limited. Further, there is an absence of successful Chinese "influence" on the UK's politics and policy, which – as outlined above – have actually been moving away from engagement with China not towards it.<sup>470</sup> Nonetheless, the idea that China has malevolent intentions has become mainstream, and the securitization of ties with China is likely to continue.

Second, global issues such as climate change, development and economic growth are less prominent in the current discussions about China (and marginalized in the Integrated Review) but should play a greater role in thinking about how the UK achieves its wider international objectives. At the moment, the political mood mitigates against serious discussion about how to work with China in these areas, though this is on working-level agendas across relevant government departments.

A third issue which will remain prominent is Hong Kong. For historical reasons, this has always been much higher on the UK's China agenda than for other Western governments, and there are still influential political figures with strong personal interest in Hong Kong. The scheme announced in July 2020 to allow Hong Kong British National (Overseas) passport holders to move to the UK is creating a growing Hong Kong diaspora in Britain, often with strong political views about developments in Hong Kong. Meanwhile, Hong Kong has long been a major partner for British businesses in Asia, and its status as a global financial center creates opportunities for engagement from the City of London and British business. But boosted by political lobbying, the UK's approach to Hong Kong politics is likely to remain highly critical, as exemplified by the negative framing in the latest FCDO report on Hong Kong.

The securitization of ties with China is likely to continue In conclusion, a more critical British approach to China looks set to continue, with moderate hedging in some areas reflecting interests across government and other sectors. But overall, politics and security are in command.

#### Spotlight on Taiwan

On March 13,1972, when the UK and the PRC agreed to upgrade their bilateral relationship to full ambassadorial ties, London "acknowledged the position of the Chinese government that Taiwan is a province of the PRC," agreed to "remove their official representation in Taiwan," and "recognise[d] the Government of the PRC as the sole legal Government of China."<sup>472</sup> In parliament, the then Foreign Secretary said that "We held the view both at Cairo [1943] and at Potsdam [1945] that Taiwan should be restored to China. That view has not changed. We think that the Taiwan question is China's internal affair to be settled by the Chinese people themselves-,"<sup>473</sup> and the UK made a private written assurance to Beijing not to promote the position that Taiwan's status was "undetermined."<sup>474</sup>

The historical detail of the UK's position is often ignored.<sup>475</sup> Over the years, the UK's approach to Taiwan has evolved and Government ministers now often limit themselves to noting a "long-standing position that the Taiwan issue should be settled peacefully by people on both sides of the Taiwan strait," sometimes adding that the UK "has no plans to recognise Taiwan as a state." Meanwhile, there is some political pressure for closer relations – even "official" ones – with Taiwan.<sup>476</sup> In late 2022, the Trade Minister and Foreign Affairs Committee both visited Taiwan.<sup>477</sup> The growth in these 'quasi-official' ties aligns the UK more closely with Washington and those in Europe who have called for a more active approach to relations with Taiwan. Given the politics of China in the UK, that trend is likely to continue.

## Annex: Results of a survey among the authors of this study

Preliminary remark: The authors of this study completed a survey on the following questions. Some were non-exclusive with multiple responses possible. For example, a country could have both an official, as well as a sectoral China strategy. Furthermore, respondents could choose to skip any question. As a result of this methodological approach, the number of responses may not match the total number of participants for each section of the survey. Some of the questions were open-ended with some room for interpretation, such as what counts as an "unofficial" China strategy. Respondents could also indicate if they did not have enough knowledge or information to answer a specific question.

#### Has your country's government formulated an official national China Strategy?

#### Yes:

- Finland: Governmental Action Plan on China, 2021
- Germany: "Strategy on China", 2023
- Netherlands: Policy paper "The Netherlands and China: a new balance", 2019
- Norway: "The Government's China Strategy", 2007
- Sweden: Government Communication. Approach on matters relating to China, 2019
- Switzerland: China Strategy, 2021 2024

#### Does your country have an unofficial (internal) China strategy?

- Austria: Government is in the process of formulating a China strategy. An unpublished internal input paper serves as an initial reference point for the strategy elaboration.
- Belgium: Strategy of MOFA was validated in the first half of 2023, but not yet communicated
- Ireland: Speech by Minister for Foreign Affairs, May 2023
- UK: Speech by Minister for Foreign Affairs, spring 2023. Internal strategy has been referred to publicly

## Has your country's government formulated a national China Strategy as part of other government strategies?

- Czech Republic: Export Strategy for 2012 2020
- Denmark: China section in Foreign Policy Strategy
- France: Indo-Pacific Strategy
- Greece: Greece-China Tourism Action Plan for 2022–2024
- Latvia: Yearly report of Minister of Foreign Affairs to Parliament
- Lithuania: China referenced in National Security Strategy, 2021, and Indo-Pacific Strategy, July 2023
- Norway: Various strategies for different policy fields
- Spain: Foreign Action Strategy for 2021 2024, National Security Strategy, 2021
- Switzerland: Foreign Policy Strategy 2020 2023

#### Does your country have a China strategy formulated by political parties?

- Lithuania: Homeland Union-Lithuanian Christian Democrats and Freedom Party (China briefly referenced in their respective 2020 electoral manifestoes)
- Switzerland: SP (social democrats), FDP (liberals)
- Czech Republic: Pirate Party unofficially decides to leave the 16+1 platform

- Germany: CDU, SPD, FDP
- European Union: EPP, Renew
- Netherlands: GroenLinks (Greens/EFA), VVD (Renew)

#### Does your country have a sectoral China strategy?

- Czech Republic
- Germany
- Greece
- Italy
- Norway
- Slovakia
- Spain
- UK

# Does your country have an inter-ministerial China coordination group for China?

- Austria: Inter-ministerial group for China coordinators
- Belgium: Unofficial
- Finland: Valtionhallinnon Kiina-verkosto
- Germany: Meeting at state-secretary level of relevant ministries
- Netherlands: Interdepartementaal China Beraad (ICB) & Interdepartementaal Directeurenoverleg China
- Norway: Various groups and policy fields
- Poland: Inter-Ministerial Team for the Coordination of Activities for the Development of the Strategic Partnership with China
- Spain: Inter-ministerial coordination committee
- Sweden: China Network of the Government Offices
- Switzerland: Interdepartmental Working Group (IDAG)
- UK: Inter-departmental coordination

# Does your country have a government-business consultation mechanism for China?

- Czech Republic: Czech-Chinese Joint Chamber of Mutual Cooperation
- Finland: Team Finland network
- Germany: Asia-Pacific Association of German Business (Ministry of economics in coordination with 5 major business associations, chaired by BDI)
- Ireland: Team Ireland in China
- Norway: Yes (no name)
- Spain: Spanish-Chinese Business Advisory Council
- Sweden: Team Sweden China
- Switzerland: Yes (no name)
- UK: Various bodies engage business and government, such as CBI or China Britain Business Council

## Does your country have a national FDI screening mechanism?

Yes:

Austria

- Belgium
- Czech Republic
- Denmark
- European Union
- Finland
- Germany
- Hungary
- Italy
- Latvia
- Lithuania
- Netherlands
- Norway
- Poland
- Portugal
- Romania
- Slovakia
- Spain
- UK

#### Considered:

- France
- Ireland
- Sweden
- Switzerland

#### No:

- Bulgaria
- Greece

#### Does your country have a national China competence centre?

- Netherlands: Dutch China Knowledge Network (CKN)
- Sweden: Swedish National China Center

# Does your country have a toolkit to mitigate foreign interference in research and innovation?

- Denmark: Commission on guidelines for international cooperation on research and innovation, 2022
- Germany: Guidelines by Ministry of Education and Science and guidelines by research institutions, 2022
- Netherlands: National Contact Point for Knowledge Security, 2022
- Norway: Various tools
- Switzerland: Towards Responsible International Collaborations: A Guide for Swiss Higher Education Institutions, 2022
- UK: Various tools

# Does your country's government have a China information or contact point for municipalities?

Finland: China desk at the MFA

- · Germany: plans to establish coordination mechanism on China with subnational levels
- Netherlands: Informatie- en Contactpunt (ICP) voor verzoeken uit China

# Has your country's government done an assessment of strategic dependencies on China?

Yes, an official report was published:

- European Union
- Finland
- Netherlands

#### Assessment only for internal purposes:

- France
- Latvia
- Lithuania

#### Assessment in progress:

- Czech Republic
- Germany
- Norway
- Poland

#### No assessment planned yet:

- Austria
- Greece
- Ireland
- Slovakia

#### Rest: Don't know/unsure:

- Belgium
- Bulgaria
- Denmark
- Hungary
- Italy
- Portugal
- Romania
- Spain
- Sweden
- Switzerland
- UK

# What is the highest level exchange your country has had with Taiwan in recent years (government and/or parliament)?

- Austria: Werner Amon, Parliamentarian (1994-2019), 2018
- Bulgaria: Rumen Yonchev, Ventsislav Lakov, Petya Raeva, Vladimir Toshev, Members of Bulgaria's National Assembly on a private trip during holiday period (trip paid by Taiwan), 2014
- Czech Republic: Markéta Pekarová Adamová, Speaker of the Chamber of Deputies of the Czech Parliament in 2023
- Denmark: Pia Kjærsgaard, Member of parliament, 2019

- Finland: Petri Peltonen, Under Secretary of State, Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment, 2022
- France: Alain Richard, Vice-President of the Senate and Head of the Senate-Taiwan study and exchange group. Former Minister of Defense, 2023
- Germany: Bettina Stark-Watzinger, Minister of Education and Science, 2023
- Ireland: Parliamentarians John McGuinness (FF), Brendan Smith (FF), Cathal Berry (Independent) and senators Seán Kyne (FG), Martin Conway (FG), 2023
- Italy: Interparliamentary friendship group, 2016
- Latvia: Parliamentary delegation of Baltic states, 2021
- Lithuania: Aušrinė Armonaitė Minister Economy and Innovation, 2023
- Netherlands: Rudmer Heerema, Chair of the Parliamentary Comittee on Foreign Affairs, 2023
- Poland: Grzegorz Piechowiak, Deputy Minister of Economic Development and Technology, 2022
- Romania: Catalin Tenita, Member of Parliament (Chamber of Deputies), 2023
- Slovakia: Peter Gerhart, Deputy Minister of Economy in 2022, Milan Laurenčík, Deputy Speaker of Parliament in 2022
- Spain: Rosa Romero Sánchez, Chair of the Health Commission Congress of Deputies, 2023
- Sweden: Håkan Jevrell, State secretary to Minister for International Development Cooperation and Foreign Trade Johan Forssell., December 2022
- Switzerland: Fabian Molina, National Councilor (Co-President Parliamentary Friendship Group Switzerland-Taiwan), 2023
- UK: Trade Minister Greg Hands, 2022
- N/A: Hungary, Belgium, Portugal, Greece, Norway

#### Is your country part of the China-CEEC Cooperation Mechanism (14+1)?

Yes, my country is part of the China-CEEC Cooperation Mechanism.

- Czech Republic
- Greece
- Hungary
- Poland
- Slovakia

Yes, but my country has downgraded participation (e.g. from prime minister to cabinet minister).

- Bulgaria
- Romania

My country was part of the China-CEEC Cooperation mechanism, but is not anymore.

- Latvia
- Lithuania

No, my country was never part of the China-CEEC Cooperation Mechanism.

- France
- Germany
- Ireland
- European Union
- Switzerland
- Sweden

- UK
- Finland
- Denmark
- Spain
- Netherlands
- Austria
- Belgium
- Italy
- Portugal
- Norway

### Does your country have a BRI cooperation agreement?

Yes, there is a high-level BRI cooperation agreement.

- Italy
- Portugal
- Lithuania
- Latvia
- Bulgaria
- Romania
- Poland
- Slovakia
- Czech Republic
- Hungary
- Greece

Yes, there are sectoral BRI cooperation agreements.

- Switzerland
- Austria

### No, there is no BRI cooperation agreement.

- France
- Germany
- Ireland
- European Union
- Sweden
- UK
- Finland
- Denmark
- Spain
- Netherlands
- Belgium
- Norway

# Does your country participate in the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB)?

Yes:

- Austria
- Belgium
- Denmark

- Finland
- France
- Germany
- Greece
- Hungary
- Ireland
- Italy
- Netherlands
- Norway
- Polska
- Portugal
- Romania
- Spain
- Sweden
- Switzerland
- UK

## No:

- European Union
- Bulgaria
- Czech Republic
- Latvia
- Lithuania
- Slovakia

## Endnotes

- 1 | Lucas Erlbacher (2022). Austria: From the Chinese Hoffnungsmarkt to European strategic dependence, in John Seaman et al. (eds.), Dependence in Europe's Relations with China, Report by European Think-tank Network on China (ETNC), April 2022, pp.41-47, see <u>link</u>.
- 2 | Die Presse (2012), 'Dalai Lama beendet bisher längsten Österreich-Besuch', 27 Mai 2012, <u>https://www.diepresse.com/761228/dalai-lama-beendet-bisher-laengsten-oesterreich-besuch</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023). Die Presse (2013), '"Panda-Diplomatie": Wien und Peking versöhnen sich', 6 September 2013, <u>https://www.diepresse.com/1449625/panda-diplomatie-wien-und-peking-versoehnen-sich</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 3 | APA (2015). Fischer zog positive Bilanz nach China-Reise, Salzburger Nachrichten, 27th March 2015, <u>https://www.sn.at/politik/weltpolitik/fischer-zog-positive-bilanz-nach-china-reise-2621842</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 4 | Besides Austria, Belarus, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), the EU and Switzerland also participated in 16+1 or CEEC summits as observers. While the inclusion of observers to CEEC summits in 2015 has been seen as a reaction to criticism against the format for seeking to divide to the EU, Austria's participation in CEEC summit is regarded as having been economically motivated. See Grieger, G. (2018). China, the 16+1 format and the EU. Briefing, European Parliamentary Research Service (EPRS), September 2018; Reiterer, M. (2023). 'Die Außenpolitik gegenüber den Staaten Asiens', in Martin Senn et al. (eds.), Handbuch Außenpolitik Österreichs, pp 663–677.
- 5 | Grübler et al. (2018), 'Economic Policy Implications of the Belt and Road Initiative for CESEE and Austria', The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies, Policy Notes and Reports 23, June 2018. WKO Wien (2017), 'Für Wien - Die neue Seidenstraße', Wirtschaftskammer Wien, November 2017.
- 6 | Adam G. and Eichmann H. (2018), 'Firmenübernahmen und Firmenbeteiligungen durch chinesische Investoren in Österreich aus der Sicht der betrieblichen Akteure', im Auftrag von AK Wien, September 2018.
- 7 | Republik Österreich Bundespräsident (2018), 'Gemeinsame Erklärung zur Errichtung einer freundschaftlichen strategischen Partnerschaft zwischen der Volksrepublik China und der Republik Österreich', 8 April 2018, <u>https://www.bundespraesident.at/aktuelles/detail/gemeinsame-erk-</u> <u>laerung-zur-errichtung-einer-freundschaftlichen-strategischen-partnerschaft-zwischen-der-volks-</u> <u>republik-china-und-der-republik-oesterreich</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 8 | Johann Frank (2022), 'Risikobild Österreich 2022', in Sicher und Morgen? Risikolandschaft Österreich 2022, report by Bundesminister für Landesverteidigung, April 2022, pp.8-42.
- 9 | Advantage Austria (2019), 'Austria in China Austrian business community indicator survey 2018', January 2019. Advantage Austria (2019), 'Austria in China - Business confidence survey 2019', December 2019. Advantage Austria (2020), 'Austria in China - Business confidence survey 2020', December 2020. Advantage Austria (2021), 'Austria in China - Business confidence survey 2021', December 2021.
- 10 | Adam Urosevic (2020), 'Austria and the Growing US–Chinese Rivalry: From Cold War Neutrality to European Solidarity?', in Mario Esteban and Miguel Otero (eds), Europe in the Face of US– China Rivalry, Report by European Think-tank Network on China (ETNC), January, pp. 35–38.
- 11 | Bundesministerium für europäische und internationale Angelegenheiten (2021), 'Außenminister Schallenberg zu 50 Jahre diplomatische Beziehungen mit China', 28 Mai 2021, <u>https://www. bmeia.gv.at/ministerium/presse/reden/2021/05/aussenminister-schallenberg-zu-50-jahre-diplomatische-beziehungen-mit-china/</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 12 | In 2022, China represented Austria's second biggest export market outside the European single market with nearly three percent of Austria's total exports. WKO (2022). Österreichs Aussenhandelsergebnisse Jänner bis September 2022 Vorläufige Ergebnisse, Wirtschaftskammer Österreich, December 2022.
- 13 | Lucas Erlbacher (2020), 'Austria: a non-confrontational road to European economic sovereignty', in in John Seaman (eds.), Covid-19 and Europe-China Relations, Report by European Think-tank Network on China (ETNC), April 2020, pp.9-13.
- 14 | ORF (2021), 'Nehammer gegen Boykott von Olympia in Peking', 14 December 2021, <u>https://orf.at/stories/3240096/</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 15 | Alexander Schallenberg (2019), 'China-Strategie des Außenministeriums (4048/AB)', Anfragebeantwortung durch den Bundesminister für Europa, Integration und Äußeres Mag. Alexander Schallenberg, September 2019, <u>https://www.parlament.gv.at/gegenstand/XXVI/AB/4048</u>.
- 16 | Kurier (2023), 'Österreich verhängt Corona-Testpflicht über Einreisende aus China', 5 January 2023, <u>https://kurier.at/politik/ausland/corona-testpflicht-fuer-einreisende-aus-china-in-deutsch-land/402281564</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 17 | This is in contrast to previous years, in which human rights issues played a significant role in the bilateral relations between Austria and China. In particular, human rights issues were repeatedly raised during high-level bilateral meetings.
- 18 | Lucas Erlbacher (to be published), 'Austria: a tacit political consensus for stable relations with the People's Republic of China', a report by the Council of Geostrategy.
- 19 | For instance, the Austrian Economic Chambers (Wirtchaftskammer) has been crucial in supporting the government's effort to deepen economic ties. The Federation of Austrian Industries (Industriellenvereinigung) has echoed Austria's call for ensuring fair competition with China. Lastly, the Chamber of Labour (Arbeiterkammer), on its side, has early on advocated for a strengthening

of investment control measures. See. Industriellenvereinigung (2021), 'Fairen Wettbewerb mit China sicherstellen', IV-Standpunkt, April 2021. Bundesarbeiterkammer (2017), 'Stellungnahme zum Vorschlag für eine Verordnung zur Schaffung eines Rahmens für die Überprüfung ausländischer Direktinvestitionen in der EU COM(2017) 487', 5 January 2017.

- 20 | Rathauskorrespondenz Stadt Wien (2021), 'Großes Goldenes Ehrenzeichen des Landes Wien für chinesischen Botschafter Li Xiaosi', 26 Mai 2021, <u>https://presse.wien.gv.at/2021/05/26/</u> <u>grosses-goldenes-ehrenzeichen-des-landes-wien-fuer-chinesischen-botschafter-li-xiasoi</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 21 | OeNB (2022), Inward direct investment positions broken down by region, <u>https://www.oenb.at/</u> isaweb/report.do?lang=EN&report=9.3.31 (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 22 | Wrage C. and Kullik J. (2022), 'After Kuka Germany's Lessons Learned from Chinese Takeovers', 21 July 2022, <u>https://chinaobservers.eu/after-kuka-germanys-lessons-learned-from-chinese-takeovers/</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 23 | Martin Šebeňa, Thomas Chan, Matej Šimalčík (2023), 'The China factor Economic exposures and security implications in an interdependent world', Report by Central European Institute of Asian Studies (CEIAS), March 2023.
- 24 | For this, the yearly reports of Austria's ten strongest brands a ranking generated by the brand value consultancy Brand Finance were examined. See. Brand Finance (2022), 'Österreich 25 2022', October 2022.
- 25 | Karl Nehammer (2022), 'China-Strategie Papier (8866/AB)', Anfragebeantwortung durch den Bundeskanzler Karl Nehammer, MSc zu der schriftlichen Anfrage (8993/J) der Abgeordneten Dr. Helmut Brandstätter, February 16 2022.
- 26 | Phelim Kine and Stuart Lau (2023), 'Ukraine is changing the math for countries caught between the U.S. and China', Politico, 28 Match 2023, <u>https://www.politico.com/news/2023/03/28/allies-against-china-europe-putin-xi-00089077</u> (last accessed on 03.04.2023).
- 27 | Wiener Zeitung (2023), Nehammer: Vorwurf Russlands zu Neutralität "geht ins Leere", 17 February 2023, <u>https://www.wienerzeitung.at/nachrichten/politik/oesterreich/2178678-Nehammer-Vorwurf-Russlands-zu-Neutralitaet-geht-ins-Leere.html</u> (last accessed on 03.04.2023).
- 28 | Manuel Escher and Anna Giulia Fink (2023), 'Das Märchen vom rot-weiß-roten Brückenbauer', Der Standard, 28 March 2023, <u>https://www.derstandard.de/story/2000144763843/das-maerchen-vom-rot-weiss-roten-brueckenbauer</u> (last accessed on 03.04.2023).
- 29 | BMEIA (2023), Austrian Office Taipei Austrian Institutions, <u>https://www.bmeia.gv.at/en/austrian-office-taipei/austria-in-taiwan/austrian-institutions/</u> (last accessed on 15.03.2023). Österreichische Präsidentschaftskanzlei (2018). Gemeinsame Erklärung zur Errichtung einer freundschaftlichen strategischen Partnerschaft zwischen der Volksrepublik China und der Republik Österreich, 8th April 2018.
- 30 | The EU-Taiwan Tracker by the Central European Institute of Asian Studies (CEIAS) lists no visits between Austrian and Taiwanese officials, no activity by the Austrian government related to Taiwan, as well as only two parliamentarian activities since 2019. CEIAS (2023), 'EU-Taiwan Tracker', <u>https://eutwtracker.ceias.eu/tracker</u> (last accessed on 15.03.2023).
- 31 Using the search-engine of the Austrian Press Agency (APA), the public statements of government ministers in the last five federal governments, i.e since December 2017, were analyzed. Specifically, the Federal Chancellors, Vice-Federal Chancellors, Foreign Ministers, and Ministers of Economic Affairs were examined. Through this only one statement addressing Taiwan was identified.
- 32 | Only two parliamentarian activities explicitly about Taiwan including parliamentarian resolutions, inquiries to the federal government, citizen initiative and committee reports have been identified for the current (10.2019 -) and last (11.2017 10.2019) legislatures. In addition, an analysis of the parliament's stenographic protocols reveals that there has been no significant political debate on Taiwan during the parliament's plenary session.
- 33 | The friendship agreement signed in 2015 between the Austrian province of Styria and the Tainan city represents the only institutionalized sub-national relationship identified.
- 34 | Gerstl, A. and Mandl M. (2023), 'Austria: Strong economic relations with scope for deeper ties', in Matej Šimalčík et al. (eds.), Beyond the Dumpling Alliance - Tracking Taiwan's relations with Central and Eastern Europe, March 2023, pp.20-26.
- 35 | Taiwan Today (2023), 'Taiwan, Austria hold economic dialogue, sign MOU on innovation cooperation', March 15 2023, <u>https://taiwantoday.tw/news.php?unit=6&post=234040</u> (last accessed on 26.03.2023).
- 36 | Guillaume Defossé, Voorstel van resolutie betreffende de open strategische autonomie van België in de wereld, Parl. St. Kamer, 2022-2023, nr. 2591/004, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/flwb/</u> pdf/55/2591/55K2591004.pdf.
- 37 | Correspondence with government official, March 2023.
- 38 | Frank Segers, Wat is het probleem met Eandis en State Grid?, VRT NWS, 27 September 2016, https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2016/09/27/wat\_is\_het\_probleemmeteandisenstategrid-1-2779241/; Pascal Dendooven & Pascal Sertyn, Eandis zoekt een uitweg, De Standaard, 3 October 2016, https://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf20161002\_02497130.
- 39 | Geert Bourgeois, Denk na over regels voor buitenlandse investeringen, De Tijd, 1 October 2016, <u>https://www.tijd.be/tablet/newspaper/politiek-economie/denk-na-over-regels-voor-buitenlandse-investeringen/9815122.html</u>.

- 40 | Peter Van Rompuy, Vraag om uitleg over een wetgevend kader voor buitenlandse investeringen in strategische sectoren, 19/09/2017, <u>https://www.vlaamsparlement.be/nl/parlementair-werk/com-</u> missies/commissievergaderingen/1154266/verslag/1190333.
- 41 | Belgian government, Wetsontwerp houdende instemming met het samenwerkingsakkoord van 30 november 2022 tussen de Federale Staat, het Vlaams Gewest, het Waals Gewest, het Brussels Hoofdstedelijk Gewest, de Vlaamse Gemeenschap, de Franse Gemeenschap, de Duitstalige Gemeenschap, de Franse Gemeenschapscommissie en de Gemeenschappelijke Gemeenschapscommissie tot het invoeren van een mechanisme voor de screening van buitenlandse directe investeringen, Parl. St. Kamer, 2022-2023, nr. 3079/001, pp. 4-5, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/FLWB/ PDF/55/3079/55K3079001.pdf</u>.
- 42 | Kevin Verbelen, Buitenlandse Investeringen in België Efficiënt Controleren, Alstublieft, 2 September 2022, <u>https://www.agoria.be/nl/regelgeving-finance/internationale-handel/buitenlandse-inves-</u> teringen-in-belgie-efficient-controleren-alstublieft; Informal conversation, May 2023.
- 43 | Jonathan Holslag, Every Ship a War Ship, September 2022, <u>https://www.jonathanholslag.be/</u> wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Every-Ship-A-Warship-final.pdf.
- 44 | Sociaal-Economische Raad van Vlaanderen, Screening buitenlandse directe investeringen Een stand van zaken, 7 May 2020, <u>https://publicaties.vlaanderen.be/view-file/36207</u>.
- 45 | Jan Jambon, Vraag om uitleg over de economische inmenging van China in de scheepvaart, 11 October 2022, <u>https://www.vlaamsparlement.be/nl/parlementair-werk/commissies/commissiever-gaderingen/1665855/verslag/1669001</u>.
- 46 | Hadja Lahbib, 'De oorlog eindigt als Rusland stopt met vechten', De Tijd, 9 October 2022, <u>https://www.tijd.be/politiek-economie/belgie/federaal/hadja-lahbib-de-oorlog-eindigt-als-rusland-stopt-met-vechten/10419104.html;</u> Barbara Moens, Belgium triggers Chinese backlash with port security warning, Politico, 25 October 2022, <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/china-fume-accusation-belgium-ports-foreign-affairs-minister-hadja-lahbib/</u>.
- 47 | Theo Francken, Voorstel van resolutie betreffende een internationaal onafhankelijk onderzoek naar de grondoorzaken van de wereldwijde COVID-19-crisis, Parl. St. Kamer, 2019-2020, nr. 1261/001, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/FLWB/PDF/55/1261/55K1261001.pdf</u>; Dirk Coosemans, Chinese ambassadeur stuurt boze brief naar Theo Francken die onafhankelijk onderzoek naar coronavirus eist, Het Nieuwsblad, 27 May 2020, <u>https://www.nieuwsblad.be/cnt/ dmf20200526\_04972361</u>.
- 48 | Samuel Cogolati, Voorstel van resolutie waarbij wordt opgeroepen tot veroordeling van de acties van de regering van de Volksrepubliek China tegen de Oeigoeren en de moslimminderheden in de Oeigoerse autonome regio Xinjiang, Parl. St. Kamer, 2020-2021, nr. 1780/001, <u>https://www. dekamer.be/FLWB/PDF/55/1780/55K1780001.pdf;</u> Mathias Verbergt, Het Ecolo-Kamerlid dat in het vizier van Peking kwam, De Standaard, 24 March 2021, <u>https://www.standaard.be/cnt/ dmf20210323\_98034218</u>.
- 49 | Yuan Yang, Belgium's cyber security agency links China to spear phishing attack on MP, Financial Times, 1 March 2023, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/5c32261c-b1a6-488e-9002-0ca9e0c8ff1b</u>.
- 50 | Els Van Hoof, Voorstel van resolutie over de toenemende dreiging ten aanzien van Taiwan, Parl. St. Kamer, 2022-2023, nr. 2993/001, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/FLWB/PDF/55/2993/55K2993001.</u> <u>pdf;</u> Tom Van de Weghe, Chinese ambassadeur in België waarschuwt voor resolutie over Taiwan: "Jullie spelen met vuur", VRT NWS, 9 December 2022, <u>https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2022/12/09/</u> <u>chinese-ambassadeur-in-belgie-waarschuwt-voor-resolutie-over-tai/</u>.
- 51 | Guillaume Defossé, Voorstel van resolutie betreffende de open strategische autonomie van België in de wereld, Parl. St. Kamer, 2022-2023, nr. 2591/004, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/flwb/pd-f/55/2591/055K2591004.pdf</u>.
- 52 | De Belgische Kamer van Volksvertegenwoordigers, China Zittingsperiode 55; <u>https://www.deka-mer.be/kvvcr/showpage.cfm?section=/flwb&language=nl&cfm=/site/wwwcfm/flwb/ListOneKey-word.cfm?key=0005394&legislat=55</u>.
- 53 Vicky Reynaert, Voorstel van resolutie betreffende de veroordeling van de willekeurige detentie in "heropvoedingskampen" en de ondersteuning van internationale en Europese initiatieven ter bescherming van de Oeigoeren, Parl. St. Kamer, 2020-2021, nr. 1789/004, pp. 20-21 <u>https://www. dekamer.be/FLWB/PDF/55/1789/55K1789004.pdf;</u> Dienst Integraal Verslag, Integraal Verslag Plenumvergadering, Parl. St. Kamer, 2021-2022, nr. PLEN 182, p. 29, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/ doc/PCRI/PDF/55/ip182.pdf</u>.
- 54 | Annick Ponthier, Voorstel van resolutie houdende de veroordeling van de Chinese dreigementen tegen Taiwan, Parl. St. Kamer, 2022-2023, nr. 2984/001, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/FLWB/PD-F/55/2984/55K2984001.pdf</u>.
- 55 | Guillaume Defossé, Voorstel van resolutie betreffende de open strategische autonomie van België in de wereld, Parl. St. Kamer, 2022-2023, nr. 2591/004, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/flwb/pd-f/55/2591/55K2591004.pdf</u>.
- 56 | Kevin Verbelen, Buitenlandse Investeringen in België Efficiënt Controleren, Alstublieft, 2 September 2022, <u>https://www.agoria.be/nl/regelgeving-finance/internationale-handel/buitenlandse-investeringen-in-belgie-efficient-controleren-alstublieft</u>.
- 57 | Raphael Cockx & Piet Depuydt, Hoe gevaarlijk zijn de Chinese containers in onze havens?, De Tijd, 14 October 2022, <u>https://www.tijd.be/ondernemen/logistiek/hoe-gevaarlijk-zijn-de-chinese-containers-in-onze-havens/10420686.html</u>.
- 58 | Camille Gijs, Belgian MP to funds: Divest from Chinese companies complicit in Uyghur forced labor, Politico, 9 December 2022, <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/samuel-cogolati-china-uy-ghur-forced-labor-companies-complicit/</u>.

- 59 | Giselle Nath, Pokeren om microships, De Standaard, 26 November 2022, <u>https://www.standaard.</u> be/cnt/dmf20221124\_96550902.
- 60 | De Belgische Kamer van Volksvertegenwoordigers, Wetsontwerp houdende instemming met het Uitleveringsverdrag tussen het Koninkrijk België en de Volksrepubliek China, opgemaakt te Beijing op 31 oktober 2016, Parl. St. Kamer, 2018-2019, nr. 3312/004, <u>https://www.dekamer. be/doc/flwb/pdf/54/3312/54k3312004.pdf#search=%22uitleveringsverdrag%20%2055k.54k%20 %3Cin%3E%20keywords%22; Giselle, Nath Hoe België China nietsvermoedend hielp in zijn strijd tegen dissidenten, De Standaard, 20 March 2022, <u>https://www.standaard.be/cnt/</u> <u>dmf20210318 96519641;</u></u>
- 61 | Tine Peeters, Internationale experts aan België: 'Pas op met uitleveringsverdrag aan China', De Morgen, 7 October 2019, <u>https://www.demorgen.be/nieuws/internationale-experts-aan-bel-gie-pas-op-met-uitleveringsverdrag-aan-china~b97ff081/</u>; Anissa Bougrea & Giselle Nath, België speelt Peking in de kaart met uitleveringsverdrag, De Standaard, 8 July 2020, <u>https://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf20200707\_97640514</u>; Bruno Struys, België levert voortaan verdachten uit aan China, De Morgen, 19 January 2021, <u>https://www.demorgen.be/nieuws/belgie-levert-voorta-an-verdachten-uit-aan-china-we-lopen-nu-ook-hier-gevaar~bba195bf/</u>.
- 62 | Jonathan Holslag, "Worse than Cocaine" assessing the impact of Alibaba's mega-hub in Liege, Belgium, February 2023, <u>https://www.jonathanholslag.be/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Alibaba-fin.</u> pdf.
- 63 | Giselle Nath, Staatsveiligheid waarschuwt voor Chinese spionage in Luik, De Standaard, 8 May 2021, <u>https://www.standaard.be/cnt/dmf20210507\_97476569</u>.
- 64 | Correspondence with government official, March 2023.
- 65 | Tom Van de Weghe, Chinese ambassadeur in België waarschuwt voor resolutie over Taiwan: "Jullie spelen met vuur", VRT NWS, 9 December 2022, <u>https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2022/12/09/</u> <u>chinese-ambassadeur-in-belgie-waarschuwt-voor-resolutie-over-tai/:</u>
- 66 | Annick Ponthier, Voorstel van resolutie houdende de veroordeling van de Chinese dreigementen tegen Taiwan, Parl. St. Kamer, 2022-2023, nr. 2984/001, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/FLWB/PD-F/55/2984/55K2984001.pdf</u>.
- 67 | Els Van Hoof, Voorstel van resolutie over de toenemende dreiging ten aanzien van Taiwan, Parl. St. Kamer, 2022-2023, nr. 2993/001, <u>https://www.dekamer.be/FLWB/PDF/55/2993/55K2993001.</u> pdf.
- 68 China, Bulgaria lift ties to strategic partnership, Xinhua: 4 July 2019, available at <a href="http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2019-07/04/c\_138196385.htm">http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2019-07/04/c\_138196385.htm</a> It is important to note that "strategic partnership" has a different connotation in Chinese diplomatic practice, referring to a mid-range ranking of bilateral ties, unlike Western usage of the term to refer to the highest possible level of diplomatic engagement.
- 69 | Notably, this happened immediately after Bulgaria finished its first ever term as EU Council Presidency – an endeavor that put to the test the administrative capacity of Bulgarian institutions. Arguably the timing and location of the 16+1 Summit Meeting in Sofia was chosen purposefully, in order to blend seamlessly and appear as a natural continuation of the EU Council Presidency. The venue used was the one that hosted the EU heads of states, even the halls and uniformed staff at the location still bore the logo of the Presidency.
- 70 | Vladimir Shopov, Let a thousand contacts bloom: How China competes for influence in Bulgaria, European Council of Foreign Relations: 10 March 2022, available at <u>https://ecfr.eu/publication/let-a-thousand-contacts-bloom-how-china-competes-for-influence-in-bulgaria/</u>
- 71 | Rumena Filipova, Chinese Influence in Bulgaria: Knocking on a Wide Open Door?, CHOICE: 8 September 2019, available at <u>https://chinaobservers.eu/chinese-influence-in-bulgaria-knocking-on-a-wide-open-door/</u>
- 72 | In mid-2022, Lachezar Dinev from the Bulgarian-Chinese Chamber of Commerce and Industry saw missed historical opportunities to boost China-bound Bulgarian exports at a time of favorable currency exchange fluctuations and cheap transport options due to keeping vacant for months the posts of Bulgarian ambassador in Beijing as well as the consular positions in Shanghai and the Chinese capital. Source: Защо България не успява да развие търговските си отношения с Китай? [Why Bulgaria fails to develop its trade relations with China?], Investor.bg with content from Bloomberg TV Bulgaria: 18 July 2022, available at <a href="https://www.investor.bg/a/336-azi-ya/356430-zashto-balgariya-ne-uspyava-da-razvie-targovskite-si-otnosheniya-s-kitay">https://www.investor.bg/a/336-azi-ya/356430-zashto-balgariya-ne-uspyava-da-razvie-targovskite-si-otnosheniya-s-kitay</a>
- 73 | Such as Schengen and Eurozone entry; the eradication of Russian influence and state capture, especially in the energy sector; the official stance on providing military support and weapons to Ukraine.
- 74 According to CEIAS EU-China Academic Engagement Tracker, there are 110 recorded bilateral academic links but only 2 Bulgarian institutions appear to have a screening mechanism: <u>https://</u> <u>academytracker.ceias.eu/map/eu/Bulgaria</u>
- 75 | There are no official statistics on the current number of Mandarin language students in Bulgaria. According to CRI Bulgaria, back in 2013 active learners amounted to 1649 people. By 2022, these numbers have increased substantially with 21 language centers opened across the country by the Confucius Institute since 2006. Early Chinese language education is offered at kinder-gartens and schools not only in big cities (Sofia, Plovdiv, Veliko Tarnovo, Burgas, Stara Zagora, Ruse) but also smaller municipalities such as Sliven, Targovishte, Popovo, Bobov dol, Isperih, Tutrakan. A Chinese language summer camp is regularly hosted in the village of Momchilovtsi in the Rodopi mountain which has a long established relationship with a Chinese dairy company using the village's name for its branding of yoghurt products building a narrative around longevity

and long life expectancy. University degrees in Chinese Studies and related linguistic disciplines are taught at Sofia University, Plovdiv University and the University of Veliko Tarnovo. See: Общо 21 учебни центъра е открил Институт Конфуций у нас, китайски се учи в детски градини, училища и университети [In total 21 language centers has opened the Confucius Institute in Bulgaria, Chinese is thaught in kindergardens, schools and universities], BTA: 22 January 2023, available at <a href="https://www.bta.bg/bg/news/bulgaria/394111-obshto-21-uchebni-tsentara-e-otkril-in-stitut-konfutsiy-u-nas-kitayski-se-uchi-v">https://www.bta.bg/bg/news/bulgaria/394111-obshto-21-uchebni-tsentara-e-otkril-in-stitut-konfutsiy-u-nas-kitayski-se-uchi-v</a>

- 76 | България дръзна да разкритикува Китай в ООН [Bulgaria dared to criticize China in the UN], Sega Daily: 1 November 2022, available at <u>https://www.segabg.com/hot/category-foreign-country/</u> <u>bulgariya-druzna-da-razkritikuva-kitay-oon</u>
- 77 | A centrist political party in Bulgaria (part of ALDE's group in the European Parliament) whose electorate comprises predominantly of representatives of the Turkish ethnic and Muslim religious communities in the country.
- 78 | According to the latest national census completed in 2021, National Statistics Institute, results available at <u>https://nsi.bg/sites/default/files/files/pressreleases/Census2021\_ethnos.pdf</u>
- 79 | Ministry of Foreign Affairs, available at https://www.mfa.bg/bg/embassyinfo/taiwan
- 80 | Доставката на българските F-16 може да се забави с 2 години [Bulgarian F-16 delivery may be delayed by 2 years], Sega Daily: 12 February 2022, available at <u>https://www.segabg.com/</u> <u>node/206355</u>
- 81 | Filip Šebok and Ivana Karásková, Cukr a bič: nástroje prosazování čínského vlivu v České republice, Policy paper, AMO, 2020, <u>http://www.amo.cz/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Mapinfluence\_policy-paper\_cukr-a-bic.pdf;</u> see also Rudolf Fürst and Gabriela Pleschová, Czech and Slovak Relations with China: Contenders for China's Favour, Europe-Asia Studies, 62:8 (2010), pp.1363-1381.
- 82 | Zpět na vrchol: Strategie mezinárodní konkurenceschopnosti České republiky pro období 2012 až 2020, 2011, <u>https://www.vlada.cz/assets/media-centrum/aktualne/Strategie-mezinarod-</u> <u>ni-konkurenceschopnosti-Ceske-republiky.pdf</u>.
- 83 | Exportní strategie České republiky pro období 2012-2020, Czech Ministry of Industry and Trade, 2011, <u>www.mpo.cz/assets/dokumenty/45705/51548/587267/priloha001.pdf</u>.
- 84 | Česko připravuje opatření k zajištění bezpečnosti sítí 5G, allforpower.cz, 11 May 2020, <u>https://</u> allforpower.cz/zajimavosti/cesko-pripravuje-opatreni-k-zajisteni-bezpecnosti-siti-5g-173.
- 85 | <u>https://savetibet.org/czech-republic-committed-to-tibet-support-ahead-of-eu-presidency/</u>
  86 | Zeman begins sixth visit to China as president, Radio Prague International, 24 April 2019, <u>https://</u>
- english.radio.cz/zeman-begins-sixth-visit-china-president-8132884
- 87 | https://en.17plus1-thinktank.com/article/139.html?source=article\_link
- 88 | https://www.reuters.com/article/us-taiwan-czech-idUSKBN25P0LE
- 89 | Europoslanci poprvé jeli na Tchaj-wan. Vedla je Pirátka Gregorová, Denik.cz, 19 November 2021, https://www.denik.cz/cesko-a-eu/tchaj-wan-europoslanci-marketa-gregorova-20211108.html.
- 90 | See reports by Sinposis, European Values, Chinfluence, ChoiCE, see also Central Europe for Sale: The Politics of China's Influence, Policy paper, AMO, April 2018, <u>www.amo.cz/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2018/04/AMO\_central-europe-for-sale-the-politics-of-chinese-influence.pdf</u>.
- 91 | Jeremy Garlick, Richard Turcsanyi, Anastaz Vangeli, Dragan Pavlićevic, Song Weiqing and Rudolf Fürst, Bartosz Kowalski, Richard Turcsanyi and R. Qiaoan, R. (2019).
- 92 | Tsai-Pavel phone call to ring in closer ties, Taipei Times, 23 February 2023, <u>https://www.taipei-times.com/News/editorials/archives/2023/02/05/2003793740</u>.
- 93 | CzechInvest data 2022. See also Chinese FDI in Europe: 2021 Update, MERICS and Rhodium Group Report, 2022, <u>https://rhg.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/MERICS-Rhodium-Group-COFDI-Update-2022-2.pdf</u>.
- 94 | Czech Statistical Office, Public database, Taiwan, <u>https://vdb.czso.cz/vdbvo2/faces/en/index.</u> jsf?page=vystup-objekt&pvo=VZO013-NP-A&z=T&f=TABULKA&skupId=3910&katalog=32935&p vo=VZO013-NP-A&str=v152#w=
- 95 | Andreas B. Forsby, "Falling out of Favor: How China Lost the Nordic Countries", The Diplomat, 24 June 2022: <u>https://thediplomat.com/2022/06/falling-out-of-favor-how-china-lost-the-nordiccountries/</u>; AB Forsby, "Fra strategisk partner til systemisk rival", in Forsby & Heurlin, Danske perspektiver på Kina i stormagtsrivaliseringens æra, Djøf forlag, 2023.
- 96 | "V36: Om -det stigende pres fra Kina", Folketinget, 7 December 2018: <u>https://www.ft.dk/sam-ling/20181/vedtagelse/v36/index.htm</u>
- 97 | "Foreign and security policy strategy" (p. 16), The Danish Government, January 2022: <u>https://um.dk/en/-/media/websites/umen/foreign-policy/uss-2022/uss-en-web-220215-1-final-a.ashx</u>
- 98 | Andreas B. Forsby, "Danish-Chinese relations: Business as usual or strategic disruption"; in Mouritzen & Fischer, Danish Foreign Policy Review, Copenhagen: DIIS, 2020: 87-91.
- 99 | Cited in: Mathias Sonne, "Lars Løkke: »Hvis vi skal føre offensiv udenrigspolitik, skal vi gøre det via EU«, Information, 27 December 2022: <u>https://www.information.dk/udland/2022/12/lars-loek-ke-berlin-foere-offensiv-udenrigspolitik-goere-via-eu</u>
- 100 | "Foreign and security policy strategy" (p. 18, own italics), The Danish Government, May 2023: https://um.dk/-/media/websites/umdk/danish-site/udenrigspolitik/aktuelle-emner/uss-2023/ uss\_2023\_dk\_.ashx
- 101 | Joint Statement Between China and Denmark on Establishment of Comprehensive Strategic Partnership, Xinhua News Agency, 25 October 2008: <u>http://www.china.org.cn/government/news/2008-10/25/content\_16664479.htm</u>
- 102 | See e.g. "V46: Om forfølgelsen af Falun Gong-udøvere...", Folketinget, 5 April 2018: <u>https://www.ft.dk/samling/20171/vedtagelse/V46/index.htm</u>
- 103 | "V36: Om -det stigende pres fra Kina", Folketinget, 7 December 2018: <u>https://www.ft.dk/sam-ling/20181/vedtagelse/v36/index.htm</u>
- 104 | "Foreign and security policy strategy for 2017-18", The Danish Government, June 2017: <u>https://</u> www.regeringen.dk/soeg/?q=udenrigs-+og+sikkerhedspolitisk+strategi
- 105 | "Foreign and security policy strategy, 2019-20" (p.9), The Danish Government, November 2018: https://www.dsn.gob.es/sites/dsn/files/2018\_Denmark%20Foreign%20and%20security%20policy%20strategy%202019-2020.pdf
- 106 | "Foreign and security policy strategy" (p. 16), The Danish Government, January 2022: <u>https://um.dk/en/-/media/websites/umen/foreign-policy/uss-2022/uss-en-web-220215-1-final-a.ashx</u>
- 107 | "Foreign and security policy strategy", The Danish Government, May 2023: <u>https://um.dk/-/media/</u> websites/umdk/danish-site/udenrigspolitik/aktuelle-emner/uss-2023/uss\_2023\_dk\_.ashx
- 108 | Andreas B. Forsby, "Confronting China on sensitive issues: Back to megaphone diplomacy?", DIIS Brief, 17 December 2021: <u>https://www.diis.dk/en/research/confronting-china-on-sensitive-is-sues</u>
- 109 | Based on anonymous background interviews with civil servants in the Danish MFA.
- 110 | The new Danish foreign policy strategy clearly prioritizes the EU in this regard.
- 111 | All three debates are accessible from Folketinget's webpage: <u>https://www.ft.dk/dokumenter/doku-mentlister/lovforslag</u>
- 112 | See Andreas B. Forsby, "Danish-Chinese Relations: Business-As-Usual or Strategic Disruption" (p. 85), in Fischer, Kristian and Hans Mouritzen (eds.), Danish Foreign Policy Review 2020, Copenhagen: Danish Institute for International Studies.
- 113 | Martin Marcussen, Diplomati (p. 190), København: Hans Reitzels Forlag.
- 114 | See the DCBF's homepage: <u>https://dcbf.dk/offerings-services#n65</u>
- 115 | Cited in Lene Winther & Simon Kruse: "Dansk erhversklub advarer Jeppe Kofod...", Berlingske,
   20 December 2020:0 <u>https://www.berlingske.dk/globalt/dansk-erhvervsklub-advarer-jeppe-kofod-mod-at-indlede-en-vaerdikrig-mod</u>
- 116 | Peter Bøgh Hansen, "DI: Der er en bekymrende tendens til at dæmonisere Kina", Altinget, 8 December 2021: <u>https://www.altinget.dk/arktis/artikel/di-der-er-en-bekymrende-tendens-til-at-dae-monisere-kina</u>
- 117 | Lisa Seidelin, "Danmark kan komme i klemme: Dansk Industri kommer med en advarsel...", 30 October 2021: https://politiken.dk/indland/art8449101/Dansk-Industri-kommer-med-advarsel-efter-Mette-Frederiksens-tale
- 118 | Andreas B. Forsby, "Tiktok, tiktok: Tiden rinder ud for det dansk-kinesiske partnerskab", Politiken, 9 August 2020: <u>https://politiken.dk/debat/debatindlaeg/art7877496/Tiden-rinder-ud-for-det-dansk-kinesiske-partnerskab</u>
- 119 | Andreas B. Forsby, "Danish-Chinese relations..."(p. 86).
- 120 | FE, Intelligence Risk Assessment Reports, Forsvarets Efterretningstjeneste (FE): Intelligence risk assessment (fe-ddis.dk)
- 121 | PET, "Assessment of the espionage threat to Denmark, the Faroe Isles and Greenland 2023", Politiets Efterretningstjeneste (PET), May 2023: <u>https://pet.dk/en/-/media/mediefiler/pet/doku-menter/analyser-og-vurderinger/vurdering-af-spionagetruslen-mod-danmark/vsd\_2023\_uk\_web.pdf</u>.
- 122 | Based on an anonymous background interview with a civil servant from the Danish MFA.
- 123 | For instance, the MFA actively encouraged Danish cities and municipalities to reach out to Chinese counterparts in the early 2010s, prompting a surge in sister city/municipality partnership arrangements and a reversal of that trend since 2018 (see Martin Marcussen, "Danske byer har altid haft det svært med Kina", in Andreas B. Forsby & Bertel Heurlin (2023), Danske Perspektiver på Kina i stormagtsrivaliseringens æra, København: Djøf Forlag).
- 124 | As compared to 628 French/German speakers. The numbers are based on 945 of 1270 employees in the MFA, see fact box: Lektor: »Et paradoks, at studerende ikke kan læse kinesisk og have politiske fag som tilvalg« - politiken.dk
- 125 | Joint Declaration between the Republic of Finland and the People's Republic of China on Establishing and Promoting the future-oriented new-type cooperative partnership. April 5, 2017. <u>https://</u> www.presidentti.fi/en/news/joint-declaration-between-the-republic-of-finland-and-the-peoples-republic-of-china-on-establishing-and-promoting-the-future-oriented-new-type-cooperative-partnership/.
- 126 | Joint Action Plan between China and Finland on Promoting the Future-oriented New-type Cooperative Partnership 2019-2023. January 13, 2019. <u>https://um.fi/documents/35732/0/Joint+Action+Plan+2019-2023+%283%29.pdf</u>.
- 127 | Finland's Governmental Action Plan on China 2021. June 8, 2021. <u>https://um.fi/publications/-/as-set\_publisher/TVOLgBmLyZvu/content/valtionhallinnon-kiina-toimintaohjelma/35732</u>.
- 128 | Suomalaisten mielipiteitä ulko- ja turvallisuuspolitiikasta, maanpuolustuksesta ja turvallisuudesta. Maanpuolustuksen suunnittelukunta MTS. December 2022. P. 48.
- 129 | Finnish Customs monthly statistics on the international trade in goods, December 2019, December 2020, December 2021 and December 2022.

- 130 | Finnish international trade 2022. Figures and diagrams. Finnish Customs, February 28, 2023. <u>https://tulli.fi/documents/2912305/3439475/Finnish%20international%20trade%20</u> 2022%20-%20Figures%20and%20diagrams/949e0333-88cd-83fb-44a4-a55d25ad9b19/ Finnish%20international%20trade%202022%20-%20Figures%20and%20diagrams.pdf?version=1.26&t=1677567609187.
- 131 | Suomen Kiina-vienti on yksipuolistunut ja kehittynyt verrokkimaita hitaammin: "Eikö meillä ole tuotteita, joita kiinalaiset haluaisivat ostaa?" Kauppalehti, June 16, 2022. <u>https://www.kauppalehti.</u> fi/uutiset/suomen-kiina-vienti-on-yksipuolistunut-ja-kehittynyt-verrokkimaita-hitaammin-eiko-meilla-ole-tuotteita-joita-kiinalaiset-haluaisivat-ostaa/aacf4cb5-7064-40ff-9c65-6bdc99e924eb.
- 132 | Toimintatapasuosituksia akateemiseen yhteistyöhön Kiinan kanssa. Ministry of Education and Culture, 1 December 2021. <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-263-707-9</u>.
- 133 | Turunen Teemu, "Kolumni: Korkeakouluyhteistyö Kiinan kanssa mahdollisuuksia ja uhkakuvia". Finnish Security and Intelligence Service 2 December 2021, <u>https://supo.fi/ajankohtaista/-/</u> asset\_publisher/iVXhu8SxT4KS/content/kolumni-korkeakouluyhteistyo-kiinan-kanssa-mahdollisuuksia-ja-uhkakuvia?\_com\_liferay\_asset\_publisher\_web\_portlet\_AssetPublisherPortlet\_IN-STANCE\_iVXhu8SxT4KS\_assetEntryId=100535971.
- 134 | Pietiläinen, Tuomo, "Suojelupoliisi nimeää nyt Kiinan maaksi, joka haluaa käyttää uusia tietoverkkoja vakoiluun". Helsingin Sanomat 27 September 2021, <u>https://www.hs.fi/politiikka/art-200008266321.html</u>.
- 135 | Sajari, Petri. " Suojelupoliisi varoittaa kiinalaisista yhtiöistä: Kytkökset valtiovaltaan otettava vakavasti – Puolustusvoimat: Pelkona Suomen lamauttaminen". Helsingin Sanomat 7 February 2019, <u>https://www.hs.fi/talous/art-2000005992750.html</u>.
- 136 | Government Report on Finnish Foreign and Security Policy. October 29, 2020. <u>http://urn.fi/</u> URN:ISBN:978-952-287-892-2.
- 137 | Presidentti Niinistö: Maanpuolustushenkeä tarvitaan edelleen. Tasavallan presidentin kanslia, October 14, 2020. <u>https://www.presidentti.fi/uutinen/presidentti-niinisto-maanpuolustushenkea-tarvitaan-edelleen/</u>.
- 138 | Presidentin kynästä: Yhdysvallat palaa pöytiin, yhteistyö tiivistyy. Tasavallan Presidentin kanslia. November 8, 2020. <u>https://www.presidentti.fi/presidentin-kynasta/presidentin-kynasta-yhdysvallat-palaa-poytiin-yhteistyo-tiivistyy/</u>.
- 139 | Pääministeri Marinilta tiukka viesti Australiassa: "Nyt on aika lopettaa olemasta naiiveja". MTV Uutiset, December 2, 2022. <u>https://www.mtvuutiset.fi/artikkeli/paaministeri-marinilta-tiukka-vies-</u> <u>ti-australiassa-nyt-on-aika-lopettaa-olemasta-naiiveja/8583564#gs.q1cct6</u>.
- 140 | Varjus, Seppo, Kommentti: Sanna Marin haluaa Kiinan kuriin mutta Xi pilkkoo EU:ta. Ilta-Sanomat, November 18, 2022. <u>https://www.is.fi/ulkomaat/art-2000009211101.html</u>
- 141 | Kokoomuksen eduskuntavaaliohjelma 2023. February 7, 2023. <u>https://www.kokoomus.fi/kokoomuksen-eduskuntavaaliohjelma-2023/</u>.
- 142 | An interviewee representing the central administration wishing to remain anonymous, March 2023, on file with the author.
- 143 | Interviewees representing the central administration wishing to remain anonymous, December 2021, on file with the author.
- 144 | Leisti, Tapani, "Kiina halusi lentotukikohdan Kemijärvelle arktisia tutkimuslentoja varten Suomen puolustushallinto tyrmäsi hankkeen". YLE Uutiset. March 4, 2021, <u>https://yle.fi/uutiset/3-11819140</u>.
- 145 | "Perussuomalainen Kiina-ilmiö: käsikirjoitus". Yle MOT. March 15, 2020 (updated 11 September 2020=, <u>https://yle.fi/aihe/artikkeli/2020/03/16/perussuomalainen-kiina-ilmio-kasikirjoitus</u>.
- 146 | FIIA's new research center focuses on global orders and China. The Finnish Institute of International Affairs. December 14, 2022. <u>https://www.fiia.fi/en/news/fiias-new-research-center-focuseson-global-orders-and-china</u>.
- 147 | China Office of Finnish Industries. 2022 (no date). https://chinaoffice.fi/.
- 148 | Discussions in March, 2023, with interviewees wishing to remain anonymous are on file with the | Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Finland, "Governmental Action Plan on China," 2021, <u>https://um.fi/publications/-/asset\_publisher/TVOLgBmLyZvu/content/valtionhallinnon-kiina-toi-mintaohielma.</u>
- 150 | Chen, Julie Yu-wen & Kallio, Jyrki. Focus Asia. December 13, 2022. Finland-Taiwan Relations: An Overview and Changes after COVID-19 Pandemic. <u>https://www.isdp.eu/content/uploads/2022/12/</u> ISDP-Focus-Julie-Chen-Jyrki-Kallo-20221213.pdf.
- 151 | "Speech by the President of the French Republic at the Conference of Ambassadors", Elysée, 1st September 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.elysee.fr/front/pdf/elysee-module-20085-en.pdf</u>
- 152 | N. Barré, « Emmanuel Macron : « L'autonomie stratégique doit être le combat de l'Europe », Les Echos, 9 April 2023. Available at: <u>https://www.lesechos.fr/monde/enjeux-internationaux/emmanu-</u> el-macron-lautonomie-strategique-doit-etre-le-combat-de-leurope-1933493
- 153 | M. Julienne, "EU's China policy staying on track despite intensifying debate", ThinkChina, 10 May 2023. Available at: <u>https://www.thinkchina.sg/eus-china-policy-staying-track-despite-intensifying-debate</u>
- 154 | "Emmanuel Macron warns Europe: NATO is becoming brain-dead", The Economist, 7th November 2019. Available at: <u>https://www.economist.com/europe/2019/11/07/emmanuel-macron-warns-europe-nato-is-becoming-brain-dead</u>
- 155 | "Speech by the President of the French Republic at the Conference of Ambassadors", Elysée, Op. Cit.

- 156 | "Shangri-La Dialogue Speech of Sébastien Lecornu, French Minister of the Armed Forces, on June 11, 2022", Ministry of the Armed Forces. Available at: <u>https://www.defense.gouv.fr/sites/</u> <u>default/files/tronc\_commun/11.06.2022%20Speech%20of%20S%C3%A9bastien%20Lecor-</u> <u>nu%2C%20minister%20of%20the%20Armed%20Forces%20-%20Shangri%20La%20Dialogue.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- 157 | Marc Julienne, Richard Turcsany, Matej Simalicik, et al., "French public opinion on China in the age of COVID-19: Political distrust trumps economic opportunities", Sinophore Borderlands Europe Survey, Palacky University Olomouc, Czech Republic, 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.ifri.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/fr\_poll\_report.pdf</u>
- 158 | « Résolution portant sur la reconnaissance et la condamnation du caractère génocidaire des violences politiques systématiques ainsi que des crimes contre l'humanité actuellement perpétrés par la République populaire de Chine à l'égard des Ouïghours », Assemblée nationale, 20 January 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.assemblee-nationale.fr/dyn/15/textes/l15t0758\_texte-adopte-seance.pdf</u>
- 159 | « Propos liminaire du président de la République », press conference on the sidelines of the G20 summit in Bali, 16 November 2022. Available at: <u>www.elysee.fr</u>
- 160 | Position paper of SPD, June 30, 2020: <u>https://www.spdfraktion.de/system/files/documents/posi-</u> tionspapier\_china.pdf
- 161 | Position paper of CDU/CSU, April 24, 2023: <u>https://www.cducsu.de/themen/china-strategie-cduc-su-will-beziehungen-neu-ordnen</u>
- 162 | Position paper of FDP, Febuary 8, 2023: <u>https://www.fdpbt.de/beschluss/positionspapier-fdp-frak-tion-zur-china-strategie</u>
- 163 | One example for media coverage after publication of the strategy: Berliner Zeitung: Keine Strategie: Die Welt schüttelt den Kopf über Olaf Scholz, July 16, 2023 <u>https://www.berliner-zeitung.de/</u> wirtschaft-verantwortung/olaf-scholz-und-die-china-strategie-die-welt-schuettelt-den-kopf-ueberden-bundeskanzler-li.369894
- 164 | German Foreign Office: Germany adopts its first comprehensive Strategy on China, July 13, 2023 https://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/en/aussenpolitik/regionaleschwerpunkte/asien/strategy-on-china/2608618
- 165 | Plamen Tonchev, 'On friendly terms with China, but not bewitched', in 'Secret Charm: China's Hidden Influence in Southeast Europe', Friedrich Naumann Foundation for Freedom, December 2022, p. 18, <u>https://www.freiheit.org/sites/default/files/2023-01/2022-fnf-policy-paper-hidden-influence-final.pdf</u>.
- 166 | 'JincoSolar's share of the Greek panel market at 50% in 2021' (in Greek), WorldEnergyNews.gr, 25 May 2022, <u>https://www.worldenergynews.gr/index.php?id=534809</u>.
- 167 | Source: https://primeminister.gr/en/2020/09/04/24714.
- 168 | 'Chinese Defense Minister in Athens to promote military cooperation', Ekathimerini, 29 March 2021, <u>https://www.ekathimerini.com/news/1158090/chinese-defense-minister-in-athens-to-pro-mote-defence-cooperation/</u>.
- 169 | Source: https://twitter.com/TonchevPlamen/status/1413096763876052992.
- 170 | 'Wang Yi Holds Talks with Greek Foreign Minister Nikos Dendias', 27 October 2021, PRC MFA, https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/eng/topics\_665678/kjgzbdfyyg/202110/t20211029\_10403717.html.
- 171 | 'Wang Yi Meets with Greek Foreign Minister Nikos Dendias' 3 August 2022, PRC MFA, <u>https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/wjdt\_665385/wshd\_665389/202208/t20220805\_10735075.html</u>.
- 172 | Interview with a Greek state official, 14 January 2023.
- 173 | Source: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/reg/2019/452/oj.
- 174 | Dionysis Fotopoulos, 'The Greek Law on Strategic Investments in Light of the FDI Screening Regulation: Will the Greek Investment Regime's Openness Endure?', Hellenic Association of Political Scientists, 29 June 2022, <u>https://ejournals.epublishing.ekt.gr/index.php/hapscpbs/article/ view/30991.</u>
- 175 | Interview with a Greek state official, 12 January 2023.
- 176 | 'KYSEA: The national security strategy was presented' (in Greek), newsit.gr, 12 October 2022, https://www.newsit.gr/politikh/kysea-parousiastike-i-stratigiki-ethnikis-asfaleias/3617583/.
- 177 | Source: <u>https://www.confucius.aueb.gr/</u>.
- 178 | Source: <u>https://www.mfa.gr/en/leadership/deputy-ministers/deputy-minister-for-economic-diplo-macy-and-openness.html</u>.
- 179 | 'Online Summit for Greek Investments in China', Enterprise Greece, 23 April 2021, <u>https://www.enterprisegreece.gov.gr/en/news/newseu-cgtn-com-greece-eyes-chinese-investment-for-post-pandemic-recovery</u>.
- 180 | Source: <u>https://studyingreece.edu.gr/new-academic-era-with-the-establishment-of-si-no-greek-cooperation-programme/</u>.
- 181 | Source: <u>https://studyingreece.edu.gr/a-new-chapter-of-sino-hellenic-higher-education-collabora-</u> tion/.
- 182 | '<u>Greece and China agree on Tourism Action Plan for 2022-2024 period</u>', gtp.gr, 15 March 2022, https://news.gtp.gr/2022/03/15/greece-china-agree-tourism-action-plan-2022-2024-period/.
- 183 | Asteris Huliaras, Sotiris Petropoulos, 'Shipowners, ports and diplomats: the political economy of Greece's relations with China', Asia Europe Journal 12 (3): 215-230, September 2013.
- 184 | 'Greece-China: Cooperation between Piraeus and Shanghai in shipping finance' (in Greek), Oikonomikos Tachydromos, 12 February 2023, <u>https://www.ot.gr/2023/02/12/naytilia/pontoporos/</u> <u>ellada-kina-synergasia-peiraia-sangkai-sti-naytiliaki-xrimatodotisi/</u>.
- 185 | Plamen Tonchev, 'Sino-Greek Relations in Greek and Chinese Media, 2020', Institute of

International Economic Relations, March 2021, <u>https://idos.gr/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Sino-Greek-Relations\_in\_Media\_18-3-2021.pdf</u>.

- 186 | Dimitrios Stroikos, 'Head of the Dragon' or 'Trojan Horse'?: Reassessing China–Greece Relations', Journal of Contemporary China, Taylor & Francis Online, 28 April 2022, <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10670564.2022.2067743.</u>
- 187 | 'Ericsson was chosen in Greece instead of Huawei for 5G', itechnews.gr, 26 June 2020, <u>https://</u> itechnews.gr/2020/06/tin-ericsson-epelexan-stin-ellada-anti-tis-huawei/.
- 188 | Matura, T, András Bartók, Viktor Friedmann, Tünde Lendvai, Máté Mátyás and András Tóth (2022). Risky Business? Assessing Political Economic and Technological Risk - Perceptions of Relations between the People's Republic of China and Hungary. Budapest, Hungary, Central and Eastern European Center for Asian Studies
- 189 | 'Joint Statement between The People's Republic of China and Ireland on Establishing Strategic Partnership for Mutually Beneficial Cooperation'. 2012. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China. 28 March 2012. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20230117211226/https://</u> www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa\_eng/wjdt\_665385/2649\_665393/201203/t20120328\_679324.html.
- 190 | 'Speech by Minister Heather Humphreys'. 2019. 31 January 2019. <u>https://web.archive.org/</u> web/20220723121220/https://www.gov.ie/en/speech/ba0596-speech-by-minister-heather-humphreys/.
- 191 | 'China-EU International Trade in Goods Statistics'. 2023. Eurostat. March 2023. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=China-EU international trade\_in\_goods\_statistics</u>. Though, the latest data from the Irish Central Statistics Office showed that from January to December 2022, imports from China (EUR 14.541 billion) were larger than exports (EUR 13.789 billion, over 6 percent of Ireland's total exports) showing a trade deficit.
- 192 | Murray, Daniel. 2021. 'The Chips Are up: How Irish Companies Are Cashing in on the Microchip Rush'. Business Post. 4 April 2021. <u>https://www.businesspost.ie/news-focus/the-chips-are-uphow-irish-companies-are-cashing-in-on-the-microchip-rush/</u>.
- 193 | Parliamentary Budget Office (PBO). 2022. 'Ireland's Economic Relations with China A Statistical Overview'. 25. Houses of the Oireachtas. <u>https://data.oireachtas.ie/ie/oireachtas/parliamentary-BudgetOffice/2022/2022-10-25\_ireland-s-economic-relations-with-china\_en.pdf</u>.
- 194 | Bluhm, Michael. 2022. 'Biden's Hugely Consequential High-Tech Export Ban on China, Explained by an Expert'. Vox. 5 November 2022. <u>https://www.vox.com/world/2022/11/5/23440525/biden-administration-semiconductor-export-ban-china</u>.
- 195 | Hmaidi, Antonia. 2023. 'China-Central Asia and G7 Summits + Local Protectionism + Micron'. Think Tank. MERICS China Essentials (blog). 25 May 2023. <u>https://merics.org/en/merics-briefs/</u> <u>china-central-asia-and-g7-summits-local-protectionism-micron</u>.
- 196 | Andrijauskas. n.d. 'An Analysis of China's Economic Coercion Against Lithuania'. Council on Foreign Relations. Accessed 24 March 2023. <u>https://www.cfr.org/blog/analysis-chinas-economic-coercion-against-lithuania</u>.
- 197 | 'China's High-Tech Hub Shenzhen Holds Investment Promotion Conference in Ireland People's Daily Online'. 2022. People's Daily Online. 24 November 2022. <u>https://web.archive.org/</u> web/20221130214807/http://en.people.cn/n3/2022/1124/c90000-10175890.html.
- 198 | 'China's Shein Set to Build out Irish Operation as It Eyes US IPO'. 2023. The Irish Times. 8 March 2023. <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/business/2023/03/08/chinas-shein-set-to-build-out-irish-operation-as-it-eyes-us-ipo/</u>.
- 199 | 'Chinese Fast Fashion Dresses the World: Shein Rival Temu Sets up EU Base in Dublin'. 2023. Independent. 6 April 2023. <u>https://www.independent.ie/style/fashion/fashion-news/chinese-fast-fashion-dresses-the-world-shein-rival-temu-sets-up-eu-base-in-dublin-42391378.html</u>.
- 200 | Olcott, Eleanor, and Cheng Leng. 2023. 'Pinduoduo Owner Moves Headquarters to Ireland amid US-China Tensions'. Financial Times, 4 May 2023. <u>https://www.ft.com/content/801ac5c4-9863-444e-986a-1e40280ea07f</u>.
- 201 | 商务部国际贸易经济合作研究院,中国驻爱尔兰大使馆经济商务处, and 商务部对外投资和经济合作司. 2021. ' 对外投资合作国别(地区)指南爱尔兰(Foreign Investment Cooperation Country Guide Ireland)'.
- 202 | Paul, Mark. 2022. 'Ireland Must Tread Carefully with Dance-Craze Chinese Platform TikTok The Irish Times'. Irish Times, 4 November 2022. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20221104051900/https://</u> www.irishtimes.com/business/2022/11/04/ireland-must-tread-carefully-with-dance-craze-chineseplatform-tiktok/.
- 203 | Prime Minister
- 204 | 'Assistant Foreign Minister Hua Chunying Attends the Reception of the National Day of Ireland'. n.d. Accessed 12 April 2023. <u>https://archive.ph/C0APx</u>.
- 205 | 'Minister of Ecology and Environment, Huang Runqiu, Met with Ireland's Minister for Environment, Climate, Communications and Transport [CN]'. 2023. 17 March 2023. <u>https://archive.ph/5nSNk</u>.
- 206 | 'The "22 vs. 50" Diplomatic Split Between the West and China Over Xinjiang and Human Rights'. 2019. Jamestown. 31 December 2019. <u>https://jamestown.org/program/the-22-vs-50-diplomatic-split-between-the-west-and-china-over-xinjiang-and-human-rights/</u>.
- 207 | 'Statement by Minister Coveney on National Security Law in Hong Kong'. n.d. Accessed 15 January 2023. <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/press-release/ffdab-statement-by-minister-coveney-on-na-tional-security-law-in-hong-kong/</u>.
- 208 | Reuters. 2020. 'Ireland Suspends Extradition Treaty with Hong Kong', 23 October 2020, sec. World News. <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-hongkong-security-ireland-idUKKBN2781XA</u>.
- 209 | 'Ireland Wants to Replace UK as China's "Trusted Friend" in Europe'. 2018. South China Morning

Post. 23 March 2018. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20221206171944/http://www.scmp.com/news/</u> china/diplomacy-defence/article/2138554/ireland-wants-replace-uk-chinas-trusted-friend-europe.

- 210 | Deputy Prime Minister
- 211 | The inward investment promotion agency of the Irish Government
- 212 | The agency responsible for supporting Irish businesses to start, innovate, and scale up, both domestically and internationally.
- 213 | Inter-Parliamentary Alliance on China
- 214 | Department of Foreign Affairs. 2020. 'Launch of the Asia Pacific Strategy: "Global Ireland: Delivering in the Asia Pacific Region to 2025". Gov.le. 9 January 2020. <u>https://web.archive.org/ web/20220723002848/https://www.gov.ie/en/speech/f1601-launch-of-the-asia-pacific-strategyglobal-ireland-delivering-in-the-asia-pacific-region-to-2025/.</u>
- 215 | Burne, Louise. 2023. 'Leo Says Ireland Will "roll out Red Carpet" as Joe Biden "Comes Home" in Visit'. Irish Mirror. 15 March 2023. <u>https://www.irishmirror.ie/news/irish-news/politics/taoise-ach-leo-varadkar-says-ireland-29466365</u>.
- 216 | 'Govt and IDA Ireland Welcomes News That TikTok Is to Create a Further 1,000 New Jobs'. 2022. IDA Ireland. 10 June 2022. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20220707170549/https://www.</u> idaireland.com/latest-news/press-release/govt-and-ida-ireland-welcomes-news-that-tiktok-is-tocreate-a-further-1.000-new-jobs.
- 217 | 'Huawei to Open New €150 Million European Cloud Services Hub in Ireland Creating 200 Jobs'. 2022. Government. Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment. 18 October 2022. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20221031190904/https://enterprise.gov.ie/en/news-and-events/depart-ment-news/2022/october/202210181.html</u>.
- 218 | White House readout of Biden's meeting with PM Varadkar in May 2023 states that they discussed "the challenges posed by the People's Republic of China."
- 219 | Lehane, Mícheál. 2023. 'China's Worldview Is Different from Ours, Says Tánaiste', May. <u>https://www.rte.ie/news/2023/0502/1380220-ireland-china-tanaiste/</u>.
- 220 | McQuinn, Cormac. 2023. 'How Is Ireland Approaching Relations with China?' The Irish Times. 2 December 2023. <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/politics/2023/05/02/how-is-ireland-approaching-relations-with-china/</u>.
- 221 | Bermingham, Finbarr. 2022. 'Ireland Doesn't Want to Shut Door to China, Says Foreign Minister'. South China Morning Post. 12 November 2022. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20221219030601/</u> <u>https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/article/3199326/ireland-doesnt-want-shut-door-chi-na-despite-growing-strains-says-foreign-minister-simon-coveney.</u>
- 222 | Oireachtas, Houses of the. 2022. 'Communications Regulation Bill 2022 No. 86 of 2022 Houses of the Oireachtas'. Text. Ireland. 26 September 2022. <u>https://www.oireachtas.ie/en/bills/ bill/2022/86</u>.
- 223 | Oireachtas, Houses of the. 2023. 'Screening of Third Country Transactions Bill 2022 No. 77 of 2022 – Houses of the Oireachtas'. Text. Ireland. 25 January 2023. <u>https://www.oireachtas.ie/en/ bills/bill/2022/77</u>.
- 224 | 'Government Agrees Measures to Enhance the Security of Electronic Communications Including 5G Networks'. 2021. 23 November 2021. <u>https://www.gov.ie/en/press-release/71ff9-govern-</u> ment-agrees-measures-to-enhance-the-security-of-electronic-communications-including-5g-networks/.
- 225 | Oireachtas, Houses of the. 2022. 'Communications Regulation and Digital Hub Development Agency (Amendment) Act 2023 – No. 4 of 2023 – Houses of the Oireachtas'. Text. Ireland. 26 September 2022. <u>https://www.oireachtas.ie/en/bills/bill/2022/86</u>.
- 226 | 'Commission Publishes a Toolkit to Help Mitigate Foreign Interference in Research and Innovation'. 2022. 18 January 2022. <u>https://research-and-innovation.ec.europa.eu/news/all-re-</u> search-and-innovation-news/commission-publishes-toolkit-help-mitigate-foreign-interference-research-and-innovation-2022-01-18\_en.
- 227 | 'Informatie- en contactpunt voor verzoeken uit China'. 2021. RVO.nl. 4 January 2021. <u>https://www.rvo.nl/onderwerpen/overheden/informatie-contactpunt-china</u>.
- 228 | European Commission. 2022. 'Updated In-Depth Review of Europe's Strategic Dependencies'. Text. European Commission - European Commission. 23 February 2022. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/</u> <u>commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP\_22\_1124</u>.
- 229 | Strupczewski, Jan, and Jan Strupczewski. 2023. 'Seven EU Countries Oppose New EU Funding as Response to U.S. Subsidy Plan - Letter'. Reuters, 27 January 2023, sec. European Markets. <u>https://www.reuters.com/markets/europe/seven-eu-countries-oppose-new-eu-funding-responseus-subsidy-plan-letter-2023-01-27/</u>.
- 230 | Irish Government News Service. 2012. 'Strategic Partnership Agreement between People's Republic of China and Ireland'. Irish Government News Service. 28 March 2012. <u>https://archive.ph/ xhh8A</u>.
- 231 | '代表處歡迎詞暨代表處簡介'. 2022. 駐愛爾蘭台北代表處 Taipei Representative Office in Ireland. 30 June 2022. <u>https://www.roc-taiwan.org/ie/post/6.html</u>.
- 232 | O'Sullivan, Neil. 2021. 'We Need Closer Links to Taiwan'. Letters. The Irish Times. 26 January 2021. <u>https://www.irishtimes.com/opinion/letters/we-need-closer-links-to-taiwan-1.4467506</u>.
- 233 | Felbermayr, Gabriel, Hendrik Mahlkow, and Alexander Sandkamp. 2023. 'Cutting through the Value Chain: The Long-Run Effects of Decoupling the East from the West'. Empirica, January. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10663-022-09561-w.
- 234 | Ministero degli Affari Esteri e della Cooperazione Internazionale. Scheda di Sintesi: Cina. Osservatorio Economico. Updated 27/04/2023

- 235 | <u>https://www.ansa.it/sito/notizie/mondo/2023/02/11/italia-e-cina-partner-naturali-i-fatti-vincono-sul-la-retorica\_85711042-4709-436c-bd62-69bd6d801edc.html</u>
- 236 | Safeguard Defenders, "Patrol and persuade. A follow-up investigation to 110 overseas", in Safeguard Defenders Investigations and Briefing Series, dicembre 2022, <u>https://safeguarddefenders.</u> <u>com/</u> en/node/580
- 237 | Ministero dell'Interno, "Poliziotti cinesi insieme a Polizia di Stato e Carabinieri per assistere i turisti", 2 maggio 2016, <u>https://www.interno.gov.it/it/notizie/poliziotti-cinesi-insieme-polizia-stato-e-carabinieri-assistere-i-turisti</u>.
- 238 | Ministero dell'Interno, "Pattuglie italiane in Cina per la sicurezza dei turisti", 25 giugno 2019, https://www.interno.gov.it/it/notizie/pattuglie-italiane-cina-sicurezza-dei-turisti
- 239 | <u>https://www.chinalawtranslate.com/en/overseas-police-stations-a-clearer-look/</u>
- 240 | Meloni's government has been considering whether it would be possible to retroactively undo acquisitions and deals, also from and with Chinese entities, that are now considered to be problematic to Italy's interests.
- 241 | Giulio Pugliese, Francesca Ghiretti, Aurelio Insisa, Italy's embrace of the Belt and Road Initiative: populist foreign policy and political marketing, International Affairs, Volume 98, Issue 3, May 2022, Pages 1033–1051, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iiac039</u>
- 242 | In 2017, Italy was among the signatories, together with France and Germany, of the letter that was sent to the European Commission requiring the adoption of a European screening mechanism for investments. But since then, there is no traceable active role being played by Italy as driver of the European China agenda.
- 243 | <u>https://www.confindustria.it/home/policy/position-paper/dettaglio/italia-europa-cina-analisi-propos-</u> te-cooperazione
- 244 | https://www.fondazioneitaliacina.it/en/la-fondazione/who-we-are/presentazione-fondazione/
- 245 | https://www.cameraitacina.com/en/content/our-organization
- 246 | <u>https://www.tochina.it/about</u>
- 247 | https://www.esteri.it/mae/resource/doc/2020/01/decreto\_legge\_21\_settembre\_2019\_n.104.pdf
- 248 | https://taipei.esteri.it/it/italia-a-taiwan/
- 249 | https://www.roc-taiwan.org/it\_it/index.html
- 250 | <u>https://vm.ee/en/news/estonia-will-no-longer-participate-cooperation-format-central-and-east-ern-europe-and-china</u>
- 251 | https://www.mfa.gov.lv/en/sectoral-policy
- 252 | <u>https://www.mfa.gov.lv/en/media/5285/download?attachment</u>
- 253 | <u>https://www.mfa.gov.lv/en/article/speech-minister-foreign-affairs-republic-latvia-mr-edgars-rinkev-ics-foreign-policy-debate-saeima-24-january-2013-0</u>
- 254 | https://www.mfa.gov.lv/lv/media/7704/download?attachment
- 255 | <u>https://likumi.lv/ta/id/279414-par-darba-grupu-centraleiropas-un-austrumeiropas-valstu-un-ki-nas-sadarbibas-formata-ietvaros-organizeto-pasakumu-koordinesanai</u>
- 256 | https://www.mk.gov.lv/sites/mk/files/media\_file/161\_infografiks.pdf
- 257 | https://chinaobservers.eu/mild-wording-but-harsh-timing-latvia-and-estonias-exit-from-161/
- 258 | <u>https://www.baltictimes.com/latvian\_logistics\_companies\_ready\_to\_work\_with\_china\_and\_of-fer\_efficient\_transport\_connections\_between\_asia\_and\_europe/</u>
- 259 | Anonymized interview with a representative of the Latvian Chamber of Commerce and Industry, December 2022.
- 260 | https://www.ft.com/content/bf930a62-6952-426b-b249-41097094318a
- 261 | https://www.mfa.gov.lv/en/media/5285/download?attachment
- 262 https://en.mofa.gov.tw/News\_Content.aspx?n=1329&s=96821
- 263 | <u>https://eng.lsm.lv/article/politics/saeima/latvian-mps-head-to-taiwan-for-open-parliament-forum.</u> a431689/
- 264 | Mantas Adomenas and Gabrielius Landsbergis, "Lithuania it's time for choosing," 15min English, 11 June 2020,
- <u>https://www.15min.lt/en/article/opinion/lithuania-it-s-time-for-choosing-530-1331612</u>.
   265 | Seimas of the Republic of Lithuania, Programme of the Eighteenth Government of the Republic of Lithuania, 11 December 2020,
- https://lrv.lt/uploads/main/documents/files/PROGRAMME%200F%20THE%20EIGHTEENTH%20 GOVERNMENT%200F%20THE%20REPUBLIC%200F%20LITHUANIA.pdf.
- 266 | Seimas of the Republic of Lithuania, National Security Strategy of the Republic of Lithuania, 16 December 2021, https://e-seimas.lrs.lt/portal/legalAct/lt/TAD/3ec6a2027a9a11ecb2fe9975f8a9e52e?jfwid=rivwz-

nttps://e-selmas.irs.ivportai/iegalAcviv/TAD/3ec6a202/a9a11ecb2te99/5t8a9e52e/jtwid=trvwzvpvg.

- 267 | LRT.It, "Opposition party leader slams Lithuania's China policy," LRT English, 31 December 2021, https://www.lrt.It/en/news-in-english/19/1576049/opposition-party-leader-slams-lithuania-s-china-policy.
- 268 | Vaida Kalinkaitė-Matuliauskienė, LRT.It, BNS, "We have been sacrificed' laser sector representatives decry Lithuania's China policy," LRT English, 20 January 2022, <u>https://www.lrt.lt/en/news-in-english/19/1592701/we-have-been-sacrificed-laser-sector-representatives-decry-lithuania-s-china-policy</u>.
- 269 | BNS, "Allowing Taiwan to open office under its name was a mistake Lithuanian president," LRT English, 4 January 2022,

https://www.lrt.lt/en/news-in-english/19/1580082/allowing-taiwan-to-open-office-under-its-namewas-a-mistake-lithuanian-president. 270 | LRT.It, BNS, "Most Lithuanians critical of Vilnius' China policy – survey," LRT English, 12 January 2022, https://www.it/lt/co/cov/o\_in\_englich/10/1596975/most lithuanians critical of vilnius china policies.

https://www.lrt.lt/en/news-in-english/19/1586875/most-lithuanians-critical-of-vilnius-china-policy-survey.

271 | Andrius Sytas and John O'Donnell, "Analysis: German big business piles pressure on Lithuania in China row," Reuters, 21 January 2022, <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/german-big-business-piles-pressure-lithuania-chi-</u>

na-row-2022-01-21/.

272 | Paulius Perminas, "Despite earlier misgivings, Lithuanian parliamentary delegation visits Taiwan," LRT English, 9 January 2023,

https://www.lrt.lt/en/news-in-english/19/1862607/despite-earlier-misgivings-lithuanian-parliamentary-delegation-visits-taiwan.

- 273 | Official website of the President of the Republic of Lithuania, "The President's Engagements on 19 January, 2022,"
- <u>https://www.lrp.lt/en/activities/the-presidents-engagements/21898/2022-01-19</u>.
   274 | BNS, "Landsbergis: Lithuania's de-escalation plan calls for warning China about legal consequences," Delfi English, 20 January 2022, <u>https://www.delfi.lt/en/politics/landsbergis-lithuanias-de-escalation-plan-calls-for-warning-chi-</u>
- na-about-legal-consequences.d?id=89253747. 275 | Erika Alonderytė-Kazlauskė, BNS, "China softens stance toward Lithuanian companies, says
- business rep," LRT English, 19 January 2023, https://www.lrt.lt/en/news-in-english/19/1870431/china-softens-stance-toward-lithuanian-companies-says-business-rep.

https://www.lrt.lt/en/news-in-english/19/1869857/lithuania-and-taiwan-sign-deal-on-semiconduc-tor-technology-sharing.

- 277 | The author would like to thank Nick Bontenbal for his support during the writing process. "a spectrum ranging from non-politicised (the issue has not reached public debate) to politicised (the issue has raised public concerns and is on the agenda) to securitised (the issue has been framed as an existential threat)" Clara Eroukhmanoff, "Securitisation Theory: an introduction", E-International Relations, 2018.
- 278 | Vera Kranenburg, "Securitizing China in Europe? Constituting China as a Threat in Official Documents from the Netherlands, Sweden, France and Germany," Master Thesis Peking University, July 2021.
- 279 | Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Het Nederlandse China-beleid: Investeren in Waarden en Zaken," 2013, page 15: "The goals of attracting Chinese investments into the Netherlands are to stimulate prosperity and employment opportunities. In this context, minister Weekers visited China late May/early June 2013, in order to get Chinese companies interested in settling or expanding in the Netherlands. In the next few years, a large effort to attract high-quality Chinese investments will be made, among others by the Netherlands Foreign Investment Agency (NFIA), by using existing sister-city and -province relations, by the network of Chinese enterprises already settled in the Netherlands and by diplomatic visits."

[Translated from the original in: Vera Kranenburg, "Securitizing China in Europe? Constituting China as a Threat in Official Documents from the Netherlands, Sweden, France and Germany", Master Thesis Peking University, July 2021]

- 280 | Minister of Foreign Affairs, Minister for International Trade and Development Cooperation and Minister of Economic Affairs and Climate, "Ontwikkelingen Chinabeleid: een verschuiving van de balans," Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 13 January 2023, <u>https://www.tweedekamer.nl/ kamerstukken/brieven\_regering/detail?id=2023D00699&did=2023D00699</u>
- 281 | Minister of Foreign Affairs, "Brief van de minister van Buitenlandse Zaken 'China'," Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 11 November 2019, <u>https://www.parlementairemonitor.nl/9353000/1/</u> j4nvgs5kjg27kof\_j9vvij5epmj1ey0/vl3rj06x72zt/f=/kst3520732.pdf
- 282 | For a detailed analysis of Dutch China policy in the context of US-China rivalry, see: Frans-Paul van der Putten and Monika Sie Dhian Ho, "Aiming to avoid painful dilemmas: the Netherlands and US-Chinese Rivalry" in Europe in the face of US-China Rivalry, European Think-tank Network on China, January 2020.
- 283 | According to the Dutch government, knowledge security is "about preventing the undesirable transfer of sensitive knowledge and technology. Transfer is undesirable if it compromises our country's national security. Knowledge security also entails the covert influencing of education and research by other states. Such interference places academic freedom and social safety in jeopardy. Finally, knowledge security involves ethical issues that can be at play in collaboration with countries that do not respect fundamental rights." See also: Loket Kennisveiligheid.nl/knowl-edge-security
- 284 | Veiligheidstoets investeringen, fusies en overnames [Security screening of investments, mergers and acquisitions]
- 285 | Minister of Foreign Affairs, Minister for International Trade and Development Cooperation and Minister of Economic Affairs and Climate, "Ontwikkelingen Chinabeleid: een verschuiving van de balans," Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 13 January 2023, <u>https://www.tweedekamer.nl/</u>

kamerstukken/brieven\_regering/detail?id=2023D00699&did=2023D00699

- 286 | Motions tabled in the Dutch parliament are meant for parliamentarians to voice their opinion on policy or to call on government to act a certain way. When a motion is adopted (by the majority of parliament) it is not binding for government to act in accordance with the motion, but if a minister decides to disregard the motion they usually provides a reason why. The government normally tries to implement adopted motions, and they are referred to in Dutch policy letters to parliament, such as the 2023 update of Dutch China policy.
- 287 | The other 16 motions mentioned China as an example: e.g. a motion about improving economic strategic autonomy that mentions Russia and China as countries the EU is dependent on. See: Tweede kamer der Staten-Generaal, "Overzicht van alle ingediende moties," <u>https://www.tweedekamer.nl/kamerstukken/moties</u>
- 288 | D66 is one of four parties represented in the current coalition governing The Netherlands.
- 289 | VVD is also one of four parties represented in the current coalition governing The Netherlands.
- 290 | The Green Party is currently an opposition party.
- 291 | A few months later, VVD also released their own reflections on a China strategy.
- 292 | Minister for Foreign Trade and Development Cooperation, "Verslag van de Raad Buitenlandse Zaken Handel van 3 juni 2022," Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal; 21 June 2022, <u>https://www. tweedekamer.nl/kamerstukken/brieven\_regering/detail?id=2022D26245&did=2022D26245</u>
- 293 | Minister for Foreign Trade & Development Cooperation, "Aankondiging aankomende exportcontrolemaatregelen voor geavanceerde productieapparatuur voor halfgeleiders," Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 8 March 2023, <u>https://www.tweedekamer.nl/kamerstukken/brieven\_regering/ detail?id=2023Z04037&did=2023D09406</u>
- 294 | FME, "FME-visie: China-Strategie. Innovatiekracht en Europa Centraal," <u>https://www.fme.nl/</u> system/files/publicaties/import/FME%20-%20China%20notitie\_0.PDF
- 295 According to the article, the new Dutch law's threshold for security screening will be 10% of shares. In Germany and France, screening only applies when 25% or more of shares are bought, and in the UK the threshold for screening is 15%.
   Sandra Olsthoorn and Jan Fred van Wijnen, "Hightechbedrijven slaan alarm over nieuwe anti-Chinawet," Financieel Dagblad, 6 December 2022, <a href="https://fd.nl/politiek/1460013/hightechbedrijven-slaan-alarm-over-nieuwe-anti-chinawet">https://fd.nl/politiek/1460013/hightechbedrijven-slaan-alarm-over-nieuwe-anti-chinawet</a>
- 296 | Rijksoverheid, "Besluit Woo-verzoek overleg Chinabeleid," 23 December 2022, <u>https://www.</u> rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/woo-besluiten/2022/12/23/besluit-woo-verzoek-overleggen-chinabeleid
- 297 | AIVD, MIVD en NCTV, "Dreigingsbeeld Statelijke Actoren 2," November 2022, <u>https://open.over-heid.nl/documenten/ronl-f76b037c88b27bbede038d38647642b408245240/pdf</u>
- 298 | NB: The secretariat of CKN rests with the Clingendael Institute and LeidenAsiaCentre. The author is involved with CKN in the capacity of secretary.
- 299 | Rijksdienst voor Ondernemend Nederland, "Informatie- en Contactpunt voor verzoeken uit Chi | Other states mentioned in the letter of the Minister of Education to parliament are Russia (21 questions) and Iran (16 questions). See: Minister of Education, Culture and Science, "Voortgang aanpak kennisveiligheid hoger onderwijs en wetenschap," Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 23 December 2023, <u>https://www.tweedekamer.nl/kamerstukken/brieven\_regering/detail?id=2022Z26345&did=2022D56821</u>
- 301 | Minister of Economic Affairs and Climate, "Schriftelijke antwoorden op vragen gesteld tijdens de eerste termijn van de begrotingsbehandeling van Economische Zaken en Klimaat op 22 november 2022," Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 23 november 2022, <u>https://www.tweedekamer.nl/kamerstukken/brieven\_regering/detail?id=2022Z22868&did=2022D49414</u>, and; Minister of Economic Affairs and Climate, "Vragen gesteld door de leden der Kamer, met de daarop door de regering gegeven antwoorden," Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal, 23 December 2022, <u>https://zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/ah-tk-20222023-1161.pdf.</u>
- 302 | Clingendael China Centre, "Technologische Samenwerking met China," Clingendael Institute, 4 November 2021,

https://www.clingendael.org/publication/technologische-samenwerking-met-china

- 303 | Sandra Olsthoorn, "Huawei verdwijnt uit de kern van Nederlandse telecomnetwerken," Financieel Dagblad, 21 May 2021, <u>https://fd.nl/ondernemen/1384291/huawei-verdwijnt-uit-de-kern-van-nederlandse-telecomnetwerken</u>
- 304 Siem Eikelenboom, "ProRail dumpt Chinese bewakingscamera's, de NS laat ze hangen," Follow the Money, 6 September 2022, <u>https://www.ftm.nl/artikelen/ns-prorail-en-chinese-cameras</u>
- 305 | Chris Koenis, "Chinese douanescanners Schiphol en Rotterdamse haven onder vuur," RTL Nieuws, 22 January 2022, <u>https://www.rtlnieuws.nl/economie/bedrijven/artikel/5282733/nuctech-china-douanescanner-schiphol-haven-rotterdam-spionage</u>
- 306 | "Kamer wil TikTok verbieden op werktelefoons van rijksambtenaren," NOS Nieuws, 16 February 2023, <u>https://nos.nl/artikel/2463929-kamer-wil-tiktok-verbieden-op-werktelefoons-van-rijksamb-tenaren</u>
- 307 | Koen de Regt and Roland Strijker, "Ministerie: Chinese politiebureaus in Nederland gesloten," RTL Nieuws, 20 December 2022, <u>https://www.rtlnieuws.nl/nieuws/nederland/artikel/5354536/chi-na-sluit-politiebureaus-nederland-amsterdam-rotterdam</u>
- 308 | Robert Chesal, "Mensenrechtencentrum VU Amsterdam wordt opgedoekt na kritisch rapport," NOS Nieuws, 11 July 2022, <u>https://nos.nl/artikel/2436278-mensenrechtencentrum-vu-amsterdam-wordt-opgedoekt-na-kritisch-rapport</u>
- 309 | "Wat is de rol van de EU in het conflict rond China en Taiwan?" Nieuwsuur, 3 August 2022,

https://nos.nl/nieuwsuur/video/2439341-wat-is-de-rol-van-de-eu-in-het-conflict-rond-china-en-tai-wan

310 | Sjoerd den Daas, "Sjoerdsma (D66): Strenge sancties China moeten invasie Taiwan voorkomen," NOS Nieuws, 3 November 2022,

https://nos.nl/artikel/2450975-sjoerdsma-d66-strenge-sancties-china-moeten-invasie-taiwan-voor-komen

- 311 | Chinese Ministry of Foreign Affairs, "Foreign Ministry Spokesperson Geng Shuang's Regular Press Conference on April 30, 2020," 30 April 2020, http://hr.china-embassy.gov.cn/eng/fyrth/202004/t20200430\_9800087.htm
- Rijksdienst voor Ondernemend Nederland, "Producten Verkopen in Taiwan," 7 June 2013, <u>https://</u> www.rvo.nl/onderwerpen/landen-en-gebieden/taiwan/producten-verkopen
- 313 | Referencing in this chapter is kept to a minimum. For more elaborate discussion of overall policy, trade and investment developments concerning China, see: Hans Jørgen Gåsemyr, "Kina-politikken i Søreides periode som utenriksminister: kjente spor og nye konfliktlinjer" [The China Policy During Søreide's Tenure as Foreign Minister (2017–2021): Familiar Tracks and New Conflict Lines], Internasjonal Politikk 81(1), pp. 91–105. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.23865/intpol.v81.5062</u> (accessed 15.03.2023).
- 314 | For illustrative perspectives and issues, see the 2023 "National threat assessment", from The Norwegian Police Security Service. Available at: <u>https://www.pst.no/globalassets/ntv/2023/</u> <u>ntv\_2023\_eng\_web.pdf</u> (accessed 15.03.2023).
- 315 | For more on Chinese statements, see article from Arctic Today, 17.10.2022. Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>www.arctictoday.com/china-will-not-recognize-an-arctic-council-without-russia-envoy-says/</u> (accessed 15.03.2023). For information regarding Norway taking over as Arctic Council Chair, see statement available at: <u>https://www.norway.no/en/united-arab-emirates/norway-united-arab-emirates/news/norway-takes-over-as-chair-of-the-arctic-council/</u> (accessed 12.05.2023).
- 316 | Foreign minister Anniken Huitfeldt addressed this issue in the parliament 11.11.2022. Meeting notes available at: <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/aktuelt/svar\_frihandelsavtale/id2947015/</u> (accessed 15.03.2023)
- 317 | Comments and the full speech are available here: <u>https://www.nho.no/arskonferansen/artikler/vi-ma-sta-sammen-mot-krig-og-okonomiske-utfordringer/</u> (accessed 15.03.2023).
- 318 | "Strategia Polskiej Polityki Zagranicznej 2017-2021", <u>www.gov.pl</u>
- 319 | <u>Międzyresortowy Zespół do spraw Koordynacji Działań na rzecz Rozwoju Wszechstronnego</u> Partnerstwa Strategicznego między Rzecząpospolitą Polską a Chińską Republiką Ludową -Kancelaria Prezesa Rady Ministrów - Portal Gov.pl (www.gov.pl)
- 320 | <u>Minister Zbigniew Rau talks with head of Chinese diplomacy Ministry of Foreign Affairs Republic</u> of Poland - Gov.pl website (www.gov.pl)
- 321 | <u>President Andrzej Duda speaks with President Xi Jinping on the phone \ News \ Oficjalna strona</u> <u>Prezydenta Rzeczypospolitej Polskiej</u>
- 322 | Deputy Minister Wojciech Gerwel met the Special Envoy of the Chinese Government for Eurasian Affairs - Ministry of Foreign Affairs Republic of Poland - Gov.pl website (www.gov.pl)
- 323 | Rodrigues, C. (2022). Portugal: The "sounds of silence" to keep China close are based on more than dependence. In Seaman, J.; Ghiretti, F.; Erlbacher, L.; Martin, X.; Otero-Iglesias, M. (eds.), Dependence in Europe's Relations with China. European Think Tank Network on China, April 2022.
- 324 | The Forum Macao is a multilateral, intergovernmental co-operation mechanism aimed at promoting economic and trade exchanges between China and Portuguese-speaking Countries, using the Macao SAR as a leverage territory. It was launched in 2003, at the initiative of China.
- 325 | <u>https://www.portugal.gov.pt/pt/gc23/comunicacao/noticia?i=primeiro-ministro-quer-aumentar-co-operacao-entre-portugal-china-e-paises-lusofonos</u>
- 326 | Xinhua, September 22, 2022.
- 327 | https://plataformamedia.com/2022/06/17/relacoes-entre-portugal-e-china-sao-um-grande-exemplo/
- 328 | Politico, June 28, 2022.
- 329 | Financial Times, March 3, 2019.
- 330 See Rodrigues, C.; Tavares, J. S. (2020), China and the US: an 'universalistic' approach to get along with both powers. In Esteban, M.; Otero-Iglesias, M. (eds.), Europe in face of US-China rivalry, ETNC- European Think Tank Network on China (ISSN: 1698-885X)
- 331 | Gomes Cravinho's speech in the Diplomatic Seminar, held in Lisbon on January 4, 2023.
- 332 | <u>https://macaonews.org/portuguese-speaking-countries/chinese-ambassador-foresees-rosy-fu-</u> <u>ture-for-sino-portuguese-relations/</u>.
- 333 | Forum Macau, January 6, 2023, <u>https://www.forumchinaplp.org.mo/portugal-wants-to-strength-en-cooperation-in-the-energy-sector-with-china/</u>
- 334 | Diário de Notícias, April 22, 2022.
- 335 | Guangdong Today, October 12, 2021. https://www.newsgd.com/
- 336 The Government of Romania, "Program de Guvernare 2021—2024 Coaliția pentru reziliență, dezvoltare și prosperitate," The Government of Romania, (2021), Available at: <u>https://gov.ro/fisiere/programe\_fisiere/Program\_de\_Guvernare\_2021—2024.pdf</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023). Presidential Administration of Romania, "National Defence Strategy 2020-2024," Presidential Administration of Romania, (2020), Available at: <u>https://www.presidency.ro/files/userfiles/National Defence\_Strategy\_2020\_2024.pdf</u>, p.20, (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 337 | The Government of Romania and the Government of the US, "Memorandum of Understanding

between the Government of Romania and the Government of the US," The Government of Romania and the Government of the US, (20 August 2019), Available at: <u>https://media.hotnews.ro/media\_server1/document-2019-11-3-23464357-0-memorandum-5g-romania-sua.pdf</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).

- 338 | Ibidem.
- 339 | Elena Deacu, "ANCOM amână licitaţia 5G, din care statul spera să obţină câteva miliarde. Grindeanu: «Factori care nu ţin doar de noi ne-au dus în situaţia de astăzi»," Adevarul, (31 October 2019), Available at: <u>https://adevarul.ro/economie/ancom-amana-licitatia-5g-din-care-statul-sperasa-1980342.html</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 340 | The Parliament of Romania, "LEGE nr. 163 din 11 iunie 2021", The Parliament of Romania, (11 June 2021), Available at: <u>https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocument/243213</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 341 | Andreea Brinza, "China nu va mai construi reactoarele 3 şi 4 de la centrala nucleară de la Cernavodă," RISAP, (7 May 2020), Available at: <u>http://risap.ro/china-nu-va-mai-construi-reactoarele-3-si-4-de-la-centrala-nucleara-de-la-cernavoda/</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 342 | Ibidem.
- 343 | World Nuclear News, "CGN agrees to invest in completion of Romanian reactors," World Nuclear News, (8 May 2019), Available at: <u>https://world-nuclear-news.org/Articles/CGN-agrees-to-invest-in-completion-of-Romanian-rea</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 344 | Andreea Brinza, "Romania is closing the door to public tenders for Chinese companies," RISAP, (9 February 2021), Available at: <u>https://risap.eu/romania-is-closing-the-door-to-public-tenders-forchinese-companies/</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 345 | Cristian Pantazi, "EXCLUSIV Companiile din China, excluse de la licitațiile pentru autostrăzi și căi ferate. Guvernul a adoptat un memorandum propus de ministrul Cătălin Drulă – Oficial," G4Media, (1 February 2021), Available at: <u>https://www.g4media.ro/exclusiv-companiile-din-china-excluse-de-la-licitatiile-pentru-autostrazi-si-cai-ferate-guvernul-a-adoptat-un-memorandum-propus-de-ministrul-catalin-drula-surse.html (Accessed 20 January 2023).</u>
- 346 | Reid Standish, "Chinese summit gets chilly reception from Central, Eastern European countries," Radio Free Europe, (9 February 2021), Available at: <u>https://www.rferl.org/a/chinese-summit-gets-chilly-reception-from-central-eastern-european-countries/31094507.html</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 347 | The Government of Romania, "ORDONANȚĂ DE URGENȚĂ nr. 46 din 14 aprilie 2022," The Government of Romania, (14 April 2022), Available at: <u>https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocumentAfis/254239</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 348 | The Parliament of Romania, "LEGE pentru aprobarea unor măsuri privind finanțarea cercetării științifice universitare," The Parliament of Romania, (22 November 2022), Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>senat.ro/legis/PDF/2022/22L860FG.PDF</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 349 | Hotnews, "Vicepremierii îl dau de gol pe Cîţu. Barna şi Kelemen confirmă memorandumul care limitează participarea la licitaţii a firmelor extracomunitare," Hotnews, (1 February 2021), Available at: <u>https://www.hotnews.ro/stiri-politic-24576303-vicepremierii-dau-gol-citu-bar-na-kelemen-confirma-memorandumul-care-limiteaza-participarea-licitatii-firmelor-extracomunitare.htm (Accessed 20 January 2023).</u>
- 350 | The Government of Romania, "ORDONANȚĂ DE URGENȚĂ nr. 46 din 14 aprilie 2022," The Government of Romania, (14 April 2022), Available at: <u>https://legislatie.just.ro/Public/DetaliiDocu-mentAfis/254239</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 351 | Parliament of Romania, "Propunere legislativă pentru modificarea şi completarea Ordonanţei de urgenţă nr. 57/2019 privind Codul administrativ," Parliament of Romania, Available at: <u>https://senat.ro/legis/PDF/2023/23L072FG.PDF</u> (Accessed 13 March 2023).
- 352 | Lia Damian, "Alina Gorghiu cere senatorilor să posteze mai des pe TikTok, Instagram şi Facebook: «Vă propun deschiderea unui cont oficial al Senatului»," Ziare.com, (1 February 2023), Available at: <u>https://ziare.com/alina-gorghiu/alina-gorghiu-cere-comunicare-tiktok-instagram-1786482</u> (Accessed 13 March 2023).
- 353 | Hotnews, "TikTok, interzis în instituțiile din România? Ce spun Ciucă şi Ciolacu despre restricționarea rețelei de socializare," Hotnews, (2 March 2023), Available at: <u>https://www.hotnews.ro/</u> stiri-esential-26117343-tiktok-interzis-institutiile-din-romania-spun-ciuca-ciolacu-despre-restrictionarea-retelei-socializare.htm (Accessed 13 March 2023).
- 354 | Information obtained based on a discussion of the author with a Romanian official.
- 355 | Andreea Brinza, "Romanian sinology during the Cold War" in Antonina Łuszczykiewicz and Michael Brose (eds.) "Sinology during the Cold War," (19 May 2022), London: Routledge.
- 356 | Chamber of Deputies, "Răspuns la întrebări/interpelări formulate de deputați," Chamber of Deputies, (3 November 2022), Available at: <u>https://www.cdep.ro/interpel/2022/r6280A.pdf</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 357 | Ibidem.
- 358 | Safeguard Defenders, "Patrol and Persuade. A follow-up investigation to 110 Overseas," Safeguard Defenders, Available at: <u>https://safeguarddefenders.com/sites/default/files/pdf/Patrol%20</u> <u>and%20Persuade%20v2.pdf</u> (Accessed 21 May 2023).
- 359 | George Costiţă, "Cum a ajuns o comună din Ilfov pe lista mondială a secţiilor de poliţie locală înfiinţate clandestin de China. Primar: o tâmpenie," Europa Libera Romania, (7 December 2022), Available at: <u>https://romania.europalibera.org/a/comuna-dobroesti-sectie-politie-china/32163731.</u> <u>html</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).
- 360 | Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Romania, "Romania will host the first ministerial conference and the

energy fair within the China - Central and Eastern European (16 + 1) cooperation format," MAE, (6 November 2017), Available at: <u>http://www.mae.ro/node/43941</u> (Accessed 20 January 2023).

- 361 | Ibidem.
- 362 | Andreea Brinza, "Romania: The land where Taiwan is still taboo," CEIAS, (2023), forthcoming.
- 363 | Ibidem.
- 364 | United Nations Statistics Division, UN COMTRADE. International Merchandise Trade Statistics. Available online at <u>https://comtradeplus.un.org/</u>
- 365 | Ibid.
- 366 | Šimalčík, Matej. "Slovakia: A New Challenger of China's Human Rights Record?" The Diplomat. The Diplomat, August 17, 2020. <u>https://thediplomat.com/2020/08/slovakia-a-new-challenger-of-chinas-human-rights-record/</u>.
- 367 | "Volvo Cars Gears up for Long-Term Sustainable Growth with New Slovakia Electric Car Manufacturing Plant." Volvo Cars Global Newsroom, July 1, 2022. Volvo cars. <u>https://www.media. volvocars.com/global/en-gb/media/pressreleases/302778/volvo-cars-gears-up-for-long-term-sustainable-growth-with-new-slovakia-electric-car-manufacturing-pl-5.</u>
- 368 | Kern, Miro, and Daniel Kerekes. "Prieskum IPSOSU: Smer a Hlas SÚ Tesne Pri Sebe, PS Rekordne Vysoko a Heger Pod Čiarou." Denník N. Denník N, April 19, 2023. <u>https://dennikn.sk/3333466/prieskum-ipsosu-smer-a-hlas-su-tesne-pri-sebe-ps-rekordne-vysoko-a-heger-podciarou/?ref=mwai.</u>
- 369 | Sita. "Fico Kritizoval Kisku Za Jeho Vyjadrenia Na Adresu V4." Pravda.sk, October 20, 2016. <u>https://spravy.pravda.sk/domace/clanok/408565-fico-kritizoval-kisku-za-jeho-vyjadrenia-na-adre-su-v4/</u>.
- 370 | Turcsányi, Richard Q. "Slovakia's Overdue China Strategy." The Diplomat. The Diplomat, November 4, 2017. <u>https://thediplomat.com/2017/11/slovakias-overdue-china-strategy/</u>.
- 371 | See: https://www.nrsr.sk/web/Default.aspx?sid=eu/sp/sp&Skupinald=159
- 372 | Šebok, Filip. "The Curious Case of the China-Loving Slovak Parliamentarian Luboš Blaha." chinaobservers, September 5, 2022. <u>https://chinaobservers.eu/the-curious-case-of-the-china-lov-ing-slovak-parliamentarian-lubos-blaha/</u>.
- 373 | Šimalčík, Matej, Dominika Remžová. "Slovakia: A pragmatic enthusiast." In Šimalčík, Matej, Alfred Gerstl, Dominika Remžová (eds.). Beyond the Dumpling Alliance: Tracking Taiwan's relations with Central and Eastern Europe. CEIAS, March 2023, <u>https://ceias.eu/beyond-the-dumpling-alliance/</u>.
- 374 | Šimalčík, Matej. Oligarchs and Party Folks: Chinese Corrosive Capital in Slovakia and Czechia. CEIAS, 2021, <u>https://ceias.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Oligarchs-and-Party-Folks.pdf</u>.
- 375 | Šimalčík Matej, Šebok Filip, Kalivoda Adam, Blablová Veronika. Under the radar: Mapping the Czech and Slovak local governments' ties to China. CEIAS, 2021, <u>https://ceias.eu/wp-content/ uploads/2021/12/Under-the-radar-FINAL.pdf</u>.
- 376 | Zahraničná a európska politika Slovenskej republiky v roku 2021: Slovensko a svet v čase pandémie. Bratislava: Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs of Slovak Republic. <u>https://www.mzv.sk/documents/10182/4238286/2021-Zahrani%C4%8Dna-a-%20europska-politi-ka-SR-v-roku-2021.pdf/063025ca-14fa-4298-b240-4ee01c50339b</u>
- 377 | Správa o činnosti SIS za rok 2021. Bratislava: Slovak Information Agency. June 2022. <u>https://</u> www.sis.gov.sk/pre-vas/sprava-o-cinnosti.html
- 378 | BEZPEČNOSTNÁ STRATÉGIA SLOVENSKEJ REPUBLIKY. Bratislava: Ministry of Defense of Slovak Republic. <u>https://www.mosr.sk/data/files/4263\_210128-bezpecnostna-strategia-sr-2021.pdf</u>.
- 379 AKČNÝ PLÁN KOORDINÁCIE BOJA PROTI HYBRIDNÝM HROZBÁM 2022-2024. Bratislava: Ministry of Defense of Slovak Republic. <u>https://www.nbu.gov.sk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/</u> <u>AKCNY-PLAN-KOORDINACIE-BOJA-PROTI-HYBRIDNYM-HROZBAM.pdf</u>
- 380 | See: https://www.slov-lex.sk/pravne-predpisy/SK/ZZ/2022/497/20230329
- 381 | Šebeňa, Martin and Thomas Chan, Matej Šimalčík. The China factor: Economic exposures and security implications in an interdependent world. CEIAS, March 2023. <u>https://ceias.eu/the-chi-na-factor/</u>.
- 382 | Adapted from Šimalčík, Matej, Dominika Remžová. "Slovakia: A pragmatic enthusiast." In Šimalčík, Matej, Alfred Gerstl, Dominika Remžová (eds.). Beyond the Dumpling Alliance: Tracking Taiwan's relations with Central and Eastern Europe. CEIAS, March 2023, <u>https://ceias.eu/beyond-the-dumpling-alliance/</u>.
- 383 | Xinhua News Agency, "China-Slovakia Sign Joint Statement," China.org.cn, January 7, 2003, <u>http://www.china.org.cn/english/international/52905.htm</u>.
- 384 | United Nations Statistics Division, UN COMTRADE. International Merchandise Trade Statistics. Available online at <u>https://comtradeplus.un.org/</u>
- 385 | M.A. Ruiz Coll & Alberto D. Prieto, 2022, 'Sánchez se reúne con Xi Jinping el martes: le pedirá que medie ante Putin para lograr la paz en Ucrania', El Español, 14 November, <u>https://www.elespanol.com/espana/20221114/sanchez-reunira-presidente-china-martes-g-20-bali/718428338\_0.</u> html
- 386 | Spanish dependence is considered under the European framework, although some examples, like pharmaceutical products or chips have raised perceptions of direct national dependence. Mario Esteban & Ugo Armanini, 2022, 'Spain: A recent, crisis-led public debate on dependence on China', in John Seaman, Francesca Ghiretti, Lucas Erlbacher, Xiaoxue Martin & Miguel Otero-Iglesias, Dependence in Europe's Relations with China: Weighing Perceptions and Reality, pp.151-153, <u>https://www.ifri.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/etnc\_2022\_report.pdf#page=152</u>

There is no consolidated public Spanish taxonomy of strategic sectors but official documents point to those related to the digital and green transition or with national security or significant geopolitical implications. Among others, see: Government of Spain, Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities, 2019, Estrategia española de I+D+I en inteligencia artificial; Government of Spain, 2021, National Security Strategy, <u>https://www.dsn.gob.es/es/documento/estrategia-seguridad-nacional-2021;</u> Government of Spain, 2022, Real Decreto-ley 7/2022, de 29 de marzo, sobre requisitos para garantizar la seguridad de las redes y servicios de comunicaciones electrónicas de quinta generación, <u>https://www.boe.es/eli/es/rdl/2022/03/29/7</u>

- 387 | Spain, Presidency the Government, 2021, National Security Strategy 2021, p.48, <u>https://www.dsn.gob.es/es/documento/estrategia-seguridad-nacional-2021</u>
- 388 | Fernando Cano, 2022, 'España da un giro comercial y convierte a China en su primer proveedor, superando a Alemania', The Objective, 16 December, <u>https://theobjective.com/economia/2022-12-16/espana-china-alemania/</u> <u>https://theobjective.com/economia/2022-12-16/espana-china-alemania/</u>
- 389 | Including container terminals in Bilbao and Valencia, and dry docks in Madrid and Zaragoza. Víctor Romero, 2017, 'Cosco convierte a Valencia en acceso clave de China a Europa con la compra de Noatum', El Confidencial, 12 June, <u>https://www.elconfidencial.com/espana/comunidad-valenciana/2017-06-12/jp-morgan-venta-noatum-cosco-valencia-acceso-clave-europa 1398147/</u>
- 390 | Government of Spain, 2022, Real Decreto-ley 7/2022, de 29 de marzo, sobre requisitos para garantizar la seguridad de las redes y servicios de comunicaciones electrónicas de quinta generación, <u>https://www.boe.es/eli/es/rdl/2022/03/29/7</u>
- 391 | Michael Mcloughlin, 2022, 'El 5G chino sigue ganando terreno en las redes: por qué España no sabe qué hará con él', El Confidencial, 21 December, <u>https://www.elconfidencial.com/tecnolo-gia/2022-12-21/huawei-medula-redes-europeas-operadoras\_3543416/</u> Carlos R. Cózar, 2022, 'La indecisión de Moncloa en el veto a Huawei pone en peligro las inversiones de Vodafone, Orange y Telefónica', El Independiente, 22 December, <u>https://www.elindependiente.com/economia/2022/12/22/la-indecision-de-moncloa-en-el-veto-a-huawei-pone-en-peligro-las-inversiones-de-vodafone-orange-y-telefonica/</u> Spain, Presidency of the government, 2022, 'El Congreso convalida por amplia mayoría la Ley de Ciberseguridad 5G', 28 April, <u>https://www.lamoncloa.gob.es/serviciosdeprensa/notasprensa/asuntos-economicos/Paginas/2022/280422-ley\_seguridad.aspx</u>
- 392 | Spain, Secretary of State for Trade, 2018, Plan PASE CHINA, <u>https://comercio.gob.es/es-es/Doc-uments/PASE/PASE\_CHINA.pdf</u>
- 393 | Spain, Government of Spain, 2021, 2021-2024 Foreign Action Strategy, pp.94-96, <u>https://www.lamoncloa.gob.es/consejodeministros/resumenes/Documents/2021/270421-foreigh\_action\_strategy\_2021-2024.pdf</u>
- 394 Vox, 2022, Question to the government 184/088881, Congress of Deputies, 6 June. Vox, 2020, Question to the government 184/021047, Congress of Deputies, 26 August. Vox, 2020, Question to the government 184/021046, Congress of Deputies, 26 August. Juan Fernán-dez-Miranda, 2020, 'Abascal: "No me atrevo a negar que el virus haya sido creado"', ABC, 20 December, https://www.abc.es/espana/abci-abascal-no-atrevo-negar-virus-haya-sido-crea-do-202012200228\_noticia.html. Europa Press, 2021, 'Vox pide al Gobierno acciones diplomáti-cas para que China acceda a una investigación sobre el origen del Covid', 4 August, https://www.cope.es/actualidad/espana/noticias/vox-pide-gobierno-acciones-diplomaticas-para-que-china-acceda-una-investigacion-sobre-origen-del-covid-20210804\_1436359. Santiago Abascal, 2022, Twitter, 18 January.
- 395 | aiwan, Taipei Economic and Cultural Office in Spain, 2021, 'La visita del Embajador Liu a El País Vasco promueve los intercambios comerciales, industriales y tecnológicos entre Taiwán y El País Vasco', 22 July, <u>https://www.taiwanembassy.org/es\_es/post/24555.html</u>
- Spain, Boletín Oficial del Estado, 2023, Diario de sesiones del Congreso de los Diputados n°238,
   23 January, <u>https://www.congreso.es/public\_oficiales/L14/CONG/DS/PL/DSCD-14-PL-238.PDF</u>
- 397 | Even from sectors which have greatly benefited from exports to the Chinese market. Mario Esteban & Ugo Armanini, 2022, 'Spain: A recent, crisis-led public debate on dependence on China', in John Seaman, Francesca Ghiretti, Lucas Erlbacher, Xiaoxue Martin & Miguel Otero-Iglesias, Dependence in Europe's Relations with China: Weighing Perceptions and Reality, p.156, https://www.ifri.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/etnc\_2022\_report.pdf#page=152
- 398 | La Vanguardia, 2019, 'Cantan en Barcelona el himno de protestas de Hong Kong para pedir democracia', 24 October, <u>https://www.lavanguardia.com/politica/20191024/471170782748/cantan-en-barcelona-el-himno-de-protestas-de-hong-kong-para-pedir-democracia.html</u>
- 399 | Spain, Presidency of the government, 2022, 'The President of the Government of Spain meets with the President of China', 15 November, <u>https://www.lamoncloa.gob.es/lang/en/presidente/news/Paginas/2022/20221115\_sanchez-jinping.aspx</u>
- 400 | EFE, 2023, 'Albares sobre el plan de China: "No necesitamos ningún plan", solo la retirada rusa', 24 February, <u>https://www.swissinfo.ch/spa/ucrania-guerra\_albares-sobre-plan-de-china---no-necesitamos-</u>

nttps://www.swissinto.cn/spa/ucrania-guerra\_aibares-sobre-plan-de-cnina----no-necesitamosning%C3%BAn-plan---solo-retirada-rusa/48314504

- 401 | Marta Belver, 2023, 'Sánchez estrecha lazos con Xi pero sin avances concretos sobre Ucrania', El Mundo, 1 April,
- https://www.elmundo.es/espana/2023/03/31/64269c45e4d4d823768b4580.html
- 402 | Mario Esteban, 2023, 'Tres claves del viaje de Pedro Sánchez a China', Elcano Royal Institute, 3 April,

https://www.realinstitutoelcano.org/blog/tres-claves-del-viaje-de-pedro-sanchez-a-china/ Spain, Presidency the Government, 2023, 'Pedro Sánchez: "He trasladado a Xi Jinping que España apoya la Fórmula para la Paz de Zelenski y le he animado a mantener una conversación con el presidente de Ucrania", 31 March,

https://www.lamoncloa.gob.es/presidente/actividades/Paginas/2023/310323-sanchez-comparecencia-china-pekin.aspx

403 | People's Republic of China, Embassy of PRC in Spain, 2022, 'Portavoz de la Embajada de China en España: Firme oposición a la aprobación de Proposición no de Ley relativa a Taiwán en la Comisión de Asuntos Exteriores del Congreso de los Diputados de España', 20 October, <u>http://es.china-embassy.gov.cn/esp/sghd/202210/t20221021\_10789196.htm</u> Taiwan, Taipei Economic and Cultural Office in Spain, 2022, 'Agradecimiento del Gobierno de la República de China (Taiwán) al Congreso de los Diputados de España por la aprobación de una Proposición no de Ley sobre la situación de tensión en el Estrecho de Taiwán', 22 October, <u>https://www.roc-taiwan.org/es\_es/post/31227.html</u>

Jose María Liu, 2023, 'Taiwán, una apuesta decidida y firme por la paz', La Razón, 13 January, https://www.larazon.es/internacional/20230113/qem4z4n6frfifmippjsrcgc3fm.html

 404 | El Periódic o de Aragón, 2018, 'Diputados del PP viajan a Taiwán aunque no existen relaciones', 3 August, <u>https://www.elperiodicodearagon.com/aragon/2018/08/03/diputados-pp-viajan-tai-</u> wan-existen-46754112.html

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of China (Taiwan), 2019, 'Miembros del Congreso de los Diputados de España visitan Taiwan', Taiwan Today, 22 November, <u>https://noticias.nat.gov.tw/news.php?unit=92&post=166419</u>

Lucas de la Cal, 2023, 'Seis diputados del PP y Vox, en el "atasco" de delegaciones extranjeras que visitan Taiwán: "Sólo invitamos a los partidos que nos apoyan", El Mundo, 11 January, <u>https://www.elmundo.es/espana/2023/01/11/63bebd77fdddff2ca08b45a6.html</u> Spain, Boletín Oficial del Estado, 2022, Diario de sesiones del Congreso de los Diputados n°769, 18 October,

<u>https://www.congreso.es/public\_oficiales/L14/CONG/DS/CO/DSCD-14-CO-769.PDF</u> Spain, Boletín Oficial del Estado, 2022, Diario de sesiones del Congreso de los Diputados n°762, 6 October, <u>https://www.congreso.es/public\_oficiales/L14/CONG/DS/CO/DSCD-14-CO-762.PDF</u>

- 405 | Sundqvist, Gustav, Lindberg, Frida, Jerdén, Björn och Shao, Oscar. Lokal frost i relationerna: svenska kommuners, regioners och länsstyrelsers samarbeten med Kina. NKK, 2022. p. 8, <u>https://kinacentrum.se/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/lokal-frost-i-relationerna-svenska-kommuners-regioners-och-lansstyrelsers-samarbeten-med-kina-1.pdf</u>
- 406 | Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Approach to Matters Relating to China, Government Communication 2019/20:18, p.1. <u>https://www.government.se/contentassets/e597d50630fa4eaba140d28fb-</u> 252c29f/government-communication-approach-to-matters-relating-to-china.pdf

407 | Ibid. p.3.

408 | Ibid, p.20.

409 | Ibid. p.3.

- 410
   Motion 2021/22:3971. Kinas nya världsordning och det liberala svaret. <a href="https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/dokument/motion/kinas-nya-varldsordning-och-det-liberala-svaret\_H9023971">https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/dokument/motion/kinas-nya-varldsordning-och-det-liberala-svaret\_H9023971</a>; Motion 2021/22:1812. En svensk strategi för relationerna med Kina. <a href="https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/dokument/motion/en-svensk-strategi-for-relationerna-med-kina\_H9021812">https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument/motion/en-svensk-strategi-for-relationerna-med-kina\_H9021812</a>
- 411 | Kärnstrand, Moa. Sverige kan bli tuffare mot Kina: "Ett hot". Svenska Dagbladet. 26 September 2022. https://www.svd.se/a/q1R3oL/sveriges-nya-regering-kan-bli-tuffare-mot-kina
- 412 | Holmberg Karlsson, Mia. Kinapolitik kan bli hårdare med ny regering. Svenska Dagbladet. 21 October 2022. <u>https://www.svd.se/a/2BBwja/kinapolitik-kan-bli-hardare-med-ny-regering</u>
- 413 | Kristersson, Ulf. Statement of Government EU Policy. Government Offices of Sweden. 28 November 2022. <u>https://www.government.se/speeches/2022/11/eu-daklarationen/</u>
- 414 | Forsberg, Birgitta. Ericssonchefens varning: Kinesiska repressalier. Svenska Dagbladet. 29 January 2021. <u>https://www.svd.se/a/GaBbBx/ericssonchefens-varning-kinesiska-repressalier</u>
- 415 | Strandberg, Hans, & Turesson, Roger. Jacob Wallenberg: "Att stoppa Huawei är absolut inte bra". Dagens Nyheter. 28 December 2020. <u>https://www.dn.se/ekonomi/jacob-wallenberg-att-stop-pa-huawei-ar-absolut-inte-bra/</u>
- 416 | Rühlig, Tim., Shao, Oscar. 2020. China's dwindling soft power in Sweden. In Dams, T., Martin, X, Kranenburg, V. (red.) China's soft power in Europe: Falling on hard times, ETNC, pp. 98-99. https://www.ifri.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/etnc\_2021 - chinas\_soft\_power\_in\_europe\_falling\_on\_hard\_times.pdf
- 417 | Jerdén, Björn., Rühlig, Tim, et al. 2020. What do Swedes think about China? Insights from an extensive survey of Swedish public opinion of China. UI Brief. Swedish Institute of International Affairs. p.5. <u>https://www.ui.se/globalassets/ui.se-eng/publications/ui-publications/2020/ui-paper-no.-8-2020.pdf;</u> Carlqvist, David. Svenskar och japaner har mest negativ bild av Kina. Sveriges Radio. 6 October 2020. <u>https://sverigesradio.se/artikel/7569082</u>
- 418 | Pårup, Hillevi. Få skillnader i svensk folkopinions syn på Kina. NKK, 2022. p.1. <u>https://kinacen-trum.se/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/fa-skillnader-i-svensk-folkopinions-syn-pa-kina.pdf</u>
- 419 | Jerdén, Björn., Bohman, Viking. 2019. China's propaganda campaign in Sweden, 2018–2019. UI Brief. Swedish Institute of International Affairs. p.2. <u>https://www.ui.se/globalassets/ui.se-eng/publications/ui-publications/2019/ui-brief-no.-4-2019.pdf</u>
- 420 | DN:s ledarredaktion. Ledare: Ambassadens maktspråk och hot skämmer ut Kina. Dagens Nyheter. 1 September 2021. <u>https://www.dn.se/ledare/ambassadens-maktsprak-och-hot-skammer-</u>

ut-kina/; Lindberg, Anders. Kina måste sluta tjafsa med media. Aftonbladet. 26 September 2021. https://www.aftonbladet.se/ledare/a/dnLxMB/kina-maste-sluta-tjafsa-med-media

- 421 | Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Approach to Matters Relating to China, Government Communication 2019/20:18, p.3 <u>https://www.government.se/contentassets/e597d50630fa4eaba140d28fb252c29f/</u> <u>government-communication-approach-to-matters-relating-to-china.pdf</u>; Swedish National China Center. About us. <u>https://kinacentrum.se/en/about/</u>
- 422 | Government Offices of Sweden. Ordförklaring: Gemensam beredning. 30 January 2015. <u>https://www.regeringen.se/ordlista/gemensam-beredning/</u>
- 423 | Team Sweden China consists of the Swedish Embassy in Beijing, the Swedish Consulate-General in Shanghai, the Swedish Consulate-General in Hong Kong, Business Sweden Greater China, the Swedish Chambers of Commerce in Greater China, and Visit Sweden. For more information, see this reference: Swedish Chamber of Commerce in China. Team Sweden in China: Who, what, why. 15 February 2022. <u>https://www.swedcham.cn/team-sweden-in-china-who-what-why/</u>
- 424 | Swedish Chamber of Commerce in China. Team Sweden in China: Who, what, why. 15 February 2022. https://www.swedcham.cn/team-sweden-in-china-who-what-why/
- 425 | Government Offices of Sweden. Team Sweden För effektiv export. <u>https://www.regeringen.se/</u> contentassets/de597ecc23644aec88b5566f1594acf7/team-sweden---for-effektiv-export
- 426 | Sveriges Kommuner och Regioner. Det här är kommunalt självstyre. 1 March 2023. <u>https://skr.</u> se/skr/demokratiledningstyrning/styrningledning/kommunaltsjalvstyre/dethararkommunaltsjalvstyre.61407.html
- 427 | Sundqvist, Gustav, Lindberg, Frida, Jerdén, Björn och Shao, Oscar. Lokal frost i relationerna: svenska kommuners, regioners och länsstyrelsers samarbeten med Kina. NKK, 2022. p.2. <u>https://kinacentrum.se/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/lokal-frost-i-relationerna-svenska-kommuners-re-gioners-och-lansstyrelsers-samarbeten-med-kina-1.pdf</u>
- 428 | Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Approach to Matters Relating to China, Government Communication 2019/20:18, p.3. <u>https://www.government.se/contentassets/e597d50630fa4eaba140d28fb-</u> <u>252c29f/government-communication-approach-to-matters-relating-to-china.pdf</u>: Swedish National China Center. About us. <u>https://kinacentrum.se/en/about/</u>
- 429 | Makar, Maria., Hamidi-Nia, Gilda. Gui Minhai döms till tio års fängelse. SVT Nyheter. 25 February 2020. <u>https://www.svt.se/nyheter/utrikes/gui-minhai-doms-till-tio-ars-fangelse</u>
- 430 | Sundqvist, Gustav, Lindberg, Frida, Jerdén, Björn and Shao, Oscar. Lokal frost i relationerna: svenska kommuners, regioners och länsstyrelsers samarbeten med Kina. NKK, 2022. p.11. https://kinacentrum.se/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/lokal-frost-i-relationerna-svenska-kommuners-regioners-och-lansstyrelsers-samarbeten-med-kina-1.pdf
- 431 | Kristersson, Ulf. Statement of Government Policy. Government Offices of Sweden. 18 October 2022. p.19. <u>https://www.government.se/contentassets/9c187813e7b3488ea595c9e28e2411e5/</u> <u>statement-of-government-policy-2022-eng.pdf</u>
- 432 | SOU 2022:55. Granskningskommissionen. Granskning av arbetet med att försöka uppnå frigivning av Dawit Isaak och Gui Minhai. Betänkande av Granskningskommissionen avseende två konsulära ärenden. <u>https://www.regeringen.se/contentassets/da3db21910494b3594b92a9e-4a024e50/granskning-av-arbetet-med-att-forsoka-uppna-frigivning-av-dawit-isaak-och-gui-minhai-sou-202255/</u>
- 433 | SVT Nyheter. Domen: Huawei stoppas i Sverige. 22 June 2021. <u>https://www.svt.se/nyheter/ekonomi/huawei-stoppas-i-sverige</u>
- 434 | Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Kingdom of Sweden. Ambassador Gui Congyou gives an exclusive interview with SVT on 5G issues concerning Chinese companies in Sweden. 22 October 2020. <u>http://se.china-embassy.gov.cn/eng/sgxw/202010/t20201023\_2814054.</u> <u>htm</u>
- 435 | Sundqvist, Gustav, and Lindberg, Frida. Statliga kinesiska påverkanskampanjer mot demokratin i svenska kommuner. NKK, 2022. <u>https://kinacentrum.se/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/statliga-kine-siska-paverkanskampanjer-mot-demokratin-i-svenska-kommuner.pdf</u>
- 436 | Bohman, Viking, and Lindberg, Frida. 2022. Sweden: Free trader with growing security concerns. In Seaman, J., Ghiretti, F., Erlbacher, L., Martin, X., and Iglesias, M. (red.). Dependence in Europe's Relations with China: Weighing Perceptions and Reality. ETNC, p. 158. <u>https://kinacentrum.se/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/dependence-in-europes-relations-with-china-etnc.pdf</u>
- 437 | Kristersson, Ulf. Statement of Government EU Policy. Government Offices of Sweden. 28 November 2022. <a href="https://www.government.se/speeches/2022/11/eu-daklarationen/">https://www.government.se/speeches/2022/11/eu-daklarationen/</a>
- 438 | Davies, Benjamin., & Bohman, Viking. Taiwan, Sverige och synen på "ett-Kina-politiken. UI Report No. 3, December 2022 p.17.<u>https://www.ui.se/globalassets/ui.se-eng/publications/ui-publications/2022/ui-report-no.-3-2022.pdf</u>
- 439 | Linde, Ann, "Kinas aggression mot Taiwan", Svar på skriftlig fråga 2021/22:1851 besvarad av Utrikesminister Ann Linde (S), 16 augusti 2022, <u>https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/do-kument/svar-pa-skriftlig-fraga/kinas-aggression-mot-taiwan\_H9121851</u>
- 440 | Holmberg Karlsson, Mia. Kinapolitik kan bli hårdare med ny regering. Svenska Dagbladet. 21 October 2022. <u>https://www.svd.se/a/2BBwja/kinapolitik-kan-bli-hardare-med-ny-regering</u>
- 441 | Centerpartiet. Tydlig signal från riksdagen för ett House of Sweden i Taiwan. 28 April 2022. <u>https://www.centerpartiet.se/press/pressmeddelande/nyhetsarkiv-2022/2022-04-28-tydlig-signal-fran-riksdagen-for-ett-house-of-sweden-i-taiwan</u>
- 442 | Davies, Benjamin., & Bohman, Viking. Taiwan, Sverige och synen på "ett-Kina-politiken. Ul Report No. 3, December 2022 p.15.<u>https://www.ui.se/globalassets/ui.se-eng/publications/ui-publi-</u>

cations/2022/ui-report-no.-3-2022.pdf

- 443 | Kristersson, Ulf. Statement of Government Policy. Government Offices of Sweden. 18 October 2022. p.13. <u>https://www.government.se/contentassets/9c187813e7b3488ea595c9e28e2411e5/</u> <u>statement-of-government-policy-2022-eng.pdf</u>
- 444 | Billström, Tobias. Möjligheter och utmaningar för svensk utrikespolitik. Government Offices of Sweden. 21 December 2022. <u>https://www.regeringen.se/tal/2022/12/mojligheter-och-utmaningar-for-svensk-utrikespolitik/</u>
- 445 | Shaun Breslin and Peter Burnham (2023), International order transition and the UK's tilt to the 'Indo-Pacific', The Pacific Review online first at <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09512748.2022.2160796</u>, p. 4.
- 446 | Chris Giles (2023). 'We, the people, are to blame for Britain's economic woes', Financial Times, 19 Jan, at <a href="https://on.ft.com/3XzOE7i">https://on.ft.com/3XzOE7i</a>.
- 447 | The Integrated Review 2021, at <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/the-integrated-re-view-2021">https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/the-integrated-re-view-2021</a>.
- 448 | Tim Summers (2022), Truss lacking in US-China relations, East Asia Forum, 1 Oct. at <a href="https://www.eastasiaforum.org/2022/10/01/truss-lacking-in-uk-china-relations/">https://www.eastasiaforum.org/2022/10/01/truss-lacking-in-uk-china-relations/</a>.
- 449 | Sunak talked about 'standing up to China when it's in our interests' in testimony to the Foreign Affairs Committee, Dec. 2022, at <u>https://twitter.com/ChinaResearchGp/status/1605223782918258689?s=20&t=sBMr5kI7w5R79JqShjqEZQ</u>.
- 450 | PM speech to the Lord Mayor's Banquet: 28 November 2022, at <u>https://www.gov.uk/govern-ment/speeches/pm-speech-to-the-lord-mayors-banquet-28-november-2022</u>.
- 451 | See <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/1129276/china-trade-and-investment-factsheet-2023-01-20.pdf</u> for latest data.
- 452 | Securitisation can be understood as a 'speech act that raises a concern to the level of a threat by giving it the name "security". Jeffrey Reeves (2014), Structural Power, the Copenhagen School and Threats to Chinese Security. The China Quarterly, 217, 140-161, p. 145.
- 453 | Tim Summers (2022). UK: Vulnerability or politics? 'Strategic dependence' and the China debate. In European Think-tank Network on China, Dependence in Europe's Relations with China, April 2022, at <u>https://www.ifri.org/en/publications/publications-ifri/ouvrages-ifri/dependence-europes-relations-china-weighing-perceptions</u>.
- 454 | For a longer discussion of this, see Tim Summers (2021). China's Hong Kong: the politics of a global city (Newcastle upon Tyne: Agenda Publishing, second edition).
- 455 | Available at <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integrated-review-refresh-2023-respond-ing-to-a-more-contested-and-volatile-world</u>.
- 456 | James Cleverly (2023). Our position on China: Foreign Secretary's 2023 Mansion House speech, at <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/our-position-on-china-speech-by-the-foreign-secre-</u> tary
- 457 | Search on official parliamentary website for 'China' from 1 Jan. 2000 to 31 Dec. 2022, <u>https://hansard.parliament.uk/search?startDate=2000-01-01&endDate=2022-12-31&searchTer-m=China&partial=False#EndDate</u> (accessed 19 Jan. 2023). References to Hong Kong also peaked in 2020 and 2021.
- 458 | For more details, see Tim Summers, Hiu Man Chan, Peter Gries and Richard Turcsanyi (2022). Worsening British views of China in 2020: evidence from public opinion, parliament, and the media. Asia Europe Journal 20, 173–194, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10308-021-00639-x</u>.
- 459 | UK National Committee on China website, at https://ukncc.org/.
- 460 | Tim Summers (2019). The UK's China policy under US-China strategic rivalry: the impact of think tank research. China Quarterly of International Strategic Studies 5(2): 1-20, <u>https://www.worldsci-entific.com/doi/abs/10.1142/S2377740019500106</u>.
- 461 | China-Britain Business Council website, at https://www.cbbc.org/who-we-are.
- 462 | Sam Hogg, founder of the Beijing to Britain newsletter, highlighted this in his annual review of 2022, at <a href="https://beijingtobritain.substack.com/p/end-of-year-note-2022">https://beijingtobritain.substack.com/p/end-of-year-note-2022</a>.
- 463 | For example, Sunak highlighted alignment with the US, Japan and Australia when speaking to the Foreign Affairs Committee in December 2022; at <u>https://twitter.com/ChinaResearchGp/status/1605223782918258689?s=20&t=sBMr5kl7w5R79JqShjqEZQ</u>.
- 464 | Written Evidence from Chatham House Research Programmes (IRR0031), November 2022, at https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/113913/pdf/, para 9.
- 465 | In September 2021, a government minister stated that 'Over the past 5 years 63 [Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office] staff have achieved qualifications in Mandarin at C1 or C2 level (in the Common European Framework Reference scale)' (House of Lords parliamentary question HL2613 at <u>https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/detail/2021-09-10/HL2613</u>). Based on the author's past experience of working as a British diplomat in China, these numbers may overstate the practical ability of British diplomats to operate in the Chinese language.
- 466 | Hogg also notes that "the Foreign Affairs, Defence, and Business Committees have all held inquiries or evidence sessions that touch on critical components of the United Kingdom's relation-ship with China ." Available at <u>https://beijingtobritain.substack.com/p/end-of-year-note-2022</u>.
- 467 | Summers (2022), Truss lacking (see footnote 448).
- 468 | As the government's November 2022 announcement put it, 'The UK government's £679 million investment in Sizewell C ... also allows for China General Nuclear's (CGN) exit from the project, including buy-out costs, any tax due and commercial arrangements.' At <u>https://www.gov.uk/</u> government/news/uk-government-takes-major-steps-forward-to-secure-britains-energy-indepen-

#### dence.

- 469 | Financial Times (2022), Newport Wafer Fab's sale to Nexperia blocked by UK ministers, 17 Nov. at <u>https://www.ft.com/content/cdaddf62-72f7-4789-890c-69f1ce196748</u>.
- 470 | As Winkler and Jerden note, 'There is so far little evidence that the 21st century CCP is actively seeking to promote its form of governance abroad, or aiming to strategically undermine the functioning of democracies'. Stephanie Christine Winkler and Björn Jerdén (2023). US foreign policy elites and the great rejuvenation of the ideological China threat: The role of rhetoric and the ideologization of geopolitical threats. Journal of International Relations and Development, online first at <a href="https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1057/s41268-022-00288-6.pdf">https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1057/s41268-022-00288-6.pdf</a>.
- 471 | The reports can be accessed at <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/six-monthly-reports-on-hong-kong</u>. The report for January to June 2022 was only issued on 12 Jan. 2023, the longest delay of the 51 reports since 1997.
- 472 | For a longer comment, see Tim Summers (2022), The UK and Taiwan-half a century on, March 2022 at <u>https://johnmenadue.com/the-uk-and-taiwan-half-a-century-on/</u>.
- 473 | The statement in parliament and the text of the bilateral communiqué can be accessed at <u>https://api.parliament.uk/historic-hansard/commons/1972/mar/13/china-exchange-of-ambassadors</u>.
- 474 | Chi-kwan Mark (2017). The Everyday Cold War: Britain and China, 1950-1972. London: Bloomsbury Press, p. 195.
- 475 | For example, the February 2022 House of Commons debate on Taiwan, at <u>https://hansard.</u> parliament.uk/Commons/2022-02-10/debates/64A09D24-D41C-4974-ABCE-1C3785CD4C16/ UK-TaiwanFriendshipAndCo-Operation.
- 476 | For example, a parliamentary question in January 2021 on when the UK 'will recognise Taiwan as an independent country'; at <u>https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-questions/de-tail/2021-01-28/HL12714</u>.
- 477 | <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-strengthens-taiwan-trade-ties-as-minister-visits-taipei</u> and <u>https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/78/foreign-affairs-committee/news/174716/for-</u> eign-affairs-committee-delegation-visit-taiwan/

#### IMPRINT

MERICS | Mercator Institute for China Studies Klosterstraße 64, 10179 Berlin, Germany Tel.: +49 30 3440 999 0 Mail: info@merics.de www.merics.de

## **EDITORIAL TEAM**

Claudia Wessling, Director Communications and Publications MERICS Bernhard Bartsch, Director External Relations MERICS Alexander Davey, Analyst MERICS

# LAYOUT AND GRAPHICS

STOCKMAR+WALTER Kommunikationsdesign

### **IMAGE CREDITS**

picture alliance / AA | Dursun Aydemir

Copyright © 2023 Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS)